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UNITED STATES 
SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION 

WASHINGTON, D.C. 20549 

FORM 10-K 

1:8:1 ANNUAL REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 

For the fiscal year ended December 31, 2015 

OR 

D TRANSITION REPORT PURSUANT TO SECTION 13 OR 15(d) OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934 

For the transition period from _____ to----

Commission file number: 000-30110 

SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION 
(Exact name of Registrant as specified in its charter) 

Florida 
(State or other jurisdiction of 

incorporation or organization) 

8051 Congress Avenue 
Boca Raton, Florida 

(Address of principal executive offices) 

65-0716501 
(I.R.S. Employer 

Identification No.) 

33487 
(Zip Code) 

Registrant's telephone number, including area code (561) 995-7670 

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(b) of the Act: 

Title of Each Class 

Class A Common Stock, $0.01 par value per share 
Name of Each Exchange on Which Registered 

The NASDAQ Stock Market LLC 
(NASDAQ Global Select Market) 

Securities registered pursuant to Section 12(g) of the Act: 
None 

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is a well-known seasoned issuer, as defined in Rule 405 of the Securities Act. Yes 181 No D 

Indicate by check mark if the registrant is not required to file reports pursuant to Section 13 or Section IS( d) of the Exchange Act. Yes D No 181 

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant (I) has filed all reports required to be filed by Section 13 or IS( d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 during the 
preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the Registrant was required to file such reports), and (2) has been subject to such filing requirements for the past 
90 days. Yes 181 No D 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant has submitted electronically and posted on its corporate Web site, if any, every Interactive Data File required to be 
submitted and posted pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T during the preceding 12 months (or for such shorter period that the registrant was required to submit 
and post such files). Yes 181 No D 

Indicate by check mark if disclosure of delinquent filers pursuant to Item 405 of Regulation S-Kis not contained herein, and will not be contained, to the best of 
Registrant's knowledge, in definitive proxy or information statements incorporated by reference in Part III of this Form 10-K or any amendment to this Form 10-K. 
181 

Indicate by check mark whether the Registrant is a large accelerated filer, an accelerated filer, a non-accelerated filer, or a smaller reporting company. See the 
definitions of"large accelerated filer," "accelerated filer," and "smaller reporting company" in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act. 

Large accelerated filer 181 Accelerated filer 

Non-Accelerated filer D Smaller reporting company 

Indicate by check mark whether the registrant is a shell company (as defined in Rule 12b-2 of the Exchange Act) Yes D No 181 

The aggregate market value of the voting stock held by non-affiliates of the Registrant was approximately $14.5 billion as of June 30, 2015 . 

D 
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The number of shares outstanding of the Registrant's common stock (as of February 19,2016 ): Class A common stock-12 5, 257,417 

Documents Incorporated By Reference 

Portions of the Registrant's definitive proxy statement for its 2016 annual meeting of shareholders, which proxy statement will be filed no later than 120 days after 

the close of the Registrant's fiscal year ended December 31,2015, are hereby incorporated by reference in Part III of this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 
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ITEM 1. BUSINESS 

General 

We are a leading independent owner and operator of wireless communications tower structures, rooftops and other structures that support 

antennas used for wireless communications, which we collectively refer to as "towers" or "sites." Our principal operations are in the United 

States and its territories. In addition, we own and operate towers in South America, Central America, and Canada . Our primary business line is 

our site leasing business, which contributed 96.8% of our total segment operating profit for the year ended December 31, 2015 . In our site 

leasing business, we (1) lease antenna space to wireless service providers on towers that we own or operate and (2) manage rooftop and tower 

sites for property owners under various contractual arrangements. As of December 31,2015, we owned 25,465 towers, a substantial portion of 

which have been built by us or built by other tower owners or operators who, like us, have built such towers to lease space to multiple wireless 

service providers. We also managed or leased approximately 5,500 actual or potential towers, approximately 500 of which were revenue 

producing as of December 31,2015. Our other business line is our site development business, through which we assist wireless service 

providers in developing and maintaining their own wireless service networks. 

Site Leasing Services 

Our primary focus is the leasing of antenna space on our multi-tenant towers to a variety of wireless service providers under long-term 

lease contracts in the United States, Canada, Central America, and South America. We receives ite leasing revenues primarily from wireless 

service provider tenants, including AT&T, Sprint, T-Mobile, Verizon Wireless, Oi S.A., Telefonica, Claro, and Digicel. Wireless service 

providers enter into tenant leases with us, each of which relates to the lease or use of space at an individual site . Our site leasing business 

generates substantially all of our total segment operating profit, representing 96.2% or more of our total segment operating profit for the past 

three years. 0 ur site leasing business is classified into two reportable segments, domestic site leasing and international site leasing. 

Domestic Site Leasing 

As of December 31,2015, we had 15,778 sites in the United States. For the year ended December 31, 2015, we generated 83.5% of our 

total site leasing revenue from these sites. We received omestic site leasing revenues primarily from AT&T, Sprint, Verizon Wireless, and T­

Mobile. In the United States, wireless service providers typically enter into tenant leases with us, each of which relates to the lease or use of 

space at an individual tower. Our tenant leases in the United States are generally for an initial term of five to ten years with five 5-year renewal 

periods at the option of the tenant. These tenant leases typically contain specific rent escalators, which typically average 3- 4% per year, for 

both the initial and renewal option periods . Our ground leases in the United States are generally for an initial term of five years or more with 

multiple renewal terms of 5-year periods, at our option, and provide for rent escalators which typically average 2- 3 %annually. 

International Site Leasing 

In 2015, we continued to focus on growing our international site leasing business through the acquisition and development of towers. We 

believe that we can create substantial value by expanding our site leasing services into select international markets which we believe have a 

high-growth wireless industry and relatively stable political and regulatory environments. As ofDecember 31, 2015, we owned 9,687 towers in 

our international markets, including Brazil, Canada, Costa Rica, Ecuador, El Salvador, Guatemala, Nicaragua, and Panama. We receive i 

nternational site leasing revenues primarily from Oi S.A., Telefonica, Claro, Digicel, and TIM. Our operations in these countries are solely in the 

site leasing business, and we expect to continue to expand operations through new builds and acquisitions. 

Our tenant leases in Canada typically have similar terms and conditions as those in the United States with an initial term of five to ten 

years with five 5-year renewal periods at the option of the tenant. These tenant leases typically contain specific rent escalators, which average 3-

4% per year. Tenant leases in our Central American and South American markets typically have an initial term often years with multiple five 

year renewal periods. In Central America, we have similar rent escalators to that of leases in the United States and Canada while our leases in 

South America typically escalate in accordance with a standard cost of living index. In Brazil, site leases are typically governed by master lease 

agreements, which provide for the material terms and conditions that will govern the terms of the use of the site. Site leases in South America 

typically provide for a fixed rental amount and a pass-through charge for the underlying ground lease rent. Our ground leases in Canada, Central 

America and South America generally have similar terms and conditions as those in the United States, except that the annual escalators in our 

South American ground leases are based on a cost of living index. 
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Domestic and International Expansion 

We expand our tower portfolio, both domestically and internationally, through the acquisition of towers from third parties and through the 

construction of new tower structures. In our tower acquisition program, we pursue towers that meet or exceed our internal guidelines regarding 

current and future potential returns. For each acquisition, we prepare various analyses that include projections of a five-year unlevered internal 

rate of return, review of available capacity, future lease up projections, and a summary of current and future tenant/technology mix. 

The majority of our international markets typically have less mature wireless networks with limited wireline infrastructure and lower 

wireless data penetration rates than those in the United States. Accordingly, our expansion in these markets is primarily driven by (i) wireless 

service providers seeking to increase the quality and coverage of their networks, (ii) increased consumer mobile data traffic, such as media 

streaming, mobile apps and games, web browsing, and email , and (iii) incremental spectrum auctions, which have resulted in new market 

entrants, as well as incremental voice and data network deployments. Since we first entered the Central and South American markets , we have 

built or acquired 9,430 towers and continue to expand in these markets to respond to growing demand. 

We consider various factors when identifying a market for our international expansion, including: 

Country analysis- We consider the country's political stability, and whether the country's general business, legal and regulatory 

environment is conducive to the sustainability and growth of our business. 

Market potential- We analyze the expected demand for wireless services, and whether a country has multiple wireless service 

providers who are actively seeking to invest in deploying voice and data networks, as well as spectrum auctions that have occurred 

or that are anticipated to occur. 

Risk adjusted return criteria- We consider whether buying or building towers in a country, and providing our management and 

leasing services, will meet our return criteria. As part of this analysis, we consider the risk of entering into an international market 

(for example, the impact of foreign currency exchange rates), and how our expansion meets our long-term strategic objectives for the 

region and our business generally. 

In our new build program, we construct tower structures (I) in locations that are strategically chosen by us or (2) under build-to-suit 

arrangements. Under build-to-suit arrangements, we build tower structures for wireless service providers at locations that they have identified. 

Under these arrangements, we retain ownership of the tower structure and the exclusive right to co-locate additional tenants. When we construct 

tower structures in locations chosen by us, we utilize our knowledge of our customers' network requirements to identify locations where we 

believe multiple wireless service providers need, or will need, to locate antennas to meet capacity or service demands. We seek to identify 

attractive locations for new tower structures and complete pre-construction procedures necessary to secure the site concurrently with our leasing 

efforts. We generally will have at least one signed tenant lease for each new build tower structure on the day that it is completed and expect that 

some will have multiple tenants. During 2016, we intend to build between 590 and 610 new tower structures, domestically and internationally. 

Site Development Services 

Our site development business, which is conducted in the United States only, is complementary to our site leasing business and provides 

us the ability to keep in close contact with the wireless service providers who generate substantially all of our site leasing revenue and to capture 

ancillary revenues that are generated by our site leasing activities, such as antenna and equipment installation at our towers. We earns ite 

development services revenues primarily from the full range of end to end services we provide to wireless service providers or companies 

providing development or project management services to wireless service providers. Our services include: (I) network pre-design; (2) site 

audits; (3) identification of potential locations for towers and antennas; (4) support in buying or leasing of the location; (5) assistance in 

obtaining zoning approvals and permits; (6) tower and related site construction; (7) antenna installation; and (8) radio equipment installation, 

commissioning, and maintenance. We provide site development services on a local basis, through regional, territory, and project offices. The 

regional offices are responsible for all site development operations, including hiring employees and opening or closing project offices, and a 

substantial portion of the sales in such area. 

For financial information about our operating segments, please see Note 18 of our Consolidated Financial Statements included in this 

Form 10-K. 
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Industry Developments 

We believe that growing wireless traffic (particularly data and video), the deployment of additional spectrum, and technology 

advancements will require wireless service providers to improve their network infrastructure and increase their network capacity resulting in an 

increase in the number of towers that they utilize and additions and changes to the equipment they deploy at existing towers. We expect that the 

wireless communications industry will continue to experience growth as a result of the following trends: 

As wireless traffic continues to grow, carriers are investing to increase the capacity of their networks; and we believe that the 

continued capacity increases will require our customers to add large numbers of additional cell sites and additional new equipment at 

current cell sites. 

Spectrum licensed by the Federal Communications Commission (the "FCC") has enabled continued network development. We 

expect the deployment of currently fallow spectrum and the potential availability of additional spectrum through a planned 

government auction to drive continued network development in the U.S. 

Consumers are increasing their use of wireless data services due to expansion of wireless data applications, such as video, mobile 

apps and games, web browsing, email and social networking, and continued wireline to wireless migration. Wireless devices such as 

smartphones, tablets, laptops, and other emerging and embedded devices continue to trend toward being more bandwidth-intensive . 

As a result, according to industry estimates, global mobile data traffic will grow at an approximately 5 3 % compound annual gro~ 

rate from 20 I 5 to 20 20 and will grow at a rate three times faster than non-mobile data traffic over the same period . 

Consumers list network quality as one of the greatest contributors to their dissatisfaction when terminating or changing service. To 

decrease subscriber chum rate and drive revenue growth, wireless carriers have made substantial capital expenditures on wireless 

networks to improve service quality and expand coverage. For example, U.S. wireless carriers' capital expenditures have increased 

from an estimated $ 22.9 billion in 20 1 0 to an estimated $ 31.7 billion in 201 5 , and we expect capital expenditures in the 

foreseeable future to remain elevated as wireless carriers continue to improve their networks. 

We believe that the world-wide wireless industry will continue to grow and is reasonably well-capitalized, highly competitive and focused 

on quality and advanced services. Therefore, we expect that we will see a multi-year trend of strong additional demand for tower space from our 

customers, which we believe will translate into strong leasing growth for us. 

Business Strategy 

Our primary strategy is to continue to focus on expanding our site leasing business due to its attractive characteristics such as long-term 

contracts, built-in rent escalators, high operating margins, and low customer chum. The long-term and repetitive nature of the revenue stream of 

our site leasing business makes it less volatile than our site development business, which is more cyclical. By focusing on our site leasing 

business, we believe that we can maintain a stable, recurring cash flow stream and reduce our exposure to cyclical changes in customer 

spending. Key elements of our strategy include: 

Maximizing Use of Tower Capacity. We generally have constructed or acquired towers that accommodate multiple tenants and a majority 

of our towers are high capacity tower structures. Most of our towers have significant capacity available for additional antennas, and we believe 

that increased use of our towers can be achieved at a low incremental cost. We actively market space on our towers through our internal sales 

force. As of December 31, 2015, we had an average of 1.8 tenants per tower structure. 

Disciplined Growth of our Tower Portfolio . We believe that our tower operations are highly scalable. Consequently, we believe that we 

are able to materially increase our tower portfolio without proportionately increasing selling, general, and administrative expenses. During 2016, 

we intend to continue to grow our tower portfolio, domestically and internationally, through tower acquisitions and the construction of new 

tower structures. In connection with our international expansion, we have targeted select international markets that we believe have relatively 

stable political environments and a growing wireless communications industry. We intend to use our available cash from operating activities and 

available liquidity, including borrowings, to build and/or acquire new towers at prices that we believe will be accretive to our shareholders both 

in the short and long term and which allow us to maintain our long-term target leverage ratios. 

Capitalizing on our Scale and Management Experience. We are a large owner, operator and developer of towers, with substantial capital, 

human, and operating resources. We have been developing towers for wireless service providers in the U.S. since 1989 and owned and operated 

towers for ourselves since 1997. We believe our size, experience, capabilities, and resources make us a preferred partner for wireless service 

providers both in the U.S. and internationally. Our management team has extensive experience in site leasing and site development, with some of 

the longest tenures in the tower and site development industries. We believe that our 
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i ndustry expertise and strong relationships with wireless service providers will allow us to expand our position as a leading provider of site 
leasing and site development services. 

Controlling our Underlying Land Positions . We have purchased and/or entered into perpetual easements or long-term leases for the land 
that underlies our tower structures and intend to continue to do so, to the extent available at commercially reasonable prices. We believe that 
these purchases, perpetual easements, and/or long-term leases will increase our margins, improve our cash flow from operations, and minimize 
our exposure to increases in ground lease rents in the future. As of December 31, 2015 , approximately 73% of our tower structures were located 
on land that we own or control for more than 20 years and the average remaining life under our ground leases, including renewal options under 
our control, was 33 years. As of December 31, 2015, approximately 5.8% of our tower structures have ground leases maturing in the next 10 
years. 

Using our Local Presence to Build Strong Relationships with Major Wireless Service Providers. Given the nature of towers as location­
specific communications facilities, we believe that substantially all of what we do is done best locally. Consequently, we have a broad field 
organization that allows us to develop and capitalize on our experience, expertise and relationships in each of our local markets which in tum 
enhances our customer relationships. We are seeking to replicate this operating model internationally. Due to our presence in local markets, we 
believe we are well positioned to capture additional site leasing business and new tower build opportunities in our markets and identifY and 
participate in site development projects across our markets. 

Customers 

Since commencing operations, we have performed site leasing and site development services for all of the large U.S. wireless service 
providers. In both our site leasing and site development businesses, we work with large national providers and smaller regional, local, or private 
operators. 

We depend on a relatively small number of customers for our site leasing and site development revenues. The following customers 
represented at least 10% of our total revenues during the last three years: 

For tbe year ended December 31, 

2015 2014 2013 

24~2% j·~;(}~ 2o:~%. 
Sprint 19.6% 23.4% 25.0% 

ffi:*i~~Jl~; ; · ;:.\:~i~;Kf.v>?i;1: 16.0% 17~~~~ 
Verizon Wireless 13.8% 

(1) Prior year amounts have been adjusted to reflect the merger of AT&T Wireless and Leap Wireless (Cricket Wireless). 

During the past two years, we provided services or leased space to a number of customers, including: 

Sales and Marketing 

AT&T Wireless 

Cellular South 

Claro 

Digicel 

Ericsson, Inc. 

Goodman Networks 

Our sales and marketing goals are to: 

Nil Holdings 

Ntelos 

Mastec 

OiS.A. 

Overland Contracting 

SouthernLinc 

Sprint 

T-Mobile 

TIM 

Telefonica 

U.S. Cellular 

Verizon Wireless 

12.0% 11.3% 

use existing relationships and develop new relationships with wireless service providers to lease antenna space on and sell related 
services with respect to our owned or managed towers, enabling us to grow our site leasing business; and 

successfully bid and win those site development services contracts that will contribute to our operating margins and/or provide a 
financial or strategic benefit to our site leasing business. 
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We approach sales on a company-wide basis, involving many of our employees. We have a dedicated sales force that is supplemented by 

members of our executive management team. Our dedicated salespeople are based regionally as well as in our corporate office. We also rely on 

our vice presidents, general managers, and other operations personnel to sell our services and cultivate customers. Our strategy is to delegate 

sales efforts by geographic region or to those employees of ours who have the best relationships with our customers. Most wireless service 

providers have national corporate headquarters with regional and local offices. We believe that wireless service providers make most decisions 

for site development and site leasing services at the regional and local levels with input from their corporate headquarters. Our sales 

representatives work with wireless service provider representatives at the regional and local levels and at the national level when appropriate. 

Our sales staffs compensation is heavily weighted to incentive-based goals and measurements. 

Competition 

Domestic Site Leasing- In the U.S., our primary competitors for our site leasing activities are (1) the national independent tower 

companies including American Tower Corporation and Crown Castle International, (2) a large number of regional independent tower owners, 

(3) wireless service providers that own and operate their own towers and lease, or may in the future decide to lease, antenna space to other 

providers, and (4) alternative facilities such as rooftops, outdoor and indoor distributed antenna system ("DAS") networks, billboards, and 

electric transmission towers. American Tower and Crown Castle have significantly more towers than we do, which could provide them a 

competitive advantage in negotiating with wireless service providers. Furthermore, these entities generally have greater financial resources than 

we do which may provide them with a competitive advantage in connection with the acquisition of material tower portfolios. However, we 

believe that tower location and capacity have been and will continue to be the most significant competitive factors affecting the site leasing 

business. Other competitive factors are quality of service to our tenants and price. 

International Site Leasing- 0 ur competition consists of wireless service providers that own and operate their own tower networks, as 

well as large national and regional independent tower companies. 

Site Development- The site development business is extremely competitive and price sensitive. We believe that the majority of our 

competitors in the U.S. site development business operate within local market areas exclusively, while some firms offer their services nationally. 

The market includes participants from a variety of market segments offering individual, or combinations of, competing services. The field of 

competitors includes site development consultants, zoning consultants, real estate firms, right-of-way consulting firms, construction companies, 

tower owners/managers, radio frequency engineering consultants, telecommunications equipment vendors, which provide end-to-end site 

development services through multiple subcontractors, and wireless service providers' internal staff. We believe that providers base their 

decisions for site development services on a number of criteria, including company experience, price, track record, local reputation, geographic 

reach, and time for completion of a project. 

Employees 

Our executive, corporate development, accounting, fmance, human resources, legal and regulatory, information technology and site 

administration personnel, and our network operations center, are located in our headquarters in Boca Raton, Florida. Certain sales, new tower 

build support and tower maintenance personnel are also located in our Boca Raton office. Our remaining employees are based in our 

international, regional, and local offices. 

As of December 31, 2015, we had 1,310 employees of which 230 were based outside of the U.S. and its territories. We consider our 

employee relations to be good. 

Regulatory and Environmental Matters 

Federal Regulations. In the U.S., which accounted for 83.5% of our total site leasing revenue for the year ended December 31, 2015 , both 

the FCC and the Federal Aviation Administration (the "FAA") regulate towers. Many FAA requirements are implemented in FCC regulations. 

These regulations, which were amended in 2014, govern the construction, lighting, and painting or other marking of towers, as well as the 

maintenance, inspection, and record keeping related to towers, and may, depending on the characteristics of particular towers, require prior 

approval and registration of towers before they may be constructed, altered or used. Wireless communications equipment and radio or television 

stations operating on towers are separately regulated and may require independent customer licensing depending upon the particular frequency 

or frequency band used. In addition, any applicant for an FCC tower structure registration (through the FCC's Antenna Structure Registration 

System) must certify that, consistent with the Anti-Drug Abuse Act of 1988, neither the applicant nor its principals are subject to a denial of 

Federal benefits because of a conviction for the possession or distribution of a controlled substance. New tower construction also requires 

approval from the state or local governing 
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authority for the proposed site: compliance with the National Environmental Policy Act ("NEPA"); compliance with the National Historic 
Preservation Act ("NHP A"); compliance with the Endangered Species Act ("ESA"); and may require notification to the FAA. 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Communications Act of 1934, as amended, the FCC, in conjunction with the FAA, has developed 
standards to consider proposals involving new or modified towers. These standards mandate that the FCC and the FAA consider the height of the 
proposed tower, the relationship of the tower to existing natural or man-made obstructions, and the proximity of the tower to runways and 
airports. Proposals to construct or to modify existing towers above certain heights must be reviewed by the FAA to ensure the structure will not 
present a hazard to air navigation. The FAA may condition its issuance of a no-hazard determination upon compliance with specified lighting 
and/or painting requirements. Towers that meet certain height and location criteria must also be registered with the FCC. A tower that requires 
FAA clearance will not be registered by the FCC until it is cleared by the FAA. Upon registration, the FCC may also require special lighting 
and/or painting. Owners of wireless communications towers may have an obligation to maintain painting and lighting or other marking in 
conformance with FAA and FCC regulations. Tower owners and licensees that operate on those towers also bear the responsibility of monitoring 
any lighting systems and notifying the FAA of any lighting outage or malfunction. 

Owners and operators of towers may be subject to, and therefore must comply with, environmental laws, including NEPA, NHPA and 
ESA. Any licensed radio facility on a tower is subject to environmental review pursuant to the NEP A, among other statutes, which requires 
federal agencies to evaluate the environmental impact of their decisions under certain circumstances. The FCC has issued regulations 
implementing the NEPA. These regulations place responsibility on applicants to investigate potential environmental effects of their operations 
and to disclose any potential significant effects on the environment in an environmental assessment prior to constructing or modifying a tower 
and prior to commencing certain operations of wireless communications or radio or television stations from the tower. In the event the FCC 
determines the proposed structure or operation would have a significant environmental impact based on the standards the FCC has developed, 
the FCC would be required to prepare an environmental impact statement, which will be subject to public comment. This process could 
significantly delay the registration of a particular tower. 

We generally indemnify our customers against any failure to comply with applicable regulatory standards relating to the construction, 
modification, or placement of towers. Failure to comply with the applicable requirements may lead to civil penalties. 

The Telecommunications Act of 1996 amended the Communications Act of 1934 by preserving state and local zoning authorities' 
jurisdiction over the construction, modification, and placement of towers. The law, however, limits local zoning authority by prohibiting any 
action that would discriminate among different providers of personal wireless services or ban altogether the construction, modification or 
placement of radio communication towers. Finally, the Telecommunications Act of 1996 requires the federal government to help licensees for 
wireless communications services gain access to preferred sites for their facilities. This may require that federal agencies and departments work 
directly with licensees to make federal property available for tower facilities. 

As an owner and operator of real property, we are subject to certain environmental laws that impose strict, joint and several liability for the 
cleanup of on-site or off-site contamination and related personal injury or property damage. We are also subject to certain environmental laws 
that govern tower placement and may require pre-construction environmental studies. Operators of towers must also take into consideration 
certain radio frequency ("RF") emissions regulations that impose a variety of procedural and operating requirements. Certain proposals to 
operate wireless communications and radio or television stations from tower structures are also reviewed by the FCC to ensure compliance with 
requirements relating to human exposure to RF emissions. Exposure to high levels ofRF enetgy can produce negative health effects. The 
potential connection between low-level RF energy and certain negative health effects, including some forms of cancer, has been the subject of 
substantial study by the scientific community in recent years. We believe that we are in substantial compliance with and we have no material 
liability under any applicable environmental laws. These costs of compliance with existing or future environmental laws and liability related 
thereto may have a material adverse effect on our prospects, financial condition or results of operations. 

State and Local Regulations. Most states regulate certain aspects of real estate acquisition, leasing activities, and construction activities. 
Where required, we conduct the site acquisition portions of our site development services business through licensed real estate brokers' agents, 
who may be our employees or hired as independent contractors, and conduct the construction portions of our site development services through 
licensed contractors, who may be our employees or independent contractors. Local regulations include city and other local ordinances, zoning 
restrictions and restrictive covenants imposed by community developers. These regulations vary greatly from jurisdiction to jurisdiction, but 
typically require tower owners to obtain approval from local officials or community standards organizations, or certain other entities prior to 
tower construction and establish regulations regarding maintenance and removal of towers. In addition, many local zoning authorities require 
tower owners to post bonds or cash collateral to secure their removal obligations. Local zoning authorities generally have been unreceptive to 
construction of new towers in their communities because of the height and visibility of the towers, and have, in some instances, instituted 
moratoria. 
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International. Regulatory regimes outside of the U.S. and its territories vary by country and locality; however, these regulations typically 
require tower owners and/or licensees to obtain approval from local officials or government agencies prior to tower construction or modification 
or the addition of a new antenna to an existing tower. Additionally, some regulations include ongoing obligations regarding painting, lighting, 
and maintenance. Our international operations may also be subject to limitations on foreign ownership ofland in certain areas. Based on our 
experience to date, these regimes have been similar to, but not more rigorous, burdensome or comprehensive than, those in the U.S. Non­
compliance with such regulations may lead to monetary penalties or deconstruction orders. Our international operations are also subject to 
various regulations and guidelines regarding employee relations and other occupational health and safety matters. As we expand our operations 
into additional international geographic areas, we will be subject to regulations in these jurisdictions. 

Backlog 

Backlog related to our site leasing business consists of lease agreements and amendments, which have been signed, but have not yet 
commenced. As of December 31, 20 15 , we had 697 new leases and amendments which had been executed with customers but which had not 
begun generating revenue. These leases and amendments will contractually provide for approximately $6.6 million of annual revenue. By 
comparison, as of December 31,2014, we had 264 new leases and amendments which had been executed with customers but which had not 
begun generating revenue. These leases and amendments contractually provided for approximately $3.8 million of annual revenue. 

Our backlog for site development services consists of the value of work that has not yet been completed under executed contracts. As of 
December 31, 2015, we had approximately $30.7 million of contractually committed revenue as compared to approximately $66.2 million as 
ofDecember 31, 2014. 

Availability of Reports and Other Information 

SBA Communications Corporation was incorporated in the State of Florida in March 1997. Our corporate website is www.sbasite.com . 
We make available, free of charge, access to our Annual Report on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q, Current Reports on Form 8-K, 
Proxy Statement on Schedule 14A and amendments to those materials filed or furnished pursuant to Section 13( a) or 15( d) of the Securities and 
Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, on our website under "Investor Relations- Reports and Results- SEC Filings," as soon as reasonably 
practicable after we file electronically such material with, or furnish it to, the United States Securities and Exchange Commission (the 
"Commission''). 

ITEM lA. RISK FACTORS 

Risks Related to Our Business 

If our wireless service provider customers combine their operations to a significant degree, our future operating results and our ability to 
service our indebtedness could be adversely affected. 

Significant consolidation among our wireless service provider customers may result in our customers failing to renew existing leases for 
tower space or reducing future capital expenditures in the aggregate because their existing networks and expansion plans may overlap or be very 
similar, or acquired technologies may be discontinued. In connection with the combinations ofVerizon Wireless and ALL TEL (to form 
Verizon Wireless), Cingular and AT&T Wireless (to form AT&T Mobility) and Sprint PCS and Nextel (to form Sprint), the combined 
companies have rationalized and may continue to rationalize duplicative parts of their networks, and, in the case of Sprint, the Nextel iDen 
network was discontinued, which has led and may continue to lead to the non-renewal of certain leases on our towers. During 2013, Sprint 
acquired Clearwire Communications and T-Mobile acquired MetroPCS, and in 2014, AT&T acquired Leap Wireless (Cricket Wireless). This 
consolidation may also lead to additional non-renewal of certain of our tower leases. If our wireless service provider customers continue to 
consolidate as a result of, among other factors, limited wireless spectrum for commercial use in the U.S., this consolidation could significantly 
impact the number of tower leases that are not renewed or the number of new leases that our wireless service provider customers require to 
expand their networks, which could materially and adversely affect our future operating results. 
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We have a substantia/level of indebtedness which may have an adverse effect on our business or limit our ability to take advantage of 
business, strategic or jinandng opportunities. 

As indicated below, we have and will continue to have a significant amount of indebtedness relative to our deficit. The following table sets 
forth our total principal amount of debt and shareholders' deficit as of December 31, 2015 and 2014. 

Total prfd¢l~~~~m!t;~~;Uid,ebt~ll&~;,, ',>:::,,:$_: 

Shareholders' deficit $ 

As of December 31 

2015 

(in thousands) 

~~;:SSs,ooti: , ,.s , 
(1,706,144) $ 

2014 

7t&7o;ooo 
(660,800) 

Our substantial level of indebtedness increases the possibility that we may be unable to generate cash sufficient to pay the principal, 
interest, or other amounts due on our indebtedness. Subject to certain restrictions under our existing indebtedness, we and our subsidiaries may 
also incur significant additional indebtedness in the future, some of which may be secured debt. This may have the effect of increasing our total 
leverage. For example, on June I 0, 201 5 , SBA Senior Finance II secured a new$ 500.0 million senior secured Term Loan, and on October I 
4, 201 5, we, through a New York common law trust, issued$ 500.0 million aggregate principal amount of Secured Tower Revenue Securities, 

As a consequence of our indebtedness, (I) demands on our cash resources may increase, (2) we are subject to restrictive covenants that 
further limit our financial and operating flexibility and (3) we may choose to institute self-imposed limits on our indebtedness based on certain 
considerations including market interest rates, our relative leverage and our strategic plans. For example, as a result of our substantial level of 
indebtedness and the uncertainties arising in the credit markets and the U,S, economy: 

• we may be more vulnerable to general adverse economic and industry conditions; 

• we may have to pay higher interest rates upon refmancing or on our variable rate indebtedness if interest rates rise, thereby reducing 
our cash flows; 

• we may fmd it more difficult to obtain additional financing to fund future working capital, capital expenditures and other general 
corporate requirements that would be in our best long-term interests; 

• we may be required to dedicate a substantial portion of our cash flow from operations to the payment of principal and interest on our 
debt, reducing the available cash flow to fund other investments, including tower acquisition and new build capital expenditures; 

• we may have limited flexibility in planning for, or reacting to, changes in our business or in the industry; 

• we may have a competitive disadvantage relative to other companies in our industry that are less leveraged; and 

• we may be required to sell debt or equity securities or sell some of our core assets, possibly on unfavorable terms, in order to meet 
payment obligations. 

These restrictions could have a material adverse effect on our business by limiting our ability to take advantage of financing, new tower 
development, mergers and acquisitions or other opportunities. 

In addition, fluctuations in market interest rates may increase interest expense relating to our floating rate indebtedness, which we expect 
to incur under our Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loans, and may make it difficult to refinance our existing indebtedness at a commercially 
reasonable rate or at alL There is no guarantee that the future refmancing of our indebtedness will have fixed interest rates or that interest rates 
on such indebtedness will be equal to or lower than the rates on our current indebtedness. 
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We depend on a relatively small number of customers for most of our revenue, and the loss, consolidation or financial instability of any of 
our significant customers may materially decrease our revenues. 

We derive a significant portion of our revenue from a small number of customers. Consequently, a reduction in demand for site leasing, 
reduced future capital expenditures on the networks, or the loss, as a result of bankruptcy, merger with other customers of ours or otherwise, of 
any of our largest customers could materially decrease our revenue and have an adverse effect on our growth. 

The following is a list of significant customers (representing at least 10% of revenue in any of the last three years) and the percentage of 
our total revenues for the specified time periods derived from these customers: 

Percentage of Total Revenues 

~t&.rfwirel~s~~w· 
Sprint 
r~Moblt~if''' . 
Verizon Wireless 

For tbe year ended December 31, 

2015 2014 2013 

..... 44;2~, >.1i1:!!3:1>0A, . •.• . ·21f3% 
19.6% 23.4% 25.0% 

·····i·iit·ift~~::j 'jJ~lS~:'C'1 :: i1;~~i 
13.8% 12.0% 11.3% 

We also have client concentrations with respect to revenues in each of our financial reporting segments: 

Sprint 

't!MoQa~i!f.F . 
Verizon Wireless 

OiS.A .. 
Telefonica 
bi_gic,et- ·:Pt:<<::: , 

slitinH' 
T-Mobile 
Eri~iWfj1riB. y,,:t::·F 
Verizon Wireless 

For tbe year ended December 31, 

2014 2013 

•t;~ki;;9,~0.·D.:;>. ~ulw*'r:••'- · 2s.s,lj(~ 
22.3% 25.6% 30.9% 

~Q.2% 
13.3% 

:~)[.:i~·~·l9.Q~\~:~i:;i;:f'it9,2%<. 
16.3% 14.4% 

For tbe year ended December 31, 

2015 

. 48~8%', 
24.7% 

.4~~1'>· 

2014 2013 

~~~" .. ~~ 
28.8% 44.2% 

.4i~> . · ':ifi>Z% 

For tbe year ended December 31, 

2015 2014 2013 

17.6% 8.5% 8.4% 
· c:;::~r5t~%'~~::·\ ~46l~%'i:\M · 34~~ 

14.8% 10.1% 4.8% 

(1) Prior year amounts have been adjusted to reflect the merger of AT&T Wireless and Leap Wireless (Cricket Wireless). 

We derive r evenue through numerous site leasing contracts and site development contracts. Each site leasing contract relates to the lease 
of space at an individual tower and is generally for an initial term offive to ten years in the U.S. and Canada, and renewable for five 5-year 
periods at the option of the tenant. Site leasing contracts in our Central American and South American markets typically have an initial term of 
ten years with multiple five year renewal periods. However, if any of our significant site leasing customers were to experience fmancial 
difficulty, substantially reduce their capital expenditures or reduce their dependence on leased tower space and fail to renew their leases with us, 
our revenues, future revenue growth and results of operations would be adversely affected. 

Our site development customers engage us on a project-by-project basis, and a customer can generally terminate an assignment at any time 
without penalty. In addition, a customer's need for site development services can decrease, and we may not be successful in establishing 
relationships with new customers. Furthermore, our existing customers may not continue to engage us for additional projects. 
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Currency fluctuations may negatively affect our results of operations. 

We have business operations in Canada, Central America, and South America. Our operations in Central America and Ecuador are 
primarily denominated in United States Dollars, while our operations in Canada and Brazil are denominated in local currencies. Our foreign 
currency denominated revenues and expenses are translated into United States dollars at applicable exchange rates for inclusion in our 
consolidated financial statements. 

For the year ended December 31, 20 15, approximately 15% of our total cash site leasing revenue was generated by our International 
operations, of which 11.2% was generated in non-US dollar currencies, including 10.5% which was generated in Brazilian R eais. The exchange 
rates between our foreign currencies and the United States Dollar have fluctuated significantly recently and may continue to do so in the 
future. For example, the Brazilian Real has historically been subject to subst.antial volatility and devalued 49.2% when comparing the spot rate 
on January I, 2015 and December 31, 2015. This trend has adversely affected, and may in the future continue to adversely affect, our reported 
results of operations. 

Changes in exchange rates between these local currencies and the United States Dollar will affect the recorded levels of site leasing 
revenue, segment operating profit, assets and/or liabilities. Volatility in foreign currency exchange rates can also affect our ability to plan, 
forecast and budget for our international operations and expansion efforts. 

Furthermore, we have an intercompany loan agreement which permits one of our Brazilian entities to borrow amounts up to $750.0 
million. As of December 31, 2015, the outstanding balance under this agreement was $455.8 million. In accordance with ASC 830, we 
remeasure foreign denominated intercompany loans with the corresponding change in the balance being recorded in Other income (expense}, net 
in our Consolidated Statements of Operations. Consequently, if the U.S. Dollar continues to strengthen against the Brazilian Real, our results of 
operations would be adversely affected. For the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, we recorded $178.9 million and $23.0 million, 
respectively, of foreign exchange losses on the remeasurement of intercompany loans. 

If we are unable to protect our rights to the land under our towers, it could adversely affect our business and operating results. 
Our real property interests relating to our tower structures consist primarily ofleasehold and sub-leasehold interests, fee interests, 

easements, licenses, rights-of-way, and other similar interests. From time to time, we experience disputes with landowners regarding the terms of 
the agreements for the land under our tower structures, which can affect our ability to access and operate such towers. Further, landowners may 
not want to renew their agreements with us, they may lose their rights to the land, or they may transfer their land interests to third parties, 
including ground lease aggregators and our competitors, which could affect our ability to renew agreements on commercially viable terms or at 
all. In addition, the land underlying the 2,113 towers we acquired in 2013 from Oi S.A., one ofBrazil's largest telecommunications providers, is 
subject to a concession from the Federal Republic ofBrazil that expires in 2025. At the end of the term, the Brazilian government will have the 
right to (i) renew the concession upon newly negotiated terms or (ii) terminate the concession and take possession of the land and the tower on 
such land. Although Oi S.A. has entered into a non-terminable lease with us for 35 years, if the concession is not renewed, our site leasing 
revenue from co-located tenants would terminate prior to the end of such lease. For the year ended December 31, 2015, we generated 13.0% of 
our total international site leasing revenue from these 2,113 towers of which 10.2% related to Oi S.A. and 2.8% represented revenue from co­
located tenants . 

As of December 31, 2015, the average remaining life under our ground leases, including renewal options under our control, was approximately 
33 years, and approximately 5.8% of our tower structures have ground leases maturing in the next I 0 years. Failure to protect our rights to the 
land under our towers may have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations or fmancial condition. 

New technologies or network architecture may reduce demand for our wireless infrastructure or negatively impact our revenues. 
Improvements or changes in the efficiency, architecture, and design of wireless networks may reduce the demand for our wireless 

infrastructure. For example, new technologies that may promote network sharing, joint development, or resale agreements by our customers, 
such as signal combining technologies or network functions virtualization, may reduce the need for our wireless infrastructure. In addition, other 
technologies and architectures , such as WiFi, DAS, femtocells, other small cells, or satellite (such as low earth orbiting) and mesh transmission 
systems may, in the future, serve as substitutes for, or alternatives to, the traditional macro site cellular architecture that is the basis of 
substantially all of our site leasing business. In addition, new technologies that enhance the range, efficiency, and capacity of wireless equipment 
could reduce demand for our wireless infrastructure. Any significant reduction in demand for our wireless infrastructure resulting from new 
technologies or new architectures may negatively impact our revenues or otherwise have a material adverse effect on us . 
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Increasing competition may negatively impact our ability to grow our communication site portfolio long term. 

We intend to continue growing our tower portfolio, domestically and internationally, through acquisitions and new builds. Our ability to 

meet our growth targets significantly depends on our ability to build or acquire existing towers that meet our investment requirements. 

Traditionally, our acquisition strategy has focused on acquiring towers from smaller tower companies, independent tower developers and 

wireless service providers. However, as a result of consolidation in the tower industry there are fewer of these mid-sized tower transactions 

available and there is more competition to acquire existing towers. Increased competition for acquisitions may result in fewer acquisition 

opportunities for us, higher acquisition prices, and increased difficulty in negotiating and consummating agreements to acquire such towers. For 

example, in 2015, we passed on more U.S. acquisitions than we did in 2014 due to asset quality, price, or lease terms. Furthermore, to the extent 

that the tower acquisition opportunities are for significant tower portfolios, many of our competitors are significantly larger and have greater 

financial resources than we do. Finally, competition regulations, domestically and internationally, may limit our ability to acquire certain 

portfolios or apply to us differently than they apply to our competitors. As a result of these risks, the cost of acquiring these towers may be 

higher than we expect or we may not be able to meet our annual and long-term tower portfolio growth targets. If we are not able to sucd:ssfully 

address these challenges, we may not be able to materially increase our tower portfolio in the long-term. 

We currently intend to build 5 90 to 610 new towers, domestically and internationally, during 2016. However, our ability to build these 

new towers is dependent upon the availability of sufficient capital to fund construction, our ability to locate, and acquire at commercially 

reasonable prices, attractive locations for such towers and our ability to obtain the necessary zoning and permits. Local regulations, including 

municipal or local ordinances, zoning restrictions and restrictive covenants imposed by community developers, vary greatly, but typically require 

antenna tower and structure owners to obtain approval from local officials or community standards organizations prior to tower or structure 

construction or modification. With respect to our international new builds, our tower construction may be delayed or halted as a result of local 

zoning restrictions, inconsistencies between laws or other barriers to construction in international markets. Due to these risks, it may take longer 

to complete our new tower builds, domestically and internationally, than anticipated, the costs of constructing these towers may be higher than 

we expect or we may not be able to add as many towers as we had planned in 2016. If we are not able to increase our tower portfolio as 

anticipated, it could negatively impact our ability to achieve our financial goals. 

Our international operations are subject to econ omic, political and other risks that could materially and adversely affect our revenues or 

financial position. 

Our current business operations in Canada, Central America , and South America , and our expansion into any other international markets 

in the future, could result in adverse financial consequences and operational problems not typically experienced in the United States. The 

consolidated revenues generated by our international operations were 14.9% during the year ended December 31, 2015 , and we anticipate that 

our revenues from our international operations will continue to grow in the future. Accordingly, our business is and will in the future be subject 

to risks associated with doing business internationally, including: 

• changes in a specific country's or region's political or economic conditions; 

• laws and regulations that tax or otherwise restrict repatriation of earnings or other funds or otherwise limit distributions of capital; 

• laws and regulations that dictate how we operate our towers and conduct business, including zoning, maintenance and 

environmental matters, and laws related to ownership of real property; 

• laws and regulations governing our employee relations, including occupational health and safety matters; 

• changes to existing or new domestic or international tax laws or fees directed specifically at the ownership and operation of towers, 

which may be applied and enforced retroactively; 

• expropriation and governmental regulation restricting foreign ownership; 

• laws effecting telecommunications infrastructure including the sharing of such infrastructure; 

• restriction or revocation of spectrum licenses; 
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o our ability to comply with, and the costs of compliance with, anti-bribery laws such as the Foreign Corrupt Practices Act and similar 

local anti-bribery laws; 

o our ability to compete with owners and operators of wireless towers that have been in the international market for a longer period of 

time than we have; 

o uncertainties regarding legal or judicial systems, including inconsistencies between and within laws, regulations and decrees, and 

judicial application thereof; and delays in the judicial process; 

o health or similar issues, such as a pandemic or epidemic; 

o difficulty in recruiting and retaining trained personnel; and 

o language and cultural differences. 

A slowdown in demand/or wireless communications services or for tower space could materially and adversely affect our future growth and 

revenues, and we· cannot control that demand. 

Additional revenue growth on our towers other than through contractual escalators comes directly from additional investment by our wireless 

service provider customers in their networks. If wireless service subscribers significantly reduce their minutes of use or data usage, or fail to 

widely adopt and use wireless data applications, our wireless service provider customers would experience a decrease in demand for their 

services. Regardless of consumer demand, each wireless service customer must have substantial capital resources and capabilities to build out 

their wireless networks, including licenses for spectrum. In addition, our wireless service customers have engaged in increased use of network 

sharing, roaming or resale arrangements. As a result of all of the above, wireless carriers may scale back their business plans or otherwise reduce 

their spending, which could materially and adversely affect demand for our tower space and our wireless communications services business, 

which could have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations and financial condition. 

We may not be able to fully recogni'l.e the anticipated benefits of towers that we acquire. 

A key element of our growth strategy is to increase our tower portfolio through acquisitions. We rely on our due diligence of the towers 

and the representations and fmancial records of the sellers and other third parties to establish the anticipated revenues and expenses and whether 

the acquired towers will meet our internal guidelines for current and future potential returns. In addition, we may not always have the ability to 

analyze and verify all information regarding title, access and other issues regarding the land underlying acquired towers. This is particularly true 

in our international acquisitions of towers from wireless service providers. To the extent that these towers were acquired in individually material 

transactions, we may be required to place enhanced reliance on the fmancial and operational representations and warranties of the sellers. If (i) 

these records are not complete or accurate, (ii) we do not have complete access to, or use of, the land underlying the acquired towers or (iii) the 

towers do not achieve the fmancial results anticipated, it could adversely affect our revenues and results of operations. 

In addition, acquisitions which would be material in the aggregate may exacerbate the risks inherent with our growth strategy, such as (i) 

an adverse impact on our overall profitability if the acquired towers do not achieve the fmancial results projected in our valuation models, (ii) 

unanticipated costs associated with the acquisitions that may impact our results of operations for a period, (iii) increased demands on our cash 

resources that may, among other things, impact our ability to explore other opportunities, (iv) undisclosed and assumed liabilities that we may be 

unable to recover, (v) increased vulnerability to general economic conditions, (vi) an adverse impact on our existing customer relationships, (vii) 

additional expenses and exposure to new regulatory, political and economic risks if such acquisitions were in new jurisdictions and (viii) 

diversion of managerial attention. 

We may not successfully integrate acquired towers into our operations. 

As part of our growth strategy, we have made and expect to continue to make acquisitions. The process of integrating any acquired towers 

into our operations may result in unforeseen operating difficulties and large expenditures and may absorb significant management attention that 

would otherwise be available for the ongoing development of our business. It may also result in the loss of key customers and/or personnel and 

expose us to unanticipated liabilities. These risks may be exacerbated in those circumstances in which we acquire a material number of towers. 

Further, we may not be able to retain the key employees that may be necessary to operate the business we acquire, and we may not be able to 

timely attract new skilled employees and management to replace them. 
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There can be no assurance that we will be successful in integrating acquisitions into our existing business. This is particularly true in our 

international acquisitions of towers from wireless service providers. 

Delays or changes in the deployment or adoption of new technologies or slowing consumer adoption rates may have a material adverse 

effect on our growth rate. 

There can be no assurances that 3G, 4G, including long-term evolution ("L TE"), advanced wireless service in the 1695-1710 MHz, 1755-

1780 MHz, and 2155-2180 MHz bands (the "AWS-3" bands), or other new wireless technologies such as 50 will be deployed or adopted as 

rapidly as projected or that these new technologies will be implemented in the manner anticipated. The deployment of3G experienced delays 

from the original projected timelines of the wireless and broadcast industries, and continued deployment of 4G could experience delays. 

Additionally, the demand by consumers and the adoption rate of consumers for these new technologies once deployed may be lower or slower 

than anticipated, particularly in certain of our international markets. These factors could have a material adverse effect on our growth rate since 

growth opportunities and demand for our tower space as a result of such new technologies may not be realized at the times or to the extent 

anticipated. 

Increasing competition in the tower industry may create pricing pressures that may materially and adversely affect us. 

Our industry is highly competitive, and our customers sometimes have alternatives for leasing antenna space. Some of our competitors, 

such as (1) U.S. and international wireless carriers that allow co-location on their towers and (2) large independent tower companies, have been, 

and based on recent consolidations continue to be, substantially larger and have gr eater financial resources than we do . This could provide them 

with advantages with respect to establishing favorable leasing terms with wireless service providers or in their ability to acquire available towers. 

In the site leasing business, we compete with: 

• wireless service providers that own and operate their own towers and lease, or may in the future decide to lease, antenna space to 

other providers; 

• national and regional tower companies; and 

• alternative facilities such as rooftops, outdoor and indoor DAS networks, billboards and electric transmission towers. 

We believe that tower location and capacity, quality of service, density within a geographic market and, to a lesser extent, price 

historically have been and will continue to be the most significant competitive factors affecting the site leasing business. However, competitive 

pricing pressures for tenants on towers from these competitors could materially and adversely affect our lease rates. In addition, we may not be 

able to renew existing customer leases or enter into new customer leases, resulting in a material adverse impact on our results of operations and 

growth rate. Increasing competition could also make the acquisition of high quality tower assets more costly, or limit the acquisition 

opportunities altogether. Any of these factors could materially and adversely affect our business, results of operations or financial condition. 

The site development segment of our industry is also extremely competitive. There are numerous large and small companies that offer one 

or more of the services offered by our site development business. As a result of this competition, margins in this segment may come under 

pressure. Many of our competitors have lower overhead expenses and therefore may be able to provide services at prices that we consider 

unprofitable. If margins in this segment were to decrease, our consolidated revenues and our site development segment operating profit could be 

adversely affected. 

The documents governing our indebtedness contain restrictive covenants that could adversely affect our business by limiting our flexibility. 

The indentures governing the 5.75% Notes, the 5.625% Notes and the 4.875% Notes, the Senior Credit Agreement, and the Secured Tower 

Revenue Securities contain restrictive covenants imposing significant operational and fmancial restrictions on us, including restrictions that may 

limit our ability to engage in acts that may be in our long-term best interests. Among other things, the covenants under each indenture limit our 

ability to: 

• merge, consolidate or sell assets; 

• make restricted payments, including pay dividends or make other distributions; 
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• enter into transactions with affiliates; 

• enter into sale and leaseback transactions; and 

• issue guarantees of indebtedness. 

We are required to maintain certain financial ratios under the Senior Credit Agreement. The Senior Credit Agreement, as amended, 
requires SBA Senior Finance II to maintain speci fie financial ratios, including (I) a ratio of Consolidated Total Debt to Armualized Borrower 
EBITDA not to exceed 6.5 times for any fiscal quarter, (2) a ratio of Consolidated Total Debt and Net Hedge Exposure (calculated in accordance 
with the Senior Credit Agreement) to Armualized Borrower EBITDA for the most recently ended fiscal quarter not to exceed 6.5 times for 30 
consecutive days and (3) a ratio of Armualized Borrower EBITDA to Armualized Cash Interest Expense (calculated in accordance with the 
Senior Credit Agreement) of not less than 2.0 times for any fiscal quarter. 

Additionally, the mortgage Joan relating to our Tower Securities contains fmancial covenants that require that the mortgage Joan borrowers 
maintain, on a consolidated basis, a minimum debt service coverage ratio. To the extent that the debt service coverage ratio, as of the end of any 
calendar quarter, falls to 1.30 times or lower, then all cash flow in excess of amounts required to make debt service payments, to fund required 
reserves, to pay management fees and budgeted operating expenses and to make other payments required under the Joan documents, referred to 
as "excess cash flow," will be deposited into a reserve account instead of being released to the Borrowers. The funds in the reserve account will 
not be released to the Borrowers unless the debt service coverage ratio exceeds 1.30 times for two consecutive calendar quarters. If the debt 
service coverage ratio falls below 1.15 times as of the end of any calendar quarter, then an "amortization period" will commence and all funds on 
deposit in the reserve account will be applied to prepay the mortgage Joan until such time that the debt service coverage ratio exceeds 1.15 times 
for a calendar quarter. 

These covenants could place us at a disadvantage compared to some of our competitors which may have fewer restrictive covenants and 
may not be required to operate under these restrictions. Further, these covenants could have an adverse effect on our business by limiting our 
ability to take advantage offmancing, new tower development, merger and acquisitions or other opportunities. If we fail to comply with these 
covenants, it could result in an event of default under our debt instruments. If any default occurs, all amounts outstanding under our outstanding 
notes and the Senior Credit Agreement may become immediately due and payable. 

Our variable rate indebtedness and refinancing obligations subject us to interest rate risk, which could cause our debt service obligations to 
increase significantly. 

Fluctuations in market interest rates may increase interest expense relating to our floating rate indebtedness, which we expect to incur 
under the Revolving Credit Facility and Term Loans or upon refmancing our fixed rate debt. As a result, we are exposed to interest rate risk. If 
interest rates were to increase, our debt service obligations on the variable rate indebtedness would increase even though the amount borrowed 
remained the same, and our net income and cash flows, including cash available for servicing our indebtedness, will correspondingly decrease. 
There is no guarantee that any future refinancing of our indebtedness will have fixed interest rates or that interest rates on such indebtedness will 
be equal to or lower than the rates on our current indebtedness. In the future, we may enter into interest rate swaps that involve the exchange of 
floating for fixed rate interest payments in order to reduce interest rate volatility. However, we may not maintain interest rate swaps with respect 
to all of our variable rate indebtedness, and any swaps we enter into may not fully mitigate our interest rate risk. We currently have no interest 
rate swaps. 

Our dependence on our subsidiaries for cash flow may negatively affect our business. 

We are a holding company with no business operations of our own. Our only significant assets are, and are expected to be, the outstanding 
capital stock and membership interests of our subsidiaries. We conduct, and expect to continue conducting, all of our business operations 
through our subsidiaries. Accordingly, our ability to pay our obligations is dependent upon dividends and other distributions from our 
subsidiaries to us. Most of our indebtedness is owed directly by our subsidiaries, including the mortgage loan underlying the Tower Securities, 
the 5.75% Notes, the Term Loans and any amounts that we may borrow under the Revolving Credit Facility. Consequently, the first use of any 
cash flow from operations generated by such subsidiaries will be payments of interest and principal, if any, under their respective indebtedness. 
Other than the cash required to repay amounts due under our 5.625% Notes and 4.875% Notes, we currently expect that substantially all the 
earnings and cash flow of our subsidiaries will be retained and used by them in their operations, including servicing their respective debt 
obligations. The ability of our operating subsidiaries to pay dividends or transfer assets to us is restricted by applicable state law and contractual 
restrictions, including the terms of their outstanding debt instruments. 
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Our quarterly operating results for our site development services fluctuate and therefore we may not be able to adjust our cost structure on a 

timely basis with regard to such fluctuations. 

The demand for our site development services fluctuates from quarter to quarter and should not be considered indicative oflong-term 

results. Numerous factors cause these fluctuations, including: 

• the timing and amount of our customers' capital expenditures; 

• the size and scope of our projects; 

• the business practices of customers, such as deferring commitments on new projects until after the end of the calendar year or the 

customers' fiscal year; 

• delays relating to a project or tenant installation of equipment; 

• seasonal factors, such as weather, holidays and vacation days and total business days in a quarter; 

• the use of third party providers by our customers; 

• the rate and volume of wireless service providers' network development; and 

• general economic conditions. 

Although the demand for our site development services fluctuates, we incur significant fixed costs, such as maintaining a staff and office 

space, in anticipation of future contracts. In addition, the timing of revenues is difficult to forecast because our sales cycle may be relatively 

long. Therefore, we may not be able to adjust our cost structure on a timely basis to respond to the fluctuations in demand for our site 

development services. 

We have not been profitable and may incur losses in the future. 

Historically, we have not been profitable. The following chart shows the net losses we incurred for the periods indicated: 

For the year ended December 31, 

2015 2014 2013 

Our losses are principally due to depreciation, amortization and accretion expenses, interest expense (including non-cash interest expense 

and amortization of deferred fmancing fees), losses from the extinguishment of debt in the periods presented above, and in 2015, remeasurement 

losses related to a foreign currency denominated intercompany loan. 

The loss of the services of certain of our key personnel or a significant number of our employees may negatively affect our business. 

Our success depends to a significant extent upon performance and active participation of our key personnel. We cannot guarantee that we 

will be successful in retaining the services of these key personnel. We have employment agreements with Jeffrey A. Stoops, our President and 

Chief Executive Officer, Kurt L. Bagwell, our Executive Vice President and President-International, Thomas P. Hunt, our Executive Vice 

President, Chief Administrative Officer and General Counsel, and Brendan T. Cavanagh, our Executive Vice President and Chief Financial 

Officer. We do not have employment agreements with any of our other key personnel. If we were to lose any key personnel, we may not be able 

to fmd an appropriate replacement on a timely basis and our results of operations could be negatively affected. Further, the loss of a significant 

number of employees or our inability to hire a sufficient number of qualified employees could have a material adverse effect on our business. 
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Our business is subject to government regulations and changes in current or future regulations could harm our business. 

We are subject to federal, state and local regulation of our business, both in the U.S. and internationally. In the U.S., both the FAA and the 

FCC regulate the construction, modification, and maintenance of towers and structures that support antennas used for wireless communications 

and radio and television broadcasts. In addition, the FCC separately licenses and regulates wireless communications equipment and television 

and radio stations operating from such towers. FAA and FCC regulations govern construction, lighting, painting, and marking of towers and 

may, depending on the characteristics of the tower, require registration of the tower. Certain proposals to construct new towers or to modify 

existing towers are reviewed by the FAA to ensure that the tower will not present a hazard to air navigation. 

Tower owners may have an obligation to mark or paint such towers or install lighting to conform to FAA and FCC regulations and to 

maintain such marking, painting and lighting. Tower owners may also bear the responsibility of notifying the FAA of any lighting outages. 

Certain proposals to operate wireless communications and radio or television stations from towers are also reviewed by the FCC to ensure 

compliance with environmental impact requirements established in federal statutes, including NEPA, NHP A and ESA. Failure to comply with 

existing or future applicable requirements may lead to civil penalties or other liabilities and may subject us to significant indemnification 

liability to our customers against any such failure to comply. In addition, new regulations may impose additional costly burdens on us, which 

may affect our revenues and cause delays in our growth. 

Local regulations, including municipal or local ordinances, zoning restrictions and restrictive covenants imposed by community 

developers, vary greatly, but typically require tower owners to obtain approval from local officials or community standards organizations prior to 

tower construction or modification. Local regulations can delay, prevent, or increase the cost of new construction, co-locations, or site upgrades, 

thereby limiting our ability to respond to customer demand. In addition, new regulations may be adopted that increase delays or result in 

additional costs to us. Furthermore, with respect to our international new builds, our tower construction may be delayed or halted as a result of 

local zoning restrictions, inconsistencies between laws or other barriers to construction in international markets. These factors could have a 

material adverse effect on our future growth and operations. 

Security breaches and other disruptions could compromise our information, which would cause our business and reputation to suffer. 

A part of our day-to-day operations, we rely on information technology and other computer resources and infrastructure to carry out 

important business activities and to maintain our business records. Our computer systems could fail on their own accord and are subject to 

interruption or damage from power outages, computer and telecommunications failures, computer viruses, security breaches (including through 

cyber-attack and data theft), errors, catastrophic events such as natural disasters and other events beyond our control. If our computer systems 

and our backup systems are compromised, degraded, damaged, or breached, or otherwise cease to function properly, we could suffer 

interruptions in our operations or unintentionally allow misappropriation of proprietary or confidential information (including information about 

our tenants or landlords). This could damage our reputation and disrupt our operations and the services we provide to customers, which could 

adversely affect our business and operating results. 

Our towers are subject to damage from natural disasters. 

Our towers are subject to risks associated with natural disasters such as tornadoes, hurricanes and earthquakes. We maintain insurance to 

cover the estimated cost of replacing damaged towers, but these insurance policies are subject to loss limits and deductibles. We also maintain 

third party liability insurance, subject to loss limits and deductibles, to protect us in the event of an accident involving a tower. A tower accident 

for which we are uninsured or underinsured, or damage to a significant number of our towers, could require us to incur significant expenditures 

and may have a material adverse effect on our operations or financial condition. 

To the extent that we are not able to meet our contractual obligations to our customers, due to a natural disaster or other catastrophic 

circumstances, our customers may not be obligated or willing to pay their lease expenses; however, we would be required to continue paying our 

fixed expenses related to the affected tower, including ground lease expenses. If we are unable to meet our contractual obligations to our 

customers for a material portion of our towers, our operations could be materially and adversely affected. 

We could have liability under environmental laws that could have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition and results 

of operations. 

Our operations, like those of other companies engaged in similar businesses, are subject to the requirements of various federal, state, local 

and foreign environmental and occupational safety and health laws and regulations, including those relating to the 
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management, use, storage, disposal, emission and remediation of, and exposure to, hazardous and non-hazardous substances, materials, and 

wastes. As owner, lessee, or operator of numerous tower structures, we may be liable for substantial costs ofremediating soil and groundwater 

contaminated by hazardous materials without regard to whether we, as the owner, lessee, or operator, knew of or were responsible for the 

contamination. We may be subject to potentially significant fmes or penalties if we fail to comply with any of these requirements. The current 

cost of complying with these laws is not material to our fmancial condition or results of operations. However, the requirements of these laws and 

regulations are complex, change frequently, and could become more stringent in the future. It is possible that these requirements will change or 

that liabilities will arise in the future in a manner that could have a material adverse effect on our business, fmancial condition and results of 

operations. 

We could suffer adverse tax and other financial consequences if taxing authorities do not agree with our tax positions, or we are unable to 

utilize our net operating losses. 

We are periodically subject to a number of tax examinations by taxing authorities in the states and countries where we do business. We 

also have significant deferred tax assets related to our net operating losses ("NOLs") in U.S. federal and state taxing jurisdictions. Generally, for 

U.S. federal and state tax purposes, NOLs can be carried forward and used for up to twenty years, and all of our tax years will remain subject to 

examination until three years after our NOLs are used or expire. We expect that we will continue to be subject to tax examinations in the future. 

In addition, U.S. federal, state and local, as well as international, tax laws and regulations are extremely complex and subject to varying 

interpretations. We recognize tax benefits of uncertain tax positions when we believe the positions are more likely than not of being sustained 

upon a challenge by the relevant tax authority. We believe our judgments in this area are reasonable and correct, but there is no guarantee that 

we will be successful if challenged by a tax authority. If there are tax benefits, including from our use ofNOLs or other tax attributes, that are 

challenged successfully by a taxing authority, we may be required to pay additional taxes or we may seek to enter into settlements with the 

taxing authorities, which could require significant payments or otherwise have a material adverse effect on our business, results of operations 

and financial condition. 

In addition, we may be limited in our ability to utilize our NOLs to offset future taxable income and thereby reduce our otherwise payable 

income taxes. We have substantial federal and state NOLs, including significant portions obtained through acquisitions and dispositions, as well 

as those generated through our historic business operations. In addition, we have disposed of some entities and restructured other entities in 

conjunction with financing transactions and other business activities. 

To the extent we believe that a position with respect to an NOL is not more likely than not to be sustained, we do not record the related 

deferred tax asset. In addition, for NOLs that meet the recognition threshold, we assess the recoverability of the NOL and establish a valuation 

allowance against the deferred tax asset related to the NOL ifrecoverability is questionable. Given the uncertainty surrounding the recoverability 

of certain of our NOLs, we have established a valuation allowance to offset the related deferred tax asset. 

Our ability to utilize our NOLs is also dependent, in part, upon us having sufficient future earnings to utilize our NOLs before they expire. 

If market conditions change materially and we determine that we will be unable to generate sufficient taxable income in the future to utilize our 

NOLs, we could be required to record an additional valuation allowance. We review our uncertain tax position and the valuation allowance for 

our NOLs periodically and make adjustments from time to time, which can result in an increase or decrease to the net deferred tax asset related 

to ourNOLs. 

Our issuance of equity securities and other associated transactions may trigger a future ownership change which may negatively impact our 

ability to utilize NOLs in the future. 

The issuance of equity securities and other associated transactions may increase the chance that we will have a future ownership change 

under Section 382 of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. We may also have a future ownership change, outside of our control, caused by future 

equity transactions by our current shareholders. Depending on our market value at the time of such future ownership change, an ownership 

change under Section 382 could negatively impact our ability to utilize our NOLs in the event we generate future taxable income. Currently, we 

have recorded a full valuation allowance against our NOLs because we have concluded that our loss history indicates that it is not "more likely 

than not" that such deferred tax assets will be realized. 

Future sales of our Class A common stock in the public market or the issuance of other equity may cause dilution or adversely affect the 

market price of our Class A common stock and our ability to raise funds in new equity or equity-related offerings. 

Sales of a substantial number of shares of our Class A common stock or other equity-related securities in the public market, including sales 

by any selling shareholder, could depress the market price of our Class A common stock and impair our ability to raise capital through the sale of 

additional equity securities. 
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Our costs could increase and our revenues could decrease due to perceived health risks from RF energy. 

The U.S. government imposes requirements and other guidelines relating to exposure to RF energy. Exposure to high levels ofRF energy 

can cause negative health effects. The potential connection between exposure to low levels ofRF energy and certain negative health effects, 

including some forms of cancer, has been the subject of substantial study by the scientific community in recent years. According to the FCC, the 

results of these studies to date have been inconclusive. However, public perception of possible health risks associated with cellular and other 

wireless communications media could slow the growth of wireless companies, which could in tum slow our growth. In particular, negative 

public perception of, and regulations regarding, health risks could cause a decrease in the demand for wireless communications services. 

Moreover, if a connection between exposure to low levels ofRF energy and possible negative health effects, including cancer, were 

demonstrated, we could be subject to numerous claims. Our current policies provide no coverage for claims based on RF energy exposure. If we 

were subject to claims relating to exposure to RF energy, even if such claims were not ultimately found to have merit, our financial condition 

could be materially and adversely affected. 

Our articles of incorporation, our bylaws and Florida law provide for anti-takeover provisions that could make it more difficult for a third 

party to acquire us. 

Provisions of our articles of incorporation, our bylaws and Florida law could make it more difficult for a third party to acquire us, even if 

doing so would be beneficial to our shareholders. These provisions, alone or in combination with each other, may discourage transactions 

involving actual or potential changes of control, including transactions that otherwise could involve payment of a premium over prevailing 

market prices to holders of our Class A common stock, or could limit the ability of our shareholders to approve transactions that they may deem 

to be in their best interests. 

ITEM 2. PROPERTIES 

0 n November I, 2013, we purchased a new headquarters in Boca Raton, Florida where we currently own approximately 160,000 square 

feet of office space. We have entered into long-term leases for international, regional, and certain site development office locations where we 

expect our activities to be longer-term. We open and close project offices from time to time in connection with our site development business. 

We believe our existing facilities are adequate for our current and planned levels of operations and that additional office space suited for our 

needs is reasonably available in the markets within which we operate. 

Our interests in towers and the land beneath them are comprised of a variety of fee interests, leasehold interests created by long-term lease 

agreements, perpetual easements, easements, licenses, rights-of-way, and other similar interests. As of December 31, 2015, approximately 73% 

of our tower structures were located on parcels ofland that we own, land subject to perpetual easements, or parcels ofland that have an interest 

that extends beyond 20 years. The average remaining life under our ground leases, including renewal options under our control, has been 

extended to 33 years. In rural areas, support for our towers, equipment shelters, and related equipment requires a tract ofland typically up to 

10,000 square feet. Less than 2,500 square feet is required for a monopole or self-supporting tower of the kind typically used in metropolitan 

areas for wireless communications towers. Ground leases are generally for an initial term of five years or more with five or more additional 

automatic renewal periods of five years, for a total ofthirty years or more. 

ITEM 3. LEGAL PROCEEDINGS 

We are involved in various legal proceedings relating to claims arising in the ordinary course of business. We do not believe that the 

ultimate resolution of these matters will have a material adverse effect on our business, financial condition, results of operations or liquidity. 

ITEM 4. MINE SAFETY DISCLOSURE 

Not Applicable. 
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PART II 

ITEM 5. MARKET FOR REGISTRANT'S COMMON EQUITY, RELATED STOCKHOLDER MATTERS AND ISSUER 
PURCHASES OF EQUITY SECURITIES 

Market for our Class A Common Stock 

Our Class A common stock commenced trading under the symbol "SBAC" on The NASDAQ National Market System on June 16, 1999. 

We now trade on the NASDAQ Global Select Market, a segment of the NASDAQ Global Market, formally known as the NASDAQ National 
Market System. 

The following table presents the high and low sales price for our Class A common stock for the periods indicated: 

q~~r ende(,\ Oecembel"~j.~~~~~ .. 'i , ·. 

Quarter ended September 30, 2015 

~'l~rendect·1uije~q;~Q;~~~'·. t•'•',••·· 
Quarter ended March 31, 2015 

Quarter ended March 31, 2014 

$ 
$ 

$ 

.· .$. 

$ 

As of February 19, 2016, there were 92 record holders of our Class A common stock. 

Dividends 

High 

1·2l[f(~~~~~:~~~~~~\t•·:. 
128.47 $ 

124i9S:'i i $' i;{ . 
126.65 $ 

99.64 

.. $· 

$ 

$ 

Low 

· · >'s~:* ''~z;rf:,l~;~~ 
102.65 

"'"'111J8 
107.53 

.... >\il;9~;B3 . 
99.70 

~l;:~~ 
87.29 

We have never paid a dividend on any class of common stock and anticipate that we will retain future earnings, if any, to fund the 

development and growth of our business. Consequently, we do not anticipate paying cash dividends on our Class A common stock in the 
foreseeable future. In addition, our ability to pay dividends is limited by the terms of our debt instruments. 

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities 

The following table presents information related to our repurchases of Class A common stock during the fourth quarter of 2015: 

Period 

totufu~~~il:>t#~Q~~ 

Total 

Number 

of Shares 

11/1/2015- 11/30/2015 184,215 $ 

1211ko~s UY31/zpt{~K· ; ,; ·~fi:Jf~iifl 297;nn . · t! .. 
Total 481,996 $ 

Average 

Price Paid 

103.86 

·idif§~. 
103.74 

Total Number of Shares 

Purchased as Part of 

Publicly Announced 

Approximate Dollar Value 

of Shares that May Yet Be 

Purchased Under the 

·./.\., .. , t~Mo7;75'& 
730,869,600 

·t®;~qz;~ra 
700,002,810 

(1) On June 4, 2015, we announced a new $1.0 billion stock repurchase plan. This plan authorizes us to purchase from time to time our 

outstanding common stock through open market repurchases in compliance with Rule 1 Ob-18 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 
as amended, and/or in privately negotiated transactions at management's discretion. Shares purchased will be retired. This plan has no 
time deadline and will continue until otherwise modified or terminated by our Board at any time in our sole discretion. 
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Equity Compensation Plan 

~~i~!Jt::~:on 
2001 Plan (1) 

< ••. ,"'~Q}.QPla:n 
Equity compensation plans not approved by 

holders 

Number of Securities 

to be Issued 

Upon Exercise of 

Outstanding Options, 

Warrants and Rights 

(a) 

346 

4,0'70 . 

Equity Compensation Plan Information 

(in thousands except exercise price) 

Number of Securities 

Weighted Average Remaining Available for 

$ 

Exercise Price 

of Outstanding 

Future Issuance Under 

Equity Compensation Plans 

(Excluding Securities 

Reflected in first column (a)) 

(c) 
:~::~:/:>::', 

!~{1,:, 

(I) This plan has been terminated, and we are no longer eligible to issue shares pursuant to the plan. 
(2) Included in the number of securities in column (a) is 277,153 restricted stock units, which have no exercise price. The weighted average 

exercise price of outstanding options, warrants, and rights (excluding restricted stock units) is $90.15. 
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ITEM 6. SELECTED FINANCIAL DATA 

The following table sets forth selected historical financial data as of and for each of the five years in the period ended December 31, 2015. 

The financial data for the fiscal years ended 2015, 2014, 2013 , 2012, and 2011 have been derived from our audited consolidated fmancial 

statements. You should read the information set forth below in conjunction with our "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial 

Condition and Results of Operations" and our consolidated fmancial statements and the related notes to those consolidated fmancial statements 

included in this Form 10-K. 

~e.Y~h~; 
Site leasing 

:Site 4¢~~1Qpm¢n£~,, ... · 
Total revenues 

PJ,eriit~\~X,p~;;;~ ... 
Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation, accretion, 

and amortization shown 

· <~~ ofsite,lPI\lllUg · ·",·,:::•Ef{·~·~1\\ 
Cost of site development 

, • Sell~$~nera(;;lillt~f!min~!i:~¥~i•: .· 
Acquisition related adjustments and expenses 

·Asset Jm~~t~itidecoriihti~~}~ti costs:li >. 
Depreciation, accretion, and amortization 

\lf:?Tg,$lgpjji'4J:\ng.expe~~~~-· 
Operating income 

Q,ther mStim~·t~xperts~]:; .••.. 
Interest income 

iJlleri:~~Ji!ise,< b\:)0 i 
Non-cash interest expense 

•. t\mqftiiation· bfdereir~~sWi!(ncing(~ 
Loss from extinguishment of debt, net 

. '•()tli~~ m~~~~~~er·······" 
Total other expense 

4i)~;;p:e,rore pr&vl$ion f&.tt\99me,Ja.XeS::• 
(Provision) benefit for income taxes 

· 'N~t·i~~.frorh~'Ql1tWuingop~~~#6~ 
Income from discontinued operations, net of income taxes 

Nefli;lss ·. · .... , ...................... . 

Net income attributable to the 

noncontrolling interest 

For the year ended December 31, 

2015 2014 2013 2012 2011 

$ 1,480,634 $ 1,360,202 $ 1,133,013 $ 846,094 $ 616,294 

~~?.84it4f}§;~y;j:;;,!66.79~ ' 11~.853 ................ 10~{:9,.~0 ... :•::t~i?3ll~876 

1,638,474 1,526,996 1,304,866 954,084 698,170 

3of*'i~:· .·. '$JI.Q.n~ \;;;%iiil$~1j~;a;~ .. I31~,~ 
119,744 127,172 90,556 71,005 

· >·•··········· t!~~;9~i·zWtt+~:r~~\;!93,317 
137,481 
. &5476 

' ~ ., ""'"""" '\ •· . ~~}48 . •:~· :.:.~.2t8i8' 
11,864 7,798 19,198 

'!':Q4,783.. . r23;so'1'"' 2~yg,~. 
40,433 7,144 

5,47~: 
660,021 627,072 533,334 

. ·~~~26;018·· ···~~~9D.473i ;i~(JJ;'j075,11l;-.. -. --::-:'T':-:'":"" 

408,467 309,146 
-"'::'7="---:-. $06.~38 :\i~'$*7,511 

229,645 147,146 110,659 

3,894 677 1,794 1,128 136 

.. #{~ZZ~366}. ••(%~oo~lt!:tsftfi~If4M~.l~:Jy.: ·<l?~ii'llJ· .. (1~Q;89f?) 
(1,505) (27,112) (49,085) (70,110) (63,629) 

erl~~~j;/.· '++~*7,s72) (rs,56ol'~ :v:(i~Ai76);: .. ,,l~~.i~lls) 
(783) (26,204) (6,099) (51,799) (1,696) 

· .. J1:3.~.tm . .· )0\t~r {:''::'''grt,l:3st:zl;izt~¥;s;6'•~;ib · ~ 
(479,051) (352, 183) (286,863) (324,238) (235,438) 

.. ~:iii~; fi66W'5·~~:~::r ''t~.-M~Qt: ::~~~;~18} . (1'71i094) (t'£4!779) 
(9,061) (8,635) 1,309 (6,594) (2,113) 

-. ""'!.,,,;:m:':~(t:--'~1'7-$.6~5-:..6).. ·.· (24;29~)t:;. : . (.S~-~J . :&;6&6):fi~zj1,.;(126,sY$} 
2,296 

N~~W$Sattfi~ii>l~t9 ·saA:~a~unt~~liti~.~grpotati9P· ..... ·.$ 

Basic and diluted per common share amounts: 

.toss:trohi~hntinuirtg ~~~~atiO$ ·?ll~~l .. (1:37)$ ..• ·~f~i:~);;$.' il;](Q.HJ l · . ·· <1£~~1:.$. {lJ4) 
Income from discontinued operations 0,02 

••.· Net~~t~i§rco~~llhfu.e 
Basic and diluted weighted avg. number of common shares 127,794 128,919 127,769 120,280 111,595 
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t:=.r~tt~~~~~~~#ts 
Restricted cash - current 

$Mrt;term investment§~t< czsi;#'" · 
Property and equipment, net 

lrltalllilii~;.~'t;~~-j~~;· 
Total assets 

rotllf<<ki.l>t , · · · · 
Total shareholders' (deficit) equity 

Other Data 

Cash provided by (used in): 
Qp~~wgi!st!lklfi~~ · .. 
Investing activities 

: ~~!ll'lcing activitie~.~~.· 

2015 

2015 

Y\:~~1039 
25,353 

As of December 31 

2014 2013 2012 2011 

(audited) (in thousands) 

39~44~ •. :·s :•?:~'1'2ilhtllt%JI;~, •.. 2.99 .. F~\:ii;\;:.:. ~n;31~t 
52,519 47,305 27,708 22,266 

:••:c·;:·~;s~~~. '' ·· · ·• · · ;.~.4461 · · · $;~1) ·. ...:::;~:rt3 • 7ot¥L,· <!•. 
2,782,353 

~!j/.3Ml3 
7,403,215 

2,762,417 

• t;(i,~i ~89;540 
7,841,125 

2,578,444 1,583,393 

3,3@!)~~f· .·t,63fiiB 
6,783,188 6,615,911 3,606,399 

.· •· ••.•.. :8i$42.3Q~t~C 
(1,706,144) 

2014 

.· 7,8~tiif~(l~: 
(660,800) 

.5,87~6o7· ·• :·; :5;3s6.{Qa ..... · · .ttil1:;4~5 
356,966 652,991 (11,313) 

For the year ended December 31, 

2013 2012 2011 

(audited) (in thousands) 

$ · '6'7~·;§,43 $ · :\\}:::i~7!~17'f¥1's•:,.$n . .: · . <~4:0,:flllf<.:>':;•$ ... 
(734,521) 

88,937,;.: 

(1,760,127) (817,198) (2,269,120) 

99I,s3s • :;z,~!f· .. ~ 2to,837 ··:~·1~i[P;4&l 

24:9i058 
(503,273) 
. 237:4'~2 

ITEM 7. MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS OF FINANCIAL CONDITION AND RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

The following discussion of our financial condition and results of operations should be read in conjunction with the information contained 

in our consolidated financial statements and the notes thereto. The following discussion includes forward-looking statements that involve certain 

risks and uncertainties, including, but not limited to, those described in Item JA. Risk Factors. Our actual results may differ materially from 

those discussed below. See "Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements" and Item JA. Risk Factors. 

We are a leading independent owner and operator of wireless communications tower structures, rooftops and other structures that support 

antennas used for wireless communications, which we collectively refer to as "towers" or "sites." Our principal operations are in the United 

States and its territories. In addition, we own and operate towers in South America, Central America, and Canada . Our primary business line is 

our site leasing business, which contributed 96.8% of our total segment operating profit for the year ended December 31, 2015. In our site 

leasing business, we (I) lease antenna space to wireless service providers on towers that we own or operate and (2) manage rooftop and tower 

sites for property owners under various contractual arrangements. As of December 31, 2015, we owned 25,465 towers, a substantial portion of 

which have been built by us or built by other tower owners or operators who, like us, have built such towers to lease space to multiple wireless 

service providers. We"also managed or leased approximately 5,500 actual or potential towers, approximately 500 of which were revenue 

producing as ofDecember 31, 2015 . Our other business line is our site development business, through which we assist wireless service 

providers in developing and maintaining their own wireless service networks. 

Site Leasing Services 

Our primary focus is the leasing of antenna space on our multi-tenant towers to a variety of wireless service providers under long-term 

lease contracts in the United States, Canada, Central America, and South America . Site leasing revenues are received primarily from wireless 

service provider tenants, including AT&T, Sprint, T -Mobile, Verizon Wireless, Oi S.A., Telefonica, Claro, and Digicel . Wireless service 

providers enter into tenant leases with us, each of which relates to the lease or use of space at an individual site . In the United States and 

Canada, our tenant leases are generally for an initial term of five to ten years with five 5-year renewal periods at the option of the tenant. These 

tenant leases typically contain specific rent escalators, which average 3-4% per year, including the renewal option periods. Tenant leases in our 

Central American and South American markets typically have an initial term of ten years with multiple five year renewal periods. In Central 

America, we have similar rent escalators to that of leases in the United States and Canada while our leases in South America escalate in 

accordance with a standard cost ofliving index. 
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In our Central American markets and Ecuador, significantly all of our revenue, expenses, and capital expenditures arising from our new 
build activities are denominated in US, dollars, Specifically, most of our ground leases, tenant leases, and tower-related expenses are due and 
paid in US, dollars, In our Central American markets, our local currency obligations are principally limited to (I) permitting and other local 
fees, (2) utilities, and (3) taxes. In our Canadian and Brazilian operations, significantly all of our revenue, expenses and capital expenditures, 
including tenant leases, ground leases and other tower-related expenses, are denominated in local currency. 

Cost of site leasing revenue primarily consists of: 

o Rental payments on ground leases and other underlying property interests; 

o Straight-line rent adjustment for the difference between rental payments made and the expense recorded as if the payments 
had been made evenly throughout the lease term (which may include renewal terms) of the underlying property interests; 

o Property taxes; 

o Site maintenance and monitoring costs (exclusive of employee related costs); 

o Utilities; 

o Property insurance; and 

o Deferred lease origination cost amortization. 

Ground leases are generally for an initial term of five years or more with multiple renewal terms of five year periods at our option and 
provide for rent escalators which typically average 2-3% annually, or in our South American markets, adjust in accordance with a standard cost 
of living index, As of December 31, 2015 , approximately 73% of our tower structures were located on parcels of land that we own, land subject 
to perpetual easements, or parcels ofland in which we have a leasehold interest that extends beyond 20 years, For any given tower, costs are 
relatively fixed over a monthly or an annual time period. As such, operating costs for owned towers do not generally increase as a result of 
adding additional customers to the tower, The amount of direct costs associated with operating a tower varies from site to site depending on the 
taxing jurisdiction and the height and age ofthe tower. The ongoing maintenance requirements are typically minimal and include replacing 
lighting systems, painting a tower, or upgrading or repairing an access road or fencing, 

As indicated in the table below, our site leasing business generates substantially all of our total segment operating profit. For information 
regarding our operating segments, see Note 18 of our Consolidated Financial Statements included in this annual report. 

Dom~stl'c si~.l~a,Sing , \c::c:d::>:::>,,:­

International site leasing 
tK'!i~flP sit~ leasing · · 

For the year ended 

. .. ~?.f\~i :. 
14.4% 

. ft~i~§!&%:: 

2014 

13.5% 
.. :::::: .. :.::··,~6.3?1(, 

2013 

:.::.Hz> --B9~9~' 
6,3% 

9~J2% 

We believe that over the long-term, site leasing revenues will continue to grow as wireless service providers lease additional antenna space 
on our towers due to increasing minutes of network use and data transfer, network expansion and network coverage requirements. During 201 6, 
we expect organic site leasing revenue in both our domestic and international segments to be consistent with our growth in 20 I 5 . We believe 
our site leasing business is characterized by stable and long-term recurring revenues, predictable operating costs and minimal non-discretionary 
capital expenditures. Due to the relatively young age and mix of our tower portfolio, we expect future expenditures required to maintain these 
towers to be minimal. Consequently, we expect to grow our cash flows by (I) adding tenants to our towers at minimal incremental costs by using 
existing tower capacity or requiring wireless service providers to bear all or a portion of the cost of tower modifications and (2) executing 
monetary amendments as wireless service providers add or upgrade their equipment. Furthermore, because our towers are strategically 
positioned and our customers typically do not relocate, we have historically experienced low tenant lease terminations as a percentage of revenue 
other than in connection with customer consolidation or cessations of service (e.g. iDen) . 
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Site Development Services 

Our site development business, which is conducted in the United States only, is complementary to our site leasing business and provides 

us the ability to keep in close contact with the wireless service providers who generate substantially all of our site leasing revenue and to capture 

ancillary revenues that are generated by our site leasing activities, such as antenna and equipment installation at our tower locations. Site 

development services revenues are earned primarily from providing a full range of end to end services to wireless service providers or 

companies providing development or project management services to wireless service providers. Our services include: (1) network pre-design; 

(2) site audits; (3) identification of potential locations for towers and antennas; (4) support in buying or leasing of the location; (5) assistance in 

obtaining zoning approvals and permits; (6) tower and related site construction; (7) antenna installation; and (8) radio equipment installation, 

commissioning, and maintenance. We provide site development services on a local basis, through regional, territory, and project offices. The 

regional offices are responsible for all site development operations, including hiring employees and opening or closing project offices, and a 

substantial portion of the sales in such area. 

For information regarding our operating segments, see Note 18 of our Consolidated Financial Statements included in this annual report. 

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates 

We have identified the policies and significant estimation processes below as critical to our business operations and the understanding of 

our results of operations. The listing is not intended to be a comprehensive list. In many cases, the accounting treatment of a particular 

transaction is specifically dictated by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States, with no need for management's judgment in 

their application. In other cases, management is required to exercise judgment in the application of accounting principles with respect to 

particular transactions. The impact and any associated risks related to these policies on our business operations is discussed throughout 

"Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" where such policies affect reported and expected 

financial results. For a detailed discussion on the application of these and other accounting policies, see Note 2 of our Consolidated Financial 

Statements for the year ended December 31, 2015 , included herein. Our preparation of our fmancial statements requires us to make estimates 

and assumptions that affect the reported amount of assets and liabilities, disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of our financial 

statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting periods. Management bases its estimates on historical 

experience and on various other assumptions that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances. There can be no assurance that actual 

results will not differ from those estimates and such differences could be significant. 

Revenue Recognition and Accounts Receivable 

Revenue from site leasing is recorded monthly and recognized on a straight-line basis over the current term of the related lease 

agreements, which are generally five to ten years. Receivables recorded related to the straight-lining of site leases are reflected in other assets on 

the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Rental amounts received in advance are recorded as deferred revenue on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

Site development projects in which we perform consulting services include contracts on a time and materials basis or a fixed price basis. 

Time and materials based contracts are billed at contractual rates and revenue is recognized as the services are rendered. For those site 

development contracts in which we perform work on a fixed price basis, site development billing (and revenue recognition) is based on the 

completion of agreed upon phases of the project on a per site basis. Upon the completion of each phase on a per site basis, we recognize the 

revenue related to that phase. Site development projects generally take from 3 to 12 months to complete. Amounts billed in advance (collected or 

uncollected) are recorded as deferred revenue on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

Revenue from construction projects is recognized on the percentage-of-completion method of accounting, determined by the percentage of 

cost incurred to date compared to management's estimated total cost for each contract. This method is used because management considers total 

cost to be the best available measure of progress on the contracts. These amounts are based on estimates, and the uncertainty inherent in the 

estimates initially is reduced as work on the contracts nears completion. The asset "costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on 

uncompleted contracts" represents costs incurred and revenues recognized in excess of amounts billed. The liability "billings in excess of costs 

and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts," included within other current liabilities on our Consolidated Balance Sheets, represents 

billings in excess of costs incurred and revenues recognized. Provisions for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are made in the period in 

which such losses are determined to be probable. 

We perform periodic credit evaluations of our customers. We monitor collections and payments from our customers and maintain a 

provision for estimated credit losses based upon historical experience, specific customer collection issues identified, and 
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past due balances as determined based on contractual terms. Interest is charged on outstanding receivables from customers on a case by case basis in accordance with the terms of the respective contracts or agreements with those customers. Amounts determined to be uncollectible are written off against the allowance for doubtful accounts in the period in which uncolle<;tibility is determined to be probable. 
Asset Impairment 

We evaluate individual long-lived and related assets with finite lives for indicators of impairment to determine when an impairment analysis should be performed. We evaluate our tower assets and current contract intangibles at the tower level, which is the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows exists. We evaluate our network location intangibles for impairment at the tower leasing business level whenever indicators of impairment are present. We have established a policy to at least annually evaluate our tower assets and current contract intangibles for impairment. 

We record an impairment charge when we believe an investment in towers or related assets has been impaired, such that future undiscounted cash flows would not recover the then current carrying value of the investment in the tower and related intangible. If the future undiscounted cash flows are lower than the carrying value of the investment in the tower and related intangible, we calculate future discounted cash flows and compare those amounts to the carrying value. We record an impairment charge for any amounts lower than the carrying value. Estimates and assumptions inherent in the impairment evaluation include, but are not limited to, general market and economic conditions, historical operating results, geographic location, lease-up potential, and expected timing oflease-up. In addition, we make certain assumptions in determining an asset's fair value for the purpose of calculating the amount of an impairment charge. 
Business Combinations 

We account for business combinations under the acquisition method of accounting. The assets and liabilities we acquire are recorded at fair market value at the date of each acquisition and the results of operations of the acquired assets are included with our results of operations from the dates of the respective acquisitions. We continue to evaluate all acquisitions for a period not to exceed one year after the applicable closing date of each transaction to determine whether any additional adjustments are needed to the allocation of the purchase price paid for the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as a result of information available at the acquisition date. The intangible assets represent the value associated with the current leases at the acquisition date ("Current contract intangibles") and future tenant leases anticipated to be added to the communication sites ("Network location intangibles") and were calculated using the discounted values of the current or future expected cash flows. The intangible assets are estimated to have a useful life consistent with the useful life of the related communication site assets, which is typically 15 years. 

In connection with certain acquisitions, we may agree to pay contingent consideration (or eamouts) in cash or stock if the communication sites or businesses that are acquired meet or exceed certain performance targets over a period of one to three years after they have been acquired. We accrue for contingent consideration in connection with acquisitions at fair value as of the date of the acquisition. All subsequent changes in fair value of contingent consideration are recorded through Consolidated Statements of Operations. 
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RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 

Year Ended 2015 Compared to Year Ended 2014 

Revenues and Segment Operating Profit: 

Revrnues 
tl6m~~1rttt~Yi' ;,,,. 
International site leasing 
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Total revenues increased $111.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, as compared to the prior year, due largely to (i) 

revenues from 4,923 towers acquired and 848 towers built since January 1, 201 4 and (ii) organic site leasing growth from new leases, 

contractual rent escalators, and monetary lease amendments for additional equipment added to our towers. The increase in total revenues 

includes the negative impact of $43.2 million from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates as compared to the prior year. 

Domestic site leasing revenues increased $79.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 , as compared to the prior year, due 

largely to (i) revenues from 1,007 towers acquired and 266 towers built since January 1, 201 4 and (ii) organic site leasing growth from new 

leases, contractual rent escalators, and monetary lease amendments for additional equipment added to our towers. 

International site leasing revenues increased $41.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, as compared to the prior year, due 

largely to (i) revenues from 3,916 towers acquired, primarily from the acquisition of3,648 towers from Oi S.A. in March 2014 and December 

2014, and 582 towers built since January I, 201 4, and (ii) organic site leasing growth from new leases, contractual rent escalators, and 

monetary lease amendments for additional equipment added to our towers. The increase in international site leasing revenues includes the 

negative impact of $43.2 m illion from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates as compared to the prior year. 

Site development revenues decreased $9.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, as compared to the prior year, as a result of a 

decrease in the volume of work performed due to the timing of our wireless carrier customers' initiatives. 

Operating Profit 

Domestic site leasing segment operating profit increased $74.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, as compared to the prior 

year, primarily due to additional profit generated by (i) towers acquired and built since January 1, 201 4 and organic site leasing growth as 

noted above, (ii) improving control of our site leasing cost of revenue, and (iii) the positive impact of our ground lease purchase program. 

International site leasing segment operating profit increase d $22.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 , as compared to the 

prior year, primarily due to additional profit generated by (i) towers acquired and built since January 1, 201 4 and organic site leasing growth as 

noted above and (ii) the positive impact of our ground lease purchase program , partially offset by increased costs 
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resulting from the integration of towers acquired in 2014. The increase in international site leasing segment operating profit includes the 

negative impact of $31.2 m illion from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates as compared to the prior year. 

Site development segment operating profit decreased $1.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, as compared to the prior year, 

primarily due to lower services revenue . 

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses: 

For the year ended 

December 31 

2015 2014 

Dollar 

Change 

Percentage 

Change 

Selling, general, and administrative expenses increased $11.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, as compared to the prior 

year, primarily as a result of an increase in personnel, salaries, benefits, non-cash compensation, and other support costs due in large part to our 

continued portfolio expansion. The increase in selling, general, and administrative expenses includes the positive impact of$1.8 million from 

fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates as compared to the prior year. 

Acquisition Related Adjustments and Expenses: 

mJ:'Jj,les'ljs;~i·~'!£~~&,:" : ,!!:,\: 1'T::ti, .· 
International site leasing 
f~la . .. 
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Change 

Domestic acquisition related adjustments and expenses increase d $6.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, primarily as a result 

of an increase in the number of towers we acquired as compared to the prior year. 

International acquisition related adjustments and expenses decreased $2.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2015 primarily as a 

result of a decrease in the number of towers we acquired, partially offset by changes in our estimated pre-acquisition contingenc ies as 

compared to the prior year . The decrease in International acquisition related adjustments and expenses includes the positive impact of $0.4 

million from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates as compared to the prior year. 

Asset Impairment and Decommission Costs: 

P~>w.e.stt~~~~re'f~l§ins~:·: 
International site leasing 

Total~;', · 

For the year ended 

December 31 

2015 2014 

Dollar 

Change 

Percentage 

Change 

Asset impairment and decommission costs increased $71.0 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, as compared to the prior 

year, primarily as a result of a $56.7 million impairment charge in the third quarter of2015 related to fiber assets acquired in the 2012 Mobilitie 

transaction and $7.3 million of additional impairment charges resulting from the Company's analysis that the future cash flows would not 

recover the carrying value of the investment. In addition, the increase in the asset impairment and decommission costs includes $5.5 million 

related to higher net book value of towers decommissioned in the current year as compared against the prior year and $1.2 million in exit costs 

related to our former corporate headquarters building. The impact from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates as compared to the prior 

year was not material. 
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Depreciation, Accretion, and Amortization Expense: 
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Depreciation, accretion, and amortization expense increased $32.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, as compared to the 

prior year, due to an increase in the number of towers we acquired and built since January 1, 201 4. The increase in depreciation, accretion, and 

amortization expense includes the positive impact of$22.7 million from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates as compared to the prior 

year. 

Operating Income (Loss): 

~~~!.'stic site leasing 
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Domestic site leasing operating income decreased $23.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, as compared to the prior year, 

primarily due to increases in asset impairment and decommission costs, depreciation, accretion, and amortization expense, acquisition related 

adjustments and expenses, and selling, general, and administrative expenses, partially offset by higher segment operating profit . 

International site leasing operating income increased $13.0 million for the year ended December 31,2015, as compared to the prior 

year, primarily due to higher segment operating profit and a reduction in acquisition related adjustments and expenses and asset impairment and 

decommission costs , partially offset by an increase in depreciation, accretion, and amortization expense. The increase in international site 

leasing operating income includes the negative impact of$5.4 million from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates as compared to the 

prior year. 

Site development operating income decreased $5.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, as compared to the prior year, 

primarily due to a decrease in segment operating profit, as well as increases in selling, general, and administrative expenses and depreciation, 

accretion, and amortization expense. 
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Other Income (Expense): 
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Interest income increased $3.2 million due to a higher amount of investments held and a higher average interest rate on those 
investments held for the year ended December 31,2015 as compared to the prior year. 

Interest expense increased $29.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, as compared to the prior year, due to the higher average 
principal amount of cash-interest bearing debt outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to the prior year, primarily resulting 
from the issuance of the 2014 Tower Securities in October 2014, the 2015 Tower Securities in October 2015, the 2014 Term Loan in March 
2014, the 2015 Term Loan in June 2015, and the 4.875% Notes in July 2014, partially offset by the full repayment ofthe 2010-lC Tower 
Securities in October 2014, the full redemption of the 8.25% Notes in August 2014, and the settlement of the 4.0% Notes during 2014. 

Non-cash interest expense decreased $25.6 million from the year ended December 31, 2015, compared to the prior year, primarily due 
to the maturity of the 4.0% Notes during the prior year . 

Amortization of deferred financing fees increased $1.6 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, as compared to the prior year, 
primarily resulting from the issuance of the 201 4 and 201 5 Tower Securities, 2014 Term Loan, 2015 Term Loan, and 4.875% Notes, partially 
offset by the full repayment of the 8.25% Notes and 2010 -lC Tower Securities and the settlement of the 4.0% Notes during the prior year. 

Loss from extinguishment of debt decreased $25.4 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, as compared to the prior year, 
primarily due to the repayment of the 2010 -IC Tower Securities, 2011 Term Loan and the 2012-2 Term Loan, early settlement of the 4.0% 
Notes, and the early redemption of the 8.25% Notes during the prior year, partially offset by the early redemption of the 2012-1 Term Loan 
during 2015 . 

Other (expense) income, net increased $149.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, as compared to the prior year, primarily 
due to a $178.9 million loss related to the remeasurement of an intercompany loan not denominated in the functional currency of the subsidiary 
in which it is recorded during the year ended December 31,2015 as compared to a $23.0 million loss in the prior year, as well as a $17.9 million 
gain realized on the settlement of two foreign currency contracts entered into to hedge the purchase price of the Oi S.A. acquisition in Brazil in 
2014. This was partially offset by a $37.2 million gain realized on the sale of a cost- method investment in 2015 as compared to a $12.5 million 
gain on the sale of a cost - method investment in the prior year. 

Net Loss: 
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2015 2014 
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Net loss was $175.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2015, an increase of$151.4 million compared to a loss of$24.3 million in 
the prior year. The increase is primarily due to increases in other ( expense ) income, net , asset impairment and decommission costs, 
depreciation, accretion, and amortization expense, selling, general and administrative expenses, and acquisition related adjustments and 
expenses, partially offset by an increase in our total segment operating profit as compared to the prior year. 
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The increase in net Joss includes the negative impact of$170.0 million from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates as compared to the 
prior year. 

Year Ended 2014 Compared to Year Ended 2013 

Revenues and Segment Operating Profit: 
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Total revenues increased $222.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, as compared to the prior year, due largely to (i) revenues 
from 6,532 towers acquired and 731 towers built since January 1, 201 3 and (ii) organic site leasing growth from new leases, contractual rent 
escalators, and lease amendments which increased the related rent to compensate for additional equipment added to our towers. The increase in 
total revenues includes the negative impact of $3.1 million from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates as compared to the prior year. 

Domestic site leasing revenues increased$ 108.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, as compared to the prior year, due 
largely to (i) revenues from 426 towers acquired and 228 towers built since January 1, 201 3 and (ii) organic site leasing growth from new 
leases, contractual rent escalators, and lease amendments which increased the related rent to compensate for additional equipment added to our 
towers. 

International site leasing revenues increased$ 118.7 million for the year ended December 31,2014, as compared to the prior year, due 
largely to (i) revenues from 6,106 towers acquired and 503 towers built since January 1, 201 3 and (ii) organic site leasing growth from new 
leases, contractual rent escalators, and lease amendments which increased the related rent to compensate for additional equipment added to our 
towers. The increase in international site leasing revenues includes the negative impact of $3 .I million from fluctuations in foreign currency 
exchange rates as compared to the prior year. 

Site development revenue s de creased $ 5.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 , as compared to the prior year, as a result of a 
reduction in the volume of work performed due to the timing of our wireless carrier customers' initiatives. 

Operating Profit 

Domestic site leasing segment operating profit increased $1 04.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, as compared to the prior 
year, primarily due to additional profit generated by (i) towers acquired and built since January 1, 201 3 as noted above and (ii) organic site 
leasing growth from new leases, contractual rent escalators, and lease amendments with current tenants which increased the related rent as a 
result of additional equipment added to our towers in addition to improving control of our site leasing cost of revenue, and the positive impact of 
our ground lease purchase program. 
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International site leasing segment operating profit increased $ 92.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 , as compared to the 

prior year, primarily due to additional profit generated by (i) towers acquired and built since January I, 201 3 as noted above and (ii) organic site 

leasing growth from new leases, contractual rent escalators, and lease amendments with current tenants which increased the related rent as a 

result of additional equipment added to our towers in addition to improving control of our site leasing cost of revenue, and the positive impact of 

our ground lease purchase program. The increase in international segment operating profit includes the negative impact of $1.8 million from 

fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates as compared to the prior year. 

Site development segment operating profit increased $ 5.2 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 , as compared to the prior year, 

primarily due to higher margin carrier direct work performed in the current year, in particular the Sprint 2.5 GHz initiative. 

Selling, General, and Administrative Expenses: 

For the year ended 

December31 

2014 2013 

Dollar 

Change 

Percentage 

Change 

Selling, general, and administrative expenses increased $1 7.8 million for the year ended December 31, 201 4, as compared to the prior 

year, primarily as a result of an increase in personnel, salaries, benefits, non-cash compensation, and other expenses due in large part to our 

continued portfolio expansion primarily in Brazil . The increase in selling, general, and administrative expenses includes the positive impact of 

$0.2 million from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates as compared to the prior year. 

Acquisition Related Adjustments and Expenses: 

:O~~ciil~~~!)lg;;· 
International site leasing 

. ':f'\ita\ii. Sit· ~':. 

For the year ended 

December 31 

2014 2013 

Dollar 

Change 

Percentage 

Change 

,,t43¥f.IJ 
(64.9%) 

;ils~;1i!o/d} 

Acquisition related adjustments and expenses decreased $ II. 4 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 , as compared to the prior 

year, primarily as a result of a reduction in an estimated pre-acquisition contingency, partially offset by an increase in acquisition and integration 

related activities including two acquisitions from Oi S.A. which closed during the flfSt and fourth quarters of fiscal year 2014. The decrease in 

acquisition related adjustments and expenses includes the positive impact of $1.1 million from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates as 

compared to the prior year. 

Asset Impairment and Decommission Costs : 

For the year ended 

December 31 

2014 2013 

Dollar 

Change 

Percentage 

Change 

(l~,.ir~) 
(8.8%) 

''(17;:8~) 

Asset impairment and decommission costs de creased$ 5. 2 million for the year ended December 31,2014, as compared to the prior 

year, primarily as a result of the write-off of assets and related costs associated with the decommissioning of 2 14 towers during the year ended 

December 31, 201 4 as compared to the decommissioning of248 towers during the prior year. The decrease in asset impairment and 

decommission costs includes the positive impact of $0.1 million from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates as com pared to the prior 

year. 
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Depreciation, Accretion, and Amortization Expense: 

International site 

"Total.~it~rilea&in&~> · 
Site development 

NP~l~htifie4 by segme~~;· 
Total 

For the year ended 

December 31, 

2014 2013 

Dollar 

Change 

(in thousands) 

'sl5:t5tl;, · ~·T;·~r~"!.Wft~Qs~t~1. $ ·. ,1,u9i:;~; 
104,447 44,973 59,474 

}$~i:,-; .. "c.."""'··~;\lij~{~gjiS~ .• !l=-f!, •.· ~$k:c;;. '·~~.92~<4° $ ,. ··:·'!)Q.$~~. 
2,453 2,280 173 

j'~·~~., ~-·:> .. . ....... 2,07$ ;. ·•?<('!: .•• <···~\1~~~~ 
$ 627,072 $ 533,334 $ 93,738 

Percentage 

Change 

132.2% 

7.6% 

lfM~~ 
17.6% 

Depreciation, accretion, and amortization expense increased$ 93.7 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, as compared to the 

prior year, due to an increase in the number of towers we acquired and built since January 1, 2013 . The increase in depreciation, accretion, and 

amortization expense includes the positive impact of$1.8 million from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates as compared to the prior 

year. 

Operating Income (Loss): 

D'Q'm~~tic st~ tca5m~·-. 
International site leasing 

:ro!al 5im'!I~a8ili~:t~f · 
Site development 

N,oi id~ft\~-~~~gro~t. ·'· 
Total 

For the year ended 

December 31 

2014 2013 

Dollar 

Change 

. (in th~!!~~nds) 
., ' .. $ •:i(, 3Qc~§ ·~· ..... 229;5~l >:J~~~jH 

20,914 (13,869) 34,783 

""""$ '""',.,..._,-<-· 3"""'·.~"""'".~=-._~..,..o .• •.$ ··~tS,67:l'' t1itM•. :];QI64!i'f:~if;: 
28,095 24,332 3,763 

'''IL, .. (14.892) .. ~~. f¥ji1;Q:3~~!; >''tiM> .• £4.~l~~xi•A;. 
$ 336,523 $ 229,645 $ 106,878 

Percentage 

Change 

(250.8%) 
·.·491-

15.5% 

43;8,% 
46.5% 

Domestic site leasing operating income increased $7 2.9 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, as compared to the prior year, 

primarily due to higher segment operating profit and a reduction in asset impairment and decommission costs , and acquisition related 

adjustments and expenses , partially offset by increases in selling, general, and administrative expenses and depreciation, accr etion, and 

amortization expense. 

International site leasing operating income increased$ 34.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 , as compared to the prior year, 

primarily due to higher segment operating profit and a reduction in acquisition related adjustments and expenses, partially offset by increases in 

selling, general, and administrative expenses, and depreciation, accretion, and amortization expense . 

Site development operating income increased$ 3.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, as compared to the prior year, 

primarily due to higher segment operating profit , partially offset by increases in selling, general, and administrative expenses and depreciation, 

accretion, and amortization expense. 
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Other bicome (Expense): 

tf#erestia~m~; 
Interest expense 

NQn~~fii\'tr~st,.'Je 
Amortization of deferred financing fees 

~~~"fibm extinguisnfuen,!:ill·~q~'tiet 
Oilier income 
·.·.T~tal 

For the year ended 

December31 

2014 2013 

Dollar 

Change 

Percentage 

Change 

(in thousands) 

· rlf7t' $U :'&U'iit~i;t~''ll. (t;hlY · '' . (§~:3%) 
(292,600) (249,051) (43,549) 17.5% 

\.···· ,€2;7;.117) . <49:qgjj '['!!Bil~'9~$'~"~t; ...... (44~~~) 
(17,572) (15,560) (2,012) 

;;~; ;(26,2Q4;)l)~~ (6,0!{9) :;(~;lO~) 
10,628 31,138 (20,51 0) 

· .. '1:':'$~!~~:ri ""11(3:r:::5'="'2,:-:::t83:=:· Y>$~~;;t,.z. {28~~B-~·$· .. (6S,3tQ}> 

12.9% 

~~~.fl~i 
(65.9%) 

. >(~~:?,.:&% 

Interest expense increased$ 43.5 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, as compared to the prior year, primarily due to the higher 

average principal amount of cash-interest bearing debt outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2014 compared to the prior year, primarily 

resulting from the issuance ofilie 2013 and 2014 Tower Securities, 2014 Term Loan, and 4.875% Notes, partially offset by the maturity ofilie 

1.875% Notes and 4.0% Notes and full repayment of the 2011 Term Loan, 2012-2 Term Loan, 2010-1 Tower Securities, and 8.25% Notes. 

Non-cash interest expense decreased $2 2 . 0 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 as compared to the prior year . This decrease 

primarily reflects the full repayment ofilie 1.875% Notes in May of2013 and 4.0% Notes in October of2014. 

Amortization of deferred financing fees increased $2. 0 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 , as compared to the prior year, 

primarily resulting from the issuance ofilie 2013 and 2014 Tower Securities, 2014 Term Loan, and 4.875% Notes, partially offset by the full 

repayment of the 2011 Term Loan, 2012-2 Term Loan, 8.25% Notes, and 2010-1 Tower Securities, and the maturity ofilie 1.875% and 4.0% 

Notes. 

Loss from extinguishment of debt in creased$ 20.1 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, as compared to the prior year, 

primarily due to the premium paid and write-off ofilie debt discount and deferred financing fees associated with the full redemption ofilie 

8.25% Notes, the write-off of a portion of the related debt discount and deferred financing fees associated with the repayment of the 2011 Term 

Loan, 2012-2 Term Loan, and 2010-1 Tower Securities, and the early settlement of a portion of the 4.0% Notes. 

Oilier income de creased $2 0 .5 million for the year ended December 31, 2014 , as compared to the prior year, primarily due to a gain of 

$27.3 million recognized in the prior year related to the sale of a bankruptcy claim. The current year reflects a $17.9 million gain realized on the 

settlement of two foreign currency contracts which were entered into and settled during the first quarter of2014 in order to hedge the purchase 

price ofilie Oi S.A acquisition in Brazil which closed March 31,2014 and a $12.5 million gain on the sale of a cost- method investment during 

the fourth quarter of2014. These gains were partially offset by a $23.0 million loss related to the remeasurement of a foreign denominated 

intercompany loan. 

Net Loss: 

For the year ended 

December31 

2014 2013 

Dollar 

Change 

Percentage 

Change 

Net loss was $24.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2014, a decrease of$31.6 million compared to a loss of$55.9 million in the 

prior year . The decrease in net loss is primarily due to an increase in our total segment operating profit and a decrease in non-cash interest 

expense as compared to the prior year, offset by increases in selling, general, and administrative expenses, loss from extinguishment of debt, 

depreciation, amortization, and accretion, and interest expense, as well as, a decrease in oilier income as compared to the prior year. 
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NON-GAAP FINANCIAL MEASURES 

This report contains information regarding a non-GAAP measure, Adjusted EBITDA. We have provided below a description of Adjusted 

EBITDA, a reconciliation of Adjusted EBITDA to its most directly comparable GAAP measure and an explanation as to why management 

utilizes this measure. 

Adjusted EBITDA 

We defme Adjusted EBITDA as net loss excluding the impact of non-cash straight-line leasing revenue, non-cash straight-line ground 

lease expense, non-cash compensation, net loss from extinguishment of debt, other income and expenses, acquisition related adjustments and 

expenses, asset impairment and decommission costs, interest income, interest expenses, depreciation, accretion, and amortization, and provision 

for or benefit from taxes. 

We believe that Adjusted EBITDA is an indicator of the financial performance of our core businesses. Adjusted EBITDA is a component 

of the calculation that has been used by our lenders to determine compliance with certain covenants under our Sel)ior Credit Agreement and the 

indentures relating to our 5.625% Notes, 5.75% Notes, and 4.875% Notes. Adjusted EBITDA is not intended to be an alternative measure of 

operating income or gross profit margin as determined in accordance with GAAP. 

NeNQSS 
Non-cash straight-line leasing revenue 

'NBd~~~~~ltfit~l~lm~.·gt-oJJ#41e~·extmti'Se··· · 
Non-cash compensation 

Loss ti~m\;~sbihe,nt of del:it.net. 
Other expense (income) 

t~~Wi,siUonrelated ad.i~~-~fW~nses•• tdi:%K;·• 
Asset impairment and decommission costs 

<r~'t~t~$i'income li ·. · ·· · ~ ·· · · ··· 
Interest expense O> 

Dep~~i'ation,lie~iiUh, and amort~tjon 
Provision (benefit) for taxes <>> 

'~ajhst.;dEBITDA i'h '[:}•:!·§[~§#:\~·~~~> . 

For the year ended December 31, 

:Z015 :Z014 :Z013 

'" (in thousands) ... 
$' < {'1!7,5,656). $i§M .. /~ .(24,295)~il;; ... · (55;909) 

(49,064) (56,867) (65,611) 
\'34.204 ~~':;i\~f."< '36.,.al~\@ .. s,:c:-·>k·/···.· ..... )3;§,iJi 

28,747 22,671 17,205 

783 26~2'041( 
139,137 (10,628) 

( :: : :T11!8~'Z~fli~jj;:j, :::;·.· '7~19~ .. 
94,783 23,801 

<3,394). ' · < L}::faiJ 
343,025 
660,0U .. 

337,284 

6t7~t1?2\L . 

(31,138) 

'1~l:l!?3' 
28,960 

. :011:.41 
313,696 

: i:;~tt;3'~ 

(I) Interest expense includes interest expense, non-cash interest expense, and amortization of deferred fmancing fees. 

(2) Provision (benefit) for taxes includes $1,766, $1,485, and $817 of franchise taxes reflected in selling, general, and administrative 

expenses on the Consolidated Statement of Operations for the year ended 2015, 2014, and 2013, respectively. 

Adjusted EBITDA was $1.1 billion for the year ended December 31, 2015 as compared to $998.8 million for the year ended December 

31, 2014. The increase of$96.0 million is primarily the result of increased segment operating profit from our domestic site leasing and 

international site leasing segments offset partially by the decrease in our site development segment operating profit and the increase in our cash 

selling, general, and administrative expenses. The increase in Adjusted EBITDA includes the negative impact of$23.3 million from 

fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates as compared to the prior year. 

Adjusted EBITDA was$ 998.8 million for the year ended December 31,201 4 as compared to$ 79 7. 2 million for the year ended 

December 31, 201 3 . The increase of $20 1.6 million is primarily the result of increased segment operating profit from our domestic site leasing, 

international site leasing, and site development segments offset partially by the increase in our cash selling, general, and administrative expenses. 

The increase in Adjusted EBITDA includes the negative impact of $1.4 million from fluctuations in foreign currency exchange rates as 

compared to the prior year. 

LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 

SBA Communications Corporation ("SBAC") is a holding company with no business operations of its own. SBAC's only significant asset 

is the outstanding capital stock of SBA Telecommunications, LLC ("Telecommunications"), which is also a holding 
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company that owns equity interests in entities that directly or indirectly own all of our domestic and international towers and assets. We conduct 
all of our business operations through Telecommunications' subsidiaries. Accordingly, our only source of cash to pay our obligations, other than 
financings, is distributions with respect to our ownership interest in our subsidiaries from the net earnings and cash flow generated by these 
subsidiaries. 

A summary of our cash flows is as follows: 

For the year ended December 31, 

2015 2014 2013 

(in thousands) 

~;;;~~Miaq6i,l~~:at:~a~u~~~~*i·~··x! .. J' ,,,,!73:7"¥~·7J! :;. < 67l,643.. ;:$ ... ~~,t;587 
Cash used in investi · ities (734,521) (1,760,127) (817,198) 
C~IJ.P~1i(ilt1f. a~ti:vities • ': .·88,ilil: .. '' •.:w.w:Si:l.'!fii:•• vt..IJ:i{\~1\' 2Hlfi,!{f: 

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 
E£(4i.~fe~charige rate chan.g.i:9ash luid~Jl:¢i}wv¢~!i~ . 

(96,646) (108,774) 
13,97,7 i1; .. • ,;jil{2l3) 

91,589 
• . {12;993)<• .. 

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 

Casi!.Mm~~heq~n~. end·O:fyear 
122,112 233,099 

.. ! ~i/11:!~~443~ .. ·liijj;~ ... , ... %{ ... r_· .... · ·· ... l2 .... 2"'I..,.J'2._.•··· 

39,443 

Operating Activities 

Cash provided by operating activities was $737.2 million for the year ended December 31,2015 as compared to $671.6 million for the 
year ended December 31, 2014 . This increase was primarily due to an increase in segment operating profit from domestic site leasing and 
international site leasing operating segments, partially offset by increase s in cash outflows associated with working capital changes, increase d 
selling, general, and administrative expenses and acquisition related adjustments and expenses and increased cash interest payments relating to 
the higher average amount of cash-interest bearing debt outstanding for the year ended December 31, 2015 compared to the year ended 
December 31,2014. 

Investing Activities 

A detail of our cash capital expenditures is as follows: 

A
.. . >'·.<t: .•. '(!)• . . .... 

cqUlSltlODS;;;:•i ,;~i:l' 

Construction and related costs on new builds 

~~~~tati(lijwtd toweiJIDJ'4les · 
Land buyouts (l) . ... . . . .. . .. 

PW'Q~~i~<f.i~!fiW:$~e1lt:c~~h!$dql1Jlttft~~lldh1~;:: · •'·. 
Tower maintenance 

G~h~t~~orM.ij~··;· 
Total cash capital expenditures 

$ 

2015 

For the year ended 

December31 

2014 2013 

(in thousands) 

s'l'S;8Q~ .. ~$> At~AiiS$ :$ .~a;i~~ 
100,736 92,207 

.;,:.::,;::::: F••~::::o .:.:.r§i~i(f\S •·•······• #;:::·72;3fb,'• 
77,427 

.. ··y~11J70 
83,728 44,964 48,956 

. ;l~·:~~.~i.9:~i··> ··;1r-~7t : . ~~l~(; 24,5'1~~ 
28,626 20,047 12,909 

4.;97{; :,:),£,,): .'J~97 ::i:YY/ • · :)f6!,li. 
-:::--~~=-· $ 818,237 $ 1,796,473 $ 846,272 

(1) Included in our cash capital expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2013 is $175.9 million related to our acquisition of800 
towers from Vivo in the fourth quarter of 2012. 

(2) Excludes $16.3 million, $10.8 million, and $9.1 million spent to extend ground lease terms for the years ended December 31, 2015, 
2014, and 2013, respectively. 

Subsequent to December 31, 2015, we acquired 102 towers and related assets for $62.5 million in cash. 

During fiscal year 2016, we expect to incur non-discretionary cash capital expenditures associated with tower maintenance and general 
corporate expenditures of$30.0 million to $40.0 million and discretionary cash capital expenditures, based on current 
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acquisition obligations, planned new tower construction, forecasted tower augmentations, and forecasted ground lease purchases, of$220.0 

million to $240.0 million as well as potential, additional tower acquisitions not yet under contract. We expect to fund these cash capital 

expenditures from cash on hand, cash flow from operations, and borrowings under the Revolving Credit Facility or new fmancings. The exact 

amount of our future cash capital expenditures will depend on a number of factors including amounts necessary to support our tower portfolio, 

our new tower build and acquisition programs, and our ground lease purchase program. 

Financing Activities 

On February 5, 2015, we entered into an amendment to our Revolving Credit Facility to (I) increase the size of the facility by $230.0 

million to $1.0 billion, (2) extend the maturity date to February 5, 2020, and (3) lower the applicable interest rate margins and commitment fees 

depending on Borrower leverage (as defined in the Senior Credit Agreement). 

During the year ended December 31, 2015, we borrowed $770.0 million and repaid $895.0 million under the Revolving Credit Facility, 

resulting in no outstanding balance on the Revolving Credit Facility at year-end. As of December 31,2015, the remaining borrowing capacity 

under the Revolving Credit Facility was $1.0 billion, subject to compliance with specified financial ratios and satisfaction of other customary 

conditions to borrowing. 

On June 10, 2015, we, through our wholly owned subsidiary, SBA Senior Finance II LLC, obtained a new senior secured term I oan with 

an aggregate principal amount of$500.0 million that was issued at 99.0% of par value and matures on June 10, 2022 (the "2015 Term Loan"). 

Net proceeds from the 2015 Term Loan were used to repay $490.0 million of the outstanding balance under our Revolving Credit Facility. 

On October 14, 2015, we, through our existing SBA Tower Trust, issued $500.0 million of3.156% Secured Tower Revenue Securities 

Series 2015-IC which have an anticipated repayment date of October 8, 2020 and a fmal maturity date of October 10, 2045 (the "2015 Tower 

Securities"). Net proceeds from this offering were used to make a cash distribution to SBA Guarantor LLC which w as further distributed (I) to 

repay outstanding amounts on the Revolving Credit Facility and (2) for general corporate purposes. 

During the year ended December 31, 2015, we repaid the entire $172.5 million outstanding principal balance on the 2012-1 Term Loan. In 

connection with the prepayment, we expensed $0.8 million of net deferred fmancing fees. 

During the year ended December, 31 2015 , we settled the remaining outstanding warrants originally sold in connection with the 4. 0% 

Notes. The warrants represented approximately 2.1 million underlying shares of Class A common stock, and we satisfied our obligations by 

paying $150.9 million in cash. 

During the second quarter of2015, we repurchased the remaining $150.0 million of our Class A common stock authorized under our 

$300.0 million stock repurchase plan, completing this plan. 

On June 4, 2015, we announced the authorization of a new $1.0 billion stock repurchase plan. This new plan authorizes us to purchase 

from time to time our outstanding common stock through open market repurchases in compliance with Rule I Ob-18 under the Securities 

Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and/or in privately negotiated transactions at management's discretion. Shares purchased will be retired. 

During the year ended December 31, 2015, we repurchased 2.7 million shares of our Class A common stock under our stock repurchase 

program for $300.1 million at a weighted average price per share of$112.04. As of December 31, 2015, we had a remaining authorization to 

repurchase $700.0 million of Class A common stock under our current$ I .0 billion stock repurchase program. 

Subsequent to December 31, 20 15, we repurchased 0. 5 million shares of our Class A common stock under our stock repurchase program 

for $50.0 million at a weighted average price per share of$98.65 . As of the date of this filing, we had a remaining authorization to repurchase 

$650.0 million of Class A common stock under our current $1.0 billion stock repurchase program. 

Registration Statements 

We have on file with the Commission a shelf registration statement on Form S-4 registering shares of Class A common stock that we may 

issue in connection with the acquisition of wireless communication towers or antenna sites and related assets or companies who own wireless 

communication towers, antenna sites, or related assets. During the year ended December 31, 2015 , we did not issue any shares of Class A 

common stock under this registration statement. As of December 31, 2015, we had approximately 1.7 million shares of Class A common stock 

remaining under this shelf registration statement. 
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On March 3, 2015, we filed with the Commission an automatic shelf registration statement for well-known seasoned issuers on FormS-

3ASR. This registration statement enables us to issue shares of our Class A common stock, preferred stock or debt securities either separately or 

represented by warrants, or depositary shares as well as units that include any of these securities. Under the rules governing automatic shelf 

registration statements, we will file a prospectus supplement and advise the Commission of the amount and type of securities each time we issue 

securities under this registration statement. No shares were issued under this registration statement through the date of this filing. 

Debt Instruments and Debt Service Requirements 

Senior Credit Agreement 

On February 7, 2014, SBA Senior Finance II entered into a Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with several banks and other 

financial institutions or entities from time to time parties to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement to, among other things, incur 

the 2014 Term Loan and amend certain terms of the existing senior credit agreement (as amended, the "Senior Credit Agreement"). 

Terms of the Senior Credit Agreement 

The Senior Credit Agreement, as amended, requires SBA Senior Finance II to maintain specific financial ratios, including ( 1) a ratio of 

Consolidated Total Debt to Annualized Borrower EBITDA not to exceed 6.5 times for any fiscal quarter, (2) a ratio of Consolidated Total Debt 

and Net Hedge Exposure (calculated in accordance with the Senior Credit Agreement) to Annualized Borrower EBITDA for the most recently 

ended fiscal quarter not to exceed 6.5 times for 30 consecutive days and (3) a ratio of Annualized Borrower EBITDA to Annualized Cash 

Interest Expense (calculated in accordance with the Senior Credit Agreement) of not less than 2.0 times for any fiscal quarter. The Senior Credit 

Agreement contains customary affirmative and negative covenants that, among other things, limit the ability of SBA Senior Finance II and its 

subsidiaries to incur indebtedness, grant certain liens, make certain investments, enter into sale leaseback transactiOJ:lS, merge or consolidate, 

make certain restricted payments, enter into transactions with affiliates, and engage in certain asset dispositions, including a sale of all or 

substantially all of their property. As of December 31, 2015, SBA Senior Finance II was in compliance with the fmancial covenants contained in 

the Senior Credit Agreement. The Senior Credit Agreement is also subject to customary events of default. Pursuant to the Second Amended and 

Restated Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, amounts borrowed under the Revolving Credit Facility, the Term Loans and certain hedging 

transactions that may be entered into by SBA Senior Finance II or the Subsidiary Guarantors (as defined in the Senior Credit Agreement) with 

lenders or their affiliates are secured by a ftrst lien on the membership interests of SBA Telecommunications, LLC, SBA Senior Finance, LLC 

and SBA Senior Finance II and on substantially all of the assets (other than leasehold, easement and fee interests in real property) ofSBA Senior 

Finance II and the Subsidiary Guarantors. 

The Senior Credit Agreement, as amended, permits SBA Senior Finance II, without the consent of the other lenders, to request that one or 

more lenders provide SBA Senior Finance II with increases in the Revolving Credit Facility or additional term loans provided that after giving 

effect to the proposed increase in Revolving Credit Facility commitments or incremental term loans the ratio of Consolidated Total Debt to 

Annualized Borrower EBITDA would not ex<;eed 6.5 times. SBA Senior Finance Il's ability to request such increases in the Revolving Credit 

Facility or additional term loans is subject to its compliance with customary conditions set forth in the Senior Credit Agreement including 

compliance, on a pro forma basis, with the financial covenants and ratios set forth therein and, with respect to any additional term loan, an 

increase in the margin on existing term loans to the extent required by the terms of the Senior Credit Agreement. Upon SBA Senior Finance Il's 

request, each lender may decide, in its sole discretion, whether to increase all or a portion of its Revolving Credit Facility commitment or 

whether to provide SBA Senior Finance II with additional term loans and, if so, upon what terms. 

Revolving Credit Facility under the Senior Credit Agreement 

On February 5, 2015, SBA Senior Finance II entered into the 2015 Revolving Refinancing Amendment with several banks and other 

financial institutions or entities from time to time parties to the Senior Credit Agreement to, among other things, (i) increase the borrowing 

capacity under our Revolving Credit Facility from $770.0 million to $1.0 billion, (ii) extend the maturity date of the Revolving Credit Facility to 

February 5, 2020, (iii) provide for the ability to borrow in U.S. dollars and certain designated foreign currencies, and (iv) lower the applicable 

interest rate margins and commitment fees under the Revolving Credit Facility. 

As amended February 2015, the Revolving Credit Facility consists of a revolving loan under which up to $1.0 billion aggregate principal 

amount may be borrowed, repaid and redrawn, subject to compliance with specific fmancial ratios and the satisfaction of other cus tomary 

conditions to borrowing. Amounts borrowed under the Revolving Credit Facility accrue interest, at SBA Senior Finance II's election, at either (i) 

the Eurodollar Rate plus a margin that ranges from 137.5 basis points to 200.0 basis points or (ii) the 
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Base Rate plus a margin that ranges from 37.5 basis points to 100.0 basis points, in each case based on the ratio of Consolidated Total Debt to 
Annualized Borrower EBITDA, calculated in accordance with the Senior Credit Agreement. In addition, SBA Senior Finance II is required to 
pay a commitment fee of 0.25% per annum on the amount of unused commitment. If not earlier terminated by SBA Senior Finance II, the 
Revolving Credit Facility will terminate on, and SBA Senior Finance II will repay all amounts outstanding on or before, February 5, 2020. The 
proceeds available under the Revolving Credit Facility may be used for general corporate purposes. SBA Senior Finance II may, from time to 
time, borrow from and repay the Revolving Credit Facility. Consequently, the amount outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility at the end 
of a period may not be reflective of the total amounts outstanding during such period. 

During the year ended December 31, 2015, we borrowed $770.0 million and repaid $895.0 million of the outstanding balance under the 
Revolving Credit Facility. As of December 31, 2015, there was no amount outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility. The remaining 
borrowing capacity under the Revolving Credit Facility was $1.0 bi Ilion at December 31, 2015, subject to compliance with specified fmancial 
ratios and satisfaction of other customary conditions to borrowing. 

Term Loans under the Senior Credit Agreement 

2012-1 Term Loan 

The 2012-1 Term Loan consisted of a senior secured term loan with an initial aggregate principal amount of$200.0 million with a matur 
ity date of May 9, 2017. The 2012-1 Term Loan accrued interest, at SBA Senior Finance Il's election, at either the Base Rate plus a margin that 
ranges from 100 to 150 basis points or the Eurodollar Rate plus a margin that ranges from 200 to 250 basis points, in each case based on the ratio 
of Consolidated Total Debt to Annualized Borrower EBITDA (calculated in accordance with the Senior Credit Agreement). The 2012-1 Term 
Loan was issued at par. We incurred deferred fmancing fees of $2.7 million in relation to this transaction which were being amortized through 
the maturity date. 

During the year ended December 31, 2015, we repaid the entire $172.5 million outstanding principal balance on the 2012-1 Term Loan. 
Included in this amount was a prepayment of$160.0 million made on November 18, 2015. In connection with the prepayment, we expensed $0. 
8 million of net deferred fmancing fees. 

2014 Term Loan 

The 2014 Term Loan consists of a senior secured term loan with an initial aggregate principal amount of$1.5 billion that matures on 
March 24, 2021. The 2014 Term Loan accrues interest, at SBA Senior Finance Il's election, at either the Base Rate plus 150 basis points (with a 
Base Rate floor of 1.75%) or the Eurodollar Rate plus 250 basis points (with a Eurodollar Rate floor of0.75%). The 2014 Term Loan was issued 
at 99.75% of par value. As of December 31, 2015, the 2014 Term Loan was accruing interest at 3.25% per annum. Principal payments on the 
2014 Term Loan commenced on September 30,2014 and are being made in quarterly installments on the last day of each March, June, 
September, and December in an amount equal to $3. 8 million. SBA Senior Finance II has the ability to prepay any or all amounts under the 
2014 Term Loan. We incurred deferred fmancing fees of approximately $12.9 million in relation to this transaction which are being amortized 
through the maturity date. 

During the year ended December 31, 2015, we repaid $15.0 million of principal on the 2014 Term Loan. As of December 31, 2015, the 
2014 Term Loan had a principal balance of$1.5 billion. 

2015 Term Loan 

On June 10, 2015, SBA Senior Finance II obtained a new senior secured term loan with an initial aggregate principal amount of$500.0 
million that matures on June 10, 2022. The 2015 Term Loan accrues interest, at SBA Senior Finance Il's election, at either the Base Rate plus 
150 basis points (with a Base Rate floor of 1.75%) or the Eurodollar Rate plus 250 basis points (with a Eurodollar Rate floor of0.75%). The 
2015 Term Loan was issued at 99.0% of par value. As of September 30, 2015, the 2015 Term Loan was accruing interest at 3.25% per annum. 
Principal payments on the 2015 Term Loan commenced on September 30, 2015 and are being made in quarterly installments on the last day of 
each March, June, September, and December in an amount equal to $1.3 million. SBA Senior Finance II has the ability to prepay any or all 
amounts under the 20 15 Term Loan. We incurred deferred financing fees of approximately $5.1 million in relation to this transaction which are 
being amortized through the maturity date. 

During the year ended December 31,2015, we repaid $2.5 million of principal on the 2015 Term Loan. As of December 31,2015, the 
2015 Term Loan had a principal balance of$497.5 million. 
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Secured Tower Revenue Securities 

Tower Revenue Securities Terms 

The mortgage loan underlying the 2010 Tower Securities, 2012 Tower Securities, 2013 Tower Securities, 2014 Tower Securities, and 201 

5 Tower Securities (together the "Tower Securities") will be paid from the operating cash flows from the aggregate 10,585 tower sites owned by 

the Borrowers. The mortgage loan is secured by (i) mortgages, deeds of trust, and deeds to secure debt on a substantial portion of the tower sites, 

(ii) a security interest in the tower sites and substantially all of the Borrowers' personal property and fixtures, (iii) the Borrowers' rights under 

certain tenant leases, and (iv) all of the proceeds of the foregoing. For each calendar month, SBA Network Management, Inc., an indirect 

subsidiary ("Network Management") , is entitled to receive a management fee equal to 4.5% of the Borrowers' operating revenues for the 

immediately preceding calendar month. 

The Borrowers may prepay any of the mortgage loan components, in whole or in part, with no prepayment consideration, (i) within nine 

months (in the case of the components corresponding to the 2010 Tower Securities), twelve months (in the case of the component corresponding 

to the 2012 Tower Securities, Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2013-1C, Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2013-1D, Secured 

Tower Revenue Securities Series 20 14-1 C , and Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 20 15-1 C ), or eighteen months (in the case of the 

components corresponding to the Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2013-2C and Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2014-2C) of 

the anticipated repayment date of such mortgage loan component, (ii) with proceeds received as a result of any condemnation or casualty of any 

tower owned by the Borrowers or (iii) during an amortization period. In all other circumstances, the Borrowers may prepay the mortgage loan, in 

whole or in part, upon payment of the applicable prepayment consideration. The prepayment consideration is determined based on the class of 

the Tower Securities to which the prepaid mortgage loan component corresponds and consists of an amount equal to the excess, if any, of (I) the 

present value associated with the portion of the principal balance being prepaid, calculated in accordance with the formula set forth in the 

mortgage loan agreement, on the date of prepayment of all future installments of principal and interest required to be paid from the date of 

prepayment to and including the first due date within nine months (in the case of the components corresponding to the 2010 Tower Securities), 

twelve months (in the case of the component corresponding to the 2012 Tower Securities, Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 20!3-1C, 

Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2013-1D, Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2014-1C, and Secured Tower Revenue Securities 

Series 2015-1C ), or eighteen months (in the case of the components corresponding to the Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2013-2C 

and Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2014-2C) of the anticipated repayment date of such mortgage loan component over (2) that 

portion of the principal balance of such class prepaid on the date of such prepayment. 

To the extent that the mortgage loan components corresponding to the Tower Securities are not fully repaid by their respective anticipated 

repayment dates, the interest rate of each such component will increase by the greater of (i) 5% and (ii) the amount, if any, by which the sum of 

(x) the ten-year U.S. treasury rate plus (y) the credit-based spread for such component (as set forth in the mortgage loan agreement) plus (z) 5%, 

exceeds the original interest rate for such component. 

Pursuant to the terms of the Tower Securities, all rents and other sums due on any of the towers owned by the Borrowers are directly 

deposited by the lessees into a controlled deposit account and are held by the indenture trustee. The monies held by the indenture trustee after the 

release date are classified as restricted cash on the Consolidated Balance Sheets (see Note 4). However, if the Debt Service Coverage Ratio, 

defmed as the net cash flow (as defined in the mortgage loan agreement) divided by the amount of interest on the mortgage loan, servicing fees 

and trustee fees that the Borrowers are required to pay over the succeeding twelve months, as of the end of any calendar quarter, falls to 1.30x or 

lower, then all cash flow in excess of amounts required to make debt service payments, to fund required reserves, to pay management fees and 

budgeted operating expenses and to make other payments required under the loan documents, referred to as "excess cash flow," will be 

deposited into a reserve account instead of being released to the Borrowers. The funds in the reserve account will not be released to the 

Borrowers unless the Debt Service Coverage Ratio exceeds 1.30x for two consecutive calendar quarters. If the Debt Service Coverage Ratio falls 

below 1.15x as of the end of any calendar quarter, then an "amortization period" will commence and all funds on deposit in the reserve account 

will be applied to prepay the mortgage loan until such time that the Debt Service C~verage Ratio exceeds 1.15x for a calendar quarter. In 

addition, if any of the Tower Securities are not fully repaid by their respective anticipated repayment dates, the cash flow from the towers owned 

by the Borrowers will be trapped by the trustee for the Tower Securities and applied first to repay the interest, at the original interest rates, on the 

mortgage loan components underlying the Tower Securities, second to fund all reserve accounts and operating expenses associated with those 

towers, third to pay the management fees due to Network Management, fourth to repay principal of the Tower Securities and fifth to repay the 

additional interest discussed above. The mortgage loan agreement, as amended, also includes covenants customary for mortgage loans subject to 

rated securitizations. Among other things, the Borrowers are prohibited from incurring other indebtedness for borrowed money or further 

encumbering their assets. As of December 31, 2015 , the Borrowers met the required Debt Service Coverage Ratio as set forth in the mortgage 

loan agreement and were in compliance with all other covenants. 
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2010 Tower Securities 

On April16, 2010, we, through a New York common law trust (the "Trust"), issued $550.0 million of Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2010-2C (the "2010 Tower Securities"). The 2010 Tower Securities have an annual interest rate of5.101%. The anticipated repayment date and the final maturity date for the 2010 Tower Securities are April11, 2017 and April 9, 2042, respectively. The sole asset of the Trust consists of a non-recourse mortgage loan made in favor of those entities that are borrowers on the mortgage loan (the "Borrowers"). We incurred deferred fmancing fees of$8.1 million in relation to this transaction which are being amortized through the anticipated repayment date of the 2010 Tower Securities. 

2012 Tower Securities 

On August 9, 2012, we, through the Trust, issued $610.0 million of Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2012 -1C (the "2012 Tower Securities") which have an anticipated repayment date of December 1 I , 2017 and a final maturity date of December 9, 2042. The fixed interest rate of the 2012 Tower Securities is 2.933% per annum, payable monthly. We incurred deferred financing fees of$14.9 million in relation to this transaction which are being amortized through the anticipated repayment date of the 2012 Tower Securities. 
2013 Tower Securities 

On Aprill8, 2013, we, through the Trust, issued $425.0 million of2.240% Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2013-1C which have an anticipated repayment date of April I 0, 2018 and a final maturity date of April 9, 2043, $575.0 million of3.722% Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2013-2C which have an anticipated repayment date of April! 1 , 2023 and a final maturity date of April 9, 2048, and $330.0 million of3.598% Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2013-ID which have an anticipated repayment date of April I 0, 2018 and a fmal maturity date of April 9, 2043 (collectively the "2013 Tower Securities"). The aggregate $1.33 billion of2013 Tower Securities have a blended interest rate of3.218% per annum, payable monthly. We incurred deferred financing fees of$25.5 million in relation to this transaction which are being amortized through the anticipated repayment date of each of the 2013 Tower Securities. 
2014 Tower Securities 

On October 15, 2014, we, through the Trust, issued $920.0 million of2.898% Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2014-IC which have an anticipated repayment date of October 8, 2019 and a final maturity date of October 11, 2044, and $620.0 million of3.869% Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2014-2C which have an anticipated repayment date of October 8, 2024 and a final maturity date of October 8, 2049, (collectively the "20 14 Tower Securities"). The aggregate $1.54 billion of 2014 Tower Securities have a blended interest rate of 3.289% per annum, payable monthly. We incurred deferred financing fees of$22.5 million in relation to this transaction which are being amortized through the anticipated repayment date of each of the 2014 Tower Securities. 
2015 Tower Securities 

On October 14,2015, we, through the Trust, issued $500.0 million of Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2015-1C which have an anticipated repayment date of October 8, 2020 and a fmal maturity date of October 10, 2045 (the "20 15 Tower Securities"). The fixed interest rate of the 2015 Tower Securities is 3.156% per annum, payable monthly. We have incurred deferred financing fees of$10.9 million to date in relation to this transaction which are being amortized through the anticipated repayment date of the 2015 Tower Securities. In connection with the issuance of the 2015 Tower Securities, the advance rents reserve requirement was modified such that the Borrowers will only be required to maintain an advance rents reserve at any time the monthly tenant debt service coverage ratio is equal to or less than 2: I and for two calendar months after such coverage ratio again exceeds 2: 1. 

In connection with the issuance of the 201 5 Tower Securities, SBA Properties, LLC, SBA Sites, LLC, SBA Structures, LLC, SBA Infrastructure, LLC, SBA Monarch Towers III, LLC, SBA 2012 TC Assets PR, LLC, SBA 2012 TC Assets, LLC, SBA Towers IV, LLC, SBA Monarch Towers I, LLC, SBA Towers USVI, Inc., SBA Towers VII, LLC, SBA GC Towers, LLC, SBA Towers V, LLC, and SBA Towers VI, LLC (collectively, the "Borrowers"), each an indirect subsidiary of SBAC, and Midland Loan Services, a division ofPNC Bank, National Association, as servicer, on behalf of the Trustee entered into the First Loan and Security Agreement Supplement and Amendment pursuant to which, among other things, (i) the existing Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement was amended to modifY the advance rents reserve as described above, (ii) the outstanding principal amount of the mortgage loan was increased by$ 50 0 million, and (iii) the Borrowers became jointly and severally liable for the aggregate $4. 5 billion borrowed under the mortgage loan corresponding to the 20 I 0 Tower Securities, 2012 Tower Securities, 2013 Tower Securities, 2014 Tower Securities, and the newly issued 201 5 Tower Securities. 
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4.0% Convertible Senior Notes due 2014 

On April24, 2009, we issued $500.0 million of 4.0% Convertible Senior Notes ("4.0% Notes"). Concurrently with the pricing of the 4.0% 

Notes, we entered into convertible note hedge and warrant transactions with affiliates of certain of the initial purchasers of the convertible notes. 

As of December 31, 2014, we settled our conversion obligations and associated convertible note hedges. During the year ended December 31, 

2015, we settled the remaining outstanding warrants for $150.9 million, representing approximately 2.1 million underlying shares. 

Senior Notes 

5. 75% Senior Notes 

On July 13, 2012, Telecommunications issued $800.0 million of unsecured senior notes due July 15, 2020 (the "5.75% Notes"). The 

5.75% Notes accrue interest at a rate of5.75% and were issued at par. Interest on the 5.75% Notes is due semi-annually on July 15 and January 

15 of each year. We incurred deferred fmancing fees of$14.0 million in relation to this transaction which are being amortized through the 

maturity date. 

The 5.75% Notes are subject to redemption in whole or in part on or after July 15, 2016 at the redemption prices set forth in the indenture 

agreement plus accrued and unpaid interest. If redeemed during the twelve-month period beginning on July 15, 2016, July 15,2017, or July 15, 

2018 through maturity, the redemption price will be 102.875%, 101.438%, and 100.000%, respectively, of the principal amount of the 5.75% 

Notes to be redeemed on the redemption date plus accrued and unpaid interest. 

SBAC is a holding company with no business operations of its own and its only significant asset is the outstanding capital stock of 

Telecommunications. Telecommunications is 100% owned by SBAC. SBAC has fully and unconditionally guaranteed the Senior Notes issued 

by Telecommunications. 

5.625% Senior Notes 

On September 28, 2012, we issued $500.0 million of unsecured senior notes due October l, 2019 (the "5.625% Notes"). The 5.625% 

Notes accrue interest at a rate of 5.625% per annum and were issued at par. Interest on the 5.625% Notes is due semi-annually on April l and 

October l of each year. We incurred deferred fmancing fees of$8.6 million in relation to this transaction which are being amortized through the 

maturity date. 

The 5.625% Notes are subject to redemption in whole or in part on or after October l, 2016 at the redemption prices set forth in the 

indenture agreement plus accrued and unpaid interest. If redeemed during the twelve-month period beginning on October l, 2016, October l, 

2017, or October l, 2018 until maturity, the redemption price will be 102.813%, 101.406%, and 100.000%, respectively, of the principal amount 

of the 5.625% Notes to be redeemed on the redemption date plus accrued and unpaid interest. 

4.875% Senior Notes 

On July l, 2014, we issued $750.0 million of unsecured senior notes due July 15, 2022 (the "4.875% Notes"). The 4.875% Notes accrue 

interest at a rate of 4.875% per annum and were issued at 99.178% of par value. Interest on the 4.875% Notes is due semi-annually on January 

15 and July 15 of each year. We incurred deferred financing fees of$11.6 million in relation to this transaction which are being amortized 

through the maturity date. 

The 4.875% Notes are subject to redemption in whole or in part on or after July 15, 2017 at the redemption prices set forth in the indenture 

agreement plus accrued and unpaid interest. Prior to July 15, 2017, we may at our option redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal amount of 

the 4.875% Notes originally issued at a redemption price of 104.875% of the principal amount of the 4.875% Notes to be redeemed on the 

redemption date plus accrued and unpaid interest with the net proceeds of certain equity offerings. If redeemed during the twelve-month period 

beginning on July 15, 2017, July 15, 2018, July 15, 2019, or July 15, 2020 until maturity, the redemption price will be 103.656%, 102.438%, 

101.219% and 100.000%, respectively, of the principal amount of the 4.875% Notes to be redeemed on the redemption date plus accrued and 

unpaid interest. 

Indentures Governing Senior Notes 

The Indentures governing the Senior Notes contain customary covenants, subject to a number of exceptions and qualifications, including 

restrictions on the ability of SBAC and Telecommunications to (l) incur additional indebtedness unless the Consolidated 
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Indebtedness to Annualized Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA Ratio (as defined in the Indenture), pro forma for the additional indebtedness does 

not exceed, with respect to any fiscal quarter, 9.5x for SBAC and 7.5x for Telecommunications, (2) merge, consolidate or sell assets, (3) make 

restricted payments, including dividends or other distributions, (4) enter into transactions with affiliates, and (5) enter into sale and leaseback 

transactions and restrictions on the ability of the Restricted Subsidiaries ofSBAC and Telecommunications (as defmed in the Indentures) to 

incur liens securing indebtedness. 

Debt Service 

As of December 31, 2015, we believe that our cash on hand, capacity available under our Revolving Credit Facility, and our cash flows 

from operations for the next twelve months will be sufficient to service our outstanding debt during the next twelve months. 

The following table illustrates our estimate of our debt service requirement over the twelve months ended December 31, 2016 based on 

the amounts outstanding as of December 31, 2015 and the interest rates accruing on those amounts on such date (in thousands): 

~ :6~sll,;o'§fP!ti~£~ot~~fdi.l~'zoY9·: 
5.750% Senior Notes due 2020 

~.sz!fo -\li~ri~ott~~lt;:ZQ~~,' 
5.101% Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2010-2C 

?..~-%S~cij~a T~Weri~~!i4ecS~~es'S~ti~~Oii-~e 
2.240% Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2013-lC 

3'.72!%:~~J!;tpSf~l\~~~,:.S~)i~ S~p:@:9,P~2c 
3.598% Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2013-lD 

z~$9&%~~~urrowe:R:,~ft:s~•itt£llSw?.-~~r(J 
3.869% Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2014-2C 

s~ts()~ $~~1\11'<>~1' Iiveriif~sdiitt~~-2~s-lC 
Revolving Credit Facility 

2ot4T~~t~ii.~:r:'i:t ,,,, 
2015 TermLoanB 

.· T~tW::tl~b~~e~ f~~.held<12 ~9ntll$, i 

Inflation 

·~~1.45 
46,000 

3'6:,.~<i3. 
28,230 

r~pss 
9,655 

;.; .• 42i~ 
11,978 

·~!.: \f!.i9~ 
24,185 

+:i~.93'§ 
2,500 

.. 6\J3(i 
21,108 

The impact of inflation on our operations has not been significant to date. However, we cannot assure you that a high rate of inflation in 

the future will not adversely affect our operating results particularly in light of the fact that our site leasing revenues are governed by long-term 

contracts with pre-determined pricing that we will not be able to increase in response to increases in inflation other than our contracts in Brazil 

which have inflationary index based rental escalators. 
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Commitments and Contractual Obligations 

The following table summarizes our scheduled contractual commitments as ofDecember 31, 2015: 

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 

P.t;incip~~~.9fdebt' :~1.1.\,:: ,. •·· '$:?!A~t:·~ii~0~P;;QOO s '''t~(~¥fj,.t~a.ooo r~~\~:~~~~:it;~ouo :~~ . 1;44o;o.~ ..... s · <•\f!l;~;o.Oo .. 
Interest payments <'> 

operiJID&:~~~~;;r::;i}'"~ 
Capital leases 

~~}lloYfn~~t'tLSf~~rt\J~~,~-- .:,!)::;:\,>?~; ·.·· 
Total contractual obligations $ 

333,741 
· .. 18$.~82 .· 

1,~,1.~ . 
2, l~l),}.?;f;{ ., 

545,842 $ 

311,991 270,918 251,119 

. ~;.J:?M38 Ft%'t~:~~"lt::iti.,,;;,(~,;], ~'491;Ql~~;~~~;;; •• 
1,150 799 251 

\+':::l!tUQfl&•.;;;.;!tc 1 ... ···· ·. , , ·t;4ub : : ~'N'1}tzt:t}•g• ' .... '''t:-:K...;.fZ'...;v:? ... x: .. :: ... ':"'::-::-3"-"'"='':i.'7"~:-· 
1,685,779 $ 1,242,345 $ 1,888,382 $ 1,700,145 

(1) Represents interest payments based on the 2010 Tower Securities interest rate of 5.1010%, the 2012 Tower Securities interest rate of 

2.933%, the 2013-lC Tower Securities interest rate of2.240%, the 2013-2C Tower Securities interest rate of3.722%, the 2013-lD Tower 

Securities interest rate of3.598%, the 2014-1C Tower Securities interest rate of2.898%, the 2014-2C Tower Securities interest rate of 

3.869%, the 2015 Tower Securities interest rate of3.156%, the 2014 Term Loan at an interest rate of3.25% as of December 31, 2015, 

the 2015 Term Loan at an interest rate of3.25% as of December 31, 2015, and the Senior Notes interest rates of5.625%, 5.750% and 

4.875%. 

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements 

We are not involved in any off-balance sheet arrangements. 
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ITEM 7A. QUANTITATIVE AND QUALITATIVE DISCLOSURES ABOUT MARKET RISK 

We are exposed to certain market risks that are inherent in our financial instruments. These instruments arise from transactions entered 

into in the normal course of business. 

The following table presents the future principal payment obligations and fair values associated with our long-term debt instruments 

assuming our actual level oflong-term indebtedness as ofDecember 31, 2015: 

2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 Thereafter Total Fair Value 

Debt: 

5:~~~·~¥·~t~~~~l:?~· 
5. 750% Senior Notes due 2020 

4.81s'Wsem~~~d~.~2z•~:r 
5.101%2010-2 Tower 

Securities 11> 

~~~~!i;~;~e!£~·; 
2.240% 2013-1C Tower 

Securities 11> 

3.598%2013-10 Tower 

Securities 11 > 

~~:~~~:~.~~~~::r .. ,~, 
3.869% 2014-2C Tower 

Securities 1'> 

~Ti~~J!~~.c~ow~r i 

(in thousands) 

· ··· .~oo,Qllb;.'t ' '·" 
800,000 800,000 

:,,~•K :·ifo .. 7§!i,iilo,~;; , ..• ,j~S!JlQ!).~:. 

550,000 

330,000 

620,000 620,000 

832,000 

~:1,1? 

416,959 
,·~~::if 

332,676 

608,084 

2014 Term Loan 15,000 15,000 15,000 15,000 1,402,500 1,477,500 1,447,950 

2o.l5T~tm~an~; ;"*,;;~~\·.·:;:· ...... j:bo~;. ~t r;+t5~Q:Q(;J ~~~ Ef>,'OAA 4¥1 '"': •• ~:000 "' ·1\#~~QQ·t~!~ ~9~Q~~· ··'•?; ·>ll8.9,i~olf 

Total debt obligation 1,180,000 $ 775,000 $ 1,440,000 $ 1,320,000 $ 3,820,000 $ 8,555,000 $ 8,525,291 

(1) The anticipated repayment date and the fmal maturity date for the 2010-2 Tower Securities is April! l , 2017 and April9, 2042, 

respectively. 
The anticipated repayment date and the final maturity date for the 2012 Tower Securities is December l 1 , 2017 and December 9 , 2042, 

respectively. 
The anticipated repayment date and the final maturity date for the 2013-lC Tower Securities is April l 0, 2018 and April 9, 2043, 

respectively. 

The anticipated repayment date and the final maturity date for the 2013-2C Tower Securities is April! l , 2023 and April 9, 2048, 

respectively. 

The anticipated repayment date and the final maturity date for the 2013-lD Tower Securities is April! 0, 2018 and April 9, 2043, 

respectively. 

The anticipated repayment date and the final maturity date for the 2014-lC Tower Securities is October 8, 2019 and October l 1, 2044, 

respectively. 

The anticipated repayment date and the final maturity date for the 20l4-2C Tower Securities is October 8, 2024 and October 8, 2049, 

respectively. 

The anticipated repayment date and the final maturity date for the 2015-lC Tower Securities is October 8, 2020 and October 10,2049, 

respectively. 

Our current primary market risk exposure is interest rate risk relating to (1) our ability to refinance our debt at commercially reasonable 

rates, if at all, (2) interest rate risk relating to the impact of interest rate movements on our 201 4 Term Loan and 201 5 Term Loan and any 

borrowings that we may incur under our Revolving Credit Facility, which are at floating rates. We manage the interest rate risk on our 

outstanding debt through our large percentage of fixed rate debt. While we carmot predict our ability to refmance 
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existing debt or the impact interest rate movements will have on our existing debt, we continue to evaluate our financial position on an ongoing 

basis. 

We are exposed to market risk from changes in foreign currency exchange rates in connection with our operations in Brazil, Canada, Costa 

Rica, Guatemala, and Nicaragua. In each of these countries, we pay most of our selling, general, and administrative expenses and a portion of 

our operating expenses, such as taxes and utilities incurred in the country in local currency. In addition, in Brazil and Canada, we receive 

significantly all of our revenue and pay significantly all of our operating expenses in local currency. All transactions denominated in currencies 

other than the U.S. Dollar are reported in U.S. Dollars at the applicable exchange rate. All assets and liabilities are translated into U.S. Dollars at 

exchange rates in effect at the end of the applicable fiscal reporting period and all revenues and expenses are translated at average rates for the 

period. The cumulative translation effect is included in equity as a component of Accumulated other comprehensive income (loss). For the year 

ended December 31, 2015, approximately 11.0% of our revenues and approximately 11.7% of our total operating expenses were denominated in 

foreign currencies. 

We have performed a sensitivity analysis assuming a hypotheticallO% adverse movement in the Brazilian Real from the quoted foreign 

currency exchange rates at December 31, 2015. As of December 31, 2015, the analysis indicated that such an adverse movement would have 

caused our revenues and operating results to fluctuate by less than 2.0% for the year ended December 31, 2015 . 

During 2014, we incurred intercompany debt, which is denominated in a currency other than the functional currency of the subsidiary in 

which it is recorded. As this debt had not been designated as being a long-term investment in nature, any changes in the foreign currency 

exchange rates will result in unrealized gains or losses, which will be included in our determination of net income. A change of 10% in the 

underlying exchange rates of our unsettled intercompany debt at December 31, 2015 would have resulted in approximately $46.6 million of 

unrealized gains or losses that would have been included in Other expense in our condensed consolidated statements of operations for the year 

ended December 31,2015. 

Special Note Regarding Forward-Looking Statements 

This annual report contains "forward-looking statements" within the meaning of Section 27A of the Securities Act of 1933, as amended, 

and Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. These statements concern expectations, beliefs, projections, plans and 

strategies, anticipated events or trends and similar expressions concerning matters that are not historical facts. Specifically, this annual report 

contains forward-looking statements regarding: 

• our expectations on the future growth and financial health of the wireless industry and the industry participants, the drivers of such 

growth , and the trends developing in our industry ; 

• our expectations regarding the opportunities in the international wireless markets in which we currently operate or have targeted for 

growth, our beliefs regarding how we can capitalize on such opportunities, and our intent to continue expanding internationally 

through new builds and acquisitions; 

• our beliefs regarding our ability to capture and capitalize on industry growth and the impact of such growth on our fmancial and 

operational results; 

• our expectation that over the long-term, site leasing revenues will continue to grow as wireless service providers lease additional 

antenna space on our towers due to increasing minutes of network use and data transfer, network expansion and network coverage 

requirements and the rate of such growth, on an organic basis, in our domestic and international segments; 

• our belief that our site leasing business is characterized by stable and long-term recurring revenues, predictable operating costs, and 

minimal non-discretionary capital expenditures; 

• our expectation that, due to the relatively young age and mix of our tower portfolio, future expenditures required to maintain these 

towers will be minimal; 

• our expectation that we will grow our cash flows by adding tenants to our towers at minimal incremental costs and executing 

monetary amendments; 

• our expectations regarding the chum rate of our non-iDEN tenant leases; 
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~ our intent to grow our tower portfolio, domestically and internationally, and our expectations regarding the pace of such growth; 

• our expectation that we will continue our ground lease purchase program and the estimates of the impact of such program on our 
fmancial results; 

• our expectation that we will continue to incur losses; 

• our expectations regarding our future cash capital expenditures, both discretionary and non-discretionary, including expenditures 
required to maintain, improve, and modify our towers, ground lease purchases, and general corporate expenditures, and the source 
of funds for these expenditures; 

• our intended use of our liquidity; 

• our expectations regarding our annual debt service in 2016 and thereafter, and our belief that our cash on hand, cash flows from 
operations for the next twelve months and availability under our Revolving Credit Facility will be sufficient to service our 
outstanding debt during the next twelve months; 

• our belief regarding our credit risk; and 

• our estimates regarding certain accounting and tax matters. 

These forward-looking statements reflect our current views about future events and are subject to risks, uncertainties and assumptions. We 
wish to caution readers that certain important factors may have affected and could in the future affect our actual results and could cause actual 
results to differ significantly from those expressed in any forward-looking statement. The most important factors that could prevent us from 
achieving our goals, and cause the assumptions underlying forward-looking statements and the actual results to differ materially from those 
expressed in or implied by those forward-looking statements include, but are not limited to, the following: 

• the impact of consolidation among wireless service providers on our leasing revenue; 

• our ability to continue to comply with covenants and the terms of our credit instruments and our ability to obtain additional 
financing to fund our capital expenditures; 

• our ability to successfully manage the risks associated with international operations, including risks relating to political or economic 
conditions, tax laws, currency restrictions, legal or judicial systems, and land ownership; 

• our ability to successfully manage the risks associated with our acquisition initiatives, including our ability to effectively integrate 
acquired towers into our business and to achieve the financial results projected in our valuation models for the acquired towers; 

• developments in the wireless communications industry in general, and for wireless communications infrastructure providers in 
particular, that may slow growth or affect the willingness or ability of the wireless service providers to expend capital to fund 
network expansion or enhancements; 

• our ability to secure as many site leasing tenants as anticipated, recognize our expected economies of scale with respect to new 
tenants on our towers, and retain current leases on towers; 

• our ability to secure and deliver anticipated services business at contemplated margins; 

• our ability to build new towers, including our ability to identify and acquire land that would be attractive for our clients and to 
successfully and timely address zoning, permitting, weather, availability oflabor and supplies and other issues that arise in 
connection with the building of new towers; 
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• competition for the acquisition of towers and other factors that may adversely affect our ability to purchase towers that meet our 

investment criteria and are available at prices which we believe will be accretive to our shareholders and allow us to maintain our 

long-term target leverage ratios; 

• our ability to protect our rights to the land under our towers, and our ability to acquire land underneath our towers on terms that are 

accretive; 

• our ability to sufficiently increase our revenues and maintain expenses and cash capital expenditures at appropriate levels to permit 

us to meet our anticipated uses ofliquidity for operations, debt service and estimated portfolio growth; 

• our ability to successfully estimate the impact of regulatory and litigation matters; 

• our ability to successfully estimate the impact of certain accounting and tax matters, including the effect on our company of 

adopting certain accounting pronouncements and the availability of sufficient net operating losses to offset future taxable income; 

• natural disasters and other unforeseen damage for which our insurance may not provide adequate coverage; 

• a decrease in demand for our towers; and 

• the introduction of new technologies or changes in a tenant's business model that may make our tower leasing business Jess 

desirable to potential tenants. 

ITEM 8. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND SUPPLEMENTARY DATA 

Financial statements and supplementary data are on pages F-1 through F- 3 8. 

ITEM 9. CHANGES IN AND DISAGREEMENTS WITH ACCOUNTANTS ON ACCOUNTING AND FINANCIAL DISCLOSURE 

None. 

ITEM 9A. CONTROLS AND PROCEDURES 

Disclosure Controls and Procedures- We maintain disclosure controls and procedures that are designed to ensure that information 

required to be disclosed in our reports under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the "Exchange Act"), is recorded, processed, 

sununarized and reported within the time periods specified in the SEC's rules and forms, and that such information is accumulated and 

communicated to management, including our Chief Executive Officer ("CEO") and Chief Financial Officer ("CFO"), as appropriate, to allow 

timely decisions regarding required disclosure. In designing and evaluating the disclosure controls and procedures, management recognized that 

any controls and procedures, no matter how well designed and operated, can provide only reasonable assurance of achieving the desired control 

objectives, as ours are designed to do, and management necessarily was required to apply its judgment in evaluating the cost-benefit relationship 

of possible controls and procedures. 

In connection with the preparation of this Annual Report on Form 10-K, as of December 31, 2015, an evaluation was performed under the 

supervision and with the participation of our management, including the CEO and CFO, of the effectiveness of our disclosure controls and 

procedures (as defined in Rule 13a-15(e) under the Exchange Act). Based on such evaluation, our CEO and CFO concluded that, as of December 

31, 2015, our disclosure controls and procedures were effective. 

There has been no change in our internal control over financial reporting during the quarter ended December 31, 2015 that has materially 

affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, our internal control over financial reporting. 

Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting- Management is responsible for establishing and 

maintaining adequate internal control over fmancial reporting, and for performing an assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over 

financial reporting as of December 31, 2015 . Internal control over financial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance 

regarding the reliability offmancial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally 

accepted accounting principles. Our system of internal control over financial reporting includes those 
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policies and procedures that (i) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and 

dispositions of the assets ofSBAC; (ii) provide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of 

financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts and expenditures ofSBAC are being made 

only in accordance with authorizations of management and directors ofSBAC; and (iii) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or 

timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use or disposition of SBAC's assets that could have a material effect on the financial statements. 

Management performed an assessment of the effectiveness ofSBAC's internal control over financial reporting as of December 31, 2015 

based upon criteria in Internal Control-Integrated Framework (2013 Framework) issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the 

Treadway Commission (COSO). Based on our assessment, management determined that SBAC's internal control over fmancial reporting was 

effective as of December 31, 2015 based on the criteria in Internal Control- Integrated Framework (20 13 Framework) issued by COSO. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over financial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of 

any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or 

that the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

Ernst & Young LLP, the independent registered public accounting firm that audited the financial statements included in this Annual 

Report on Form 10-K, has issued an attestation report on SBAC's internal control over financial reporting. 
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Report oflndependent Registered Public Accounting Firm 

The Board of Directors and Shareholders ofSBA Communications Corporation and Subsidiaries 

We have audited SBA Communications Corporation and Subsidiaries' internal control over fmancial reporting as ofDecember 31, 2015, based 
on criteria established in Internal Control- Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway 
Commission (2013 framework) (the COSO criteria). SBA Communications Corporation and Subsidiaries' management is responsible for 
maintaining effective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assessment of the effectiveness of internal control over financial 
reporting included in the accompanying Management's Annual Report on Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to 
express an opinion on the company's internal control over fmancial reporting based on our audit. 

We conducted our audit in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 
require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internal control over financial reporting was 
maintained in all material respects. Our audit included obtaining an understanding of internal control over fmancial reporting, assessing the risk 
that a material weakness exists, testing and evaluating the design and operating effectiveness of internal control based on the assessed risk, and 
performing such other procedures as we considered necessary in the circumstances. We believe that our audit provides a reasonable basis for our 
opinion. 

A company's internal control over fmancial reporting is a process designed to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of fmancial 
reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles. A 
company's internal control over financial reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance of records that, in 
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the company; (2) provide reasonable assurance 
that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of fmancial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting 
principles, and that receipts and expenditures of the company are being made only in accordance with authorizations of management and 
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention or timely detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or 
disposition of the company's assets that could have a material effect on the fmancial statements. 

Because of its inherent limitations, internal control over fmancial reporting may not prevent or detect misstatements. Also, projections of any 
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to the risk that controls may become inadequate because of changes in conditions, or that 
the degree of compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorate. 

In our opinion, SBA Communications Corporation and Subsidiaries maintained, in all material respects, effective internal control over financial 
reporting as of December 31, 2015 , based on the COSO criteria. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), the consolidated 
balance sheets ofSBA Communications Corporation and Subsidiaries as of December 31,2015 and 2014, and the related consolidated 
statements of operations, comprehensive loss, shareholders' equity (deficit) and cash flows for each of the three years in the period ended 
December 31, 2015 ofSBA Communications Corporation and Subsidiaries and our report dated February 26, 2016 expressed an unqualified 
opinion thereon. 

Boca Raton, Florida 
February 26, 2016 
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ITEM 9B. OTHER INFORMATION 

Item 5.02 Departure of Directors or Certain Officers; Election of Directors; Appointment of Certain Officers; Compensatory 
Arrangements of Certain Officers. 

Item 5.02 {e) 

On December 7, 2015, we entered into amended and restated employment agreements with each of Brendan Cavanagh, Executive Vice 
President and Chief Financial Officer, Thomas P. Hunt, Executive Vice President, General Counsel and Chief Administrative Officer, and Kurt 
L. Bagwell, Executive Vice President and President oflnternational. The prior employment agreements with each of Messrs. Cavanagh, Hunt 
and Bagwell were set to expire by their terms on December 31, 2015. The amended and restated employment agreements, which provide for 
each of Messrs. Cavanagh, Hunt and Bagwell to continue to serve in their present positions, became effective on December 31, 2015 and expire 
on December 31, 2018. All other material terms of the employment agreements remained the same. 

PART III 

ITEM 10. DIRECTORS, EXECUTIVE OFFICERS AND CORPORATE GOVERANCE 

We have adopted a Code of Ethics that applies to our Chief Executive Officer, Chief Financial Officer and Chief Accounting Officer. The 
Code of Ethics is located on our internet web site at www.sbasite.com under "Investor Relations- Corporate Governance- Governance 
Documents." We intend to provide disclosure of any amendments or waivers of our Code of Ethics on our website within four business days 
following the date of the amendment or waiver. 

The remaining items required by Part III, Item 10 are incorporated herein by reference from the Registrant's Proxy Statement for its 2016 
Annual Meeting of Shareholders to be filed on or before April 29, 2016. 

ITEM 11. EXECUTIVE COMPENSATION 

The items required by Part III, Item 11 are incorporated herein by reference from the Registrant's Proxy Statement for its 2016 Annual 
Meeting of Shareholders to be filed on or before April 29, 2016. 

ITEM 12. SECURITY OWNERSHIP OF CERTAIN BENEFICIAL OWNERS AND MANAGEMENT AND RELATED 
STOCKHOLDER MATTERS 

The items required by Part III, Item 12 are incorporated herein by reference from the Registrant's Proxy Statement for its 2016 Annual 
Meeting of Shareholders to be filed on or before April 29 , 2016 . 

ITEM 13. CERTAIN RELATIONSHIPS AND RELATED TRANSACTIONS, AND DIRECTOR INDEPENDENCE 

The items required by Part III, Item 13 are incorporated herein by reference from the Registrant's Proxy Statement for its 20 16 Annual 
Meeting of Shareholders to be filed on or before April 29 , 2016 . 

ITEM 14. PRINCIPAL ACCOUNTING FEES AND SERVICES 

The items required by Part III, Item 14 are incorporated herein by reference from the Registrant's Proxy Statement for its 2016 Annual 
Meeting of Shareholders to be filed on or before April 29 , 2016 . 

PART IV 

ITEM 15. EXHIBITS, FINANCIAL STATEMENT SCHEDULES 

(a) Documents filed as part of this report: 

(1) Financial Statements 

50 
~--------------------------- ·-------------------- ·----·------



Table of Contents 

See Item 8 for Financial Statements included with this Annual Report on Form 10-K. 

(2) Financial Statement Schedules 

None. 

(3) Exhibits 

Exhibit 
Nb. 
3.4 

3.6 

4.15A 

4.16A 

4.20 

4.21 

4.22 

4.23 

4.24 

4.25 

10.1 

10.2 

10.3 

10.4 

Exhibit Description 

Fourth Amended and Restated Articles of Incorporation, as Amended, of SBA 

Communications Corporation. 

Amended and Restated Bylaws of SBA Communications Corporation, effective as of 

July 28, 2015. 

Form of Senior Indenture. 

Form of Subordinated Indenture. 

Indenture, dated July 13, 2012, between SBA Telecommunications, Inc., SBA 

Communications Corporation and U.S. Bank National Association. 

Form of5.75% Senior Notes due 2020 (included in Exhibit 4.20). 

Indenture, dated as of September 28, 2012, between SBA Communications Corporation 

and U.S. Bank National Association. 

Form of5.625% Senior Notes due 2019 (included in Exhibit 4.22). 

Indenture, dated July I, 2014, between SBA Communications Corporation and U.S. 

Bank National Association. 

Form of 4.875% Senior Notes due 2022 (included in Exhibit 4.24). 

SBA Communications Corporation Registration Rights Agreement dated as of March 

5, 1997, among the Company, Steven E. Bernstein, Ronald G. Bizick, II and Robert 

Grobstein. 

Purchase Agreement, dated July 26, 2012, among SBA Senior Finance, LLC, Deutsche 

Bank Trust Company Americas, as trustee, and the several initial purchasers listed on 

Schedule I thereto. 

2015 Revolving Refinancing Amendment, dated as of February 5, 2015, among SBA 

Senior Finance II, as borrower, the several lenders from time to time parties thereto, 

and Toronto Dominion (Texas) LLC, as administrative agent. 

Purchase Agreement, dated April 4, 2013, among SBA Senior Finance, LLC, Deutsche 

Bank Trust Company Americas, as trustee, and the several initial purchasers listed on 

Schedule I thereto. ' 
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Incorporated by Reference 

Period Covered or 

Form Date of Filing 

S-4 05/19/10 
(333-166966) 

8-K 07/31/15 

S-3ASR 03/03/15 
(333-2024 77) 

S-3ASR 03/03/15 
(333-202477) 

8-K 07/16/12 

8-K 07/16/12 

8-K 09/28/12 

8-K 09/28/12 

8-K 07/01/14 

8-K 07/01/14 

S-4 04/15/98 
(333-50219) 

10-Q Quarter ended 
September 30, 2012 

10-K Year ended December 
31, 2014 

8-K 04/23/13 
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10.5 Incremental Term Loan B-2 Amendment, dated as of June 10, 2015, among SBA 

Senior Finance II LLC, as borrower, the several lenders from time to time parties 
thereto, and Toronto Dominion (Texas) LLC, as administrative agent. 

10.6 Purchase Agreement, dated October 6, 2015, among SBA Senior Finance, LLC, 
Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as trustee, and the several initial purchasers 
listed on Schedule I thereto. 

l 0. 7 Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement, dated as of February 7, 2014, among 
SBA Senior Finance II LLC, as borrower, the several lenders from time to time parties 
thereto, Citigroup Global Capital Markets Inc. and Barclays Bank PLC, as incremental 
tranche B-1 term loan joint lead arrangers and syndication agents, Deutsche Bank 
Securities Inc., J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, TD Securities (USA) LLC, The Royal 
Bank of Scotland plc and Wells Fargo Securities, LLC, as co-incremental Tranche B-1 
term loan documentation agents, and Toronto Dominion (Texas) LLC, as 
administrative agent. 

10.8 Second Amended and Restated Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, dated as of 
February 7, 2014, among SBA Communications Corporation, SBA 
Telecommunications, LLC, SBA Senior Finance, LLC, SBA Senior Finance II LLC 
and certain of its subsidiaries, as identified in the Second Amended and Restated 
Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, in favor of Toronto Dominion (Texas) LLC, as 
administrative agent. 

10.9 Purchase Agreement, dated June 17, 2014, among SBA Communications Corporation, 
U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, and the several initial purchasers listed on 
Schedule I thereto. 

l 0.10 Registration Rights Agreement, dated July l, 2014, among SBA Communications 
Corporation and the several initial purchasers listed on Schedule I thereto. 

10.11 Purchase Agreement, dated October 7, 2014, among SBA Senior Finance, LLC, 
Deutsche Bank Trust Company, as trustee, and several initial purchasers listed on 
Schedule I thereto. 

l 0.12 Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security Agreement, dated as of October 15, 
2014, among SBA Properties, LLC, SBA Sites, LLC, SBA Structures, LLC, SBA 
Infrastructure, LLC, SBA Monarch Towers III, LLC, SBA 2012 TC Assets PR, LLC, 
SBA 2012 TC Assets, LLC, SBA Towers IV, LLC, SBA Monarch Towers I, LLC, 
SBA Towers USVI, Inc., SBA GC Towers, LLC, SBA Towers VII, LLC and any 
Additional Borrower or Borrowers that may become a party thereto and Midland Loan 
Services, as Servicer on behalf of Deutsche Bank Trust Company Americas, as Trustee. 

l O.l2A First Loan and Security Agreement Supplement and Amendment, dated as of October 
14, 2015, by and among the Borrowers named therein and Midland Loan Services, a 
division ofPNC Bank, National Association, as Servicer on behalf of Deutsche Bank 
Trust Company Americas, as Trustee. 

10.33 2001 Equity Participation Plan as Amended and Restated on May 16, 2002.t 

l0.35F Employment Agreement, dated October 30, 2014, between SBA Communications 
Corporation and Jeffrey A. Stoops.t 
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2015 
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02/13/14 

02/13/14 

06/23/14 
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04/16/02 

Year ended December 
31,2014 



Table of Contents 
10.50 Management Agreement, dated as ofNovember 18, 2005, by and among SBA 

Properties, Inc., SBA Network Management, Inc. and SBA Senior Finance, Inc. 

10.57D Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of December 7, 2015, 
between SBA Communications Corporation and Kurt L. Bagwell.t• 

10.58D Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of December 7, 2015, 
between SBA Communications Corporation and Thomas P. Hunt.t• 

10.60 Joinder and Amendment to Management Agreement, dated November 6, 2006, by and 
among SBA Properties, Inc., SBA Towers, Inc., SBA Puerto Rico, Inc., SBA Sites, 
Inc., SBA Towers USVI, Inc., and SBA Structures, Inc., and SBA Network 
Management, Inc., and SBA Senior Finance, Inc. 

10. 75A SBA Communications Corporation 2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended 
onMay4,201I.t 

10.76 Form oflndemnification Agreement dated January 15, 2009 between SBA 
Communications Corporation and its directors and certain officers. 

10.85C Amended and Restated Employment Agreement, dated as of December 7, 2015, 
between SBA Communications Corporation and Brendan T. Cavanagh.t• 

10-K 

10-K 

10-Q 

10-K 

10.89 SBA Communications Corporation 2010 Performance and Equity Incentive Plan.t S-8 
(333-166969) 

10.96 Purchase Agreement, dated July 10, 2012, among SBA Communications Corporation, 8-K 
SBA Telecommunications, Inc. and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, as representative of 
the several initial purchasers listed on Schedule I thereto. 

10.97 Registration Rights Agreement, dated July 13, 2012, among SBA Communications 8-K 
Corporation, SBA Telecommunications, Inc. and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, as 
representative of the several initial purchasers listed on Schedule 2 thereto. 

10.98 Purchase Agreement, dated September 20, 2012, between SBA Communications 8-K 
Corporation and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, as representative of the several initial 
purchasers listed on Schedule 1 thereto. 

10.99 Registration Rights Agreement, dated September 28, 2012, between SBA 8-K 
Communications Corporation and J.P. Morgan Securities LLC, as representative of the 
several initial purchasers listed on Schedule 2 thereto. 

21 Subsidiaries. • 

23 .I Consent of Ernst & Young LLP. • 

31.1 Certification by Jeffrey A. Stoops, Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Section 302 of 
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of2002. • 

31.2 Certification by Brendan T. Cavanagh, ChiefFinancial Officer, pursuant to Section 302 
of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of2002. • 

32.1 Certification by Jeffrey A. Stoops, Chief Executive Officer, pursuant to Section 906 of 
the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. • 
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2011 
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32.2 Certification by Brendan T. Cavanagh, Chief Financial Officer, pursuant to Section 906 

of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002. • 

I 0 !.INS XBRL Instance Document. • • 

IOI.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.•• 

I 0 l.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document. • • 

IOI.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document. •• 

!Ol.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.•• 

!Ol.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.•• 

t Management contract or compensatory plan or arrangement. 
• Filed herewith. 
• • Furnished herewith. 
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SIGNATURES 

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15( d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the Registrant has duly caused this report to 
be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized. 

SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION 

By: Is/ Jeffrey A. Stoops 

Jeffrey A. Stoops 

Chief Executive Officer and President 

Date: February 2 6, 2016 

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below by the following persons on behalf 
of the registrant and in the capacities and on the dates indicated. 

Is/ Steven E. Bernstein 

Steven E. Bernstein 

Is! Jeffrey A. Stoops 

Jeffrey A. Stoops 

Is/ Brendan T. Cavanagh 

Brendan T. Cavanagh 

Is/ Brian D. Lazarus 

Brian D. Lazarus 

Is/ Brian C. Carr 

Brian C. Carr 

Is/ Mary S. Chan 

MaryS. Chan 

Is/ Duncan H. Cocroft 

Duncan H. Cocroft 

Is/ George R. Krouse Jr. 

George R. Krouse Jr. 

Is/ Jack Langer 

Jack Langer 

Is/ Kevin L. Beebe 

Kevin L. Beebe 

Chairman of the Board of Directors 

Chief Executive Officer and President 

(Principal Executive Officer) 

Chief Financial Officer and Executive Vice President 

(Principal Financial Officer) 

Chief Accounting Officer and Senior Vice President 

(Principal Accounting Officer) 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 

Director 
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REPORT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

The Board of Directors and Shareholders ofSBA Communications Corporation and Subsidiaries 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets ofSBA Communications Corporation and Subsidiaries as ofDecember 31,2015 

and 2014, and the related consolidated statements of operations, comprehensive loss, shareholders' equity (deficit) and cash flows for each of 

the three years in the period ended December 31, 2015. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company's management. Our 

responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits. 

We conducted our audits in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States). Those standards 

require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free of material 

misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit 

also includes assessing the accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall fmancial 

statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion. 

In our opinion, the fmancial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated fmancial position of SBA 

Communications Corporation and Subsidiaries at December 31, 2015 and 2014 , and the consolidated results of their operations and their cash 

flows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 2015, in conformity with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. 

We also have audited, in accordance with the standards of the Public Company Accounting Oversight Board (United States), SBA 

Communications Corporation and Subsidiaries' internal control over fmancial reporting as of December 31, 2015, based on criteria established 

in Internal Control -Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (20 13 

framework), and our report dated February 26, 2016 expressed an unqualified opinion thereon. 

Boca Raton, Florida 
February 26, 2016 

F- I 

Is/ Ernst & Young LLP 

Certified Public Accountants 
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

(in thousands, except par values) 

ASSETS 

Current assets: 

Cash~~~~.ij~~ents 
Restricted cash 

.. sh()rt-te'firiihv~~~~t~ 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of$1,681 and $889 

at December 31, 2015 and December 31, 2014, respectively 

.g~~ and estimated~!!i~~~ofl;lilJ~jSZ~~Ifu.colnpl~~~mra~i$: ;t··~~~il·~;rf.~~··0 .·. 
Prepaid expenses and other current assets 

.;[:•ll'i~w.~ent asset$ \iilc····;.,.~::;j)f,~·i'';~~f:~,;;\r{;/~; 
Property and equipment, net 

1ntangj;ti\~~~~~•1let .... i: c<.: >· ... ···· 
Deferred fmancing fees, net 
otlter.ass~ <····· J. ·:\::{:.::}• . ..:.•·:· 

Total assets 

tiABdfiJIII:~IlOL))ERS' DmcJ'f' 
Current liabilities: 

Acco~~jia§~1~i~.tjl 
Accrued expenses 

eurr~Jit,m~~ti'~~jlong-tenn debt 
Deferred revenue 

Acc~~ij~f¢ii~)::,il:(j 
Other current liabilities 

T9tmi:~tit~at.i~IJities 
Long-term liabilities: 

Long~tenri debt 
Other long-term liabilities 

.. · :•.•'.tl:lt!d.Iong-tenn u~mq:e~ DE t1::fl'l 
Shareholders' deficit: 

Additional paid-in capital 

<~i;~~t~~+~tJ:~it;., •.. · 
Accumulated other comprehensive 

·· .... ·.··•• Tqtm.~~tlJ~!~~· 4~fl!l~ •<· 
Total liabilities and shareholders' deficit 

December 31, 

2015 

December 31, 

2014 

'!'''~·'~itr:;J:':sfii,6:19 .$~1;~(1}.~;9 • 39;443 
25,353 

.· •?;)i\'i~g6· 
52,519 

~.~~~ 

83,326 104,268 

16;~'1 ),;:*'30,078 
49,602 95,031 

. . .Z93,9~ . 'ti\'{>,~88 
2, 782,353 2, 762,417 

··.· 3,735.4~~!{. 4;1~,5.40 
94,152 95,237 

··. ···.•... ' 497;337 461,0.43 

$ 7,403,215 ..;..$_..;,7.;..,8_41.:.,1..;.2_5 

.$. 
63,755 

:~~{!'£';~ ~;;;:;;~,l!),QOO ;il~~lf!~i~~3,2i!~~Q~ 
97,083 

5~,,3J\5 

12,063 

273,~71 

120,047 

· > <·,:!~~4~,,17S 
16,921 

8,522,~~~;< 7~828,299 
313,683 . ---:--::34::'12~,5:-::::'76:-

. 8,83$,1,J;f,. . 8.170;875 

1,962,713 2,062,775 

.... ·.······• >:1:;11±~~~~-a~Q§~.)~~,: ''t2,542;~i~1 
(502,045) (182,486) 

·•.i: .,. ;:&• !/t:li!!l!tf!'105.:t4!le \ ' (66~:1!91\) 
$ 7,403,215 $ 7,841,125 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS 

(in thousands, except per share amounts) 

ij'~v~ntl~J:\ .. 
Site leasing 

:;;~it~'$yelopment' · 
Total revenues 

Operat!~iiiPerisfllM; 
Cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation, accretion, and 

amortization shown below): 

.. col\~,~~i·~J!g;;::w 
Cost of site development 

sellijii general, ~d~i~4:ifY,ye . XX:; 
Acquisition related adjustments and expenses 

Aaset inlP·~~~~;qt)COnfurlssioncPst~ : 
Depreciation, accretion, and amortization 

. Td~ Pp~rating extrens$ i:i~;;~f:·:• 
Operating income 

OUter m~tlf(:f(~e~1 
Interest income 

)ntei'~~t.s:O; , . · 
Non-cash interest expense 

.. t\Pl~~titih ofde~~4'~mi~ 
Loss from extinguishment of debt, net 

dther{~~~)m~e, .ri~f 
Total other expense, net 

Il.~ss before Pto~1W1 fotftit~~~·t~k~ ;\;;: " · 
(Provision) benefit for income taxes 

ll\fe'tl!)$8 
Net loss per common share 

· :Biislc .~~filltjj~~i~t~d~eraien\Ui~8f~&fflffi.ofi,shares 

$ 

For the year ended December 31, 

1,480,634 $ 

.·.· .. .1.5~7;$~() 

119,744 

. ·. >::>:t; :lJ1'4l'9;i\ 
11,864 

1,360,202 $ 1,133,013 

·16~7~4 :!:~~~,11t;8~3; 
1,304,866 

127,172 137,481 

io~(3lfl>. · • ''•:;:;BI~Jli76 
7,798 19,198 

.··········.···· 94,7~~· .· '·"~~t:~~~d~t<· ~::~~~.8.9(1~ 
660,021 627,072 533,334 

;c:: ·.· I}~lfictls Kk::::t: .i~t~Oi4J3 ' ~ ..... 1,075;~~1 
312,456 336,523 229,645 

3,894 677 1,794 

<322;3~6)'. :$tlii~{~i~91;1)ri>Y l:i;!~~~9.os:t3 
(27,112) (49,085) 

'•F•<':H~£H:H92ll~) .. >:: ; >\!J,?l~} ;;;:.•. (tiJ~~Q) 
(783) (26,204) ( 6,099) 

. (139,131}~·~~~<· · · ·r~ ··:'~~~:~\. 3t;13's( 
(479,051) (352,183) (286,863) 

. . . ·•:%:·~t~~395;)$tlf.' . ' ~'!l~6~1'til!~1¢'~;. (57;·~~ 
--~(9.:.;,0..;;.6~1) (8,635) 1,309 

•cYJ\l\1:';< . ., 'l?:l(¥.:""')··. "· ·'i'>'·lil·· .,.2.9·.·.s.'........... ..• ... z . .ct:'jio· n\ •. ,, .. ;,:>P .• •::<':li~·*i*'""' .. \:.l:'f 1 .. l""""' ,, 
;,$ ......-......-~<1;;;:;.3~7) $ (0.19) $ (0.44) 

>i ,; . ''12?7;794 }:':{t'flf1t\l~&]l)t~ :"' < ; .. i1~27,~~ij 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Net los~ 

SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 

(in thousands) 

For the year ended December 31, 

Foreign currency translation adjustments 

···· cotliptm~'IYetq<M ·y· 
.. ·.·.····· . ·····• .;<!N 

The accompanying condensed notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (DEFICIT) 

(in thousands) 

Class A 

Common Stock 

Additional 

Paid-In 

Capital 

Accumulated 

Other 

Shares 

BALANCE, December 31,2012 126,933 

< Ji~~os{ 
Common stock issued in connection with 

stock purchase/option plans 740 

N6l~~?~t9Plt~<mlP~~~~¥1t10i< 'it\tvt~ .. '~A;~~,, ;J>"' 
Adjustment associated with the acquisition 

of noncontrolling interest 

, , ,§e~~'eilt'Gf!fony~~le notes 
Settlement of convertible note hedges 

Settf~fi!ent'i3'fr:i~on stock: warrants. 
Foreign currency translation adjustments 

BALANg~}#3i,20t3'•'·:··:· 

Net loss 
'''c .. , .... · t~~· · cmenonWi&: ~~*~' ' .. ::t•r~~~~;~ P~:~i;: . <iL. 

:439 .. 
(82) 

.402 

Amount 

1,269 

7 

3,111,107 

10,198 

5,703 

Accumulated 

Deficit 

(2,462, 176) 

'(S!;9Uf)l:c 

:f •.<~:(32t~~ii5) .c:<>'; 

Total 

652,991 

·r~s~~) 

10,205 

·:c •• :.:x·"~"'··'''·' \}lJ!~o;wllZJj~~ 

5,703 

.. o2'1~l:1 
182,856 

(97+2~1) 
(36,470) (36,470) 

'1~284 ....... , .. , ·,· .. z~oo ....... il.· ... ,4 ... 4'6K,, · .. ,~:st!;~ .. •.&s.""'".d~.'!:J"i.. ~~ a11v ···· , ........ 3.$o;~ ..... :J: 9 .. .. ... . , . . ... 1 .. > 'Jii ... l!'ii · '':lK:;. . . i~ 

Non-cash stock compensation 22,999 22,999 

·:&~~ttiem$htolcofi\tllrfi1!~4Q~JXG r:. . .. it,7*~i~':;.: liJ.jo .,.,:5\, '·~~:a;s67 

Settlement of convertible note hedges (11,737) (117) 124 7 

· :~Xt11llli~fiForcZmin~~~'~ .. ck~~~ ., · ,,,, i\':''' ¥ <:::rt:~~ts8'41~~?) ,, , t~~~~98s} 

Foreign currency translation adjustments (148,807) (148,807) 

~~Jilca,beceffiber~lj,:+O't~(;l:k ,.J29,1'3'41~E ~)t9t: ,, ~.2;~m:S:.: <~1~;4l;3~o) ' (tftt4$§)''1' ·;£~oo.son) 
Netloss (175,656) (175,656) 

;;:~on sto4C: 1ssu~~t~ ., .; ; ' '''w 
. stoc~~q~·~ ioi .. o,.':]''>'b l!lS···· .. :: .•.•••.... ki';{:,.. ::.:;,;,; : zi~~t:Q 
Non-cash stock compensation 29,208 29,208 

SettJ.~~~9n &td~~:'wai:fa'tits ·tl~O.l!Jj~, ·• : (150,~14) 
Repurchase and retirement of common stock (3,9~2) ( 40) ( 450,033) ( 450,073) 

~~t~lm~~~.tt:~1.1\\li~$1dj~~~~£~,·. J{0¥;"/ ':~ Xs~0\¥,c..:1!1 :•·i' "*i\~~~·~~· ~&; .. " 'f~zl~*·'·, ;',{....., .••... •·••·•·· {:lfi~~U~) .. · ;'~~~lfl,SS~) 

BALANCE, December 31,2015 125,743 $ 1,257 $ 1,962,713 $ (3,168,069) $ (502,045) $ (1,706,144) 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of these consolidated fmancial statements 
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS (in thousands) 

<li\:tm:~ws,'Fiif>JYI(;~trnd"criwmis~':<·i·• 
Net loss 

·:d[AdJil$tm~if~.W:~orJhl1m~t.l\>ss.tQ.net-pr~'Vtd~·by ~~~atiri;activlties: 
Depreciation, accretion, and amortization 

.. rtct\'N®~~l\lli~~~~J'~e ·· 
Deferred income tax (benefit) expense 

~C~K·:~~~tih~lie!itlllild<~~jq;Cl).m .·. 

<i?i ·.·~i:~i:~e~;J~~~-~lk{ 
Loss on remeasurement of U.S. denominated intercompany loan 

·alla:ql!i$Jl1~"9l?.~0&t~~~!lhv~nt~~~1· :;,: :, .. ,· ..• d 

.. ·•·•·•· . g~er non-cash items retl~~ed iR.t,ll~ S~!~.men~ of(?Po.~~ati~n~ 

· · chaniiesW:4~liilii"t ~ts anll'liab'ltin'es; ffi;"t o'fi:®m~ilf!Jitti ~· .. 

~~~i$i1:~~;:¥'~~~5~~~s~. ~fbi\1\~f:~o~.~~~o~eted_c()ntr~~~~;:~~ •.• 

Accounts payable and accrue<! expenses 

~i11li!i!i~if <:Wi.. .............. . ,. 

. .. . . ·. N~~~~f~h ~~?::Yi~~g1by operatin8 ... ~.~tiviti~s 
~ASatMWS FR.OM :!NViS1?n!l0: AmiJ,VfllJiiS: 

.~ .• ~~ir~;~)lllit;;~ 
Proceeds from sale of cost method investments 

·:::;~;~¥~_actMn.~':,~f~<; ::t~Jit~ J l~~-( .. 1 ::~«~M , 

Borrowings under Revolvi 

'it~~~ntslu®.~r:R~plv·~'·IJ~~rcilfi~& 
Repayment of Term Loans 

·¥~~frol!!.tl:erm:~o~;•~IJ oft~ifs 
Payments on settlement of convertible debt 

··• I>riill~®1'lii~~r<:~l~ert1Gl~:j,~~~~~; 

>'''!!5~t~i;~;t{~~o;~t~e~~J~~f 
Proceeds from 4.875% Senior Notes, net of fees 

···p~~:i\t,~'lf;:.~~~~s~~#~ }~l~ 

R,epa~;~nt~~ptg,~~~~~ ~~c~i!i~s . . . xy .·.•·•·>······ ..... 

Rep~base\iifld retl.i'eineil.t of «>nm:i® ~QI!k, inclusive of fees 

~:;;£~;~~~ l~~%i:jby iina~H:illg•a\lfmti~'· 
Effe~~ of.~1~~han~~1~t~ £~ges ?n cas~ .. ~d .~.~~~ e9pi.':alents •··.•.· ... 

$T INiWREASE (l)ll~E) lNCASHn~NP CASHllQUfVALEN'lls 

CASH AND CASH EQillV ALENTS: 

,,;,~6~'~ty~·:: * 'l; 
End of year 

(continued) 
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_$ 

2015 

·~ll5 ·~,~~~). 
660,021 

'~i.so~· 

<8r(iii 
28,74( 

··•4:9;1$4:{1 

. 15,975 

J~~(4W;~vs)t•!i':~ . 

2013 

627,072 

.l~1icjj 
533,334 
1149)Ja5 

530 <~~a42) 

·~~:18';,~ ?; ::·t~i: cbn>23)1i19 

22,671 17,205 

!ii\)7;fiE 1;, ~, '!sr~, 9k~.s\t. 
22,965 

·.· (i~:,m~;, '········ . 

(36,245) 

·.i•Lk"'(.;B$2) ••.• ~ 
(29,097) 

. (~~si) 

7,366 5,475 

c:i~i~ .. M~li' · .. ·: :r,~ .. l~tr:.AA;Blt, 
7,711 

737 173 

770,000 

> ''1 (~~iOOti~J,, 
(190,000) 

· 4W\is4)sfc\: 

'c,,:,:~ ' 

48!l,iOO 

47,660 
671,643 497,587 

'" ... (~77:~7~) 
· ' Wit> •\0P8,~~) 

700,000 

< -~{; .(1~{i~9Q0),11 l1~j 
(310,500) 

~'iJ~nj 
(499,721) 

t::~f:s{:\ 
(884,985) 

l~~l2$~)mS)',;:;. 

340,000 

(il;ooil) 
(~J:~:OOO) 

('?~4,997) 

tsz;.a~s 

(97';?12) 

~->~ 

~¥Ji~:li: ,, ,. · <~i:N:~,1 :k~!l4.a~ 
<4s6,oz~)··· <~~~.?~~; 

~~~~~25~9~o~o --~~~ea~3~,o~4~9l ~~~~~~3~,2~2~6 
'>\li:ih:' !'i. .88.937 · • ...;·..;<..;,&...;·· _+_.".,.·' _ .......... ~:;,::#;.:.11,.,8::::;1,..·~ .• ~ ..;.._._ ... _ .. _·<""...;.i{ ... :·: .. ···_··· ... ~~-.. "' .. ,.8~"',;;"-•• 

(12,993) . 

. 1$,596······ 

118 039 $ 39443 ~$------~1~22~11~2 
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SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 
(in thousands) 

For the year ended December 31, 

SUPPLEMENTAL DISCLOSURE OF CASH FLOW INFORMATION: 

' ·~~hpl#d d~;t~lpetiodfor; . ·• ' 
Interest 

·lll~ail~~ 

SUPPLEMENTAL CASH FLOW INFORMATION OF NON-CASH 
ACTIVITIES: 

M~t&J!9!lPlf~\ltrou~e~~~eR~' , ; ·• r 

Issuance of stock for settlement of convertible debt and warrants, net of 
hedges 

2015 2014 2013 

: ,',. ',<~{,;:;.,~:; i'~:· ,' ,', 
$ 322,396 $ 

. < $'.!;~<. ·······•.•······· 9,4~:J[i:!P;j. 

$ - $ 229 ;;,$ ___ .,;,18;,:,,;;.;15.,;,.9 

The accompanying condensed notes are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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!.GENERAL 

SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES 

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

SBA Communications Corporation (the "Company" or "SBA C ")was incorporated in the State of Florida in March 1997. The Company 

is a holding company that holds all of the outstanding capital stock of SBA Telecommunications, LLC ("Telecommunications"). 

Telecommunications is a holding company that holds the outstanding capital stock of SBA Senior Finance, LLC ("SBA Senior Finance"), and 

other operating subsidiar ies which are not a party to any loan agreement. SBA Senior Finance is a holding company that holds, directly or 

indirectly, the equity interest in certain subsidiaries that issued the Tower Securities (see Note I 2) and certain subsidiaries that were not 

involved in the issuance of the Tower Securities. With respect to the subsidiaries involved in the issuance of the Tower Securities, SBA Senior 

Finance is the sole member of SBA Holdings, LLC and SBA Depositor, LLC. SBA Holdings, LLC is the sole member of SBA Guarantor, LLC. 

SBA Guarantor, LLC directly or indirectly holds all of the capital stock of the companies referred to as the "Borrowers" under the Tower 

Securities. With respect to subsidiaries not involved in the issuance of the Tower Securities, SBA Senior Finance holds all of the membership 

interests in SBA Senior Finance II, LLC ("SBA Senior Finance II") and certain non-operating subsidiaries. SBA Senior Finance II holds, directly 

or indirectly, all the capital stock of certain international subsidiaries and certain other tower companies (known as "Tower Companies"). SBA 

Senior Finance II also holds, directly or indirectly, all the capital stock and/or membership interests of certain other subsidiaries involved in 

providing services, including SBA Network Services, LLC ("Network Services") as well as SBA Network Management, Inc. ("Network 

Management") which manages and administers the operations of the Borrowers. 

As of December 3I, 2015, the Company owned and operated wireless towers in the United States and its territories. In addition, the 

Company owned towers in Brazil, Canada, Costa Rica, Ecuador, El Salvador, Guatemala, Nicaragua, and Panama. Space on these towers is 

leased primarily to wireless service providers. As ofDecember 31,2015, the Company owned and operated 25,465 towers ofwhich 15,778 are 

domestic and 9,687 are international. 

2. SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 

A summary of the significant accounting policies applied in the preparation of the accompanying consolidated financial statements is as 

follows: 

Principles of Consolidation 

The consolidated fmancial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States 

of America ("U.S. GAAP") and include the Company and its majority and wholly-owned subsidiaries. All significant intercompany accounts 

and transactions have been eliminated in consolidation. 

Use of Estimates 

The preparation of the consolidated fmancial statements in conformity with U.S. GAAP requires management to make estimates and 

assumptions that affect the amounts reported in the consolidated fmancial statements and accompanying notes. The significant estimates made 

by management relate to the allowance for doubtful accounts, the costs and revenue relating to the Company's construction contracts, stock­

based compensation assumptions, valuation allowance. related to deferred tax assets, fair value oflong-lived assets, the useful lives of towers and 

intangible assets, anticipated property tax assessments, fair value of investments and asset retirement obligations. Management develops 

estimates based on historical experience and on various assumptions about the future that are believed to be reasonable based on the information 

available. These estimates ultimately may differ from actual results and such differences could be material. 

Cash and Cash Equivalents 

Cash and cash equivalents consist primarily of cash in banks, money market funds, commercial paper and other marketable securities with 

an original maturity of three months or less at the time of purchase. These investments are carried at cost, which approximates fair value. 
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Investments 

Investment securities with original maturities of more than three months but less than one year at time of purchase are considered short­

term investments. The Company's short-term investments primarily consist of certificates of deposit with maturities ofless than a year. 

Investment securities with maturities of more than a year are considered long-term investments and are classified in other assets on the 

accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. Long-term investments primarily consist of U.S. Treasuries, mutual funds, and preferred securities. 

Gross purchases and sales of the Company's investments are presented within "Cash flows from investing activities" on the Company's 

Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. 

During the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company received proceeds related to the sale or maturity of investments of 

$89.7 million and $20.9 million, respectively, and recorded gains of$38.3 million and $12.5 million, respectively. The proceeds are reflected in 

Net cash used in investing activities on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows, and the related gain on sale or maturity is reflected in Other 

(expense) income, net in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations. The aggregate carrying value of the Company's investments 

was approximately $8.8 million and $49.6 million as of December 31,2015 and 2014, respectively, and is classified within other assets on the 

Company's consolidated balance sheets. 

The Company accounts for its investments in privately held companies under the cost-method as it does not exert significant 

influence. The Company evaluates its cost-method investments for impairment at least annually. The Company determines the fair value of its 

cost-method investments by considering available evidence, including general market conditions, the investee's financial condition, near-term 

prospects, market comparables and subsequent rounds offmancing. The Company measures and records its cost-method investments at fair 

value when they are deemed to be other-than-temporarily impaired. The Company did not recognize any impairment Joss associated with its 

cost-method investments during the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 , and 2013 . 

Restricted Cash 

The Company classifies all cash pledged as collateral to secure certain obligations and all cash whose use is limited as restricted cash. This 

includes cash held in escrow to fund certain reserve accounts relating to the Tower Securities as well as for payment and performance bonds and 

surety bonds issued for the benefit of the Company in the ordinary course of business (see Note 4). 

Property and Equipment 

Property and equipment are recorded at cost or at estimated fair value (in the case of acquired properties), adjusted for asset impairment 

and estimated asset retirement obligations. Costs for self-constructed towers include direct materials and labor, indirect costs and capitalized 

interest. Approximately $0.8 million, $0.3 million, and $0.1 million of interest cost was capitalized in 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. 

Depreciation on towers and related components is provided using the straight-line method over the estimated useful lives, not to exceed 

the minimum lease term of the underlying ground lease. The Company defmes the minimum lease term as the shorter of the period from lease 

inception through the end of the term of all tenant lease obligations in existence at ground lease inception, including renewal periods, or the 

ground lease term, including renewal periods. If no tenant lease obligation exists at the date of ground lease inception, the initial term of the 

ground lease is considered the minimum lease term. Leasehold improvements are amortized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the useful 

life of the improvement or the minimum lease term of the lease. For all other property and equipment, depreciation is provided using the 

straight-line method over the estimated useful lives. 

The Company performs ongoing evaluations of the estimated useful lives of its property and equipment for depreciation purposes. The 

estimated useful lives are determined and continually evaluated based on the period over which services are expected to be rendered by the asset. 

If the useful lives of assets are reduced, depreciation may be accelerated in future years. Property and equipment under capital leases are 

amortized on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease or the remaining estimated life of the leased property, whichever is shorter, and the 

related amortization is included in depreciation expense. Expenditures for maintenance and repair are expensed as incurred. 

Asset classes and related estimated useful lives are as follows: 

and related~cpill~,li~~ ~ . 
Furniture, equipment and vehicles 2 - 7 years 

30 ybl!tS 

F- 9 



Table of Contents 
Betterments, improvements, and significant repairs, which increase the value or extend the life of an asset, are capitalized and depreciated 

over the remaining estimated useful life of the respective asset. Changes in an asset's estimated useful life are accounted for prospectively, with 

the book value of the asset at the time of the change being depreciated over the revised remaining useful life. There has been no material impact 

for changes in estimated useful lives for any years presented. 

Deferred Financing Fees 

Financing fees related to the issuance of debt have been deferred and are being amortized using the effective interest rate method over the 

expected duration of the related indebtedness (see Note 12). 

Deferred Lease Costs 

The Company defers certain initial direct costs associated with the origination of tenant leases and lease amendments and amortizes these 

costs over the initial lease term or over the lease term remaining if related to a lease amendment. Such deferred costs were approximately $10.9 
million, $12.4 million, and $12.8 million in 2015, 2014, and 2013, respectively. Amortization expense was $9.0 million, $6.8 million, and 
$5.5 million for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively, and is included in cost of site leasing on the accompanying 

Consolidated Statements of Operations. As of December 31,2015 and 2014, unamortized deferred lease costs were $30.6 million and $28.5 
million, respectively, and are included in other assets on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

Intangible Assets 

The Company classifies as intangible assets the fair value of current leases in place at the acquisition date of towers and related assets 
(referred to as the "Current contract intangibles"), and the fair value of future tenant leases anticipated to be added to the acquired towers 

(referred to as the "Network location intangibles"). These intangibles are estimated to have a useful life consistent with the useful life of the 
related tower assets, which is typically 15 years. For all intangible assets, amortization is provided using the straight-line method over the 

estimated useful lives as the benefit associated with these intangible assets is anticipated to be derived evenly over the life of the asset. 

Impairment of Long-Lived Assets 

The Company evaluates its individual long-lived and related assets with finite lives for indicators of impairment to determine when an 
impairment analysis should be performed. The Company evaluates its tower assets and Current contract intangibles at the tower level, which is 
the lowest level for which identifiable cash flows exists. The Company evaluates its Network location intangibles for impairment at the tower 

leasing business level whenever indicators of impairment are present. The Company has established a policy to at least annually evaluate its 
tower assets and Current contract intangibles for impairment. 

The Company records an impairment charge when the Company believes an investment in towers or related assets has been impaired, such 
that future undiscounted cash flows would not recover the then current carrying value of the investment in the tower and related intangible. If the 
future undiscounted cash flows are lower than the carrying value of the investment in the tower and related intangible, the Company calculates 
future discounted cash flows and compares those amounts to the carrying value. The Company records an impairment charge for any amounts 
lower than the carrying value. Estimates and assumptions inherent in the impairment evaluation include, but are not limited to, general market 

and economic conditions, historical operating results, geographic location, lease-up potential and expected timing oflease-up. In addition, the 
Company makes certain assumptions in determining an asset's fair value for the purpose of calculating the amount of an impairment charge. 

The Company recognized impairment charges of$94.8 million, $23.8 million, and $29.0 million for the years ended December 31,2015, 

2014 and 2013, respectively. Refer to Note 3 for further detail of these amounts. 

Fair Value Measurements 

The Company determines the fair market values of its fmancial instruments based on the fair value hierarchy, which requires an entity to 
maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. The following three levels of 

inputs may be used to measure fair value: 

Levell Quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the Company has the ability to access at the 
measurement date. 
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Level2 Observable inputs other than Level I prices, such as quoted prices for similar assets or liabilities; quoted prices in markets 

that are not active; or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially 

the full term of the assets or liabilities. 

Level3 Unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets 

or liabilities. 

Revenue Recognition 

Revenue from site leasing is recorded monthly and recognized on a straight-line basis over the current term of the related lease 

agreements, which are generally five to ten years. Receivables recorded related to the straight-lining of site leases are reflected in other assets on 

the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Rental amounts received in advance are recorded as deferred revenue on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

Site development projects in which the Company performs consulting services include contracts on a time and materials basis or a fixed 

price basis. Time and materials based contracts are billed at contractual rates and revenue is recognized as the services are rendered. For those 

site development contracts in which the Company performs work on a fixed price basis, site development billing (and revenue recognition) is 

based on the completion of agreed upon phases of the project on a per site basis. Upon the completion of each phase on a per site basis, the 

Company recognizes the revenue related to that phase. Site development projects generally take from 3 to 12 months to complete. Amounts 

billed in advance (collected or uncollected) are recorded as deferred revenue on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

Revenue from construction projects is recognized on the percentage-of-completion method of accounting, determined by the percentage of 

cost incurred to date compared to management's estimated total cost for each contract. This method is used because management considers total 

cost to be the best available measure of progress on the contracts. These amounts are based on estimates, and the uncertainty inherent in the 

estimates initially is reduced as work on the contracts nears completion. The asset "costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on 

uncompleted contracts" represents costs incurred and revenues recognized in excess of amounts billed. The liability "billings in excess of costs 

and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts," included within other current liabilities on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets, 

represents billings in excess of costs incurred and revenues recognized. Provisions for estimated losses on uncompleted contracts are made in the 

period in which such losses are determined to be probable. 

Allowance for Doubtful Accounts 

The Company performs periodic credit evaluations of its customers. The Company monitors collections and payments from its customers 

and maintains a provision for estimated credit losses based upon historical experience, specific customer collection issues identified, and past 

due balances as determined based on contractual terms. Interest is charged on outstanding receivables from customers on a case by case basis in 

accordance with the terms of the respective contracts or agreements with those customers. Amounts determined to be uncollectible are written 

off against the allowance for doubtful accounts in the period in which uncollectibility is determined to be probable. 

The following is a rollforward of the allowance for doubtful accounts: 

For tbe year ended December 31, 

2015 2014 2013 

B~iwbilfJiiitiail~'¥'. < <. 

. ~in tbOUS8J1~S) ..... . 

''* ">:IC~>'i&uS§< \~/$Ysi ''"*f; '•* <;"'~; 

Provision for doubtful accounts 864 338 770 

· tifte;;uff8~n~b~~¥eii~~::.· '"' 
Ending balance 

. • · +.,,J,:;.· ''" .,~;; .:~: &11Ji >~f i:~; '''-' ';;.r·il f•:ii~jJ:;;;.,:M <1i;i >v•· " ~f .(j3qj 

...;$~---1;.:.,6;.,;.8.;..1 $ 889 $ 686 

Cost of Revenue 

Cost of site leasing revenue includes ground lease rent, property taxes, amortization of deferred lease costs, maintenance and other tower 

operating expenses. All ground lease rental obligations due to be paid out over the lease term, including fixed escalations, are recorded on a 

straight-line basis over the minimum lease term. Liabilities recorded related to the straight-lining of ground leases are reflected in other long­

term liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Cost of site development revenue includes the cost of 
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materials, salaries and labor costs, including payroll taxes, subcontract labor, vehicle expense and other costs directly and indirectly related to the 

projects. All costs related to site development projects are recognized as incurred. 

Income Taxes 

The Company recognizes deferred tax assets and liabilities for the estimated future tax consequences attributable to differences between 

the financial reporting and tax bases of existing assets and liabilities. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured using tax rates in effect for 

the year in which the temporary differences are expected to reverse. A valuation allowance is recorded to reduce the carrying amounts of 

deferred tax assets if it is "more-likely-than-not" that those assets will not be realized. The Company considers many factors when assessing the 

likelihood of future realization, including the Company's recent cumulative earnings experience by taxing jurisdiction, expectations of future 

taxable income, prudent and feasible tax planning strategies that are available, the carryforward periods available to the Company for tax 

reporting purposes and other relevant factors. 

The Company had taxable income for the year ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 and utilized net operating loss carry-forwards. For the 

year ended December 31, 2013 , the Company had taxable losses and generated a net operating loss which was carried forward for use in future 

years. The majority of these net operating loss carry-forwards are fully reserved by a valuation allowance. The U.S. tax losses generated in tax 

years 1999 through 2013 remain subject to adjustment and tax years 2012 through 2014 are open to examination by the major jurisdictions in 

which the Company operates. 

The Company records a liability for unrecognized tax benefits resulting from uncertain tax positions taken or expected to be taken in a tax 

return. The Company has not identified any tax exposures that require a reserve. To the extent that the Company records unrecognized tax 

exposures, any related interest and penalties will be recognized as interest expense in the Company's Consolidated Statements of Operations. 

The Company does not calculate U.S. taxes on undistributed earnings of foreign subsidiaries because substantially all such earnings are 

expected to be reinvested indefinitely. 

Stock-Based Compensation 

The Company measures and recognizes compensation expense for all share-based payment awards made to employees and directors, 

including stock options, restricted stock units and employee stock purchases under employee stock purchase plans. The Company records 

compensation expense, net of estimated forfeitures, for stock options and restricted stock units on a straight-line basis over the vesting period. 

Compensation expense for employee stock options is based on the estimated fair value of the options on the date of the grant using the Black­

Scholes option-pricing model. Any stock options granted to non-employees would be valued using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model 

based on the market price of the underlying common stock on the "valuation date," which for options to non-employees is the vesting date. 

Expense related to options granted to non-employees would be recognized on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the period over which 

services are to be received or the vesting period. Compensation expense for restricted stock units is based on the fair market value of the units 

awarded at the date of the grant. 

Asset Retirement Obligations 

The Company has entered into ground leases for the land underlying the majority of the Company's towers. A majority of these leases 

require the Company to restore land interests to their original condition upon termination of the ground lease. 

The Company recognizes asset retirement obligations in the period in which they are incurred, if a reasonable estimate of a fair value can 

be made, and accretes such liability through the obligation's estimated settlement date. The associated asset retirement costs are capitalized as 

part of the carrying amount of the related tower fixed assets, and over time, the liability is accreted to its present value each period and the 

capitalized cost is depreciated over the estimated useful life of the tower. 

The asset retirement obligation is included in other long-term liabilities on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. Upon settlement of the 

obligations, any difference between the cost to retire an asset and the recorded liability is recorded in the Consolidated Statements of Operations 

as a gain or loss. In determining the measurement of the asset retirement obligations, the Company considered the nature and scope of the 

contractual restoration obligations contained in the Company's third party ground leases, the historical retirement experience as an indicator of 

future restoration probabilities, intent in renewing existing ground leases through lease termination dates, current and future value and timing of 

estimated restoration costs and the credit adjusted risk-free rate used to discount future obligations. 
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The following summarizes the activity of the asset retirement obligation liability: 

2015 

~~~i~i~i'!· *~;'>?.• 
Additions 

;.~e,~\f~i~<ffi;~i~~ '/8;·"*''··· 
373 

For the year ended December 31, 

2014 

446 

>~i&8l ~;; 

2013 

512 
Accretion expense 

'0~y&J'> ''~~ <)1\'i, 

Revision in estimates 
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Loss Per Share 

The Company has potential common stock equivalents related to its outstanding stock options and until October 2014, its convertible 

senior notes. These potential common stock equivalents, including 3.8 million shares of stock options outstanding and 0.3 million shares of 

restricted stock outstanding , were not included in diluted loss per share for the year ended December 31, 2015 , because the effect would 

have been anti-dilutive in calculating the full year earnings per share. Accordingly, basic and diluted loss per common share and the weighted 

average number of shares used in the computations are the same for all periods presented in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. 

Comprehensive Income (Loss) 

Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the change in equity (net assets) of a business enterprise during a period from transactions and 

other events and circumstances from non-owner sources, and is comprised of net income (loss) and other foreign currency adjustments. 

Foreign Currency Translation 

The functional currency for the Company's Central American subsidiaries is the U.S. dollar. Monetary assets and liabilities of such 

subsidiaries which are not denominated in U.S. dollars are remeasured at exchange rates in effect at the balance sheet date, and revenues and 

expenses are remeasured at monthly average rates prevailing during the year. Unrealized translation gains and losses are reported as other 

income/expense in the Consolidated Statement of Operations. 

All assets and liabilities of foreign subsidiaries that do not utilize the U.S. dollar as its functional currency are translated at period-end 

rates of exchange, while revenues and expenses are translated at monthly average rates of exchange prevailing during the year. Unrealized 

translation gains and losses are reported as foreign currency translation adjustments through accumulated other comprehensive loss in 

shareholders' deficit. 

Business Combinations 

The Company accounts for business combinations under the acquisition method of accounting. The assets and liabilities acquired are 

recorded at fair market value at the date of each acquisition and the results of operations of the acquired assets are included with those of the 

Company from the dates of the respective acquisitions. The Company continues to evaluate all acquisitions for a period not to exceed one year 

after the applicable closing date of each transaction to determine whether any additional adjustments are needed to the allocation of the purchase 

price paid for the assets acquired and liabilities assumed as a result of information available at the acquisition date. The intangible assets 

represent the value associated with the current leases at the acquisition date ("Current contract intangibles") and future tenant leases anticipated 

to be added to the towers ("Network location intangibles") and were calculated using the discounted values of the current or future expected cash 

flows. The intangible assets are estimated to have a useful life consistent with the useful life of the related tower assets, which is typically 15 

years. 

In connection with certain acquisitions, the Company may agree to pay contingent consideration (or earnouts) in cash or stock if the 

communication sites or businesses that are acquired meet or exceed certain performance targets over a period of one to three years after they 

have been acquired. The Company accrues for contingent consideration in connection with acquisitions at fair value as of 
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the date of the acquisition. All subsequent changes in fair value of contingent consideration payable in cash are recorded through Consolidated 
Statements of Operations. 

Intercompany Loans 

On November 25, 2014, two wholly owned subsidiaries of the Company, Brazil Shareholder I, LLC, a Florida limited liability company, 
and SBA Torres Brasil, Limitada, a limitada existing under the laws of the Republic of Brazil, entered into an intercompany loan agreement 
where from time to time the entities may agree to lend/borrow amounts up to $750.0 million. As of December 31, 2015, the outstanding balance 
under this agreement was $455.8 million. 

In accordance with ASC 830, the Company remeasures foreign denominated intercompany loans with the corresponding change in the 
balance being recorded in Other income (expenses), net in the Consolidated Statements of Operations. For the years ended December 31, 2015 
and 2014, the Company recorded $178.9 million and $23.0 million, respectively, of foreign exchange losses on the remeasurement of 
intercompany loans. 

Recent Accounting Pronouncements Not Yet Adopted 

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") released updated guidance regarding the recognition of revenue from 
contracts with customers, exclusive of those contracts within lease accounting. The core principle of the guidance is that an entity should 
recognize revenue to depict the transfer of promised goods or services to customers in an amount that reflects the consideration to which the 
entity expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services. To achieve that core principle, an entity should apply the following steps: 
(1) identify the contracts with the customer; (2) identify the performance obligations in the contract; (3) determine the contract price; (4) allocate 
the transaction price to the performance obligations in the contract; and (5) recognize revenue when (or as) the entity satisfies a performance 
obligation. The new guidance is effective for annual reporting periods (including interim periods within those periods) beginning after December 
15, 2017 for public companies. Under the proposal, the standard would be required to be adopted by public business entities in annual periods 
beginning on or after December 15, 2017. Early adoption is permitted but not before interim and annual reporting periods beginning after 
December 15, 2016. This guidance is required to be applied (I) retrospectively to each prior reporting period presented, or (2) with the 
cumulative effect being recognized at the date of initial application. The Company is evaluating the guidance including the impact on its 
consolidated financial statements. 

In April2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-03, Interest-Imputation oflnterest. The standard requires debt issuance costs to be presented 
on the balance sheet as a direct deduction from the related debt liability rather than as an asset. Once adopted, entities are required to apply the 
new guidance retrospectively to all prior periods presented. ASU 2015-03 is effective for annual and interim periods beginning after December 
15, 2015 and early application is permitted. The Company has not elected to early adopt the standard. 

In August 2015, the F ASB issued ASU 2015-15, Interest - Imputation of Interest - Presentation and Subsequent Measurement of Debt 
Issuance Costs Associated with Line-of-Credit Arrangements. The standard indicates the SEC staff would not object to presenting deferred debt 
issuance costs for a line of credit arrangement as an asset in the balance sheet. ASU 2015-15 is effective for annual and interim periods 
beginning after December 15, 2015 and early application is permitted. The Company has not elected to early adopt the standard. 

In September 2015, the FASB issued ASU 2015-16, Business Combinations. The standard requires that the acquirer (1) recognize 
adjustments to provisional amounts that are identified during the measurement period in the reporting period in which the adjustment amounts 
are determined, (2) record, in the same period's financial statements, the effect on earnings of changes in depreciation, amortization, or other 
income effects, if any, as a result of the change to the provisional amounts, calculated as ifthe accounting had been completed at the acquisition 
date, and (3) to present separately on the face of the income statement or disclose in the notes the portion of the amount recorded in current­
period earnings by line item that would have been recorded in previous reporting periods if the adjustment to the provisional amounts had been 
recognized as of the acquisition date. ASU 2015-16 is effective for annual and interim periods beginning after December 15, 2015 and early 
application is permitted. The Company has not elected to early adopt the standard. 

In February 2016, the F ASB issued ASU 2016-02, Leases. The standard amends the existing accounting standards for lease accounting, 
including requiring lessees to recognize most leases on their balance sheets and making targeted changes to lessor accounting. This standard 
requires a modified retrospective transition approach for all leases existing at, or entered into after, the date of initial application, with an option 
to use certain transition relief. ASU 2016-02 is effective for annual and interim periods beginning 
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after December 15, 2018 and early adoption is permitted. The Company is evaluating the guidance including the impact on its consolidated 

financial statements. 

3. FAIR VALUE MEASUREMENTS 

Items Measured at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis- The Company's earnout liabilities related to acquisitions are measured at fair 

value on a recurring basis using Level 3 inputs and are recorded in Accrued expenses in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

Changes in estimate are recorded in Acquisition related adjustments and expenses in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations . 

The Company determines the fair value of acquisition-related earnouts (contingent consideration) and any subsequent changes in fair value 

using a discounted probability-weighted approach using Level3 inputs. Level 3 valuations rely on unobservable inputs for the asset or liability, 

and include situations where there is little, if any, market activity for the asset or liability. The fair value of the earnouts is reviewed quarterly 

and is based on the payments the Company expects to make based on historical internal observations related to the anticipated performance of 

the underlying assets. The Company's estimate of the fair value of its obligation contained in various acquisitions was $7.2 million and $15.1 

million as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. The maximum potential obligation related to the performance targets was $10.2 

million and $23.1 million as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively. 

The following summarizes the activity of the accrued earnouts: 

For the year ended December 31, 

2015 2014 2013 

B~~~l:!fd~~:; ,, 
thousands) 
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Additions 3,295 11,048 31,704 
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Change in estimate (6,468) (7,310) (1,585) 
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Ending balance $ 7,230 $ 15,086 $ 30,063 

Items Measured at Fair Value on a Nonrecurring Basis- The Company's long-lived assets, intangibles, and asset retirement 

obligations are measured at fair value on a nomecurring basis using Level 3 inputs. T he Company considers many factors and makes certain 

assumptions when making this assessment, including but not limited to: general market and economic conditions, historical operating results, 

geographic location, lease-up potential and expected timing oflease-up. The fair value of the long-lived assets, intangibles, and asset retirement 

obligations is calculated using a discounted cash flow model. 

During the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013, the Company recognized impairment charges of$94.8 million, $23.8 

million, and $29.0 million, respectively. The impairment charges include the write off of $31.6 million, $18.4 million, and $23.5 million in 

carrying value of decommissioned towers for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013, respectively, a $56.7 million impairment 

charge recorded in the third quarter of2015 related to fiber assets acquired in the 2012 Mobilitie transaction, $1.2 million in exit costs related to 

the Company's former corporate headquarters building during 2015, and $5.3 million, $5.4 million, and $5.5 million of other third party 

decommission costs incurred related to the Company's long-lived assets and intangibles for the years ended December 31,2015, 2014, and 2013, 

respectively. The impairment review of the fiber assets was triggered by a strategic decision made by the Company during the third quarter. 

The undiscounted cash flows were not sufficient to recover the carrying amount of the assets and thus a discounted cash flow valuation was used 

to determine the fair value. Key assumptions used in the valuation include forecasts of revenue and expenses over an extended period of time, 

and estimated costs of debt and equity capital to discount the projected cash flows. Certain of these assumptions involve significant judgment, 

are based on management's estimate of current and forecasted market conditions and are sensitive and susceptible to change. The write offs 

result from the Company's analysis that the future cash flows from certain towers would not recover the carrying value of the investment in 

those towers. Asset impairment and decommission costs for all periods presented and the related impaired assets relate to the Company's site 

leasing operating segment. 

Fair Value of Financial Instruments- The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, accounts receivable, restricted cash, accounts 

payable, and short-term investments approximate their estimated fair values due to the short maturity of these instruments. Short-term 

investments consisted of$0.5 million and $5.3 million in certificate of deposits as of December 31, 2015 and 2014, respectively, and $0.2 

million in Treasury securities as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 . The Company's estimate of the fair value of its held-to-maturity investments 

in treasury and corporate bonds, including current portion, are based primarily upon Level 1 reported market values. As of December 31, 2015 , 

the carrying value and fair value of the held-to-maturity investments, including current portion, were $0.8 million and $0.9 million, respectively. 

As of December 31, 2014, the carrying value and fair value of the held-to-
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maturity investments, including current portion, was $1.0 million and $1. 1 million, respectively. These amounts are recorded in Other Assets in 

the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

The Company determines fair value of its debt instruments utilizing various Level 2 sources including quoted prices and indicative quotes 

(non-binding quotes) from brokers that require judgment to interpret market information including implied credit spreads for similar borrowings 

on recent trades or bid/ask prices. The fair value of the Revolving Credit Facility is considered to approximate the carrying value because the 

interest payments are based on Eurodollar rates that reset every month. The Company does not believe its credit risk has changed materially 

from the date the applicable Eurodollar Rate plus 1 3 7.5 to 2 00. 0 basis points was set for the Revolving Credit Facility. Refer to Note I 2 for 

the fair values, principal balances, and carrying values of the Company's debt instruments. 

4. RESTRICTED CASH 

Restricted cash consists of the following: 

~~~~anilb'esi¥~\V ail\;p~~:;:;; 
Payment and performance bonds 

s\l~(t:'~sm~:i'a~o~'\t~t~~M~~~~ 
Total restricted cash $ 

As of 

December 31, 2015 

As of 

December 31, 2014 Included on Balance Sbeet 

(in thousands) 

'r;;;;~.Ja? <rtl\~ t:H:t,::. · ~n.t.:.R'&tcitrtil~ti.3:~~~·~tw; Ri~. 
218 402 Restricted cash - current asset 
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28,580 $ 58,453 

Pursuant to the terms oft he Tower Securities (see Note 12 ), the Company is required to establish a securitization escrow account, held by 

the indenture trustee, into which all rents and other sums due on the towers that secure the Tower Securities are directly deposited by the lessees. 

These restricted cash amounts are used to fund reserve accounts for the payment of (I) debt service costs, (2) ground rents, real estate and 

personal property taxes and insurance premiums retated to towers, (3) trustee and servicing expenses, and (4) management fees. The restricted 

cash in the securitization escrow account in excess of required reserve balances is subsequently released to the Borrowers (as defmed in Note 1 2 

) monthly, provided that the Borrowers are in compliance with their debt service coverage ratio and that no event of default has occurred. All 

monies held by the indenture trustee are classified as restricted cash on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

Payment and performance bonds relate primarily to collateral requirements for tower construction currently in process by the Company. 

Cash is pledged as collateral related to surety bonds issued for the benefit of the Company or its affiliates in the ordinary course of business and 

primarily related to the Company's tower removal obligations. As of December 31, 2015, the Company had $38.6 million in surety, payment 

and performance bonds for which it is only required to post $0.7 million in collateral. As of December 31, 2014, the Company had $38.3 million 

in surety, payment and performance bonds for which it is only required to post $1.7 million in collateral. The Company periodically evaluates 

the collateral posted for its bonds to ensure that it meets the minimum requirements. As of December 31, 2015 and 2014, the Company had also 

pledged $2.5 million and $2.6 million, respectively, as collateral related to its workers compensation policy. Restricted cash for surety bonds and 

workers compensation are included in other assets on the Company's Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

5. OTHER ASSETS 

The Company's other assets are comprised of the following: 

~~g.;t¢frti ih~¢~hneii~~ 
Prepaid land rent 

s~i\t~fili~ re~! i~c;i~l'err*;· 
Deferred lease costs, net 
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Total other assets $ 
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6. ACQUISITIONS 

The following table summarizes the Company's acquisition activity: 

For the year ended December 31, 

2014 2013 

The following table summarizes the Company's cash acquisition capital expenditures: 

For the year ended December 31, 

2015 2014 2013 

'f~~e~s'~-~~fi!~·ngiiiie~~t$<1}· 
Land buyouts l>> 

, TOtii:~~\!\Ci]~~,~~Pi!')~piii~~~tt~~~hj~~~:k / 

(1) Total acquisition capital expenditures for the year ended December 31, 2013, included $175.9 million related to an acquisition in Brazil 

which closed in the fourth quarter of2012 and funded on January 4, 2013. 

(2) In addition, the Company paid $16.3 million, $10.8 million, and $9.1 million for ground lease extensions during the years ending 2015, 

2014, and 2013, respectively. The Company recorded these amounts in prepaid rent on its Consolidated Balance Sheet. 

During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company acquired 893 completed towers and related assets and liabilities for $525.8 

million in cash consisting of $176.3 million of property and equipment, $351.0 million of intangible assets, and $1.5 million of working 

capital adjustments . 

On March 31, 2014, the Company acquired 2,007 towers in Brazil from Oi S.A. for an aggregate purchase price of$673.9 million in cash. 

The fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed relating to the Oi S.A. acquisition is summarized below (in thousands): 

Ri~pe~~~!lwJlxneni{·;~l1t~;~,• · 8617~1' 
Intangible assets 

N¢tl~sets acquired 

For the year ended December 31, 2014, total revenue for this acquisition was $60.7 million. 

587,111 

On December 1, 2014, the Company acquired 1,641 towers in Brazil from Oi S.A. for an aggregate purchase price of$463.2 million in 

cash. The fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed relating to the Oi S.A. acquisition is summarized below (in thousands): 

:Pf9pjjy and fquipm~ti~;.;; 
Intangih,le ~~~!;t~. . . .·.· . .. 
Net~~~~e,<tr .. 

For the year ended December 31, 2014, total revenue for this acquisition was $4.8 million. 

0:~~~~':;.99,~.1-u. 
363,352 

During the year ended December 31, 2014, in addition to the Oi S.A. acquisitions, the Company acquired 382 completed towers and 

related assets and liabilities for $403.2 million in cash. 

On November 26, 2013, the Company acquired the rights to use 2,113 towers in Brazil from Oi S.A. for an aggregate purchase price of 

$317.0 million. During the year ended December 31, 2013, in addition to the Oi S.A. acquisition, the Company acquired 389 completed towers 

and related assets and liabilities for $311.4 million in cash . 
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The Company evaluates all acquisitions after the applicable closing date of each transaction to determine whether any additional 

adjustments are needed to the allocation of the purchase price paid for the assets acquired and liabilities assumed by major balance sheet caption, 

as well as the separate recognition of intangible assets from goodwill if certain criteria are met. 

The estimates of the fair value of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the date of an acquisition are subject to adjustment during 

the measurement period (up to one year from the particular acquisition date). The primary areas of the preliminary purchase price allocations that 

are not yet fmalized relate to the fair value of certain tangible and intangible assets acquired and liabilities assumed, including contingent 

consideration and any related tax impact. The fair values of these net assets acquired are based on management's estimates and assumptions, as 

well as other information compiled by management, including valuations that utilize customary valuation procedures and techniques. During the 

measurement period, the Company will adjust assets and/or liabilities if new information is obtained about facts and circumstances that existed 

as of the acquisition date that, if known, would have resulted in a revised estimated value of those assets and/or liabilities as of that date. The 

effect of material measurement period adjustments to the estimated fair values is reflected as if the adjustments had been completed on the 

acquisition date. The impact of all changes that do not qualify as measurement period adjustments are included in current period earnings. If the 

actual results differ from the estimates and judgments used in these fair values, the amounts recorded in the consolidated fmancial statements 

could be subject to a possible impairment of the intangible assets, or require acceleration of the amortization expense of intangible assets in 

subsequent periods. 

Subsequent to December 31,2015, the Company acquired 102 towers and related assets for $62.5 million in cash. 

Foreign Currency Forward Contract 

On March 26, 2014, the Company settled two foreign currency contracts entered into during the quarter with an aggregate notional 

amount ofR$ 1,525.0 million in order to hedge the purchase price of the Oi S.A. acquisition in Brazil, which closed on March 31,2014. The 

Company realized a gain of $17.9 million related to these foreign currency forward contracts which is included in other income in the 

accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations and Net cash used in investing activities on the Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows. 

On September 29, 2014, the Company executed put and call option contracts settling on November 25, 2014 which created a "costless 

collar" based on the cost to purchase $1.17 billion Brazilian Reais with US Dollars. The options were intended to limit exposure to movements 

in the related exchange rates and were entered into in contemplation of the purchase of the Oi S.A. acquisition that closed on December 1, 2014. 

These options created a floor price for the purchase of Brazilian Reais of 2.4 and a ceiling price of 2.5665 . Since the closing price was within 

the floor and ceiling price, no gain or loss was realized. 

The Company measures its foreign currency forward contracts, which are recorded in Prepaid and other current assets, at fair value based 

on indicative prices in active markets (Level 2 inputs). These contracts do not qualify for hedge accounting and as such any gains and losses are 

reflected within Other Income, net in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations. As of December 31, 2015, the Company does not 

have any pending forward contracts. 

7 . INTANGIBLE ASSETS, NET 

The following table provides the gross and net carrying amounts for each major class of intangible assets: 

Gross carrying 

amount 

As of December 31,2015 

Accumulated 

amortization 

Net book 

value 

As of December 31, 2014 

Gross carrying 

amount 

Accumulated 

amortization 

Net book 

value 

All intangible assets noted above are included in the Company's site leasing segment. The Company amortizes its intangible assets using 

the straight-line method over 15 years. Amortization expense relating to the intangible assets above was $363.1 million, $338.4 million, and 

$266.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. 
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2017 

2Q~.~···· 
2019 

Estimated amortization expense on the Company's intangibles assets is as follows: 

:zoio!')''r .. 
8. PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET 

(in thousands) 

$ ; . •;;~1,963 
355,914 

· i~S:s;st~ 
355,467 

:t54~20 ,:·.,,, 

Property and equipment, net (including assets held under capital leases) consists of the following: 

Ttl~~and .relatl'la''C'Om®~ts M~rr;: ·. 
Construction-in-process 

FUrnitw;~, tliU~itld ¥~wet<:~ · ·· · 
Land, buildings, and improvements 

'fttat•·tu'<l~~~a~iJ.q!P.~'?J~t:tttn~~:·"~". 
Less: accumulated depreciation 

• Pnf'i'liiH.t ruid:'~ii'' · m~~."' e• . 'P~v "":lltlp . ·~JIL)". 

As of 

December 31, 2015 

524,847 

As of 

December 31, 2014 

35,855 

"JI~a.z 
426,974 

:'[:,," . . ''"4~1q2;6~t 
(2,193,906) (1,946,619) 

.. s .. · .. . ~7ii)>~s.~s~~. · <'" . . 2~i6l.4l1 

Construction-in-process represents costs incurred related to towers that are under development and will be used in the Company's 

operations. Depreciation expense was $296.5 million, $287.8 million, and $266.1 million for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 

2013, respectively. At December 31,2015 and 2014, non-cash capital expenditures that are included in accounts payable and accrued expenses 

were $9.5 million and $29.0 million, respectively. 

9. COSTS AND ESTIMATED EARNINGS ON UNCOMPLETED CONTRACTS 

Costs and estimated earnings on uncompleted contracts consist of the following: 

€6~$~~~~4•QP,:,mtconf~II(i¢®fi~ts Lh:·~~~ 0 • 
Estimated earnings 

iWwss to ilal~i • 
$ 

As of 

December 31, 2015 

As of 

December 31, 2014 

th•:··~~ti~~;:d~~,'0~ftt;; .. rd;~4 
29,333 48,949 

· · {.i (9s,ossy < iw•· ...... •· o.t~;i23> 
13,127 $ 19,280 

These amounts are included in the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheets under the following captions: 

~~~~ art~1;mat~!Je~g§i'iiiiil~~{l~~.~liii~ompl~t~&~niff:l~ · 
Billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings on 

uncompleted contracts (included in Other current liabilities) 

i:~~:~tl1~~~~~~~ <; 
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As of 

December 31, 2015 

As of 

December 31, 2014 

(in thousands) 

·,·,•,l9.~34 .• $ k%'<•··· ·· ~ret~o?8. 

(3,807) (I 0, 798) 

l:~. 'il';tt~; 'lH:!l lajJ;Z> .... $.r=·~t~ .... t...,:, ..... ·.···;..,__····-·t9;;.:;;2;:.;;Ji,;.,O 
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At December 31, 2015, eight significant customers comprised 95.9% of the costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on 

uncompleted contracts, net of billings in excess of costs and estimated earnings, while at December 31, 2014, eight significant customers 
comprised 92.7% of the costs and estimated earnings in excess of billings on uncompleted contracts, net of billings in excess of costs and 
estimated earnings. 

1 0. CONCENTRATION OF CREDIT RISK 

The Company's credit risks consist primarily of accounts receivable with national, regional, and local wireless service providers and 
federal and state government agencies. The Company performs periodic credit evaluations of its customers' fmancial condition and provides 
allowances for doubtful accounts, as required, based upon factors surrounding the credit risk of specific customers, historical trends, and other 
information. The Company generally does not require collateral. 

The following is a list of significant customers (representing at least 10% of revenue for any period reported) and the percentage of total 
revenue for the specified time periods derived from such customers: 

Percentage of Total Revenues 

AY~1' Wlr£t!~ss ''l,&¥tii' •. ,. 
Sprint 

tlMobjJ0'. 
Verizon Wireless 

For tbe year ended December 31, 

2015 2014 2013 

. ., ..•• ,:;;f:l)i'~::tl~~it'}'!:' ·<:'~~~~;,·•" t~;~-
19.6% 23.4% 25.0% 

i~';iSf& ,j(~~~i"l7,~;-
13.8% 12.0% 11.3% 

The Company's site leasing and site development segments derive revenue from these customers. Client percentages of total revenue in 
each of the segments are as follows: 

AT&~swit~~~s J1~;t%·'· 
Sprint 

T;$¥ijbil~!~i~~ 
Verizon Wireless 

Oi 
Telefonica 
J:)~gie&lW ·· 

sprhit( 
T-Mobile 

Eri(;ssorni,{gp. 
Verizon Wireless 

For tbe year ended December 31, 

2015 2014 2013 

{i;;t~~:fsJ:,:iiF+ ·.· · ,;~ttG. 
22.3% 25.6% 30.9% 

19~~;( : .l~i:l% 
16.3% 14.4% 13.3% 

For tbe year ended December 31, 

2015 2014 2013 

·J•'0J;Tit~~~~"i'~ . ;Ji~% . j~l6:3% 
24.7% 28.8% 44.2% 

Iri~w 

For tbe year ended December 31, 

2015 2014 2013 

.. < .284~;< •• icif%r3~.f:~ .)q~Jh.S:~t 
17.6% 8.5% 8.4% 

.· 15.3%!.. . <iii:~% .;~i~~4.5% 
14.8% 10.1% 4.8% 

(1) Prior year amounts have been adjusted to reflect the merger of AT&T Wireless and Leap Wireless (Cricket Wireless). 
Five significant customers comprised 62.1% of total gross accounts receivable at December 31, 2015 compared to five significant 

customers which comprised 63.5% of total gross accounts receivable at December 31, 2014 . 
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1 1 . ACCRUED EXPENSES 

The Company's accrued expenses are comprised of the following: 

~~r,ue.4.e~p1,l~ .. 
Salaries and benefits 

R.~~~~~'d¢6f:{tiyt~~~~ . 
Other 

Totaf~tt~!:tll~¢~ ···· 

12. DEBT 

As of 

December 31, 2015 

As of 

December 31, 2014 

.. (inJ~~!':sands) 
7,21o\•'$C 

14,253 13,440 

:<:~~.t~sif!.··•· 
34,373 31,696 

~~~~. $Llilf:!~{~.· 1~63i'1~j>;,;;;,$'"";~ff ... •=":;,"';;; ... " .·_..._ .... :~ ... ~~"'5"'.53....,· .... 

The carrying and principal values of debt consist of the following (in thousands): 

As of 

December 31, 2015 

Principal Principal 

As of 

December 31, 2014 

h< Maturi!x Date Balance Fair Value Carrying Value" Balance Fair Value . Carrying Value 

s:~2~<·~~mi?&~q1e~ • ~~~):t, ~~lllf:\0:S · "*~~o,ooo $>:; :s~.t,25o $ " s~ijlli'i .• '%iJ9A>QQ ;;.lu· $lti.~. s ;;so'Q.~Po 
5.750% Senior Notes July !5, 2020 800,000 832,000 800,000 800,000 816,000 800,000 

#i§tr~fo seniotNbtes ~~', · ~il{s~.gQ~;; . . ,:;ft~o.oo~~1t~'~;r;~. . 7;4~~'3~5 ·•:t::~~~s~:Q~~~P~<•f:: :t!IMPO. •71~.87:s •;s:•)::· ••·.·.lv4~Jso 
2010-2C Tower Securities April!!, 2017 550,000 558,223 550,000 550,000 576,90! 550,000 

20l~ .. 1CT(}~~1~clltjties ····· Dec: 11, zoi\1' (li~.ooos:< . · 6•:121"~ FE;{*;f,~ro,(){)b ·· (i~<M)b(ill~i:~~ ·• i'9,11s'iti~~;~ l6:lQf.\lt> 
2013-!C Tower Securities April!O, 2018 425,000 4!6,959 425,000 425,000 420,776 425,000 

20I3~~9T<!~~.~·~ecuritr~!''f:;: Apt:filitt~~ 2!1~1~~\11: . •57s,ooo. • t ~5,541 s'f.;.OOO.·:j•·Mi . S1•h :ili~~{i; s~4~ji S75.lOQP 
2013-!D Tower Securities Apri!IO, 2018 330,000 332,676 330,000 330,000 330,551 330,000 

11tf/;OOO 
620,000 

~Ql4.~JG1'~~i:·~~cUQiie~ Q~;\~,2019 9i{J;001J >l:> ~Jbf$~8 i '•tti~::~~AA~®Q.,> . ;.fliO,OOQ ·.· ... 92{):,5!5 
20!4-2C Tower Securities Oct 8, 2024 620,000 608,084 620,000 620,000 629,474 

~p~s~~~}vet.~i,~es'X/~~~1•\~oct 8,lb2o! 5QQ;QOQ ~89,6i9 .1;0,. ~.oQ{ooo··· ...... . 
Revolving Credit Facility Feb. 2020 

~Oll~l Term .. ~~······ 
2014 Term Loan Mar. 24, 2021 

2o1~ .. 1:~i'!nl:.t)an•;w~:~:~~~i .<c> .• :lilnl!~g; 2022 

125,000 125,000 

...;.;;w:gJFf•'" ~~~ ~:.fl%'0~;,.17i. 
1,477,500 1,447,950 1,474,641 1,492,500 1,458,919 

. ····· . ".497!i~f . . 4$6;3ii6li!~\1tt 1\~fj§$8 

125,000 

172;~~9! 
1,489,149 

' ::t:j{fn18-;' :··.·:>:' 
,',;:;;::.;t%9{ ._,_. 

$ 8,555,000 $ 8,525,291 $ 8,542,305 $ 7,870,000 $ 7,887,202 $ 7,860,799 

t::.: ' . ,,;;·o•n:o' .. :;.;O) . ····::::c•?~v~ ··::>.;.·,i.>.;,.>.·.·.'.·.· .•. ·.·.t.~.'.·~.· .. • ·•?f.:.1.· .•. ·.r. •.. •.~L.• ..•...•. · ... · •.:... .. ". '".·.~·.•·.<•.·" .... ".'ii 
,','~-~~;-, ,;'\_:.4_,,',\1, * -· v *'?· '' ~~-- __ ,_;)~ .. !ot.li.YJ 

$ 8,522,305 $ 7,828,299 

The Company's future principal payment obligations (based on the outstanding debt as of December 31, 2015 and assuming the Tower 

Securities are repaid at their respective anticipated repayment dates) are as follows: 

For tb$ year ended D$$$mtsr 3h .. .. . 
:;;ztni'6 <;: · ;, • · .· .· . <f;fj~:f~#;;;,;:,., '7biiX:M: t'J{':J:;,; .. 

2017 

<:ff!l~ 
2019 
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· .... V·~.QoO 

1,180,000 

· •tt111ittf1'J?"?:5!o~ 
1,440,000 
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The table below reflects cash and non-cash interest expense amounts recognized by debt instrument for the years ended December 31, 

2015, 2014, and 2013, respectively: 

:J~~-~ cnnyertibte S~1nim~t~1EJ 
4.0% Convertible Senior Notes 
s.2s%l~~w~~~,<;·.·/.· •· ,,., .. ,,,,"'-""'··'·· 
5.625% Senior Notes 

~:~~jseniotNB~l:~;, 
4.875% Senior Notes 

gi:ii 0 tqwer Se9urities 
2012 Tower Securities 

20ll·ll«·~~~f< 
2014 Tower Securities 

2o1s t~w~~see~fi~~l·.· · 
Revolving Credit Facility 

2Utlit!£ep:n L()!l!l 11:;,;.,>" . 
2012-1 Term Loan 

2012~l~~lfitl;.p~ 
2014 Term Loan 

2't)i5 Term L9.1!Il 
Other 

Totafc 

Senior Credit Agreement 

$ .•.... 

Cash 
Interest 

2015 

28,125 
46:~~g:, .... 
36,563 

~§12jo· 
18,111 

··•·4~~~17 
51)38 
3;453 

48,992 
. ~9!243'• 

Non-cash 

For the year ended December 31, 

Cash 
2014 

Non-cash 
Interest 

thousands) 

Cash 
Interest 

2013 
Non-cash 
Interest 

.J)."·v:·:.:.:•"m" ._ $ <\:,j{J~671r .. $• •• ilii;J.!Q~434 
12,520 26,266 19,998 

t2~t1l•%:\:"''·· · z~l~, .... 
28,125 28,125 

38,307 

"'2tJ~2 

·····>,r;{:l~'o.oo ·.,,,,qn;....... :s11~ooo :c:z\1ss;to;;, ..... Y· 

655 18,281 315 

492 
358 

, '>':'>\ l~5j~~:B;~:i:: ::.,.: :·t~L-, 

~~;~:i~~ii! ·~!· 
10,796 

4,591 
..•• >':>> •. ·"':.:li9ff' ··>::/{'}}f.;:~•<•.··· 

4,534 

41,338 
ri:t:,- :: , •••••••• k}f~(;;;: 

399 

51~~83• 
18,085 

4,515 

JQI,~ JQl 
4,557 

. <•··~.416 

.,......,.__,.,.,_.,.<2~1 7...:..) 24 3 
s 322!366 ....... _.$....... __ t.s .... os.· • };:~.i:·•;1·29.2,6oo s 
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On February 7, 2014, SBA Senior Finance II entered into a Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement with several banks and other 

financial institutions or entities from time to time parties to the Second Amended and Restated Credit Agreement to, among other things, incur 

the 2014 Term Loan and amend certain terms of the existing senior credit agreement (as amended, the "Senior Credit Agreement"). 

Terms of the Senior Credit Agreement 

The Senior Credit Agreement, as amended, requires SBA Senior Finance II to maintain specific financial ratios, including (I) a ratio of 

Consolidated Total Debt to Annualized Borrower EBITDA not to exceed 6.5 times for any fiscal quarter, (2) a ratio of Consolidated Total Debt 

and Net Hedge Exposure (calculated in accordance with the Senior Credit Agreement) to Annualized Borrower EBITDA for the most recently 

ended fiscal quarter not to exceed 6.5 times for 30 consecutive days and (3) a ratio of Annualized Borrower EBITDA to Annualized Cash 

Interest Expense (calculated in accordance with the Senior Credit Agreement) of not less than 2.0 times for any fiscal quarter. The Senior Credit 

Agreement contains customary affirmative and negative covenants that, among other things, limit the ability of SBA Senior Finance II and its 

subsidiaries to incur indebtedness, grant certain liens, make certain investments, enter into sale leaseback transactions, merge or consolidate, 

make certain restricted payments, enter into transactions with affiliates, and engage in certain asset dispositions, including a sale of all or 

substantially all of their property. As of December 31, 2015, SBA Senior Finance II was in compliance with the fmancial covenants contained in 

the Senior Credit Agreement. The Senior Credit Agreement is also subject to customary events of default. Pursuant to the Second Amended and 

Restated Guarantee and Collateral Agreement, amounts borrowed under the Revolving Credit Facility, the Term Loans and certain hedging 

transactions that may be entered into by SBA Senior Finance II or the Subsidiary Guarantors (as defined in the Senior Credit Agreement) with 

lenders or their affiliates are secured by a first lien on the membership interests ofSBA Telecommunications, LLC, SBA Senior Finance, LLC 

and SBA Senior Finance II and on substantially all of the assets (other than leasehold, easement and fee interests in real property) ofSBA Senior 

Finance II and the Subsidiary Guarantors. 

The Senior Credit Agreement, as amended, permits SBA Senior Finance II, without the consent of the other lenders, to request that one or 

more lenders provide SBA Senior Finance II with increases in the Revolving Credit Facility or additional term loans 

F- 22 



Table of Contents 

provided that after giving effect to the proposed increase in Revolving Credit Facility commitments or incremental term loans the ratio of 
Consolidated Total Debt to Annualized Borrower EBITDA would not exceed 6.5 times. SBA Senior Finance Il's ability to request such 
increases in the Revolving Credit Facility or additional term loans is subject to its compliance with customary conditions set forth in the Senior 
Credit Agreement including compliance, on a pro forma basis, with the fmancial covenants and ratios set forth therein and, with respect to any 
additional term loan, an increase in the margin on existing term loans to the extent required by the terms of the Senior Credit Agreement. Upon 
SBA Senior Finance II's request, each lender may decide, in its sole discretion, whether to increase all or a portion of its Revolving Credit 
Facility commitment or whether to provide SBA Senior Finance II with additional term loans and, if so, upon what terms. 
Revolving Credit Facility under the Senior Credit Agreement 

On February 5, 2015, SBA Senior Finance II entered into the 2015 Revolving Refinancing Amendment with several banks and other 
financial institutions or entities from time to time parties to the Senior Credit Agreement to, among other things, (i) increase the borrowing 
capacity under the Company's Revolving Credit Facility from $770.0 million to $1.0 billion, (ii) extend the maturity date of the Revolving 
Credit Facility to February 5, 2020, (iii) provide for the ability to borrow in U.S. dollars and certain designated foreign currencies, and (iv) 
lower the applicable interest rate margins and commitment fees under the Revolving Credit Facility. 

As amended February 2015, the Revolving Credit Facility consists of a revolving loan under which up to $1.0 billion aggregate principal 
amount may be borrowed, repaid and redrawn, subject to compliance with specific fmancial ratios and the satisfaction of other customary 
conditions to borrowing. Amounts borrowed under the Revolving Credit Facility accrue interest, at SBA Senior Finance Il's election, at either 
(i) the Eurodollar Rate plus a margin that ranges from 137.5 basis points to 200.0 basis points or (ii) the Base Rate plus a margin that ranges 
from 37.5 basis points to 100.0 basis points, in each case based on the ratio of Consolidated Total Debt to Annualized Borrower EBITDA, 
calculated in accordance with the Senior Credit Agreement. In addition, SBA Senior Finance II is required to pay a commitment fee of0.25% 
per armum on the amount of unused commitment. If not earlier terminated by SBA Senior Finance II, the Revolving Credit Facility will 
terminate on, and SBA Senior Finance II will repay all amounts outstanding on or before, February 5, 2020. The proceeds available under the 
Revolving Credit Facility may be used for general corporate purposes. SBA Senior Finance II may, from time to time, borrow from and repay 
the Revolving Credit Facility. Consequently, the amount outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility at the end of a period may not be 
reflective of the total amounts outstanding during such period. 

During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company borrowed $770.0 million and repaid $895.0 million of the outstanding balance 
under the Revolving Credit Facility. As of December 31, 2015, there was no amount outstanding under the Revolving Credit Facility. The 
remaining borrowing capacity under the Revolving Credit Facility was $1.0 billion at December 31,2015, subject to compliance with specified 
financial ratios and satisfaction of other customary conditions to borrowing. 

Term Loans under the Senior Credit Agreement 

2011 Term Loan 

The 2011 Term Loan consisted of a senior secured term loan with an initial aggregate principal amount of $500.0 million with a maturity 
date of June 30, 2018. The 2011 Term Loan accrued interest, at SBA Senior Finance Il's election, at either the Base Rate plus a margin of 175 
basis points (with a Base Rate floor of 2% ) or Eurodollar Rate plus a margin of 275 basis points (with a Eurodollar Rate floor of 1% ). The 2011 
Term Loan was issued at 99.75% of par value. The Company incurred deferred financing fees of$4.9 million associated with this transaction 
which were being amortized through the maturity date. 

During the year ended December 31,2013, the Company repaid $312.0 million on the 2011 Term Loan. Included in this amount was a 
prepayment of $310.7 million made on April 24, 2013 using proceeds from the 2013 Tower Securities. In connection with the prepayment, the 
Company expensed $2.3 million of net deferred financing fees and $0.6 million of discount related to the debt. As a result of the prepayment, no 
further scheduled quarterly principal payments were required until the maturity date. 

On February 7, 2014, the Company repaid the entire $180.5 million outstanding principal balance of the 2011 Term Loan. In connection 
with the prepayment, the Company expensed $1.1 million of net deferred financing fees and $0.3 million of discount related to the debt. 
2012-1 Term Loan 

The 2012-1 Term Loan consisted of a senior secured term loan with an initial aggregate principal amount of $200.0 million that matures 
on May 9, 2017. The 2012-1 Term Loan accrued interest, at SBA Senior Finance Il's election, at either the Base Rate plus a 
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margin that ranges from 100 to 150 basis points or the Eurodollar Rate plus a margin that ranges from 200 to 250 basis points, in each case based 

on the ratio of Consolidated Total Debt to Annualized Borrower EBITDA (calculated in accordance with the Senior Credit Agreement). The 

2012-1 Term Loan was issued at par. The Company incurred deferred financing fees of $2.7 million in relation to this transaction which we re 

being amortized through the maturity date. 

During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company repaid $172.5 million on the 2012-1 Term Loan. Included in this amount was a 

prepayment of$160.0 million made on November 18,2015. In connection with the prepayment, the Company expensed $0.8 million of net 

deferred fmancing fees. 

2012-2 Term Loan 

The 2012-2 Term Loan consisted of a senior secured term loan with an initial aggregate principal amount of$300.0 million with a 

maturity date of September 28, 2019 . The 2012-2 Term Loan accrued interest, at SBA Senior Finance Il's election, at either the Base Rate plus 

175 basis points (with a Base Rate floor of2%) or Eurodollar Rate plus 275 basis points (with a Eurodollar Rate floor of 1% ). The 2012-2 

Term Loan was issued at 99.75% of par value. The Company incurred deferred financing fees of approximately $3.5 million in relation to this 

transaction which were being amortized through the maturity date. 

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company repaid $190.0 million on the 2012-2 Term Loan. Included in this amount was a 

prepayment of$189.3 million made on April24, 2013 using proceeds from the 2013 Tower Securities. In connection with the prepayment, the 

Company expensed $2.0 million of net deferred financing fees and $0.4 million of discount related to the debt. As a result of the prepayment, no 

further scheduled quarterly principal payments were required until the maturity date. 

On February 7, 2014, the Company repaid the entire $110.0 million outstanding principal balance of the 2012-2 Term Loan. In connection 

with the prepayment, the Company expensed $1.0 million of net deferred financing fees and $0.2 million of discount related to the debt. 

2014 Term Loan 

The 2014 Term Loan consists of a senior secured term loan with an initial aggregate principal amount of$1.5 billion that matures on 

March 24, 2021 . The 2014 Term Loan accrues interest, at SBA Senior Finance II's election, at either the Base Rate plus 150 basis points (with a 

Base Rate floor of 1.75%) or the Eurodollar Rate plus 250 basis points (with a Eurodollar Rate floor of0.75% ). The 2014 Term Loan was 

issued at 99.75% of par value. As of December 31, 2015, the 2014 Term Loan was accruing interest at 3.25% per annum. Principal payments on 

the 2014 Term Loan commenced on September 30,2014 and are being made in quarterly installments on the last day of each March, June, 

September, and December in an amount equal to $3. 8 million. SBA Senior Finance II has the ability to prepay any or all amounts under the 

2014 Term Loan. The Company incurred deferred financing fees of approximately $12.9 million in relation to this transaction which are being 

amortized through the maturity date. 

Net proceeds from the 2014 Term Loan were used (I) to repay in full the remaining $180.5 million balance of the 2011 Term Loan, (2) to 

repay in full the remaining $110.0 million balance of the 2012-2 Term Loan, (3) to repay the $390.0 million outstanding balance under the 

Revolving Credit Fa(;ility, (4) to pay the cash consideration in connection with SBAC's acquisition of towers from Oi S.A. in Brazil, and (5) for 

general corporate purposes. 
· 

During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company repaid $15.0 million of principal on the 2014 Term Loan. As of December 31, 

2015, the 2014 Term Loan had a principal balance of$1.5 billion. 

2015 Term Loan 

On June 10, 2015, SBA Senior Finance II obtained a new senior secured term loan with an initial aggregate principal amount of$500.0 

million that matures on June 10, 2022. The 2015 Term Loan accrues interest, at SBA Senior Finance II's election, at either the Base Rate plus 

150 basis points (with a Base Rate floor of 1. 75% ) or the Eurodollar Rate plus 250 basis points (with a Eurodollar Rate floor of 0. 75% ). The 

2015 Term Loan was issued at 99.0% of par value. As of September 30,2015, the 2015 Term Loan was accruing interest at 3.25% per annum. 

Principal payments on the 2015 Term Loan commenced on September 30,2015 and are being made in quarterly installments on the last day of 

each March, June, September, and December in an amount equal to $1.3 million. SBA Senior Finance II has the ability to prepay any or all 

amounts under the 2015 Term Loan. The Company incurred deferred financing fees of approximately $5.1 million in relation to this transaction 

which are being amortized through the maturity date. 

During the year ended December 31, 2015, the Company repaid $2.5 million of principal on the 2015 Term Loan. As of December 31, 

2015, the 2015 Term Loan had a principal balance of$497.5 million. 
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Secured Tower Revenue Securities 

Tower Revenue Securities Terms 

The mortgage loan underlying the 2010 Tower Securities, 2012 Tower Securities, 2013 Tower Securities, 2014 Tower Securities, and 201 

5 Tower Securities (together the "Tower Securities") will be paid from the operating cash flows from the aggregate 10,585 tower sites owned by 

the Borrowers. The mortgage loan is secured by (i) mortgages, deeds of trust, and deeds to secure debt on a substantial portion of the tower sites, 

(ii) a security interest in the tower sites and substantially all of the Borrowers' personal property and fixtures, (iii) the Borrowers' rights under 

certain tenant leases, and (iv) all of the proceeds of the foregoing. For each calendar month, SBA Network Management, Inc., an indirect 

subsidiary ("Network Management"), is entitled to receive a management fee equal to 4.5% of the Borrowers' operating revenues for the 

immediately preceding calendar month. 

The Borrowers may prepay any of the mortgage loan components, in whole or in part, with no prepayment consideration, (i) within nine 

months (in the case of the components corresponding to the 2010 Tower Securities), twelve months (in the case of the component corresponding 

to the 2012 Tower Securities, Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2013 -1C, Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2013 -ID, 

Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2014 -IC, and Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 201 5 -IC ), or eighteen months (in the case 

of the components corresponding to the Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2013-2C and Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2014-

2C ) of the anticipated repayment date of such mortgage loan component, (ii) with proceeds received as a result of any condenmation or casualty 

of any tower owned by the Borrowers or (iii) during an amortization period. In all other circumstances, the Borrowers may prepay the mortgage 

loan, in whole or in part, upon payment of the applicable prepayment consideration. The prepayment consideration is determined based on the 

class of the Tower Securities to which the prepaid mortgage loan component corresponds and consists of an amount equal to the excess, if any, 

of(!) the present value associated with the portion of the principal balance being prepaid, calculated in accordance with the formula set forth in 

the mortgage loan agreement, on the date of prepayment of all future installments of principal and interest required to be paid from the date of 

prepayment to and including the first due date within nine months (in the case of the components corresponding to the 2010 Tower Securities), 

twelve months (in the case of the component corresponding to the 2012 Tower Securities, Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2013-IC, 

Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2013-ID, Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2014-IC, and Secured Tower Revenue Securities 

Series 201 5 -IC ), or eighteen months (in the case of the components corresponding to the Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2013-2C 

and Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 20 14-2C ) of the anticipated repayment date of such mortgage loan component over (2) that 

portion of the principal balance of such class prepaid on the date of such prepayment. 

To the extent that the mortgage loan components corresponding to the Tower Securities are not fully repaid by their respective anticipated 

repayment dates, the interest rate of each such component will increase by the greater of(i) 5% and (ii) the amount, if any, by which the sum of 

(x) the ten -year U.S. treasury rate plus (y) the credit-based spread for such component (as set forth in the mortgage loan agreement) plus (z) 5% 

, exceeds the original interest rate for such component. 

Pursuant to the terms of the Tower Securities, all rents and other sums due on any of the towers owned by the Borrowers are directly 

deposited by the lessees into a controlled deposit account and are held by the indenture trustee. The monies held by the indenture trustee after the 

release date are classified as restricted cash on the Consolidated Balance Sheets (see Note 4). However, if the Debt Service Coverage Ratio, 

defmed as the net cash flow (as defined in the mortgage loan agreement) divided by the amount of interest on the mortgage loan, servicing fees 

and trustee fees that the Borrowers are required to pay over the succeeding twelve months, as of the end of any calendar quarter, falls to 1.30x or 

lower, then all cash flow in excess of amounts required to make debt service payments, to fund required reserves, to pay management fees and 

budgeted operating expenses and to make other payments required under the loan documents, referred to as "excess cash flow," will be 

deposited into a reserve account instead of being released to the Borrowers. The funds in the reserve account will not be released to the 

Borrowers unless the Debt Service Coverage Ratio exceeds 1.30x for two consecutive calendar quarters. If the Debt Service Coverage Ratio falls 

below 1.15x as of the end of any calendar quarter, then an "amortization period" will commence and all funds on deposit in the reserve account 

will be applied to prepay the mortgage loan until such time that the Debt Service Coverage Ratio exceeds 1.15x for a calendar quarter. In 

addition, if any of the Tower Securities are not fully repaid by their respective anticipated repayment dates, the cash flow from the towers owned 

by the Borrowers will be trapped by the trustee for the Tower Securities and applied first to repay the interest, at the original interest rates, on the 

mortgage loan components underlying the Tower Securities, second to fund all reserve accounts and operating expenses associated with those 

towers, third to pay the management fees due to Network Management, fourth to repay principal of the Tower Securities and fifth to repay the 

additional interest discussed above. The mortgage loan agreement, as amended, also includes covenants customary for mortgage loans subject to 

rated securitizations. Among other things, the Borrowers are prohibited from incurring other indebtedness for borrowed money or further 

encumbering their assets. As of December 31, 2015, the Borrowers met the required Debt Service Coverage Ratio as set forth in the mortgage 

loan agreement and were in compliance with all other covenants. 
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2010 Tower Securities 

On Aprill6, 2010, the Company, through a New York common law trust (the "Trust"), issued $680.0 million of2010-l Tower Securities 

and $550.0 million of 2010-2 Tower Securities (together the "20 I 0 Tower Securities"). The 2010-1 Tower Securities had an annual interest rate 

of 4.254% and the 2010-2 Tower Securities have an annual interest rate of 5.101%. The anticipated repayment date and the fmal maturity date 

for the 2010-1 Tower Securities were Apri115, 2015 and Apri116, 2040, respectively. The anticipated repayment date and the fmal maturity 

date for the 2010-2 Tower Securities are April! 1, 2017 and April9, 2042, respectively. The sole asset of the Trust consists of a non-recourse 

mortgage loan made in favor of th ose entities that ar e borrowers on the mortgage loan ("the Borro wers ") . The Company incurred deferred 

financing fees of $8.1 million in relation to this transaction which are being amortized through the anticipated repayment date of each of the 

2010 Tower Securities. 

On October 15, 2014, the Company repaid in full the 2010-1 Tower Securities with proceeds from the 2014 Tower Securities (defined 

below). In connection with the prepayment, the Company expensed $1.1 million of net deferred fmancing fees. 

2012 Tower Securities 

On August 9, 2012, the Company, through the Trust, issued $610.0 million of Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2012 -IC (the 

"2012 Tower Securities") which have an anticipated repayment date of December 1 1 , 2017 and a final maturity date of December 9, 2042. 

The fixed interest rate of the 2012 Tower Securities is 2.933% per annum, payable monthly. The Company incurred deferred fmancing fees of 

$14.9 million in relation to this transaction which are being amortized through the anticipated repayment date of the 2012 Tower Securities. 

2013 Tower Securities 

On Aprill8, 2013, the Company, through the Trust, issued $425.0 million of2.240% Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2013-IC 

which have an anticipated repayment date of April! 0, 2018 and a final maturity date of Apri19, 2043, $575.0 million of3.722% Secured 

Tower Revenue Securities Series 2013-2C which have an anticipated repayment date of April! 1 , 2023 and a final maturity date of April 9, 

2048, and $330.0 million of 3.598% Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2013-ID which have an anticipated repayment date of April! 0, 

2018 and a fmal maturity date of April 9, 2043 (collectively the "2013 Tower Securities"). The aggregate $1.33 billion of2013 Tower Securities 

have a blended interest rate of 3.218% per annum, payable monthly . The Company incurred deferred financing fees of $25.5 million in relation 

to this transaction which are being amortized through the anticipated repayment date of each of the 2013 Tower Securities. 

2014 Tower Securities 

On October 15, 2014, the Company, through the Trust, issued $920.0 million of2.898% Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2014-

IC which have an anticipated repayment date of October 8, 2019 and a fmal maturity date of October 1 1, 2044 and $620.0 million of3.869% 

Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 20 14-2C which have an anticipated repayment date of October 8, 2024 and a fmal maturity date of 

October 8, 2049 (collectively the "2014 Tower Securities"). The aggregate $1.54 billion of2014 Tower Securities have a blended interest rate 

of 3.289% per annum, payable monthly . The Company has incurred deferred financing fees in the aggregate of $22.5 million in relation to this 

transaction which are being amortized through the anticipated repayment date of each of the 2014 Tower Securities. 

2015 Tower Securities 

On October 14, 2015, the Company, through the Trust, issued $500.0 million of Secured Tower Revenue Securities Series 2015-IC which 

have an anticipated repayment date of October 8, 2020 and a fmal maturity date of October 10,2045 (the "2015 Tower Securities"). The fixed 

interest rate of the 2015 Tower Securities is 3.156% per annum, payable monthly. The Company incurred deferred financing fees of$10.9 

million to date in relation to this transaction which are being amortized through the anticipated repayment date of the 2015 Tower Securities. In 

connection with the issuance of the 2015 Tower Securities, the advance rents reserve requirement was modified such that the Borrowers will 

only be required to maintain an advance rents reserve at any time the monthly tenant debt service coverage ratio is equal to or less than 2:1 and 

for two calendar months after such coverage ratio again exceeds 2: 1. 

In connection with the issuance of the 201 5 Tower Securities, SBA Properties, LLC, SBA Sites, LLC, SBA Structures, LLC, SBA 

Infrastructure, LLC, SBA Monarch Towers III, LLC, SBA 2012 TC Assets PR, LLC, SBA 2012 TC Assets, LLC, SBA Towers IV, LLC, SBA 

Monarch Towers I, LLC, SBA Towers USVI, Inc., SBA Towers VII, LLC, SBA GC Towers, LLC, SBA Towers V, LLC, and SBA Towers VI, 

LLC (collectively, the "Borrowers"), each an indirect subsidiary ofSBAC, and Midland Loan Services, a 

F- 26 



Table of Contents 

division ofPNC Bank, National Association, as servicer, on behalf of the Trustee entered into the First Loan and Security Agreement 

Supplement and Amendment pursuant to which, among other things, (i) the existing Second Amended and Restated Loan and Security 

Agreement was amended to modify the advance rents reserve as described above, (ii) the outstanding principal amount of the mortgage loan 

was increased by $500 million , and (iii) the Borrowers became jointly and severally liable for the aggregate $4. 5 billion borrowed under the 

mortgage loan corresponding to the 2010 Tower Securities, 2012 Tower Securities, 2013 Tower Securities, 2014 Tower Securities, and the 

newly issued 201 5 Tower Securities. 

1.875% Convertible Senior Notes due 2013 

On May 16, 2008, the Company issued $550.0 million of its 1.875% Convertible Senior Notes (the "1.875% Notes"). Interest was payable 

semi-annually on May I and November I . During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company sold its claim against Lehman Brothers, 

related to a hedge terminated when Lehman Brothers filed for bankruptcy in 2008, for $27.3 million and recorded a gain on the transaction of the 

same amount. The gain has been recorded within Other Income, net in the accompanying Consolidated Statement of Operations. 

During the year ended December 31, 2013, the Company had settled all conversion obligations and related hedges and warrants for the 

1.875% Notes. 

4.0% Convertible Senior Notes due 2014 

On April 24, 2009, the Company issued $500.0 million of its 4.0% Convertible Senior Notes ("4.0% Notes. Interest was payable semi­

annually on April! and October I . As ofDecember 31,2014, the Company settled its conversion obligations and associated convertible note 

hedges. During the year ended December 31,2015, the Company settled the remaining outstanding warrants for $150.9 million, representing 

approximately 2.1 million underlying shares. 

Senior Notes 

8.0% Senior Notes and 8.25% Senior Notes 

On July 24, 2009, Telecommunications issued $750.0 million of unsecured senior notes (the "Senior Notes"), $375.0 million of which 

were due August 15, 2016 (the "8.0% Notes") and $375.0 million of which were due August 15, 2019 (the "8.25% Notes"). The 8.0% Notes had 

an interest rate of8.00% per annum and were issued at a price of99.330% of their face value. The 8.25% Notes had an interest rate of8.25% per 

annum and were issued at a price of99.152% of their face value. 

The 8.0% Notes were repaid in full on August 29, 2012, and the 8.25% Notes were repaid in full on August 15, 2014. In connection with 

the redemption of the 8.25% Notes, the Company paid $10.1 million as a premium on redemption of the 8.25% Notes and expensed $1.2 

million and $3.3 million of debt discount and deferred fmancing fees, respectively . 

5. 75% Senior Notes 

On July 13,2012, Telecommunications issued $800.0 million of unsecured senior notes (the "5.75% Notes") due July 15, 2020. The 

Notes accrue interest at a rate of 5.75% and were issued at par. Interest on the 5.75% Notes is due semi-annually on July 15 and January 15 of 

each year beginning on January 15, 2013. The Company incurred deferred financing fees of$14.0 million in relation to this transaction which 

are being amortized through the maturity date. 

The 5.75% Notes are subject to redemption in whole or in part on or after July 15,2016 at the redemption prices set forth in the indenture 

agreement plus accrued and unpaid interest. If redeemed during the twelve-month period beginning on July 15, 2016, July 15, 2017, or July 15, 

2018 through maturity, the redemption price will be 102.875%, 101.438%, and 100.000%, respectively, of the principal amount of the 5.75% 

Notes to be redeemed on the redemption date plus accrued and unpaid interest. 

SBAC is a holding company with no business operations of its own and its only significant asset is the outstanding capital stock of 

Telecommunications. Telecommunications is 100% owned by SBAC. SBAC has fully and unconditionally guaranteed the Senior Notes issued 

by Telecommunications. 
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5.625% Senior Notes 

On September 28,2012, the Company issued $500.0 million of unsecured senior notes due October I, 2019 (the "5.625% Notes"). The 

5.625% Notes accrue interest at a rate of 5.625% per annum and were issued at par. Interest on the 5.625% Notes is due semi-annually on April 

I and October I of each year. The Company incurred deferred financing fees of$8.6 million in relation to this transaction which are being 

amortized through the maturity date. 

The 5.625% Notes are subject to redemption in whole or in part on or after October I, 2016 at the redemption prices set forth in the 

indenture agreement plus accrued and unpaid interest. If redeemed during the twelve-month period beginning on October I, 20 16, October I, 

2017, or October I, 2018 until maturity, the redemption price will be 102.813%, 101.406%, and 100.000%, respectively, of the principal 

amount of the 5.625% Notes to be redeemed on the redemption date plus accrued and unpaid interest. 

4.875% Senior Notes 

On July I, 2014, the Company issued $750.0 million of unsecured senior notes due July 15,2022 (the "4.875% Notes"). The 4.875% 

Notes accrue interest at a rate of 4.875% per annum and were issued at 99.178% of par value. Interest on the 4.875% Notes is due semi-annually 

on January 15 and July 15 of each year. The Company incurred deferred financing fees of$11.6 million in relation to this transaction which are 

being amortized through the maturity date. 

The 4.875% Notes are subject to redemption in whole or in part on or after July 15, 2017 at the redemption prices set forth in the indenture 

agreement plus accrued and unpaid interest. Prior to July 15, 2017, the Company may at its option redeem up to 35% of the aggregate principal 

amount of the 4.875% Notes originally issued at a redemption price of 104.875% of the principal amount of the 4.875% Notes to be redeemed 

on the redemption date plus accrued and unpaid interest with the net proceeds of certain equity offerings. If redeemed during the twelve-month 

period beginning on July 15, 2017, July 15, 2018, July 15, 2019, or July 15, 2020 until maturity, the redemption price will be 103.656%, 

102.438%, 101.219% and 100.000%, respectively, of the principal amount of the 4.875% Notes to be redeemed on the redemption date plus 

accrued and unpaid interest. 

Indentures Governing Senior Notes 

The Indentures governing the Senior Notes contain customary covenants, subject to a number of exceptions and qualifications, including 

restrictions on the ability ofSBAC and Telecommunications to (I) incur additional indebtedness unless the Consolidated Indebtedness to 

Annualized Consolidated Adjusted EBITDA Ratio (as defined in the Indenture), pro forma for the additional indebtedness does not exceed, with 

respect to any fiscal quarter, 9.5x for SBAC and 7.5x for Telecommunications, (2) merge, consolidate or sell assets, (3) make restricted 

payments, including dividends or other distributions, (4) enter into transactions with affiliates, and (5) enter into sale and leaseback transactions 

and restrictions on the ability of the Restricted Subsidiaries ofSBAC and Telecommunications (as defined in the Indentures) to incur liens 

securing indebtedness. 

BNDESLoans 

During 2013, the Company assumed several loans valued at $5.0 million as part of an acquisition in Brazil (the "BNDES Loans"). The 

Company also borrowed an additional $1.3 million in new loans during 2013. During the year ended December 31, 2014, the Company had 

borrowings of$0.4 million and repayments of$6.3 million under the BNDES Loans. The BNDES Loans were repaid in full in April2014. 

1 3. SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 

Common Stock equivalents 

The Company has potential common stock equivalents related to its outstanding stock options (see Note I 4 ), restricted stock units, and , 

until its maturity in 2014, the 4.0% Notes (see Note I 2 ). These potential common stock equivalents were not included in diluted loss per share 

because the effect would have been anti-dilutive for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. Accordingly, basic and 

diluted loss per common share and the weighted average number of shares used in the computation are the same for the years presented. 
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Stock Repurchases 

The Company's Board of Directors authorized a stock repurchase program on April 27, 2011. This program authorized the Company to 

purchase, from time to time, up to $300.0 million of the Company's outstanding Class A common stock through open market repurchases in 

compliance with Rule !Ob-18 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and/or in privately negotiated transactions at management's 

discretion based on market and business conditions, applicable legal requirements and other factors. During the second quarter of2015, the 

Company repurchased $1.3 million shares of its Class A common stock at an average price of$114.96 with the remaining $150.0 million 

authorized under the $300.0 million stock repurchase plan, completing this plan. During the years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, the 

Company did not repurchase any shares in conjunction with the stock repurchase program. 

On June 4, 2015, the Company's Board of Directors announced the authorization of a new $1.0 billion stock repurchase plan. This plan 

authorizes the Company to purchase from time to time its outstanding common stock through open market repurchases in compliance with Ru1e 

!Ob-18 under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended, and/or in privately negotiated transactions at management's discretion based 

on market and business conditions, applicable legal requirements and other factors. Shares purchased will be retired. During the year ended 

December 31, 2015, the Company repurchased an additional 2. 7 million shares of its Class A common stock under the new stock repurchase 

program for $300 million at a weighted average price per share of$112.04. As of December 31, 2015, the Company had a remaining 

authorization to repurchase $700.0 million of Class A common stock under the current $1.0 billion stock repurchase program. 

Subsequent to December 31,2015, the Company repurchased 0.5 million shares of its Class A common stock under the stock repurchase 

program for $50.0 million at a weighted average price per share of$98.65 . As of the date ofthis filing, the Company had a remaining 

authorization to repurchase $650.0 million of Class A common stock under the current $1.0 billion stock repurchase program. 

Registration of Additional Shares 

On May 20, 2010, the Company filed a registration statement on Form S-8 with the Securities and Exchange Commission registering 15.0 

million shares of the Company's Class A common stock issuable under the 2010 Performance and Equity Incentive Plan (see Note I 4 ). 

The Company filed shelf registration statements on Form S-4 with the Securities and Exchange Commission registering 4.0 million shares 

of its Class A common stock in 2007. These shares may be issued in connection with acquisitions of wireless communication towers or antenna 

sites and related assets or companies that own wireless communication towers, antenna sites, or related assets. During the years ended December 

31, 20 15 , 2014 and 2013 , the Company did not issue any shares of its Class A common stock pursuant to this registration statement in 

connection with acquisitions. At December 31, 2015 , approximately I. 7 million shares remain available for issuance under this shelf 

registration statement. 

On March 3, 2015, the Company filed with the Commission an automatic shelf registration statement for well-known seasoned issuers on 

Form S-3ASR. This registration statement enables the Company to issue shares of its Class A common stock, preferred stock or debt securities 

either separately or represented by warrants, or depositary shares as well as units that include any of these securities. Under the rules governing 

automatic shelf registration statements, the Company will file a prospectus supplement and advise the Commission of the amount and type of 

securities each time it issue s securities under this registration statement. For the year ended December 31, 2015 , the Company did not issue any 

securities under this automatic shelf registration statement. 

14. STOCK-BASED COMPENSATION 

The Company has two equity participation plans (the 2001 Equity Participation Plan and the 2010 Performance and Equity Incentive Plan, 

the "2010 Plan") whereby options (both non-qualified and incentive stock options), restricted stock units, stock appreciation rights, and other 

equity and performance based instruments may be granted to directors, employees, and consultants. The options and restricted stock units 

generally vest from the date of grant on a straight-line basis over the vesting term and generally have a seven -year or a ten -year contractual life. 

Upon the adoption of the 2010 Plan by the Company's shareholders on May 6, 2010, the 2001 Equity Participation Plan was terminated 

and the Company is no longer eligible to issue shares pursuant to the plan . The 20 I 0 Plan provides for the issuance of a maximum of 15.0 

million shares of the Company's Class A common stock; however, the aggregate number of shares that may be issued pursuant to restricted 

stock awards, restricted stock unit awards, stock bonus awards, performance awards, other stock-based 
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awards, or other awards granted under the 2010 Plan will not exceed 7.5 million shares. As of December 31, 2015, the Company had 10.2 

million shares remaining available for future issuance under the 20 I 0 Plan. 

Stock Options 

The Company records compensation expense for employee stock options based on the estimated fair value of the options on the date of 

grant using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model with the assumptions included in the table below. The Company uses a combination of 

historical data and historical volatility to establish the expected volatility. Historical data is used to estimate the expected option life and the 

expected forfeiture rate. The risk-free rate is based on the U.S. Treasury yield curve in effect at the time of grant for the estimated life of the 

option. The following assumptions were used to estimate the fair value of options granted using the Black-Scholes option-pricing model: 
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The following table summarizes the Company's activities with respect to its stock option plans for the years ended December 31, 2015, 

2014 and 2013 as follows (dollars and number of shares in thousands, except for per share data): 
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The weighted-average fair value of options granted during the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 was $24.75, $19.49, 

and $17.38, respectively. 

The total intrinsic value for options exercised during the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013 was $33.0 million, $49.2 

million and $39.3 million, respectively. Cash received from option exercises under all plans for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 

2013 was approximately $25.4 million, $28.3 million, and $21.4 million, respectively. No tax benefit was realized for the tax deductions from 

option exercises under all plans for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 and 2013, respectively. 
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The aggregate intrinsic value for stock options in the preceding table represents the total intrinsic value based on the Company's closing 

stock price of $105.07 as of December 31, 2015 . The amount represents the total intrinsic value that would have been received by the holders of 

the stock-based awards had these awards been exercised and sold as of that date. 

Additional information regarding options outstanding and exercisable at December 31, 2015 is as follows: 
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The following table summarizes the activity of options outstanding that had not yet vested: 
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As of December 31, 2015 , the total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested stock options outstanding under the Plans is 

$35.2 million. That cost is expected to be recognized over a weighted average period of 2.6 years. 

The total fair value of shares vested during 2015, 2014, and 2013 was $15.1 million, $11.5 million, and $9.8 million, respectively. 

Restricted Stock Units 

The following table summarized the Company's restricted stock unit activity for the year ended December 31, 2015 : 
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.. ·: ... : ....•.. •::\;;i ..• •::.,'f/17:~·~ .. ·"fl•:r· 

Weighted­

Average 

Grant Date 

Fair Value per 

Share 

., ••• ~.55 

123.93 

:<;~;,:~ ... ~~~~'~ 
95.19 

As of December 31,2015, total unrecognized compensation expense related to unvested restricted stock units granted under the 2010 Plan 

was $18.5 million and is expected to be recognized over a weighted-average period of2.6 years. 
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Employee Stock Purchase Plan 

In 2008, the Board of Directors of the Company adopted the 2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan ("2008 Purchase Plan") which reserved 

500,000 shares of Class A common stock for purchase. The 2008 Purchase Plan permits eligible employee participants to purchase Class A 

common stock at a price per share which is equal to 85% of the fair market value of Class A common stock on the last day of an offering period. 

For the year ended December 31, 2015, 26,898 shares of Class A common stock were issued under the 2008 Purchase Plan, which 

resulted in cash proceeds to the Company of approximately $2.6 million, compared to the year ended December 31, 2014 when 23,204 shares of 

Class A common stock were issued under the 2008 Purchase Plan which resulted in cash proceeds to the Company of $2.1 million. At December 

31, 2015 , 304,339 shares remained available for issuance under the 2008 Purchase Plan. In addition, the Company recorded $0.5 million, $0.4 

million, and $0.3 million of non-cash compensation expense relating to the shares issued under the 2008 Purchase Plans for each of the years 

ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013. 

Non-Cash Compensation Expense 

The table below reflects a break out by category of the non-cash compensation expense amounts recognized on the Company's Statements 

of Operations for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014, and 2013, respectively: 

Cost of revenues 

selti~, gelleratanda:(bpm~-~{::'~(< 
Total cost of non-cash compensation included 

in loss before provision for income taxes 

Amourit~'i~.c~me':t~ie£<1gnized m:~jijnings 
Amount charged against loss 

For the year·ended December 31, 

2015 2014 2013 

(in thousands) 

$ 405 $ 386 $ 

Ni%~[,;; . 2sJ\l:%l¥.:,~;;;; • · . z> '~L''''"'"· 22\)~;, ,. :t::i1ft::i~l:::"·· .. 
"'"'------'--"""""-'-'"'-" 

28,747 22,671 

$ 

230 

.l~i~; 

17,205 

17,205 

1n addition, the Company capitalized $0.5 million, $0.3 million and $0.2 million of non-cash compensation for the years ended December 

31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013 , respectively, to fixed assets. 

1 S. INCOME TAXES 

Income (loss) before provision for income taxes from continuing operations by geographic area is as follows: 

For the year ended December 31, 

2015 2014 2013 

(in thousands) 

Dotp.~~C:.~· >$ '·"' :~~:?' ~);~q.{~2,£i98). $.. (16,623).C$ .;:~3,429) 
Foreign 

'f~t~l 
(143,897) 963 (11,789) 

.,...$ __ _..,.,..__..,~~""'.:: .u"""'.s=9"""sJi8;$i:~,~ J::2¥~4ns;~);{ s. : ,L:\2.:;; .. (s1il•~A 
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The provision (benefit) for income taxes on continuing operations consists of the following components: 

c ni'"'' >:•:: •. , •••. ~ •... .n..:;; ··~fit) urre .. PW•~"~i\' •.. J ... : 
State 

·%~~ei~ .. ·· 
Total current 

Deferred provision (benefit) for taxes: 
•·:F··. ed·e·~~.·:·,·.··.~·.·.· ..• • •. •.· .•...•. ·.·,•.·.··. · ·••::.::::,:: · •. •.:•.:.' .. •::::<'::· · 
,' l:~- " ·. . '\~~~~&!:!: : 
State 

Fo,~:~ 
Increase in valuation allowance 

Totld~~irred :~.·~·! ; '·. 
Total provision (benefit) for income taxes 

For the year ended December 31, 

2015 

(3,106) 
,·:: •('40,6~li:i;: 

46,760 

2014 

(in thousands) 

<::)}. ;,r;:t:·· ·(5)"······· 

2013 

387 

. ~:94~' 
5,333 

.··. · .... (1.~~9m 
(3,272) 

.. :.·.:::•:;:.;'"''"''•·· .. ·· ·{9~:3') 

$ 9,061 $ 

431 17,620 

530.:: :,;.,..;. ---'--· • ..:;;.:.l.:uifl:::,>64:-,;23-) 
8,635 $ (1,309) 

----~_,...;. 
A reconciliation of the provision for income taxes on continuing operations at the statutory U.S. Federal tax rate ( 35%) and the effective 

income tax rate is as follows: 

si~~t)i federill !,ket\WI~;'fu Lii~t~1t· ·· • 
Foreign tax expense 

~l!lte artd,:l~-~~llbefit ... : 
Non-deductible foreign expenses 
F'gi&'gn &Y:~~din.gji!:mi' ··· 
F?reigntax r~te ~h,ange . 
Fri(iiPexcliang~rnte ~;•es· 
Other 

y~u~~h~>tc-¢e,.,;~ 
Provision (benefit) for income taxes 
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For the year ended December 31, 

2014 2013 

(in thousands) 

~~:3o;r;;~~~~r··•••···· .· ·tB~~$1). ~·~~~&Fe< (20~f} 
3,844 
~~.~< :!';;: 

1,374 

9,2t2 c?~~t:W 
3,200 (216) 

2,870 
·: , •. ,.#~1875) 

2,605 

(4,960) 

' •. ' ' ' ''• ,• •'-'•'•' ','<~,' i '''',,}'(;,::~y,v ' ,, '~~;q;-;r, ' '' ' 

· .... '"'';;:·· '\~Mlf':~wZ~ri:/"•:< : ... , ~<4.$';t "::.\;•:.·· .. · 
2,458 

U,til.11; 
$ 9,061 $ 8,635 $ (1 ,309) 

----~~ 
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The components of the net deferred income tax asset (liability) accounts are as follows: 

~eh.t:ilC~e~~e~.:· 
Net operating losses 

Allowfl.~:toi.Ji,ou'6~~~~t~.,, 
Deferred revenue 

.. Accruia fi~ilffies{::~o. • ···· 
Valuation allowance 

··if:b~~n~.ji(~~diiltxa$~e·gtmlQ),,~;~ .. 

. · o ~·t ~" f . ··"'·asset~!'" tli. ~.h •• n . ~ifttf~ ........ " ... . 
Net operating losses 

ffo~~:tq~~i!IP€n;.a~:t;4i9&~·lf~i~1411\~~····. · · 
Accrued liabilities 

]~·~~~!i~~v~aifQh ...... . 
Deferred revenue 

•.::~\~~~~~?~·<,t()lib~~.~-····!1 .. 
Currency translation 

.·dttler\;i,;,. 
Valuation allowance 

'f~alfitu:il;~e'iitd.~~~~1~,l!.~;~) :.c • 4• 

Non~~t\\~1t~J~~iH#~~: .. 
Property, equipment, and intangible basis differences 

<•su~ij(71~ .. ~~.~ . 
Deferred lease costs 

{;~,. 
Total noncurrent deferred tax liabilities, net <'> 

(1) Amounts are included in Prepaid and other current assets on the Consolidated Balance Sheets. 

As of December 31, 

2015 2014 

$ -- $ 49,900 

:,3'4'§' 

$ 369,924 $ 

·;~~~!~~6 LZ:s; 
45,885 

'-iff~la'~ 
43,608 

ti;;6~t 
57,015 

1\~~5*1\ ·' 
(292,871) 

48,940 

6trzol' 
' "''.' .·,, 

(51,249) 

375,103 

'ti;{ :;~~J4b' 
40,368 

~~;still< 

7,757 

:;~;4~5: 
(216,052) 

(242,763) (283,185) 

•:t~Sl(ISA«; 'S:f·· •• ;:.;,(zlt4i1 
(11,611) (5,647) 

:'!1.4~~~\'8)(\ ··?Jt '~':i;(l~~9d$} 
(25,176) '="$ """"""-~(7="7,3!-::7~1) 

(2) In November 2015, the Financial Accounting Standards Board issued accounting standard update, ASU No. 2015-17, revising ASC 740 

Income Taxes. Specifically, ASU 2015-17 requires deferred tax liabilities and assets, along with any related valuation allowance, to be 

classified as noncurrent on the consolidated balance sheet. This standard is required to be adopted for annual periods beginning after 

December 15, 2016, including interim periods within that annual period, with early adoption permitted. The amendment may be applied 

either prospectively to all deferred tax liabilities and assets or retrospectively to all periods presented. The Company elected to 

prospectively adopt the accounting standard in the beginning ofthe fourth quarter of2015. Prior periods in the Company's Consolidated 

Financial Statements were not retrospectively adjusted. 

( 3) Of these amounts, $619 and $25,795 are included in Other assets and Other long-term liabilities, respectively on the accompanying 

Consolidated Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2015. As of December 31, 2014, $451 and $77,822 are included in Other assets and 

Other long-term liabilities on the accompanying Consolidated Balance Sheet. 

A deferred tax asset is reduced by a valuation allowance ifbased on the weight of all available evidence, it is more likely than not (a 

likelihood of more than 50%) that the value of such assets will not be realized. The valuation allowance should be sufficient to reduce the 

deferred tax asset to the amount that is more likely than not to be realized. The determination of whether a deferred tax asset is realizable is 

based on weighting all available evidence, including both positive and negative evidence. The realization of deferred tax assets, including 

carryforwards and deductible temporary differences, depends upon the existence of sufficient taxable income of the same character during the 

carryback or carryforward period. All sources of taxable income available to realize the deferred tax asset, including the future reversal of 

existing temporary differences, future taxable income exclusive of reversing temporary differences and carryforwards, taxable income in 

carryback years and tax-planning strategies, should be considered. 
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The Company has recorded a valuation allowance for the majority of its deferred tax assets as management believes that it is not "more­
likely-than-not" that the Company will generate sufficient taxable income in future periods to recognize the assets. Valuation allowances of$2 
92.9 million and $2 6 7. 3 million were being carried to offset net deferred income tax assets as ofDecember 31,2015 and 2014, respectively. 
The net increase in the valuation allowance for the years ended December 31, 2015 and 2014 was $2 5.6 million and$ 20.8 million, respectively. 
At December 31,2015, the valuation allowance related to federal and state tax credit carryovers were approximately $2.0 million and $0.4 
million, respectively. These tax credits expire beginning 2017. 

The Company has available at December 31,2015, a net federal operating tax loss carry-forward of approximately$ 955.7 million and 
an additional $2 53.9 million of net operating tax loss carry forward from stock options which will benefit additional paid-in capital when the 
loss is utilized. These net operating tax loss carry-forwards will expire between 2021 and 2033 . The Internal Revenue Code places limitations 
upon the future availability of net operating losses based upon changes in the equity of the Company. If these occur, the ability of the Company 
to offset future income with existing net operating losses may be limited. In addition, the Company has available at December 31, 2015 , a 
foreign net operating loss carry-forward of$ 50.3 million and a net state operating tax loss carry-forward of approximately $ 4 74.6 million. 
These net operating tax loss carry-forwards begin to expire in 201 6. 

In accordance with the Company's methodology for determining when stock option deductions are deemed realized, the Company utilizes 
a "with-and-without" approach that will result in a benefit not being recorded in APIC if the amount of available net operating loss carry­
forwards generated from operations is sufficient to offset the current year taxable income. 

The Company does not expect to remit earnings from its foreign subsidiaries. Undistributed earnings of the Company's foreign 
subsidiaries amounted to approximately$ 38.2 million at December 31,2015. Those earnings are considered to be permanently reinvested and, 
accordingly, no U.S. Federal and state income taxes have been provided thereon. Upon distribution of those earnings in the form of dividends or 
otherwise, the Company could be subject to both U.S. income taxes (subject to an adjustment for foreign tax credits) and withholding taxes 
payable to various foreign countries. 

1 6. COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 

Leases 

The Company is obligated under various non-cancelable operating leases for land, office space, equipment and site leases that expire at 
various times through December 2114 . In addition, the Company is obligated under various non-cancelable capital leases for vehicles that 
expire at various times through September 2019 . 

The annual minimum lease payments under non-cancelable operating and capital leases in effect as of December 31,2015 are as follows 
(in thousands): 

For the year ended December 31, 

··· ~9 I d ::.;r1Elff~;< · ··.·.·••···· ·· 
2017 

.2Ql8 
2019 

;(~.Q20. 
Total minimum lease payments 

Less:. ~~~t re~tlitfug· interest!: 
Present value of future payments 

Less:ilelttt(itifi~bligat16~!.S~ · 
Long-term obligations 

<:;:m,ital Leases 

1,619 
1,150 
7~;j· 
251 

3,819 
• ;;itt> · >.sl~{\i::L. 'J <r~,·~~)· 

3,641 
• ;~~;c;F{'i>> . <{!:~~:;~!4) 

$ 1,827 

Ogerating Leases 

Future minimum rental payments under noncancelable ground leases include payments for certain renewal periods at the Company's 
option because failure to renew could result in a loss of the applicable tower and related revenue from tenant leases, thereby making it 
reasonably assured that the Company will renew the lease. The majority of operating leases provide for renewal at varying escalations. Fixed 
rate escalations have been included in the table disclosed above. 

Rent expense for operating leases was $239.8 million, $223.4 million and $196.3 million for the years ended December 31, 2015, 2014 
and 2013, respectively. In addition, certain of the Company's leases include contingent rent provisions which provide for 
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the lessor to receive additional rent upon the attainment of certain tower operating results and/or lease-up. Contingent rent expense for the years 

ended December 31,2015, 2014 and 2013 was $24.4 million, $23.3 million and $20.3 million, respectively. 

Tenant Leases 

The annual minimum tower lease income to be received for tower space and antenna rental under non-cancelable operating leases in effect 

as ofDecember 31,2015 is as follows: 

For the year ended December 31, 
·' -~Jlf9, <:·}•):%:?::%::::::' .·, :.·"'·/:;, ,,c.;,: :>.· ·.d,; ,·:.· '; ,:::Ai. 

2017 

(in thousands) 
·, \&;· -·, · ·:(:r;a;zt~s9I 

1,144,510 

,.996,7~~· 
808,933 

::tt0ill4i't97 

The Company's tenant leases provide for annual escalations and multiple renewal periods, at the tenant's option. The tenant rental 

payments disclosed in the table above do not assume exercise of tenant renewal options, however, fixed rate escalations have been included. 

Litigation 

The Company is involved in various claims, lawsuits and proceedings arising in the ordinary course of business. While there are 

uncertainties inherent in the ultimate outcome of such matters and it is impossible to presently determine the ultimate costs that may be incurred, 

management believes the resolution of such uncertainties and the incurrence of such costs will not have a material adverse effect on the 

Company's consolidated fmancial position, results of operations or liquidity. 

Contingent Purchase Obligations 

From time to time, the Company agrees to pay additional consideration (or earnouts) for acquisitions if the towers or businesses that are 

acquired meet or exceed certain performance targets in the one to three years after they have been acquired. For the years ended December 31, 

2015, 2014, and 2013 certain earnings targets associated with the acquired towers were achieved, and therefore, the Company paid in cash 

$4.1 million, $18.7 million, and $9.3 million, respectively. As of December 31, 2015, the Company's estimate of its potential obligation if the 

performance targets contained in various acquisition agreements were met was $7.2 million which the Company recorded in accrued expenses. 

The maximum potential obligation related to the performance targets was $10.2 million and $23.1 million as of December 31, 2015 and 2014 , 

respectively. · 

1 7 • DEFINED CONTRIBUTION PLAN 

The Company has a defined contribution profit sharing plan under Section 401 (k) of the Internal Revenue Code that provides for voluntary 

employee contributions up to the limitations set forth in Section 402(g) of the Internal Revenue Code. Employees have the opportunity to 

participate following completion of three months of employment and must be 21 years of age. Employer matching begins immediately upon the 

employee's participation in the plan. 

For the years ended December 31,2012 and through June 30, 2013, the Company made a discretionary matching contribution of 50% of 

an employee's contributions up to a maximum of$3,000 annually. Effective July 1, 2013, the Company made a discretionary matching 

contribution of 75% of an employee's contributions up to a maximum of $4,000 annually. Company matching contributions were approximately 

$2.1 million, $2.0 million and $1.6 million for the years ended December 31, 2015 , 2014 and 2013, respectively. 

18. SEGMENT DATA 

The Company operates principally in two business segments: site leasing and site development. The Company's site leasing business 

includes two reportable segments, domestic site leasing and international site leasing. The Company's reportable segments are strategic business 

units that offer different services. They are managed separately based on the fundamental differences in their operations. The site leasing 

segment inchtdes results of the managed and sublease businesses. The site development segment includes the results of both consulting and 

construction related activities. The Company's Chief Operating Decision Maker utilizes segment operating profit and operating income as his 

two measures of segment profit in assessing performance and allocating resources at the reportable segment level. 
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Revenues, cost of revenues (exclusive of depreciation, accretion and amortization), capital expenditures (including assets acquired through 

the issuance of shares of the Company's Class A common stock) and identifiable assets pertaining to the segments in which the Company 

continues to operate are presented below: 

Domestic Site 

Leasing 

Int'l Site 

Leasing 

Site 

Development 

Not 

Identified by 

Segment Total 

For the year ended December 311 2015 

Selling, general, and administrative 

A~q\uisl~!l'r~i¢~~~~>~4~ll~'B$tr'\} ~~: <'~;j ····~ 
A~setimpairment and decommission. costs .. 

o~preei~\$!ni~{lrt~ott~ii;~®~bh: :<>~,; ;<'<::,: •, .. • '' 

Operating income (loss) 

dtlier ~~~,;(pr~~pailyJpuJ~$t exp~se. • 

and other expense) 

·if&~ 'W~re~~i&i~tfotifttotfi'i1ilxe$•••·•· 
Cash capital expenditures <3> 

For the year ended December 31, 2014 

Cost of revenues <2> 

93,977 
'534~436·k·: 1~:<, 

278,464 

709,337 

444,399 

16,196 12,247 19,095 114,951 

i~k9 ~·:;:;\;. <"\,~64 
806 94,783 

. n~:ss6 · · · >c; .;~~fi~~z < ~,;;: 'f>f:;,~;QJ;lilf;: ;.. . .• ''6ko;qzt~ 
33,937 

t•· . .,..·. ~ .• , ... ,.,..,, _2.,2.,.,1_87.,. '> ~~; t•r:t2:~.~;~)..:t,;:;, \;o!. 312,45~ 
( 479,051) ( 479,051) 

;;:;;· <t~: f:t( {j~' (!~9.5'~~ 

94,693 3,495 13,339 820,864 

J;I51,2:\$3 ;~;·; :• ,, ,, 2Q~;'@? .~···~ 1,6;7941 l,?~:9$i, 

247,237 54,076 12~1TI ~~4~ 

"'Gpefitti't)s~~i ·x~... , ..... ······~·. 9 tg,os6'' 11t1•>:. ·'itii~'&3~,, ' .. 39':oz2. ~': .. '''"'""::'¥._.. ... .._'''..:.'' ... ~'""·':'-;r,....'-; ··.. Y'ss; J••d!J 
Selling, general, and administrative 

A-1<4u$itf91l•r~~:>~jll~~pt:~AA~ e)!;~e$;' 
Asset impairment and decommission costs 

I>~~i~Jl(ih, llifit))tizitililn l:IA.~JU:Ilf~ion t:< 
Operating income (loss) 

0- e~nseJtliillRiplflly~"uJ~~~e:~ 
and other expense) 

E'6ss\4g0r~t!ll!~fotfi0~1¥{~00\•' 
Cash capital expenditures <3> 

For the year ended December 31, 2013 

Cost of revenues <2> 

·>~~eftiWisproii. 
Selling, general, and administrative 

A;~,!lbisi~on ... r~tat~d .. tid]wtrti~nt:~.~~~~;·. 
Asset impairment and decommission costs 

~on;lifuo~tio(·an~~~;' 
Operating income (loss) 

<U~~~~'(j)Hiici@ly~t;~ 
and other expense) 

c:~ tili¥orei>-ioyisi&fi:\,(or:m~na~~e$ji~; 
Cash capital expenditures <3> 

67,611 

:~.~51 .. 
16,762 9,074 9,870 103,317 

#:];{ 11tl#,~t1•::.l'·' 
21,538 2,263 

1 'filS';l~(t.; · .:: ' .•. 11~~~04'~ 'I'*ri~·='·''"""""·.:._<""'•:;it="4_.~lf= .. "''' 
302,406 20,914 28,095 

547,774 1,221,786 3,851 

~·1~o4st!'~o , {i; 

'+~;;7.?91 
23,801 

•.o72 

(352,183) 

<<02 .Jts;?§Q) 
24,352 1,797,763 

1';3'04;~6 

242,839 27,933 137,481 

~:•so$l~.t7fis;;: ~:-.msr::.o!':"':324~ ... : .. : :<}tt: ¥frt.'&lt~fi <J" : ..... w < .. , .. ;r,.... 
408,253 

59,320 10,065 

6\s2s:n:1 . 1~,6'itf • 
26,478 2,482 

484;~lj, ·.. 44;913' 
-------..~--...... 

229,541 (13,869) 
- ';~,\),,' ' <.~:~:t~~ 

261,775 578,938 
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6,693 

8,331 85,476 

i\ii:)9$ 
28,960 

li~: tti~~~a '+si!!· ; ,, ;533~~· 
(I 0,359) 229,645 

(286,863) (286,863) 

1};L •· · '(57;'6:,~) 
105 847,511 
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As of December 31, 2014 

Domestic Site 

Leasing 

Int'l Site 

Leasing 

Site 

Development 

(in thousands) 

$ s .. 6~fti'i!:9,$> :s.~.:;~.~~;~tiit~~'>&"' ·· ss;~t $. 
$ 5,554,753 $ 1,989,571 $ 78,633 $ 

Not 

Identified by 

Segment'" Total 

142;59~ i $ •' ·1~4-215 
218,168 $ 7,841,125 

(I) Assets not identified by segment consist primarily of general corporate assets. 
(2) Excludes depreciation, amortization, and accretion. 
(3) Includes cash paid for capital expenditures and acquisitions and vehicle capital lease additions. 

1 9 . QUARTERLY FINANCIAL DATA (unaudited) 

Revenues . ::ssi~i~4~:·r;· 
Operating income 

Depr~~1~tf~~~~~cit;mtd ~~~!!#l51tv&;:'h··· · 
Loss from extinguishment 

N~'tlli'l>me (loss) 

Net income (loss) per common share- basic 

Net incoiJle (loS~)j:pVj'~~nunon slui.re • diluted 

Operating income 

l;>epreciati~4:cRt4lf4!1and amortizatiOl!; ·••···. 
Loss from extinguishment of debt, net 

N'Q1imicoroeO:~~)>:r ' •~•··••x•· 

Net income (loss) per common share- basic 
Net Ul.some (loss) per coiillii.llp..-~~~)lted. < .· 

$ 

$ 

Quarter Ended 

December 31, September 30, June 30, March 31, 

2015 2015 2015 2015 

(in thousands, except per share amounts) 

""""'"' ··~vo.,:t'+ ~ $ . .• . 4lQir?~~.i$: ::;.~~li~I;7P4;;:~i'tio·1¥t1!'1JP;o94 
82,129 43,083 98,163 89,081 

(l6t,~J~: /ii· ••••. · .• n6il:ll.f:ti·;c~:tt~§g:aln' ···••••• .. tt1I,~!} 
(783) 

3tii~.~·:~1~~:~:;,~~~.~~,-~ :·, ~~.iQi••·· (79,0llt1 

0.25 $ (1.23) $ 

,(l.Z3) 

Quarter Ended 

0.22 $ 

0,~. 

(0.61) 

•. ,<·~~:61) 

December 31, September 30, June 30, March 31, 

2014 2014 2014 2014 

0.00 $ 
~i!J~i>>. 

(0.13) $ (0.07) $ O.Dl 

.{0)~;) :xs:i~k'>i}AstfQ;,Q:J?l~2i~~< ' . Utili 

Basic and diluted net loss per share is computed by dividing net income by the weighted average number of shares for the period. 
Potentially dilutive instruments have been excluded from the computation of diluted loss per share as their impact would have been anti-dilutive. 

Because loss per share amounts are calculated using the weighted average number of common and dilutive common shares outstanding 
during each quarter, the sum of the per share amounts for the four quarters may not equal the total loss per share amounts for the year. 
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AMENDED AND RESTATED EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this" 

Agreement"), between SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION, a Florida corporation (the" 

Company"), and KURT L. BAGWELL (the" Executive"), is made and entered into as of December 

7, 2015 (the" Effective Date"). 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the " Company Group ") 

engage in the business of developing, leasing and maintaining wireless telecommunications tower sites 

and other related businesses; 

WHEREAS, the Company and the Executive have previously entere d into an 

Employment Agreement, amended and restated effective as of July 30, 2012, and expiring by its terms 

on December 31, 2015 (the" Current Agreement"); 

WHEREAS, the Current Agreement will expire by its terms on December 31, 2015 

without any obligation of either party thereto to renew or extend such Agreement and without any 

obligation of the Company Group to pay severance or other amounts in connection with such 

expiration; and 

WHEREAS, the Company and the Executive intend to provide for the continued 

employment of the Executive by the Company Group as of the Effective Date on the terms and 

conditions set forth in this Agreement. _ 

NOW, THEREFORE, it is hereby agreed by and between the parties as follows: 

1. EMPLOYMENT. The Company hereby agrees to employ the Executive and the Executive 

hereby agrees to be employed by the Company on the terms and conditions set forth herein. 

2. TERM. The term (the" Term") of employment of the Executive by the Company shall 

commence as ofthe Effective Date and, subject to Section 7(a), shall end December 31, 2018 (the" 

End Date "), unless sooner terminated as hereinafter provided. If the Executive continues in the 

employment of the Company Group following the expiration of the Term, the Executive's 

employment with the Company Group shall be at will, unless and until the parties negotiate and sign a 

new employment agreement regarding such future employment. Neither party shall be under any 

obligation or duty to sign or negotiate any such new employment agreement. 

3. POSITION AND DUTIES. 

(a) The Executive shall serve as the Senior Vice President and President of 

International of the Company. The Executive shall generally perform the duties of a Senior Vice 

President and President of International for the Company and shall have such specific 



responsibilities, duties and authorities as shall from time to time be assigned by the 

President, Chief Executive Officer, or Board of Directors of the Company (the"~ 

"). 

(b) The Executive shall also serve, for rio additional consideration, in such other 

positions in the Company Group as determined from time to time by the Board and shall have such 

specific responsibilities, duties and authorities with respect to such positions as shall from time to time 

be assigned by the President, Chief Executive Officer, or the Board. 

(c) The Executive shall devote all his working time and efforts to the business and 

affairs of the Company Group. 

4. COMPENSATION AND RELATED MATTERS. 

(a) Salary. During the Term, the Executive shall be paid an annual salary at the rate in 

effect immediately prior to the Effective Date, which amount may be increased but not decreased by 

the Board (the "Base Salary "). The Company shall pay the Executive the Base Salary in accordance 

with its regular payroll practices as in effect from time to time. Compensation of the Executive by 

payments of Base Salary shall not be deemed exclusive and shall not prevent the Executive from 

participating in any other compensation or benefit plan ofthe Company Group, subject to the 

eligibility requirements and other terms of such plan. 
/ 

(b) Annual Bonus . In addition to the Base Salary, the Executive shall be eligible to 

earn for each calendar year ending during the Term an annual incentive bonus (the"~") based 

on the achievement of one or more performance goals, targets, measurements and other factors 

(collectively, the" Performance Goals") established for such year by the Compensation Committee of 

the Board (the" Committee"). The Executive's target annual bonus (the" Target Bonus") and the 

applicable Performance Goals will be established by the Committee within 90 days of the first day of 

the year to which such Bonus relates; provided , however , that the minimum Target Bonus for each 

full year of service shall be 100% of the annual rate of Base Salary in effect at the start of such year 

(the" Minimum Target Bonus"). Payment of the Executive's Bonus for any year will be based upon 

the achievement of the Performance Goals established by the Committee for that year (including, 

without limitation, the exercise of the Committee's negative discretion in accordance with its past 

practices with respect to the Performance Goals and related payment schedule established by the 

Committee for such Performance Goals). The actual bonus paid may be higher or lower than the 

Target Bonus for over- or under-achievement of the Performance Goals (including, without limitation, 

as a result of the exercise by the Committee of negative discretion in accordance with its past practices 

with respect to the Performance Goals and related payment schedule established by the Committee for 

such Performance Goals), as determined by the Committee. Subject to Section 6 hereof, a Bonus, if 

any, shall be payable in accordance with the Company's customary bonus payment practices, but in no 

event later than March 15th of the succeeding calendar year. 

(c) Expenses. During the Term, the Executive shall be entitled to receive payment or 

reimbursement for all reasonable expenses incurred by the Executive in performing services 

hereunder, including all expenses of travel and living expenses while away from home on business or 

at the request of and in the service of the Company Group, cell phone expenses and dues and seminar 

fees; provided that such expenses are incurred and accounted for in 
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accordance with the policies and procedures then established by the Company Group 
from time to time;providedfurther that reimbursement shall be made as soon as 
practicable after a request for reimbursement is received by the Company Group in 
accordance with the Company Group's customary expense reimbursement practices, 
but in no event later than the last day of the calendar year next following the calendar 
year in which the expense is incurred. 

(d) Other Benefits. The Executive shall be entitled to participate in or receive benefits under any employee benefit plan or arrangement made available by the Company Group in the future to its executives and key management employees, subject to and on a basis consistent with the terms, conditions and overall administration of such plans and arrangements, which benefits shall include disability insurance for as long as the Company Group generally provides disability insurance to its officers. Any payments, bonuses or benefits payable to the Executive hereunder in respect of any calendar year during which the Executive is employed by the Company for less than the entire such year shall, unless otherwise provided in the applicable plan or arrangement, be prorated in accordance with the number of days in such calendar year during which the Executive is so employed. 

(e) Group or Family Medical Coverage. During the Term, the Company shall provide group or family medical insurance coverage to the Executive and his dependents under a plan for employees of the Company Group, and such plan shall include reasonable coverage for medical, 
hospital, surgical and major medical expenses and shall be subject to such deductibles as applicable to other Company Group employees. 

5. WITHHOLDING. Both the Executive and the Company agree that all amounts paid 
pursuant to this Agreement shall be subject to all applicable federal, state, local and foreign 
withholding requirements. 

6. TERMINATION. Subject to the provisions set forth in this Section 6, the Company shall have the right to terminate the Executive's employment hereunder, and the Executive shall have the right to resign his employment with the Company, at any time for any reason or for no stated reason. For purposes ofthis Agreement, the terms "terminate," "terminated," "termination" and "resignation" mean a termination of the Executive's employment that constitutes a Separation from Service (as defined in Section 6(e)(v) hereof). 

(a) General. Upon a termination ofthe Executive's employment for any reason, he shall be entitled to receive the following amounts (collectively, the" Termination Amount") on the next regularly scheduled payroll date after the date of the Executive's termination of 
employment: (i) any accrued and unpaid Base Salary for services performed up to and including the date of his termination or resignation, as applicable, (ii) a cash payment (calculated on the basis of his Base Salary then in effect) for all unused vacation days that the Executive may have accrued as of his date of termination (subject to the terms of the Company's then applicable vacation policies), and (iii) any unpaid reimbursement for business expenses the Executive is entitled to receive under 
Section 4( c) hereof. 
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(b) Termination for Cause; Resignation Without Good Reason. 

(i) If, prior to the expiration of the Term, the Executive's employment with the 
Company is terminated by the Company for Cause (as defined below) or ifthe Executive 
resigns without Good Reason (as defined below), he shall be entitled to receive the 
Termination Amount. Except to the extent required by the terms of any applicable 
compensation or benefit plan or program or otherwise required by applicable law, the 
Executive shall have no right under this Agreement or otherwise to receive any other 
compensation or to participate in any other plan, program or arrangement after such 
termination or resignation of employment with respect to the year of such termination or 
resignation and later years. 

(ii) "~"means the occurrence of any of the following events: 

(1) the Executive's willful, material violation of any law or regulation applicable 
to the business of the Company Group; 

(2) the Executive's conviction of, or plea of guilty or "no contest" to, a felony; 

(3) any willful perpetration by the Executive of an act involving moral turpitude 
or common law fraud, whether or not related to his activities on behalf of the Company 
Group; 

( 4) any act of gross negligence by the Executive in the performance of his duties 
as an employee of the Company; 

(5) any material violation by the Executive of the Company's Code of Ethics, as 
in effect from time to time; 

(6) the willful and continued failure or refusal of the Executive to satisfactorily 
perform the duties reasonably required ofhim as an employee of the Company Group; 

(7) the indictment for any crime, whether a felony or misdemeanor, involving 
the purchase or sale of any security, mail or wire fraud, theft, embezzlement, moral 
turpitude, or Company Group property where such indictment has a material adverse 
impact on the Executive's ability to perform his duties under this Agreement; 

(8) any willful misconduct by the Executive that is materially injurious to the 
financial condition, business, or reputation of, or is otherwise materially injurious to, 
any member of the Company Group; or 

(9) any breach by the Executive of Section 9(a), (b), (c) or (d) ofthis 
Agreement. 
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(iii) Termination of the Executive's employment for Cause shall be communicated 

by delivery to the Executive of a written notice from the Board stating that the Executive 

will be terminated for Cause, specifying the particulars thereof and the effective date of 

such termination; provided, however, that upon receipt of such notice, the Executive shall 

have (1) an opportunity to cure the matter constituting Cause within 30 days following the 

Executive's receipt of such notice (provided that the event constituting Cause is then 

susceptible to cure) and (2) an opportunity, together with his counsel, to be heard by the 

Board. The date of the Executive's termination for Cause shall be the date of termination 

specified by the resolution of the Board; provided, however , that such termination shall 

not become effective until no earlier than the date of the meeting of the Board described in 

clause (2) of the preceding sentence. The date of a resignation by the Executive shall be the 

date specified in a written notice of resignation to the Company. The Executive shall 

provide at least 30 days' advance written notice of resignation without Good Reason; 

provided, however, that the Company, in its sole discretion, may waive the notice 

requirement in whole or in part. 

(c) Termination Without Cause; Resignation for Good Reason. 

(i) If, prior to the expiration of the Term, the Executive's employment with the 

Company is terminated by the Company without Cause or if the Executive resigns from his 

employment hereunder for Good Reason, then, in addition to the Termination Amount, the 

Executive shall be entitled to receive: 

(1) an amount equal to the sum of the following amounts (collectively, the" 

Severance Amount"): 

(A) an amount equal to the pro rata portion of the Bonus for the year in 

which the termination or resignation occurs, calculated by multiplying (x) the 

Minimum Target Bonus for the year of termination by (y) a fraction, the numerator 

of which is the number of days the Executive was employed during the year of such 

termination or resignation and the denominator of which is 365; plus 

(B) an amount equal to the Applicable Multiple (as defined below) 

multiplied by the sum of: (i) the Base Salary in effect for the year of termination or 

resignation and (ii) the Minimum Target Bonus; and 

(2) continuation of applicable medical, dental and life insurance benefits (based 

on the coverage in effect for the Executive and his dependents at the time of such 

termination or resignation, but excluding any supplemental medical expense 

reimbursement insurance provided by the Company Group), from the date of 

termination or resignation until the earlier to occur of (A) the Applicable Multiple of 

years from the date of termination or (B) the date the Executive becomes eligible for 

comparable benefits provided by a third party (in either case, the " Continuation Period 

");provided, however , that the continuation of such benefits shall be subject to the 

respective terms of the applicable plan, as 
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in effect from time to time, and the timely payment by the Executive of his applicable 
share of the applicable premiums in effect from time to time during the Continuation 
Period. To the extent that reimbursable medical and dental care expenses constitute 
deferred compensation for purposes of Section 409A ofthe Internal Revenue Code of 
1986, as amended (the "~"), the Company shall reimburse the medical and dental 
care expenses as soon as practicable consistent with the Company's practice, but in no 
event later than the last day of the calendar year next following the calendar year in 
which such expenses are incurred . 

For purposes of this Section 6(c), "A]2plicable MultiJ2le "means (i) one, in the 
event termination or resignation occurs prior to a Change in Control of the Company (as 
defined in Section 7(b)); and (ii) two, in the event termination or resignation occurs on or 
after a Change in Control of the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if within six 
months prior to the date on which a Change in Control occurs, the Executive's employment 

with the Company Group is terminated by the Company without Cause or by the Executive 
for Good Reason, and it is reasonably demonstrated that such termination of employment 
or Good Reason event was in contemplation of the Change in Control, then the Applicable 

Multiple shall be two, but the Severance Amount payable as a result of such revised 
calculation shall be reduced by any Severance Amount previously paid to the Executive 
under this Section 6( c) by the Company Group as a result of such termination or resignation 
of employment. 

(ii) Subject to the compliance rules set forth in Section 6(e), the Severance Amount 

shall be paid in a lump sum on the first business day of the third calendar month following 
the calendar month in which termination by the Company without Cause or resignation by 
the Executive for Good Reason is effective (or, in the event of the Executive's death after 
the date of the Executive's termination or resignation but prior to the date of payment, to 
the Executive's estate or beneficiary, as applicable, together with interest, within 30 days 
following the date of the Executive's death). 

(iii) The payment ofthe Severance Amount and the continuation of benefits, 
pursuant to this Section 6( c), shall be contingent upon the Executive executing a full release 
and waiver of claims against the Company Group (which release and waiver of claims, 
once executed and irrevocable, shall not apply to the Company's obligation to pay the 
Severance Amount and continue benefits hereunder), in a form approved by the Board, that 
becomes irrevocable not later than the last day of the second calendar month following the 

calendar month in which the Executive's termination or resignation becomes effective in 
accordance with this Section 6(c). Ifthe Executive fails to execute a full release and waiver 

of claims against the Company Group that becomes irrevocable on or before the last day of 
the second calendar month following the calendar month in which the Executive's 
termination or resignation becomes effective, the Company Group's obligations under this 

Section 6(c) shall terminate and the Executive shall not be entitled to further payment of the 
Severance Amount or the continuation of benefits. 
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(iv) "Good Reason" means the occurrence of any of the following events: 

(I) the Executive's position, title, duties, and reporting responsibilities with the 
Company in effect on the Effective Date become less favorable in any material respect; 
provided , however , Good Reason shall not be deemed to occur under this clause ( 1) 
if the following three conditions are satisfied: (A) the diminution in the Executive's 
position, duties or reporting responsibilities is solely and directly a result of the 
Company no longer being a publicly-traded company; (B) the event resulting in the 
Company no longer being a publicly-traded entity is a leveraged buyout, acquisition by 
a private equity fund and/or other similar "going private" transaction and is not as a 
result ofthe acquisition ofthe Company or the business ofthe Company Group by 
another operating company or parent or subsidiary thereof; and (C) the Executive 
continues to hold the same position and title with the Company and no other act or 
omission has then occurred that would constitute an event of Good Reason under this 
definition; 

(2) (A) a reduction in, or a change in the form of, either the Base Salary or 
Minimum Target Bonus or (B) a reduction in the aggregate amount of the material 
benefits provided to the Executive, as of the Effective Date , other than an across-the­
board reduction applicable to all senior executive officers of the Company Group; or 

(3) the relocation, without the Executive's consent, of the Executive's principal 
place of business to a location that is more than 60 miles from the Executive's primary 
business location on the Effective Date or, if applicable, from a subsequent primary 
business location agreed to by the Executive. 

(v) In order to constitute Good Reason, (I) the Executive must provide written 
notification of his intention to resign within 30 days after the Executive knows or has 
reason to know ofthe occurrence of any such event, (2) such event or condition is not 
corrected, in all material respects, by the Company Group within 20 days of its receipt of 
such notice, and (3) the Executive resigns his employment with the Company Group not 
more than 30 days following the expiration of the 20-day period described in the foregoing 
clause (2). 

(vi) Notwithstanding the previous provisions of this Section 6(c), it shall not be an 
ev~t of Good Reason under this Agreement for the Company Group (I) to adopt (or 
subsequently amend) one or more claw-back, mandatory deferral or other risk management 
policies related to the Company Group's incentive compensation plans or arrangements, 
including without limitation the Company's Executive Compensation Recoupment Policy 
or (2) to adopt (or subsequently amend) stock ownership guidelines related to the 
Company's common stock or (3) to subject the compensation payable to the Executive 
under this Agreement to these policies or guidelines; provided that, except as otherwise 
required by law, such policies are generally applicable to the Company Group's executive 
officers. 
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(vii) The date oftermination of employment without Cause shall be the date 
specified in a written notice of termination to the Executive. The date of resignation for 
Good Reason shall be the date specified in a written notice of resignation from the 
Executive to the Company; provided , however , that no such written notice shall be 
effective unless the cure period specified in Section 6(c)(v) above has expired without the 
Company Group having corrected the event or events subject to cure. 

(d) Disability; Death . 

(i) If, as a result of the Executive's incapacity due to physical or mental illness (such 
incapacity being determined by the Board in its reasonable discretion), the Executive shall 
have been absent from his full-time duties as described hereunder for the entire period of 
six consecutive months(" Disability"), the Executive's employment shall terminate at the 
end of the six-month period. 

(ii) Upon a termination pursuant to this Section 6(d) as a result of Disability or as a 
result of the Executive's death, the Executive (or his estate or beneficiary, as 
applicable) shall be entitled to receive: 

(1) the Termination Amount, and 

(2) an amount equal to the pro rata portion of the Bonus for the year in which 
the termination occurs, calculated by multiplying (x) the Minimum Target Bonus for 
the year of termination by (y) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days 
the Executive was employed during the year of termination and the denominator of 
which is 365. 

(iii) If the Executive's employment is terminated pursuant to this Section 6(d) as a 
result of his Disability, then subject to Section 6( e), the pro rata Bonus shall be paid in a 
lump sum on the first business day of the third calendar month following the calendar 
month in which termination pursuant to this Section 6( d) is effective. 

(iv) Ifthe Executive's employment is terminated as of result ofhis death, the pro 
rata Bonus shall be paid within 30 days after the date of the Executive's death. 

(v) Except to the extent required by the terms of any applicable compensation or 
benefit plan or program or otherwise required by applicable law, the Executive shall have 
no right under this Agreement or otherwise to receive any other compensation or to 
participate in any other plan, program or arrangement after such termination. 

(e) Section 409A Compliance . 

(i) If, at the time of the Executive's termination or resignation with the Company, 
the Executive is a Specified Employee (as defined below), then the Severance Amount, the 
pro rata Bonus contemplated by Section 6( d) and any other amounts payable under this 
Agreement that the Company determines constitutes deferred compensation within the 
meaning of Section 409A of the Code and which 
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are subject to the six-month delay required by Treas. Reg. Section 1.409A-l(c)(3)(v), shall 

be delayed and not paid to the Executive until the first business day following the six­

month anniversary of the Executive's date of termination or resignation (the" Short-Term 

Deferral Date "), at which time such delayed amounts will be paid to the Executive in a 

cash lump sum (the" Catch-Up Amount"). 

(ii) If payment of an amount is delayed as a result of this Section 6( e), such amount 

shall be increased with interest from the date on which such amount would otherwise have 

been paid to the Executive but for this Section 6(e) to the day prior to the date the Catch-Up 

Amount is paid. The rate of interest shall be the applicable short-term federal rate 

applicable under Section 7872(f)(2)(A) of the Code for the month in which the date of the 

Executive's termination or resignation occurs. Such interest shall be paid at the same time 

that the Catch-Up Amount is paid. 

(iii) If the Executive dies on or after the date of the Executive's termination or 

resignation and prior to the Short-Term Deferral Date, any amount delayed pursuant to this 

Section 6(e) shall be paid to the Executive's estate or beneficiary, as applicable, together 

with interest, within 30 days following the date ofthe Executive's death. 

(iv)" Specified Employee" has the meaning set forth in Section 409A(a)(2)(B) 

(i) ofthe Code. The determination of whether the Executive constitutes a Specified 

Employee on the date of his termination or resignation shall be made in accordance with 

the Company's established methodology for determining Specified Employees. 

(v)" S<4>aratiQn from Service" means a "separation from service" from the 

Company within the meaning of the default rules under the final regulations issued 

pursuant to Section 409A of the Code. 

(vi) The provisions of this Section 6(e) shall apply notwithstanding any provision of 

this Agreement related to the timing of payments following the Executive's termination or 

resignation. For purposes of applying the provisions of Section 409A of the Code to this 

Agreement, each separately identifiable amount to which the Executive is entitled under 

this Agreement shall be treated as a separate payment. 

7. CHANGE IN CONTROL. 

(a) If a Change in Control of the Company (as defined below) shall become effective 

during the Term, the Term shall automatically be deemed to end on the later of (i) the End Date (as 

defined in Section 2) or (ii) the second anniversary of the effective date of such Change in Control. 

(b) A " Change in Control " shall be deemed to have occurred when: 

(i) any person is or becomes the "beneficial owner" (as defined in Rule 13d-3 of the 

Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company 
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representing 35% or more of the combined voting power of the Company's then­

outstanding securities; or 

(ii) during any 24-month period, individuals who, as of the beginning of such 

period, constitute the Board (the" Incumbent Directors") cease for any reason to constitute 

a majority of the Board; provided that any new director subsequent to the beginning of such 

period (other than a director whose initial assumption of office is in connection with an 

actual or threatened election contest, including, but not limited to, a consent solicitation, 

relating to the election of directors of the Company) whose appointment or election by the 

Board or nomination for election by the Company's shareholders was approved or 

recommended by a vote of at least a majority ofthe Incumbent Directors shall be an 

Incumbent Director; or 

(iii) there is consummated a merger or consolidation of the Company, other than 

(A) a merger or consolidation which would result in the voting securities of the Company 

outstanding immediately prior to such merger or consolidation continuing to represent 

(either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the 

surviving entity or any parent thereof), in combination with the ownership of any trustee or 

other fiduciary holding securities under an employee benefit plan of the Company or any 

subsidiary, at least 50% of the combined voting power of the securities of the Company or 

such surviving entity or any parent thereof outstanding immediately after such merger or 

consolidation, or (B) a merger or consolidation effected to implement a recapitalization of 

the Company (or similar transaction) in which no person is or becomes the beneficial 

owner, directly or indirectly, of securities ofthe Company (not including in the securities 

beneficially owned by such person any securities acquired directly from the Company or its 

affiliates other than in connection with the securities acquired directly from the Company 

or its affiliates other than in connection with the acquisition by the Company or its affiliates 

of a business) representing 50% or more of the combined voting power of the Company's 

then outstanding securities; or 

(iv) the shareholders of the Company approve a plan of complete liquidation or 

dissolution of the Company or there is consummated an agreement for the sale or 

disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company's assets, other than a 

sale or disposition by the Company of all or substantially all ofthe Company's assets to an 

entity, at least 50% of the combined voting power of the voting securities of which are 

owned by shareholders of the Company in substantially the same proportions as their 

ownership of the Company immediately prior to such sale. 

8. SECTION 4999 EXCISE TAX LIMITATION . 

(a) In the event that it shall be determined that (X) any amount or benefit paid, 

distributed or otherwise provided to the Executive by the Company Group, whether pursuant to this 

Agreement or otherwise (collectively, the" Coyered Payments"), would be subject to the excise tax 

imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (the" Excise Tax"), and (Y) the reduction of the amounts 

payable to the Executive under this Agreement or with respect to stock options and equity awards to 

the maximum amount that could be paid to the Executive without 
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giving rise to the Excise Tax (the" Safe Harbor Cap") would provide the Executive 

with a greater after-tax amount than if such amounts were not reduced, then, subject to 

the further limitations set forth herein, the Covered Payments shall be reduced (but not 

below zero) to the Safe Harbor Cap. The reductions, if applicable, shall be made to the 

extent necessary in the following order: (i) the acceleration of vesting of stock options 

and other equity awards with an exercise price that exceeds the then fair market value 

of the stock subject to the award; (ii) the payments under Section 6(c)(i)(1)(A) hereof; 

(iii) the payments under Section 6(c)(i)(l)(B) hereof; (iv) the continuation of benefits 

under Section 6(c)(i)(2) hereof; and (v) the acceleration of vesting of all other stock 

options and equity awards. For purposes of reducing the Covered Payments to the Safe 

Harbor Cap, only amounts payable under this Agreement and with respect to stock 

options and equity awards (and no other Covered Payments) shall be reduced. If the 

reduction would not result in a greater after-tax result to the Executive, no amounts 

payable under this Agreement or with respect to stock options and equity awards shall 

be reduced pursuant to this provision. 

(b) A nationally recognized firm of independent accountants, selected by the Company 

after consultation with the Executive, shall perform the foregoing calculations. The Company shall 

bear all expenses with respect to the determinations by such accounting firm required to be made 

hereunder. Such accounting firm shall apply the provisions of this Section 8 in a reasonable manner 

and in good faith in accordance with then prevailing practices in the interpretation and application of 

Section 4999 ofthe Code. For purposes of applying the provisions ofthis Section 8, the Company 

shall be entitled to rely on the written advice of legal counsel or such accounting firm as to whether 

one or more Covered Payments constitute "parachute payments" under Section 4999 of the Code. 

(c) The accounting firm engaged to make the determinations hereunder shall provide its 

calculations, together with detailed supporting documentation, to the Company and the Executive 

within 30 calendar days after the date that such accounting firm has been engaged to make such 

determinations or such other time as requested by the Company or the Executive. If payments are 

reduced to the Safe Harbor Cap or the accounting firm determines that no Excise Tax is payable by the 

Executive without a reduction in Covered Payments, it shall furnish the Company and the Executive 

with an opinion to such effect, that the Executive is not required to report any Excise Tax on the 

Executive's federal income tax return, and that the failure to report the Excise Tax, if any, on the 

Executive's applicable federal income tax return will not result in the imposition of a negligence or 

similar penalty. Any good faith determinations ofthe accounting firm made hereunder shall be final, 

binding, and conclusive upon the Company and the Executive. 

9. PROTECTION OF THE COMPANY GROUP'S INTERESTS. 

(a) No Competing Employment. For so long as the Executive is employed by the 

Company, and (i) during a period of two years after his employment with the Company has been 

terminated by reason oftermination without Cause or resignation for Good Reason in which the 

Applicable Multiple is two, or (ii) during a period of one year after his employment with the Company 

Group has been terminated in all other circumstances (such period of employment and applicable post­

employment period hereinafter referred to as the " Restricted Period "), the Executive shall not, 

without the prior written consent of the Board, directly or indirectly, own an interest in, manage, 

operate, join, control, lend money or render financial or 
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other assistance to or participate in or be connected with, as an officer, employee, 
partner, stockholder, consultant or otherwise, any individual, partnership, firm, 
corporation or other business organization or entity that competes with the business of 
the Company Group by providing any goods or services provided or under development 
by the Company Group at the effective date of the Executive's termination of 
employment (the" Business ");provided, however, that this Section 9(a) shall not 
proscribe the Executive's ownership, either directly or indirectly, of less than one 
percent of any class of securities which are regularly traded on a national securities 
exchange or interdealer quotation system. 

(b) No Interference. During the Restricted Period, the Executive shall not, directly or 
indirectly, whether for his own account or for the account of any other individual, partnership, firm, 
corporation or other business organization (other than the Company Group), (i) solicit, or endeavor to 
entice away from the Company Group, or otherwise interfere with the relationship of the Company 
Group with, any person or entity who is, or was within the then most recent 12 month period, 
(A) employed by, or otherwise engaged to perform services for, the Company Group, or (B) a 
customer or client of the Company Group, (ii) assist or encourage any other person in carrying out, 
directly or indirectly, any activity that would be prohibited by the provisions ofthis Section 9(b) if 
such activity were carried out by the Executive, and, in particular, the Executive agrees that he will 
not, directly or indirectly, induce any employee of the Company Group to carry out any such activity, 
or (iii) otherwise interfere with the business of the Company Group. 

(c) Non-Disparagement. For so long as the Executive is employed by the Company 
Group, and at all times thereafter, the Executive shall not intentionally make any public statement, or 
publicly release any information, that disparages or defames the Company Group, or any of its officers 
and directors, and shall not intentionally cause or encourage any other person to make any such 
statement or publicly release any such information. 

(d) Confidentiality . The Executive understands and acknowledges that, in the course 
of his employment, he has had and will continue to have access to and will learn confidential 
information regarding the Company Group that concerns the technological innovations, operations and 
methodologies of the Company Group, including, without limitation, business plans, financial 
information, protocols, proposals, manuals, procedures and guidelines, computer source codes, 
programs, software, know-how and specifications, inventions, copyrights, trade secrets, market 
information, Developments (as hereinafter defined), data and customer information (collectively," 
Proprietary Information"). The Executive recognizes that the use or disclosure of Proprietary 
Information could cause the Company Group substantial loss and damages, which could not be readily 
calculated, and for which no remedy at law would be adequate. Accordingly, the Executive agrees 
that for so long as he is employed by the Company Group, and at all times thereafter, he shall keep 
confidential and shall not, directly or indirectly, disclose any such Proprietary Information to any third 
party, except as required to fulfill his duties in connection with his positions within the Company 
Group, and shall not misuse, misappropriate or exploit such Proprietary Information in any way. The 
restrictions contained herein shall not apply to any information that the Executive can demonstrate 
(i) was already available to the public at the time of disclosure, or subsequently became available to 
the public, otherwise than by breach of this Agreement or (ii) was the subject of a court order to 
disclose. 
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" Deyelqpments " shall mean all data, discoveries, findings, reports, designs, 

inventions, improvements, methods, practices, techniques, developments, programs, concepts and 

ideas, whether or not patentable, and works of authorship relating to the present or planned activities, 

or the products and services of the Company Group. 

(e) Exclusive Property . The Executive confirms that all Proprietary Information is and 

shall remain the exclusive property of the Company Group. All business records, papers and 

documents kept or made by him relating to the business of the Company Group shall be and remain 

the property of the Company. Upon the termination of the Executive's employment with the 

Company or upon the request of the Company at any time, he shall promptly deliver to the Company 

Group, and shall not, without the consent of the Company, retain copies of any written materials not 

previously made available to the public, or records and documents made by the Executive or coming 

into his possession concerning the business or affairs of the Company Group; provided , however , that 

subsequent to any such termination, the Company shall provide the Executive with copies (the cost of 

which shall be borne by the Executive) of any documents that are requested by the Executive and that 

he has determined in good faith are (i) required to establish a defense to a claim that the Executive has 

not complied with his duties hereunder or (ii) necessary to the Executive in order to comply with 

applicable law. 

(f) Assignment of Developments. During the Executive's employment, all 

Developments that are at any time made, reduced to practice, conceived or suggested by him, whether 

acting alone or in conjunction with others, shall be the sole and absolute property of the Company 

Group, free of any reserved or other rights of any kind on his part, and the Executive hereby 

irrevocably assigns, conveys and transfers any and all right, title and interest that he may have in such 

Developments to the Company Group. If such Developments were made, reduced to practice, 

conceived or suggested by the Executive during or as a result of his employment relationship with the 

Company, the Executive shall promptly make full disclosure of any such Developments to the 

Company and, at the Company Group's cost and expense, do all acts and things (including, among 

others, the execution and delivery under oath of patent and copyright applications and instruments of 

assignment) deemed by the Company to be necessary or desirable at any time in order to effect the full 

assignment to the Company Group of his right, title and interest, if any, to such Developments. The 

Executive acknowledges and agrees that any invention, concept, design or discovery that concretely 

relates to or is associated with the Executive's work for the Company Group that is described in a 

patent application or is disclosed to a third party, directly or indirectly, by the Executive during the 

Restricted Period shall be the property of and owned by the Company Group, and such disclosure by 

patent application (except by way of a patent application filed by any member of the Company 

Group) or otherwise shall constitute a breach of this Section 9. 

(g) Injunctive Relief. Without intending to limit the remedies available to the 

Company Group, the Executive acknowledges that a breach of any ofthe covenants contained in this 

Section 9 may result in material irreparable injury to the Company Group or any of its members for 

which there is no adequate remedy at law, that it will not be possible to measure damages for such 

injuries precisely and that, in the event of such a breach or threat thereof, the Company shall be 
entitled to obtain a temporary restraining order and/or a preliminary or permanent injunction 

restraining the Executive from engaging in activities prohibited by this 
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Section 9 or such other relief as may be required to specifically enforce any of the 
covenants in this Section 9, without the Company being required to show any actual 
damage or to post an injunction bond. 

(h) Enforceability. Should any of the time periods or the geographic area set forth in 
this Section 9 be held to be unreasonable by any court of competent subject matter jurisdiction, the 
parties hereto agree to petition such court to reduce the time period or geographic area to the 
maximum time period or geographic area, as applicable, permitted by governing law. 

(i) Periods Following the Term. Subject to the provisions of Sections 9(a) and (b), 
the provisions of this Section 9 shall continue in effect in accordance with the provisions hereof 
following the expiration of the Term, including, without limitation, during any period that the 
Executive remains an employee-at-will of the Company. 

G) Reciprocity of Obligations. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this 
Agreement, in the event the Company is obligated to pay the Severance Amount under Section 6(c) of 
this Agreement, the Executive's obligations under Section 9(a) of this Agreement shall be conditioned 
upon payment of the Severance Amount in the manner contemplated by Section 6(c);provided, 
however, that, without limiting any other remedies available to the Company, in the event of the 
Executive's breach of Section 9(a), (b), (c) or (d) of this Agreement, the Company shall cease to have 
any obligation as of the date of such breach to make any payments under Section 6(c) ofthis 
Agreement; provided further, that the Executive's obligations under Section 9(a) shall apply if the 
Company does not pay the Severance Amount to the Executive as a result of the failure of the 
Executive to deliver the release contemplated by Section 6( c )(iii) or the failure of such release to 
become effective in accordance with its terms as a result of the Executive having exercised any right 
of rescission or revocation applicable to such release. The party alleging a breach described in this 
Section 90) shall provide prompt written notice of such breach to the other party hereto, and the party 
receiving such notice shall have I 0 days from the date of delivery of such notice (as determined in 
accordance with Section 11 hereof) to cure such breach to the reasonable satisfaction of the party 
delivering such notice. The party delivering the notice shall not be released of its obligations 
hereunder unless the 1 0-day cure period shall have expired without the alleged breach having been 
cured in the manner described in the previous sentence. 

10. AMENDMENTS. The provisions of this Agreement may not be amended, supplemented, 
waived or changed orally, but only by a writing signed by the party as to whom enforcement of any 
such amendment, supplement, waiver or modification is sought and making specific reference to this 
Agreement. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, the Company may, without the Executive's 
consent, amend any provision of this Agreement to the extent it deems such action necessary or 
advisable to avoid the imposition on any person of additional taxes, penalties or interest under 
Section 409A of the Code, and any such amendment shall not be a basis for a resignation by the 
Executive for Good Reason; provided , howeyer , that any such amendment or modification shall, to 
the maximum extent the Company, reasonably and in good faith determines to be possible, retain the 
economic and tax benefits to the Executive hereunder while not materially increasing the cost to the 
Company Group of providing such benefits to the 
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Executive. Any determinations of the Company pursuant to this Section 10 shall be final, 

conclusive and binding on all persons. 

11. NOTICE. All notices, requests, consents and other communications required or permitted 

under this Agreement shall be in writing (including electronic transmission) and shall be (as elected by 

the person giving such notice) hand delivered by messenger or courier service, electronically 

transmitted, or mailed (airmail if international) by registered or certified mail (postage prepaid), return 

receipt requested, addressed to: 

If to the Executive: 
To the address of the Executive as reflected on the books and records of the 

Company 

If to the Company: 
SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION 

8051 Congress A venue 
Boca Raton, Florida 33487-1307 

Attn: President 

With a copy to: 
Chadbourne & Parke LLP 
130 1 A venue of the Americas 
New York, New York 10019 
Attn: Marjorie M. Glover 

or to such other address as any party may designate by notice complying with the provisions of this 

Section 11. Each such notice shall be deemed delivered (a) on the date delivered if by personal 

delivery; (b) on the date of transmission with confirmed answer back if by electronic transmission; and 

(c) on the date upon which the return receipt is signed or delivery is refused or the notice is designated 

by the postal authorities as not deliverable, as the case may be, if mailed. 

12. ASSIGNMENTS. No party shall assign his or its rights and/or obligations under this 

Agreement without the prior written consent of each other party to this Agreement. The Company will 

require a successor to all or substantially all of the business or assets of the Company to assume 

expressly and to agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent that the 

Company would be required to perform this Agreement if no such succession had taken place. 

13. COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of 

which shall be deemed an original, but all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same 

instrument. Confirmation of execution by electronic transmission of a facsimile signature page shall 

be binding upon any party so confirming. 

14. ARBITRATION. Any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this contract shall 

be determined by arbitration in accordance with the then-existing Commercial Rules of the American 

Arbitration Association. The place of arbitration shall be Palm Beach 
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County, Florida. There shall be one arbitrator, to be selected jointly by the Company and the 

Executive; provided, however, if the Company and the Executive cannot agree, the arbitrator 

shall be appointed by the American Arbitration Association. The Company shall initially pay 

the fees of the arbitrator, provided that the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover 

reasonable attorneys' fees, sales and use taxes, costs (including the arbitrator's fees) and all 

expenses even if not taxable as court costs, incurred in the arbitration proceeding or any legal 

proceeding to enforce any award granted thereunder, in addition to any other relief to which 

such party or parties may be entitled. The parties hereby agree to waive their right to have any 

dispute between them resolved in a court of law by a judge or jury; provided, however , that 

this Section 14 will not prevent the Company Group from seeking equitable or injunctive relief 

(or any other provisional remedy) from any court having jurisdiction over the parties and the 

subject matter hereof relating to a breach or violation or threatened breach or violation of the 

Executive's obligations under Section 9 hereof; provided further that this Section 14 will not 

prevent either party from enforcing any arbitration award granted hereunder in any court 

having jurisdiction over the parties. 

15. PAYMENT OF AMOUNTS AND BENEFITS. Notwithstanding any other provision of 

this Agreement to the contrary, payment of any amount or benefits under this Agreement may be paid, 

distributed or otherwise provided to the Executive by a member of the Company Group. 

16. SEVERABILITY. If any provision of this Agreement or any other agreement entered into 

pursuant hereto is contrary to, prohibited by or deemed invalid under applicable law or regulation, 

such provision shall be inapplicable and deemed omitted to the extent so contrary, prohibited or 

invalid, but the remainder hereof shall not be invalidated thereby and shall be given full force and 

effect so far as possible. If any provision of this Agreement may be construed in two or more ways, 

one of which would render the provision invalid or otherwise voidable or unenforceable and another of 

which would render the provision valid and enforceable, such provision shall have the meaning which 

renders it valid and enforceable. 

17. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement represents the entire understanding and 

agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all other 

negotiations, understandings and representations (if any) made by and between such parties, including 

the Current Agreement, except for the Company's Executive Compensation Recoupment Policy and 

any and all Acknowledgements and Agreements to such policy executed by the Executive; provided 

further , however , that nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to modify any existing equity 

award granted to the Executive by the Company prior to the Effective Date. 

18. GOVERNING LAW. This Agreement and all transactions contemplated by this 

Agreement shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with, the laws of the State 

of Florida applicable to contracts executed and performed entirely in such state. 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date and 

year first above written. 

SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION 

By: Is/ Jeffrey A. Stoops 

Jeffrey A. Stoops 

President and Chief Executive Officer 

Is/Kurt L. Bagwell 

Kurt L. 



AMENDED AND RESTATED EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this" 
Agreement "), between SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION, a Florida corporation (the " 
Company"), and THOMAS P. HUNT (the" Executive"), is made and entered into as of December 
7, 2015 (the" Effective Date"). 

W I TN E S S E T H: 

WHEREAS, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the" Company Group") 
engage in the business of developing, leasing and maintaining wireless telecommunications tower sites 
and other related businesses; 

WHEREAS, the Company and the Executive have previously entere d into an 
Employment Agreement, amended and restated effective as of July 30, 2012, and expiring by its terms 
on December 31, 2015 (the " Current Agreement "); 

WHEREAS, the Current Agreement will expire by its terms on December 31, 2015 
without any obligation of either party thereto to renew or extend such Agreement and without any 
obligation of the Company Group to pay severance or other amounts in connection with such 
expiration; and 

WHEREAS, the Company and the Executive intend to provide for the continued 
employment of the Executive by the Company Group as ofthe Effective Date on the terms and 
conditions set forth in this Agreement. 

NOW, THEREFORE, it is hereby agreed by and between the parties as follows: 

1. EMPLOYMENT. The Company hereby agrees to employ the Executive and the Executive 
hereby agrees to be employed by the Company on the terms and conditions set forth herein. 

2. TERM. The term (the" Term") of employment of the Executive by the Company shall 
commence as ofthe Effective Date and, subject to Section 7(a), shall end December 31, 2018 (the" 
End Date "), unless sooner terminated as hereinafter provided. If the Executive continues in the 
employment of the Company Group following the expiration of the Term, the Executive's 
employment with the Company Group shall be at will, unless and until the parties negotiate and sign a 
new employment agreement regarding such future employment. Neither party shall be under any 
obligation or duty to sign or negotiate any such new employment agreement. 

3. POSITION AND DUTIES. 

(a) The Executive shall serve as the Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Chief 
Administrative Officer ofthe Company. The Executive shall generally perform the duties of a Senior 
Vice President, General Counsel and Chief Administrative Officer for the Company and shall have 
such specific responsibilities, duties and authorities as shall from time 



to time be assigned by the President, Chief Executive Officer, or Board of Directors of 

the Company {the" .I!.Qru:d_"). 

(b) The Executive shall also serve, for no additional consideration, in such other 

positions in the Company Group as determined from time to time by the Board and shall have such 

specific responsibilities, duties and authorities with respect to such positions as shall from time to time 

be assigned by the President, Chief Executive Officer, or the Board. 

(c) The Executive shall devote all his working time and efforts to the business and 

affairs of the Company Group. 

4. COMPENSATION AND RELATED MATTERS. 

(a) Salary. During the Term, the Executive shall be paid an annual salary at the rate in 

effect immediately prior to the Effective Date, which amount may be increased but not decreased by 

the Board (the" Base Salary"). The Company shall pay the Executive the Base Salary in accordance 

with its regular payroll practices as in effect from time to time. Compensation of the Executive by 

payments of Base Salary shall not be deemed exclusive and shall not prevent the Executive from 

participating in any other compensation or benefit plan of the Company Group, subject to the 

eligibility requirements and other terms of such plan. 

(b) Annual Bonus . In addition to the Base Salary, the Executive shall be eligible to 

earn for each calendar year ending during the Term an annual incentive bonus (the" Bonus") based 

on the achievement of one or more performance goals, targets, measurements and other factors 

(collectively, the" Performance Goals") established for such year by the Compensation Committee of 

the Board {the" Committee"). The Executive's target annual bonus (the" Tar~et Bonus") and the 

applicable Performance Goals will be established by the Committee within 90 days of the first day of 

the year to which such Bonus relates; provided , however , that the minimum Target Bonus for each 

full year of service shall be l 00% of the annual rate of Base Salary in effect at the start of such year 

(the" Minimum Target Bonus"). Payment of the Executive's Bonus for any year will be based upon 

the achievement of the Performance Goals established by the Committee for that year (including, 

without limitation, the exercise of the Committee's negative discretion in accordance with its past 

practices with respect to the Performance Goals and related payment schedule established by the 

Committee for such Performance Goals). The actual bonus paid may be higher or lower than the 

Target Bonus for over- or under-achievement of the Performance Goals (including, without limitation, 

as a result of the exercise by the Committee of negative discretion in accordance with its past practices 

with respect to the Performance Goals and related payment schedule established by the Committee for 

such Performance Goals), as determined by the Committee. Subject to Section 6 hereof, a Bonus, if 

any, shall be payable in accordance with the Company's customary bonus payment practices, but in no 

event later than March 15th of the succeeding calendar year. 

(c) Expenses . During the Term, the Executive shall be entitled to receive payment or 

reimbursement for all reasonable expenses incurred by the Executive in performing services 

hereunder, including all expenses of travel and living expenses while away from home on business or 

at the request of and in the service of the Company Group, cell phone expenses and dues and seminar 

fees; provided that such expenses are incurred and accounted for in 
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accordance with the policies and procedures then established by the Company Group 

from time to time; provided further that r-eimbursement shall be made as soon as 

practicable after a request for reimbursement is received by the Company Group in 

accordance with the Company Group's customary expense reimbursement practices, 

but in no event later than the last day of the calendar year next following the calendar 

year in which the expense is incurred. 

(d) Other Benefits. The Executive shall be entitled to participate in or receive benefits 

under any employee benefit plan or arrangement made available by the Company Group in the future 

to its executives and key management employees, subject to and on a basis consistent with the terms, 

conditions and overall administration of such plans and arrangements, which benefits shall include 

disability insurance for as long as the Company Group generally provides disability insurance to its 

officers. Any payments, bonuses or benefits payable to the Executive hereunder in respect of any 

calendar year during which the Executive is employed by the Company for less than the entire such 

year shall, unless otherwise provided in the applicable plan or arrangement, be prorated in accordance 

with the number of days in such calendar year during which the Executive is so employed. 

(e) Group or Family Medical Coverage. During the Term, the Company shall provide 

group or family medical insurance coverage to the Executive and his dependents under a plan for 

employees of the Company Group, and such plan shall include reasonable coverage for medical, 

hospital, surgical and major medical expenses and shall be subject to such deductibles as applicable to 

other Company Group employees. 

5. WITHHOLDING. Both the Executive and the Company agree that all amounts paid 

pursuant to this Agreement shall be subject to all applicable federal, state, local and foreign 

withholding requirements. 

6. TERMINATION. Subject to the provisions set forth in this Section 6, the Company shall 

have the right to terminate the Executive's employment hereunder, and the Executive shall have the 

right to resign his employment with the Company, at any time for any reason or for no stated 

reason. For purposes of this Agreement, the terms "terminate," "terminated," "termination" and 

"resignation" mean a termination of the Executive's employment that constitutes a Separation from 

Service (as defined in Section 6(e)(v) hereof). 

(a) General. Upon a termination of the Executive's employment for any reason, he 

shall be entitled to receive the following amounts (collectively, the" Termination Amount") on the 

next regularly scheduled payroll date after the date of the Executive's termination of 

employment: (i) any accrued and unpaid Base Salary for services performed up to and including the 

date of his termination or resignation, as applicable, (ii) a cash payment (calculated on the basis of his 

Base Salary then in effect) for all unused vacation days that the Executive may have accrued as of his 

date of termination (subject to the terms of the Company's then applicable vacation policies), and 

(iii) any unpaid reimbursement for business expenses the Executive is entitled to receive under 

Section 4(c) hereof. 
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(b) Termination for Cause; Resignation Without Good Reason . 

(i) If, prior to the expiration of the Term, the Executive's employment with the 

Company is terminated by the Company for Cause (as defined below) or if the Executive 

resigns without Good Reason (as defined below), he shall be entitled to receive the 

Termination Amount. Except to the extent required by the terms of any applicable 

compensation or benefit plan or program or otherwise required by applicable law, the 

Executive shall have no right under this Agreement or otherwise to receive any other 

compensation or to participate in any other plan, program or arrangement after such 

termination or resignation of employment with respect to the year of such termination or 

resignation and later years. 

(ii) "Cause" means the occurrence of any of the following events: 

(1) the Executive's willful, material violation of any law or regulation applicable 

to the business of the Company Group; 

(2) the Executive's conviction of, or plea of guilty or "no contest" to, a felony; 

(3) any willful perpetration by the Executive of an act involving moral turpitude 

or common law fraud, whether or not related to his activities on behalf of the Company 

Group; 

(4) any act of gross negligence by the Executive in the performance of his duties 

as an employee of the Company; 

(5) any material violation by the Executive of the Company's Code of Ethics, as 

in effect from time to time; 

(6) the willful and continued failure or refusal of the Executive to satisfactorily 

perform the duties reasonably required of him as an employee of the Company Group; 

(7) the indictment for any crime, whether a felony or misdemeanor, involving 

the purchase or sale of any security, mail or wire fraud, theft, embezzlement, moral 

turpitude, or Company Group property where such indictment has a material adverse 

impact on the Executive's ability to perform his duties under this Agreement; 

(8) any willful misconduct by the Executive that is materially injurious to the 

financial condition, business, or reputation of, or is otherwise materially injurious to, 

any member of the Company Group; or 

(9) any breach by the Executive of Section 9(a), (b), (c) or (d) ofthis 

Agreement. 
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(iii) Termination of the Executive's employment for Cause shall be communicated 

by delivery to the Executive of a written notice from the Board stating that the Executive 

will be terminated for Cause, specifying the particulars thereof and the effective date of 

such termination; provided , however , that upon receipt of such notice, the Executive shall 

have (l) an opportunity to cure the matter constituting Cause within 30 days following the 

Executive's receipt of such notice (provided that the event constituting Cause is then 

susceptible to cure) and (2) an opportunity, together with his counsel, to be heard by the 

Board. The date of the Executive's termination for Cause shall be the date of termination 

specified by the resolution of the Board; provided, however , that such termination shall 

not become effective until no earlier than the date of the meeting of the Board described in 

clause (2) ofthe preceding sentence. The date of a resignation by the Executive shall be the 

date specified in a written notice of resignation to the Company. The Executive shall 

provide at least 30 days' advance written notice of resignation without Good Reason; 

provided, however, that the Company, in its sole discretion, may waive the notice 

requirement in whole or in part. 

(c) Termination Without Cause; Resignation for Good Reason . 

(i) If, prior to the expiration of the Term, the Executive's employment with the 

Company is terminated by the Company without Cause or if the Executive resigns from his 

employment hereunder for Good Reason, then, in addition to the Termination Amount, the 

Executive shall be entitled to receive: 

(l) an amount equal to the sum of the following amounts (collectively, the" 

Severance Amount "): 

(A) an amount equal to the pro rata portion of the Bonus for the year in 

which the termination or resignation occurs, calculated by multiplying (x) the 

Minimum Target Bonus for the year of termination by (y) a fraction, the numerator 

of which is the number of days the Executive was employed during the year of such 

termination or resignation and the denominator of which is 365; plus 

(B) an amount equal to the Applicable Multiple (as defined below) 

multiplied by the sum of: (i) the Base Salary in effect for the year of termination or 

resignation and (ii) the Minimum Target Bonus; and 

(2) continuation of applicable medical, dental and life insurance benefits (based 

on the coverage in effect for the Executive and his dependents at the time of such 

termination or resignation, but excluding any supplemental medical expense 

reimbursement insurance provided by the Company Group), from the date of 

termination or resignation until the earlier to occur of(A) the Applicable Multiple of 

years from the date of termination or (B) the date the Executive becomes eligible for 

comparable benefits provided by a third party (in either case, the " Continuation Period 

");provided , however , that the continuation of such benefits shall be subject to the 

respective terms of the applicable plan, as 
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in effect from time to time, and the timely payment by the Executive of his applicable 
share of the applicable premiums in effect from time to time during the Continuation 
Period. To the extent that reimbursable medical and dental care expenses constitute 
deferred compensation for purposes of Section 409A ofthe Internal Revenue Code of 
1986, as amended (the" Code"), the Company shall reimburse the medical and dental 
care expenses as soon as practicable consistent with the Company's practice, but in no 
event later than the last day of the calendar year next following the calendar year in 
which such expenses are incurred . 

For purposes ofthis Section 6( c), " A£lplicable Multi£lle " means (i) one, in the 
event termination or resignation occurs prior to a Change in Control of the Company (as 
defined in Section 7(b )); and (ii) two, in the event termination or resignation occurs on or 
after a Change in Control of the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if within six 
months prior to the date on which a Change in Control occurs, the Executive's employment 
with the Company Group is terminated by the Company without Cause or by the Executive 
for Good Reason, and it is reasonably demonstrated that such termination of employment 
or Good Reason event was in contemplation of the Change in Control, then the Applicable 
Multiple shall be two, but the Severance Amount payable as a result of such revised 
calculation shall be reduced by any Severance Amount previously paid to the Executive 
under this Section 6( c) by the Company Group as a result of such termination or resignation 
of employment. 

(ii) Subject to the compliance rules set forth in Section 6(e), the Severance Amount 
shall be paid in a lump sum on the first business day ofthe third calendar month following 
the calendar month in which termination by the Company without Cause or resignation by 
the Executive for Good Reason is effective (or, in the event of the Executive's death after 
the date of the Executive's termination or resignation but prior to the date of payment, to 
the Executive's estate or beneficiary, as applicable, together with interest, within 30 days 
following the date ofthe Executive's death). 

(iii) The payment ofthe Severance Amount and the continuation of benefits, 
pursuant to this Section 6( c), shall be contingent upon the Executive executing a full release 
and waiver of claims against the Company Group (which release and waiver of claims, 
once executed and irrevocable, shall not apply to the Company's obligation to pay the 
Severance Amount and continue benefits hereunder), in a form approved by the Board, that 
becomes irrevocable not later than the last day ofthe second calendar month following the 
calendar month in which the Executive's termination or resignation becomes effective in 
accordance with this Section 6(c). Ifthe Executive fails to execute a full release and waiver 
of claims against the Company Group that becomes irrevocable on or before the last day of 
the second calendar month following the calendar month in which the Executive's 
termination or resignation becomes effective, the Company Group's obligations under this 
Section 6(c) shall terminate and the Executive shall not be entitled to further payment of the 
Severance Amount or the continuation of benefits. 
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(iv) "Good Reason" means the occurrence of any of the following events: 

(1) the Executive's position, title, duties, and reporting responsibilities with the 

Company in effect on the Effective Date become less favorable in any material respect; 

provided, however, Good Reason shall not be deemed to occur under this clause ( 1) 

if the following three conditions are satisfied: (A) the diminution in the Executive's 

position, duties or reporting responsibilities is solely and directly a result of the 

Company no longer being a publicly-traded company; (B) the event resulting in the 

Company no longer being a publicly-traded entity is a leveraged buyout, acquisition by 

a private equity fund and/or other similar "going private" transaction and is .DQl.as a 

result of the acquisition of the Company or the business of the Company Group by 

another operating company or parent or subsidiary thereof; and (C) the Executive 

continues to hold the same position and title with the Company and no other act or 

omission has then occurred that would constitute an event of Good Reason under this 

definition; 

(2) (A) a reduction in, or a change in the form of, either the Base Salary or 

Minimum Target Bonus or (B) a reduction in the aggregate amount of the material 

benefits provided to the Executive, as of the Effective Date, other than an across-the­

board reduction applicable to all senior executive officers of the Company Group ; or 

(3) the relocation, without the Executive's consent, of the Executive's principal 

place of business to a location that is more than 60 miles from the Executive's primary 

business location on the Effective Date or, if applicable, from a subsequent primary 

business location agreed to by the Executive. 

(v) In order to constitute Good Reason, (1) the Executive must provide written 

notification of his intention to resign within 30 days after the Executive knows or has 

reason to know of the occurrence of any such event, (2) such event or condition is not 

corrected, in all material respects, by the Company Group within 20 days of its receipt of 

such notice, and (3) the Executive resigns his employment with the Company Group not 

more than 30 days following the expiration of the 20-day period described in the foregoing 

clause (2). 

(vi) Notwithstanding the previous provisions ofthis Section 6(c), it shall not be an 

event of Good Reason under this Agreement for the Company Group ( 1) to adopt (or 

subsequently amend) one or more claw-back, mandatory deferral or other risk management 

policies related to the Company Group's incentive compensation plans or arrangements, 

including without limitation the Company's Executive Compensation Recoupment Policy 

or (2) to adopt (or subsequently amend) stock ownership guidelines related to the 

Company's common stock or (3) to subject the compensation payable to the Executive 

under this Agreement to these policies or guidelines; provided that, except as otherwise 

required by law, such policies are generally applicable to the Company Group's executive 

officers. 
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(vii) The date of termination of employment without Cause shall be the date 

specified in a written notice of termination to the Executive. The date of resignation for 

Good Reason shall be the date specified in a written notice of resignation from the 

Executive to the Company; provided, however, that no such written notice shall be 

effective unless the cure period specified in Section 6(c)(v) above has expired without the 

Company Group having corrected the event or events subject to cure. 

(d) Disability; Death . 

(i) If, as a result of the Executive's incapacity due to physical or mental illness (such 

incapacity being determined by the Board in its reasonable discretion), the Executive shall 

have been absent from his full-time duties as described hereunder for the entire period of 

six consecutive months(" Disability"), the Executive's employment shall terminate at the 

end of the six-month period. 

(ii) Upon a termination pursuant to this Section 6(d) as a result of Disability or as a 

result of the Executive's death, the Executive (or his estate or beneficiary, as 

applicable) shall be entitled to receive: 

(1) the Termination Amount, and 

(2) an amount equal to the pro rata portion of the Bonus for the year in which 

the termination occurs, calculated by multiplying (x) the Minimum Target Bonus for 

the year of termination by (y) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days 

the Executive was employed during the year of termination and the denominator of 

which is 365. 

(iii) If the Executive's employment is terminated pursuant to this Section 6(d) as a 

result of his Disability, then subject to Section 6(e), the pro rata Bonus shall be paid in a 

lump sum on the first business day of the third calendar month following the calendar 

month in which termination pursuant to this Section 6(d) is effective. 

(iv) If the Executive's employment is terminated as of result of his death, the pro 

rata Bonus shall be paid within 30 days after the date of the Executive's death. 

(v) Except to the extent required by the terms of any applicable compensation or 

benefit plan or program or otherwise required by applicable law, the Executive shall have 

no right under this Agreement or otherwise to receive any other compensation or to 

participate in any other plan, program or arrangement after such termination. 

(e) Section 409A Compliance. 

(i) If, at the time of the Executive's termination or resignation with the Company, 

the Executive is a Specified Employee (as defined below), then the Severance Amount, the 

pro rata Bonus contemplated by Section 6(d) and any other amounts payable under this 

Agreement that the Company determines constitutes deferred compensation within the 

meaning of Section 409A ofthe Code and which 
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are subject to the six-month delay required by Treas. Reg. Section 1.409A-l(c){3)(v), shall 

be delayed and not paid to the Executive until the first business day following the six­

month anniversary of the Executive's date oftermination or resignation (the" Short-Term 

Deferral Date "), at which time such delayed amounts will be paid to the Executive in a 

cash lump sum (the" Catch-Up Amount"). 

(ii) If payment of an amount is delayed as a result of this Section 6( e), such amount 

shall be increased with interest from the date on which such amount would otherwise have 

been paid to the Executive but for this Section 6( e) to the day prior to the date the Catch-Up 

Amount is paid. The rate of interest shall be the applicable short-term federal rate 

applicable under Section 7872(f){2)(A) of the Code for the month in which the date of the 

Executive's termination or resignation occurs. Such interest shall be paid at the same time 

that the Catch-Up Amount is paid. 

(iii) If the Executive dies on or after the date of the Executive's termination or 

resignation and prior to the Short-Term Deferral Date, any amount delayed pursuant to this 

Section 6(e) shall be paid to the Executive's estate or beneficiary, as applicable, together 

with interest, within 30 days following the date of the Executive's death. 

(iv)" Specified Employee" has the meaning set forth in Section 409A(a)(2){B) 

(i) of the Code. The determination of whether the Executive constitutes a Specified 

Employee on the date of his termination or resignation shall be made in accordance with 

the Company's established methodology for determining Specified Employees. 

{v)" Separation from Service" means a "separation from service" from the 

Company within the meaning of the default rules under the final regulations issued 

pursuant to Section 409A of the Code. 

(vi) The provisions of this Section 6(e) shall apply notwithstanding any provision of 

this Agreement related to the timing of payments following the Executive's termination or 

resignation. For purposes of applying the provisions of Section 409 A of the Code to this 

Agreement, each separately identifiable amount to which the Executive is entitled under 

this Agreement shall be treated as a separate payment. 

7. CHANGE IN CONTROL. 

(a) If a Change in Control of the Company (as defined below) shall become effective 

during the Term, the Term shall automatically be deemed to end on the later of(i) the End Date (as 

defined in Section 2) or (ii) the second anniversary of the effective date of such Change in Control. 

(b) A " Chan~:e in Control " shall be deemed to have occurred when: 

(i) any person is or becomes the "beneficial owner" (as defined in Rule 13d-3 of the 

Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company 
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representing 35% or more of the combined voting power of the Company's then­
outstanding securities; or 

(ii) during any 24-month period, individuals who, as of the beginning of such 
period, constitute the Board (the " Incumbent Directors ") cease for any reason to constitute 
a majority of the Board; provided that any new director subsequent to the beginning of such 
period (other than a director whose initial assumption of office is in connection with an 
actual or threatened election contest, including, but not limited to, a consent solicitation, 
relating to the election of directors of the Company) whose appointment or election by the 
Board or nomination for election by the Company's shareholders was approved or 
recommended by a vote of at least a majority of the Incumbent Directors shall be an 
Incumbent Director; or 

(iii) there is consummated a merger or consolidation of the Company, other than 
(A) a merger or consolidation which would result in the voting securities of the Company 
outstanding immediately prior to such merger or consolidation continuing to represent 
(either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the 
surviving entity or any parent thereof), in combination with the ownership of any trustee or 
other fiduciary holding securities under an employee benefit plan of the Company or any 
subsidiary, at least 50% of the combined voting power of the securities of the Company or 
such surviving entity or any parent thereof outstanding immediately after such merger or 
consolidation, or (B) a merger or consolidation effected to implement a recapitalization of 
the Company (or similar transaction) in which no person is or becomes the beneficial 
owner, directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company (not including in the securities 
beneficially owned by such person any securities acquired directly from the Company or its 
affiliates other than in connection with the securities acquired directly from the Company 
or its affiliates other than in connection with the acquisition by the Company or its affiliates 
of a business) representing 50% or more ofthe combined voting power ofthe Company's 
then outstanding securities; or 

(iv) the shareholders of the Company approve a plan of cqmplete liquidation or 
dissolution of the Company or there is consummated an agreement for the sale or 
disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company's assets, other than a 
sale or disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company's assets to an 
entity, at least 50% of the combined voting power of the voting securities of which are 
owned by shareholders of the Company in substantially the same proportions as their 
ownership of the Company immediately prior to such sale. 

8. SECTION 4999 EXCISE TAX LIMITATION. 

(a) In the event that it shall be determined that (X) any amount or benefit paid, 
distributed or otherwise provided to the Executive by the Company Group, whether pursuant to this 
Agreement or otherwise (collectively, the " Covered Payments "), would be subject to the excise tax 
imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (the" Excise Tax"), and (Y) the reduction of the amounts 
payable to the Executive under this Agreement or with respect to stock options and equity awards to 
the maximum amount that could be paid to the Executive without 
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giving rise to the Excise Tax (the" S~fe Harbor Cap") would provide the Executive 

with a greater after-tax amount than if such amounts were not reduced, then, subject to 

the further limitations set forth herein, the Covered Payments shall be reduced (but not 

below zero) to the Safe Harbor Cap. The reductions, if applicable, shall be made to the 

extent necessary in the following order: ( i) the acceleration of vesting of stock options 

and other equity awards with an exercise price that exceeds the then fair market value 

of the stock subject to the award; (ii) the payments under Section 6(c)(i)(l)(A) hereof; 

(iii) the payments under Section 6(c)(i)(l)(B) hereof; (iv) the continuation of benefits 

under Section 6(c)(i)(2) hereof; and (v) the acceleration of vesting of all other stock 

options and equity awards. For purposes of reducing the Covered Payments to the Safe 

Harbor Cap, only amounts payable under this Agreement and with respect to stock 

options and equity awards (and no other Covered Payments) shall be reduced. If the 

reduction would not result in a greater after-tax result to the Executive, no amounts 

payable under this Agreement or with respect to stock options and equity awards shall 

be reduced pursuant to this provision. 

(b) A nationally recognized firm of independent accountants, selected by the Company 

after consultation with the Executive, shall perform the foregoing calculations. The Company shall 

bear all expenses with respect to the determinations by such accounting firm required to be made 

hereunder. Such accounting firm shall apply the provisions of this Section 8 in a reasonable manner 

and in good faith in accordance with then prevailing practices in the interpretation and application of 

Section 4999 ofthe Code. For purposes of applying the provisions ofthis Section 8, the Company 

shall be entitled to rely on the written advice of legal counsel or such accounting firm as to whether 

one or more Covered Payments constitute "parachute payments" under Section 4999 of the Code. 

(c) The accounting firm engaged to make the determinations hereunder shall provide its 

calculations, together with detailed supporting documentation, to the Company and the Executive 

within 30 calendar days after the date that such accounting firm has been engaged to make such 

determinations or such other time as requested by the Company or the Executive. If payments are 

reduced to the Safe Harbor Cap or the accounting firm determines that no Excise Tax is payable by the 

Executive without a reduction in Covered Payments, it shall furnish the Company and the Executive 

with an opinion to such effect, that the Executive is not required to report any Excise Tax on the 

Executive's federal income tax return, and that the failure to report the Excise Tax, if any, on the 

Executive's applicable federal income tax return will not result in the imposition of a negligence or 

similar penalty. Any good faith determinations of the accounting firm made hereunder shall be final, 

binding, and conclusive upon the Company and the Executive. 

9. PROTECTION OF THE COMPANY GROUP'S INTERESTS. 

(a) No Competing Employment. For so long as the Executive is employed by the 

Company, and (i) during a period of two years after his employment with the Company has been 

terminated by reason of termination without Cause or resignation for Good Reason in which the 

Applicable Multiple is two, or (ii) during a period of one year after his employment with the Company 

Group has been terminated in all other circumstances (such period of employment and applicable post­

employment period hereinafter referred to as the " Restricted Period "), the Executive shall not, 

without the prior written consent of the Board, directly or indirectly, own an interest in, manage, 

operate, join, control, lend money or render financial or 
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other assistance to or participate in or be connected with, as an officer, employee, 
partner, stockholder, consultant or otherwise, any individual, partnership, firm, 
corporation or other business organization or entity that competes with the business of 
the Company Group by providing any goods or services provided or under development 
by the Company Group at the effective date of the Executive's termination of 
employment (the" Business ");provided, however, that this Section 9(a) shall not 
proscribe the Executive's ownership, either directly or indirectly, ofless than one 
percent of any class of securities which are regularly traded on a national securities 
exchange or interdealer quotation system. 

(b) No Interference. During the Restricted Period, the Executive shall not, directly or 
indirectly, whether for his own account or for the account of any other individual, partnership, firm, 
corporation or other business organization (other than the Company Group), (i) solicit, or endeavor to 
entice away from the Company Group, or otherwise interfere with the relationship of the Company 
Group with, any person or entity who is, or was within the then most recent 12 month period, 
(A) employed by, or otherwise engaged to perform services for, the Company Group, or (B) a 
customer or client of the Company Group, (ii) assist or encourage any other person in carrying out, 
directly or indirectly, any activity that would be prohibited by the provisions of this Section 9(b) if 
such activity were carried out by the Executive, and, in particular, the Executive agrees that he will 
not, directly or indirectly, induce any employee of the Company Group to carry out any such activity, 
or (iii) otherwise interfere with the business of the Company Group. 

(c) Non-Disparagement. For so long as the Executive is employed by the Company 
Group, and at all times thereafter, the Executive shall not intentionally make any public statement, or 
publicly release any information, that disparages or defames the Company Group, or any of its officers 
and directors, and shall not intentionally cause or encourage any other person to make any such 
statement or publicly release any such information. 

(d) Confidentiality . The Executive understands and acknowledges that, in the course 
of his employment, he has had and will continue to have access to and will learn confidential 
information regarding the Company Group that concerns the technological innovations, operations and 
methodologies of the Company Group, including, without limitation, business plans, financial 
information, protocols, proposals, manuals, procedures and guidelines, computer source codes, 
programs, software, know-how and specifications, inventions, copyrights, trade secrets, market 
information, Developments (as hereinafter defined), data and customer information (collectively," 
Proprietary Information "). The Executive recognizes that the use or disclosure of Proprietary 
Information could cause the Company Group substantial loss and damages, which could not be readily 
calculated, and for which no remedy at law would be adequate. Accordingly, the Executive agrees 
that for so long as he is employed by the Company Group, and at all times thereafter, he shall keep 
confidential and shall not, directly or indirectly, disclose any such Proprietary Information to any third 
party, except as required to fulfill his duties in connection with his positions within the Company 
Group, and shall not misuse, misappropriate or exploit such Proprietary Information in any way. The 
restrictions contained herein shall not apply to any information that the Executive can demonstrate 
(i) was already available to the public at the time of disclosure, or subsequently became available to 
the public, otherwise than by breach of this Agreement or (ii) was the subject of a court order to 
disclose. 
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" Developments " shall mean all data, discoveries, findings, reports, designs, 
inventions, improvements, methods, practices, techniques, developments, programs, concepts and 
ideas, whether or not patentable, and works of authorship relating to the present or planned activities, 
or the products and services of the Company Group. 

(e) Exclusive Property . The Executive confirms that all Proprietary Information is and 
shall remain the exclusive property of the Company Group. All business records, papers and 
documents kept or made by him relating to the business of the Company Group shall be and remain 
the property of the Company. Upon the termination of the Executive's employment with the 
Company or upon the request of the Company at any time, he shall promptly deliver to the Company 
Group, and shall not, without the consent of the Company, retain copies of any written materials not 
previously made available to the public, or records and documents made by the Executive or coming 
into his possession concerning the business or affairs of the Company Group; provided , however , that 
subsequent to any such termination, the Company shall provide the Executive with copies (the cost of 
which shall be borne by the Executive) of any documents that are requested by the Executive and that 
he has determined in good faith are (i) required to establish a defense to a claim that the Executive has 
not complied with his duties hereunder or (ii) necessary to the Executive in order to comply with 
applicable law. 

(f) Assignment of Developments. During the Executive's employment, all 
Developments that are at any time made, reduced to practice, conceived or suggested by him, whether 
acting alone or in conjunction with others, shall be the sole and absolute property of the Company 
Group, free of any reserved or other rights of any kind on his part, and the Executive hereby 
irrevocably assigns, conveys and transfers any and all right, title and interest that he may have in such 
Developments to the Company Group. If such Developments were made, reduced to practice, 
conceived or suggested by the Executive during or as a result of his employment relationship with the 
Company, the Executive shall promptly make full disclosure of any such Developments to the 
Company and, at the Company Group's cost and expense, do all acts and things (including, among 
others, the execution and delivery under oath of patent and copyright applications and instruments of 
assignment) deemed by the Company to be necessary or desirable at any time in order to effect the full 
assignment to the Company Group of his right, title and interest, if any, to such Developments. The 
Executive acknowledges and agrees that any invention, concept, design or discovery that concretely 
relates to or is associated with the Executive's work for the Company Group that is described in a 
patent application or is disclosed to a third party, directly or indirectly, by the Executive during the 
Restricted Period shall be the property of and owned by the Company Group, and such disclosure by 
patent application (except by way of a patent application filed by any member of the Company 
Group) or otherwise shall constitute a breach of this Section 9. 

(g) Injunctive Relief. Without intending to limit the remedies available to the 
Company Group, the Executive acknowledges that a breach of any of the covenants contained in this 
Section 9 may result in material irreparable injury to the Company Group or any of its members for 
which there is no adequate remedy at law, that it will not be possible to measure damages for such 
injuries precisely and that, in the event of such a breach or threat thereof, the Company shall be 
entitled to obtain a temporary restraining order and/or a preliminary or permanent injunction 
restraining the Executive from engaging in activities prohibited by this 
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Section 9 or such other relief as may be required to specifically enforce any of the 

covenants in this Section 9, without the Company being required to show any actual 

damage or to post an injunction bond. 

(h) Enforceability. Should any of the time periods or the geographic area set forth in 

this Section 9 be held to be unreasonable by any court of competent subject matter jurisdiction, the 

parties hereto agree to petition such court to reduce the time period or geographic area to the 

maximum time period or geographic area, as applicable, permitted by governing law. 

(i) Periods Following the Term. Subject to the provisions of Sections 9(a) and (b), 

the provisions of this Section 9 shall continue in effect in accordance with the provisions hereof 

following the expiration of the Term, including, without limitation, during any period that the 

Executive remains an employee-at-will ofthe Company. 

G) Reciprocity of Obligations. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this 

Agreement, in the event the Company is obligated to pay the Severance Amount under Section 6( c) of 

this Agreement, the Executive's obligations under Section 9(a) of this Agreement shall be conditioned 

upon payment of the Severance Amount in the manner contemplated by Section 6(c);provided, 

however, that, without limiting any other remedies available to the Company, in the event of the 

Executive's breach of Section 9(a), (b), (c) or (d) of this Agreement, the Company shall cease to have 

any obligation as of the date of such breach to make any payments under Section 6( c) of this 

Agreement;providedfurther, that the Executive's obligations under Section 9(a) shall apply ifthe 

Company does not pay the Severance Amount to the Executive as a result of the failure of the 

Executive to deliver the release contemplated by Section 6( c )(iii) or the failure of such release to 

become effective in accordance with its terms as a result of the Executive having exercised any right 

of rescission or revocation applicable to such release. The party alleging a breach described in this 

Section 90) shall provide prompt written notice of such breach to the other party hereto, and the party 

receiving such notice shall have 10 days from the date of delivery of such notice (as determined in 

accordance with Section 11 hereof) to cure such breach to the reasonable satisfaction of the party 

delivering such notice. The party delivering the notice shall not be released of its obligations 

hereunder unless the 1 0-day cure period shall have expired without the alleged breach having been 

cured in the manner described in the previous sentence. 

10. AMENDMENTS. The provisions of this Agreement may not be amended, supplemented, 

waived or changed orally, but only by a writing signed by the party as to whom enforcement of any 

such amendment, supplement, waiver or modification is sought and making specific reference to this 

Agreement. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, the Company may, without the Executive's 

consent, amend any provision of this Agreement to the extent it deems such action necessary or 

advisable to avoid the imposition on any person of additional taxes, penalties or interest under 

Section 409A of the Code, and any such amendment shall not be a basis for a resignation by the 

Executive for Good Reason; provided, however, that any such amendment or modification shall, to 

the maximum extent the Company, reasonably and in good faith determines to be possible, retain the 

economic and tax benefits to the Executive hereunder while not materially increasing the cost to the 

Company Group of providing such benefits to the 
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Executive. Any determinations of the Company pursuant to this Section 10 shall be final, 
conclusive and binding on all persons. 

11. NOTICE. All notices, requests, consents and other communications required or permitted 

under this Agreement shall be in writing (including electronic transmission) and shall be (as elected by 

the person giving such notice) hand delivered by messenger or courier service, electronically 

transmitted, or mailed (airmail if international) by registered or certified mail (postage prepaid), return 

receipt requested, addressed to: 

If to the Executive: 
To the address of the Executive as reflected on the books and records ofthe 
Company 

If to the Company: 
SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION 
8051 Congress A venue 
Boca Raton, Florida 33487-1307 
Attn: President 

With a copy to: 
Chadbourne & Parke LLP 
1301 Avenue of the Americas 
New York, New York 10019 
Attn: Marjorie M. Glover 

or to such other address as any party may designate by notice complying with the provisions of this 

Section 11. Each such notice shall be deemed delivered (a) on the date delivered if by personal 

delivery; (b) on the date of transmission with confirmed answer back if by electronic transmission; and 

(c) on the date upon which the return receipt is signed or delivery is refused or the notice is designated 

by the postal authorities as not deliverable, as the case may be, if mailed. 

12. ASSIGNMENTS. No party shall assign his or its rights and/or obligations under this 

Agreement without the prior written consent of each other party to this Agreement. The Company will 

require a successor to all or substantially all of the business or assets of the Company to assume 
expressly and to agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent that the 

Company would be required to perform this Agreement if no such succession had taken place. 

13. COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of 

which shall be deemed an original, but all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same 

instrument. Confirmation of execution by electronic transmission of a facsimile signature page shall 

be binding upon any party so confirming. 

14. ARBITRATION. Any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this contract shall 

be determined by arbitration in accordance with the then-existing Commercial 
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Rules ofthe American Arbitration Association. The place of arbitration shall be Palm Beach 
County, Florida. There shall be one arbitrator, to be selected jointly by the Company and the 
Executive; provided, however, if the Company and the Executive cannot agree, the arbitrator 
shall be appointed by the American Arbitration Association. The Company shall initially pay 
the fees of the arbitrator, provided that the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover 
reasonable attorneys' fees, sales and use taxes, costs (including the arbitrator's fees) and all 
expenses even if not taxable as court costs, incurred in the arbitration proceeding or any legal 
proceeding to enforce any award granted thereunder, in addition to any other relief to which 
such party or parties may be entitled. The parties hereby agree to waive their right to have any 
dispute between them resolved in a court oflaw by a judge or jury; provided, however , that 
this Section 14 will not prevent the Company Group from seeking equitable or injunctive relief 
(or any other provisional remedy) from any court having jurisdiction over the parties and the 
subject matter hereof relating to a breach or violation or threatened breach or violation of the 
Executive's obligations under Section 9 hereof; provided further that this Section 14 will not 
prevent either party from enforcing any arbitration award granted hereunder in any court 
having jurisdiction over the parties. 

15. PAYMENT OF AMOUNTS AND BENEFITS. Notwithstanding any other provision of 
this Agreement to the contrary, payment of any amount or benefits under this Agreement may be paid, 
distributed or otherwise provided to the Executive by a member of the Company Group. 

16. SEVERABILITY. If any provision of this Agreement or any other agreement entered into 
pursuant hereto is contrary to, prohibited by or deemed invalid under applicable law or regulation, 
such provision shall be inapplicable and deemed omitted to the extent so contrary, prohibited or 
invalid, but the remainder hereof shall not be invalidated thereby and shall be given full force and 
effect so far as possible. If any provision of this Agreement may be construed in two or more ways, 
one of which would render the provision invalid or otherwise voidable or unenforceable and another of 
which would render the provision valid and enforceable, such provision shall have the meaning which 
renders it valid and enforceable. 

17. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement represents the entire understanding and 
agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all other 
negotiations, understandings and representations (if any) made by and between such parties, including 
the Current Agreement, except for the Company's Executive Compensation Recoupment Policy and 
any and all Acknowledgements and Agreements to such policy executed by the Executive; provided 
further, however , that nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to modify any existing equity 
award granted to the Executive by the Company prior to the Effective Date. 

18. GOVERNING LAW. This Agreement and all transactions contemplated by this 
Agreement shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with, the laws of the State 
of Florida applicable to contracts executed and performed entirely in such state. 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date and 
year first above written. 

SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION 

By: /s/ Jeffrey A. Stoops 
Jeffrey A. Stoops 
President and Chief Executive Officer 

Is/ Thomas P. Hunt 

Thomas P. Hunt 



AMENDED AND RESTATED EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT 

THIS AMENDED AND RESTATED EMPLOYMENT AGREEMENT (this " 

Agreement"), between SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION, a Florida corporation (the " 

Company "), and BRENDAN T. CAVANAGH (the " Executive "), is made and entered into as of 

December 7, 2015 (the" Effective Date"). 

WITNESSETH: 

WHEREAS, the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively, the" Company Groyp ") 

engage in the business of developing, leasing and maintaining wireless telecommunications tower sites 

and other related businesses; 

WHEREAS, the Company and the Executive have previously entere d into an 

Employment Agreement, amended and restated effective as of July 30,2012, and expiring by its terms 

on December 31, 2015 (the " Current Agreement "); 

WHEREAS, the Current Agreement will expire by its terms on December 31, 2015 

without any obligation of either party thereto to renew or extend such Agreement and without any 

obligation of the Company Group to pay severance or other amounts in connection with such 

expiration; and 

WHEREAS, the Company and the Executive intend to provide for the continued 

employment of the Executive by the Company Group as of the Effective Date on the terms and 

conditions set forth in this Agreement. 

NOW, THEREFORE, it is hereby agreed by and between the parties as follows: 

1. EMPLOYMENT. The Company hereby agrees to employ the Executive and the Executive 

hereby agrees to be employed by the Company on the terms and conditions set forth herein. 

2. TERM. The term (the " Term ") of employment of the Executive by the Company shall 

commence as of the Effective Date and, subject to Section 7(a), shall end December 31,2018 (the" 

End Date "), unless sooner terminated as hereinafter provided. If the Executive continues in the 

employment of the Company Group following the expiration of the Term, the Executive's 

employment with the Company Group shall be at will, unless and until the parties negotiate and sign a 

new employment agreement regarding such future employment. Neither party shall be under any 

obligation or duty to sign or negotiate any such new employment agreement. 

3. POSITION AND DUTIES. 

(a) The Executive shall serve as the Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer 

of the Company. The Executive shall generally perform the duties of a Senior Vice President and 

Chief Financial Officer for the Company and shall have such specific 



responsibilities, duties and authorities as shall from time to time be assigned by the 

President, Chief Executive Officer, or Board of Directors of the Company (the" Board 

"). 

(b) The Executive shall also serve, for no additional consideration, in such other 

positions in the Company Group as determined from time to time by the Board and shall have such 

specific responsibilities, duties and authorities with respect to such positions as shall from time to time 

be assigned by the President, Chief Executive Officer, or the Board. 

(c) The Executive shall devote all his working time and efforts to the business and 

affairs of the Company Group. 

4. COMPENSATION AND RELATED MATTERS. 

(a) Salary. During the Term, the Executive shall be paid an annual salary at the rate in 

effect immediately prior to the Effective Date, which amount may be increased but not decreased by 

the Board (the " Base Salary "). The Company shall pay the Executive the Base Salary in accordance 

with its regular payroll practices as in effect from time to time. Compensation of the Executive by 

payments of Base Salary shall not be deemed exclusive and shall not prevent the Executive from 

participating in any other compensation or benefit plan ofthe Company Group, subject to the 

eligibility requirements and other terms of such plan. 

(b) Annual Bonus. In addition to the Base Salary, the Executive shall be eligible to 

earn for each calendar year ending during the Term an annual incentive bonus (the" Bonus") based 

on the achievement of one or more performance goals, targets, measurements and other factors 

(collectively, the" Performance Goals") established for such year by the Compensation Committee of 

the Board (the" Committee"). The Executive's target annual bonus (the" Target Bonus") and the 

applicable Performance Goals will be established by the Committee within 90 days of the first day of 

the year to which such Bonus relates; provided , however , that the minimum Target Bonus for each 

full year of service shall be 100% of the annual rate ofBase Salary in effect at the start of such year 

(the" Minimum Target ijonus "). Payment of the Executive's Bonus for any year will be based upon 

the achievement of the Performance Goals established by the Committee for that year (including, 

without limitation, the exercise of the Committee's negative discretion in accordance with its past 

practices with respect to the Performance Goals and related payment schedule established by the 

Committee for such Performance Goals). The actual bonus paid may be higher or lower than the 

Target Bonus for over- or under-achievement ofthe Performance Goals (including, without limitation, 

as a result of the exercise by the Committee of negative discretion in accordance with its past practices 

with respect to the Performance Goals and related payment schedule established by the Committee for 

such Performance Goals), as determined by the Committee. Subject to Section 6 hereof, a Bonus, if 

any, shall be payable in accordance with the Company's customary bonus payment practices, but in no 

event later than March 15th of the succeeding calendar year. 

(c) Expenses. During the Term, the Executive shall be entitled to receive payment or 

reimbursement for all reasonable expenses incurred by the Executive in performing services 

hereunder, including all expenses of travel and living expenses while away from home on business or 

at the request of and in the service of the Company Group, cell phone expenses and dues and seminar 

fees; provided that such expenses are incurred and accounted for in 
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accordance with the policies and procedures then established by the Company Group 
from time to time; provided further that reimbursement shall be made as soon as 
practicable after a request for reimbursement is received by the Company Group in 
accordance with the Company Group's customary expense reimbursement practices, 
but in no event later than the last day of the calendar year next following the calendar 
year in which the expense is incurred. 

(d) Other Benefits. The Executive shall be entitled to participate in or receive benefits 
under any employee benefit plan or arrangement made available by the Company Group in the future 
to its executives and key management employees, subject to and on a basis consistent with the terms, 
conditions and overall administration of such plans and arrangements, which benefits shall include 
disability insurance for as long as the Company Group generally provides disability insurance to its 
officers. Any payments, bonuses or benefits payable to the Executive hereunder in respect of any 
calendar year during which the Executive is employed by the Company for less than the entire such 
year shall, unless otherwise provided in the applicable plan or arrangement, be prorated in accordance 
with the number of days in such calendar year during which the Executive is so employed. 

(e) Group or Family Medical Coverage. During the Term, the Company shall provide 
group or family medical insurance coverage to the Executive and his dependents under a plan for 
employees of the Company Group, and such plan shall include reasonable coverage for medical, 
hospital, surgical and major medical expenses and shall be subject to such deductibles as applicable to 
other Company Group employees. 

5. WITHHOLDING. Both the Executive and the Company agree that all amounts paid 
pursuant to this Agreement shall be subject to all applicable federal, state, local and foreign 
withholding requirements. 

6. TERMINATION. Subject to the provisions set forth in this Section 6, the Company shall 
have the right to terminate the Executive's employment hereunder, and the Executive shall have the 
right to resign his employment with the Company, at any time for any reason or for no stated 
reason. For purposes of this Agreement, the terms "terminate," "terminated," "termination" and 
"resignation" mean a termination of the Executive's employment that constitutes a Separation from 
Service (as defined in Section 6(e)(v) hereof). 

(a) General. Upon a termination of the Executive's employment for any reason, he 
shall be entitled to receive the following amounts (collectively, the" Termination Amount") on the 
next regularly scheduled payroll date after the date of the Executive's termination of 
employment: (i) any accrued and unpaid Base Salary for services performed up to and including the 
date of his termination or resignation, as applicable, (ii) a cash payment (calculated on the basis of his 
Base Salary then in effect) for all unused vacation days that the Executive may have accrued as of his 
date of termination (subject to the terms of the Company's then applicable vacation policies), and 
(iii) any unpaid reimbursement for business expenses the Executive is entitled to receive under 
Section 4( c) hereof. 
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(b) Termination for Cause; Resignation Without Good Reason. 

(i) If, prior to the expiration of the Term, the Executive's employment with the 

Company is terminated by the Company for Cause (as defined below) or if the Executive 

resigns without Good Reason (as defined below), he shall be entitled to receive the 

Termination Amount. Except to the extent required by the terms of any applicable 

compensation or benefit plan or program or otherwise required by applicable law, the 

Executive shall have no right under this Agreement or otherwise to receive any other 

compensation or to participate in any other plan, program or arrangement after such 

termination or resignation of employment with respect to the year of such termination or 

resignation and later years. 

(ii) "Cause" means the occurrence of any ofthe following events: 

(1) the Executive's willful, material violation of any law or regulation applicable 

to the business of the Company Group; 

(2) the Executive's conviction of, or plea of guilty or "no contest" to, a felony; 

(3) any willful perpetration by the Executive of an act involving moral turpitude 

or common law fraud, whether or not related to his activities on behalf of the Company 

Group; 

(4) any act of gross negligence by the Executive in the performance of his duties 

as an employee of the Company; 

(5) any material violation by the Executive of the Company's Code of Ethics, as 

in effect from time to time; 

(6) the willful and continued failure or refusal of the Executive to satisfactorily 

perform the duties reasonably required ofhim as an employee of the Company Group; 

(7) the indictment for any crime, whether a felony or misdemeanor, involving 

the purchase or sale of any security, mail or wire fraud, theft, embezzlement, moral 

turpitude, or Company Group property where such indictment has a material adverse 

impact on the Executive's ability to perform his duties under this Agreement; 

(8) any willful misconduct by the Executive that is materially injurious to the 

financial condition, business, or reputation of, or is otherwise materially injurious to, 

any member of the Company Group; or 

(9) any breach by the Executive of Section 9(a), (b), (c) or (d) of this 

Agreement. 
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(iii) Termination of the Executive's employment for Cause shall be communicated 
by delivery to the Executive of a written notice from the Board stating that the Executive 
will be terminated for Cause, specifying the particulars thereof and the effective date of 
such termination; provided, however, that upon receipt of such notice, the Executive shall 
have ( 1) an opportunity to cure the matter constituting Cause within 30 days following the 
Executive's receipt of such notice (provided that the event constituting Cause is then 
susceptible to cure) and (2) an opportunity, together with his counsel, to be heard by the 
Board. The date of the Executive's termination for Cause shall be the date of termination 
specified by the resolution of the Board; provided , however , that such termination shall 
not become effective until no earlier than the date of the meeting of the Board described in 
clause (2) of the preceding sentence. The date of a resignation by the Executive shall be the 
date specified in a written notice of resignation to the Company. The Executive shall 
provide at least 30 days' advance written notice of resignation without Good Reason; 
provided, however, that the Company, in its sole discretion, may waive the notice 
requirement in whole or in part. 

(c) Termination Without Cause; Resignation for Good Reason . 

(i) If, prior to the expiration of the Term, the Executive's employment with the 
Company is terminated by the Company without Cause or if the Executive resigns from his 
employment hereunder for Good Reason, then, in addition to the Termination Amount, the 
Executive shall be entitled to receive: 

(1) an amount equal to the sum of the following amounts (collectively, the" 
Severance Amount "): 

(A) an amount equal to the pro rata portion of the Bonus for the year in 
which the termination or resignation occurs, calculated by multiplying (x) the 
Minimum Target Bonus for the year of termination by (y) a fraction, the numerator 
of which is the number of days the Executive was employed during the year of such 
termination or resignation and the denominator of which is 365; plus 

(B) an amount equal to the Applicable Multiple (as defined below) 
multiplied by the sum of: (i) the Base Salary in effect for the year of termination or 
resignation and (ii) the Minimum Target Bonus; and 

(2) continuation of applicable medical, dental and life insurance benefits (based 
on the coverage in effect for the Executive and his dependents at the time of such 
termination or resignation, but excluding any supplemental medical expense 
reimbursement insurance provided by the Company Group), from the date of 
termination or resignation until the earlier to occur of (A) the Applicable Multiple of 
years from the date of termination or (B) the date the Executive becomes eligible for 
comparable benefits provided by a third party (in either case, the" Continuation Period 
");provided, however, that the continuation of such benefits shall be subject to the 
respective terms of the applicable plan, as 
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in effect from time to time, and the timely payment by the Executive of his applicable 
share of the applicable premiums in effect from time to time during the Continuation 
Period. To the extent that reimbursable medical and dental care expenses constitute 
deferred compensation for purposes of Section 409A of the Internal Revenue Code of 
1986, as amended (the" Qruk."), the Company shall reimburse the medical and dental 
care expenses as soon as practicable consistent with the Company's practice, but in no 
event later than the last day of the calendar year next following the calendar year in 
which such expenses are incurred . 

For purposes ofthis Section 6(c), "Applicable Multiple" means (i) one, in the 
event termination or resignation occurs prior to a Change in Control of the Company (as 
defined in Section 7(b )); and (ii) two, in the event termination or resignation occurs on or 
after a Change in Control of the Company. Notwithstanding the foregoing, if within six 
months prior to the date on which a Change in Control occurs, the Executive's employment 
with the Company Group is terminated by the Company without Cause or by the Executive 
for Good Reason, and it is reasonably demonstrated that such termination of employment 
or Good Reason event was in contemplation of the Change in Control, then the Applicable 
Multiple shall be two, but the Severance Amount payable as a result of such revised 
calculation shall be reduced by any Severance Amount previously paid to the Executive 
under this Section 6( c) by the Company Group as a result of such termination or resignation 
of employment. 

(ii) Subject to the compliance rules set forth in Section 6( e), the Severance Amount 
shall be paid in a lump sum on the first business day of the third calendar month following 
the calendar month in which termination by the Company without Cause or resignation by 
the Executive for Good Reason is effective (or, in the event of the Executive's death after 
the date of the Executive's termination or resignation but prior to the date of payment, to 
the Executive's estate or beneficiary, as applicable, together with interest, within 30 days 
following the date ofthe Executive's death). 

(iii) The payment ofthe Severance Amount and the continuation of benefits, 
pursuant to this Section 6( c), shall be contingent upon the Executive executing a full release 
and waiver of claims against the Company Group (which release and waiver of claims, 
once executed and irrevocable, shall not apply to the Company's obligation to pay the 
Severance Amount and continue benefits hereunder), in a form approved by the Board, that 
becomes irrevocable not later than the last day of the second calendar month following the 
calendar month in which the Executive's termination or resignation becomes effective in 
accordance with this Section 6(c). Ifthe Executive fails to execute a full release and waiver 
of claims against the Company Group that becomes irrevocable on or before the last day of 
the second calendar month following the calendar month in which the Executive's 
termination or resignation becomes effective, the Company Group's obligations under this 
Section 6( c) shall terminate and the Executive shall not be entitled to further payment of the 
Severance Amount or the continuation of benefits. 
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(iv)" Good Reason" means the occurrence of any of the following events: 

(1) the Executive's position, title, duties, and reporting responsibilities with the 

Company in effect on the Effective Date become less favorable in any material respect; 

provided , however , Good Reason shall not be deemed to occur under this clause ( 1) 

if the following three conditions are satisfied: (A) the diminution in the Executive's 

position, duties or reporting responsibilities is solely and directly a result of the 

Company no longer being a publicly-traded company; (B) the event resulting in the 

Company no longer being a publicly-traded entity is a leveraged buyout, acquisition by 

a private equity fund and/or other similar "going private" transaction and is .!lQl_as a 

result of the acquisition of the Company or the business of the Company Group by 

another operating company or parent or subsidiary thereof; and (C) the Executive 

continues to hold the same position and title with the Company and no other act or 

omission has then occurred that would constitute an event of Good Reason under this 

definition; 

(2) (A) a reduction in, or a change in the form of, either the Base Salary or 

Minimum Target Bonus or (B) a reduction in the aggregate amount of the material 

benefits provided to the Executive, as of the Effective Date, other than an across-the­

board reduction applicable to all senior executive officers of the Company Group ; or 

(3) the relocation, without the Executive's consent, of the Executive's principal 

place of business to a location that is more than 60 miles from the Executive's primary 

business location on the Effective Date or, if applicable, from a subsequent primary 

business location agreed to by the Executive. 

( v) In order to constitute Good Reason, ( 1) the Executive must provide written 

notification of his intention to resign within 30 days after the Executive knows or has 

reason to know of the occurrence of any such event, (2) such event or condition is not 

corrected, in all material respects, by the Company Group within 20 days of its receipt of 

such notice, and (3) the Executive resigns his employment with the Company Group not 

more than 30 days following the expiration of the 20-day period described in the foregoing 

clause (2). 

(vi) Notwithstanding the previous provisions of this Section 6(c), it shall not be an 

event of Good Reason under this Agreement for the Company Group ( 1) to adopt (or 

subsequently amend) one or more claw-back, mandatory deferral or other risk management 

policies related to the Company Group's incentive compensation plans or arrangements, 

including without limitation the Company's Executive Compensation Recoupment Policy 

or (2) to adopt (or subsequently amend) stock ownership guidelines related to the 

Company's common stock or (3) to subject the compensation payable to the Executive 

under this Agreement to these policies or guidelines; provided that, except as otherwise 

required by law, such policies are generally applicable to the Company Group's executive 

officers. 
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(vii) The date of termination of employment without Cause shall be the date 
specified in a written notice oftermination to the Executive. The date of resignation for 
Good Reason shall be the date specified in a written notice of resignation from the 
Executive to the Company; provided, however, that no such written notice shall be 
effective unless the cure period specified in Section 6(c)(v) above has expired without the 
Company Group having corrected the event or events subject to cure. 

(d) Disability; Death. 

(i) If, as a result of the Executive's incapacity due to physical or mental illness (such 

incapacity being determined by the Board in its reasonable discretion), the Executive shall 
have been absent from his full-time duties as described hereunder for the entire period of 
six consecutive months(" Disability"), the Executive's employment shall terminate at the 

end of the six-month period. 

(ii) Upon a termination pursuant to this Section 6( d) as a result of Disability or as a 
result of the Executive's death, the Executive (or his estate or beneficiary, as 
applicable) shall be entitled to receive: 

(1) the Termination Amount, and 

(2) an amount equal to the pro rata portion of the Bonus for the year in which 
the termination occurs, calculated by multiplying (x) the Minimum Target Bonus for 
the year of termination by (y) a fraction, the numerator of which is the number of days 
the Executive was employed during the year of termination and the denominator of 

which is 365. 

(iii) Ifthe Executive's employment is terminated pursuant to this Section 6(d) as a 

result of his Disability, then subject to Section 6( e), the pro rata Bonus shall be paid in a 
lump sum on the first business day of the third calendar month following the calendar 
month in which termination pursuant to this Section 6( d) is effective. 

(iv) If the Executive's employment is terminated as of result of his death, the pro 

rata Bonus shall be paid within 30 days after the date of the Executive's death. 

(v) Except to the extent required by the terms of any applicable compensation or 
benefit plan or program or otherwise required by applicable law, the Executive shall have 
no right under this Agreement or otherwise to receive any other compensation or to 
participate in any other plan, program or arrangement after such termination. 

(e) Section 409A Compliance. 

(i) If, at the time ofthe Executive's termination or resignation with the Company, 
the Executive is a Specified Employee (as defined below), then the Severance Amount, the 

pro rata Bonus contemplated by Section 6(d) and any other amounts payable under this 
Agreement that the Company determines constitutes deferred compensation within the 
meaning of Section 409A of the Code and which 
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are subject to the six-month delay required by Treas. Reg. Section l.409A-l(c)(3)(v), shall 

be delayed and not paid to the Executive until the first business day following the six­

month anniversary ofthe Executive's date of termination or resignation (the" Short-Term 

Deferral Date "), at which time such delayed amounts will be paid to the Executive in a 

cash lump sum (the " Catch-Up Amount "). 

(ii) If payment of an amount is delayed as a result of this Section 6( e), such amount 

shall be increased with interest from the date on which such amount would otherwise have 

been paid to the Executive but for this Section 6(e) to the day prior to the date the Catch-Up 

Amount is paid. The rate of interest shall be the applicable short-term federal rate 

applicable under Section 7872(f)(2)(A) of the Code for the month in which the date of the 

Executive's termination or resignation occurs. Such interest shall be paid at the same time 

that the Catch-Up Amount is paid. 

(iii) If the Executive dies on or after the date of the Executive's termination or 

resignation and prior to the Short-Term Deferral Date, any amount delayed pursuant to this 

Section 6(e) shall be paid to the Executive's estate or beneficiary, as applicable, together 

with interest, within 30 days following the date of the Executive's death. 

(iv)" Specified Employee" has the meaning set forth in Section 409A(a)(2)(B) 

(i) of the Code. The determination of whether the Executive constitutes a Specified 

Employee on the date of his termination or resignation shall be made in accordance with­

the Company's established methodology for determining Specified Employees. 

(v)" Separation from Service" means a "separation from service" from the 

Company within the meaning of the default rules under the final regulations issued 

pursuant to Section 409A of the Code. 

(vi) The provisions of this Section 6(e) shall apply notwithstanding any provision of 

this Agreement related to the timing of payments following the Executive's termination or 

resignation. For purposes of applying the provisions of Section 409A ofthe Code to this 

Agreement, each separately identifiable amount to which the Executive is entitled under 

this Agreement shall be treated as a separate payment. 

7. CHANGE IN CONTROL. 

(a) If a Change in Control ofthe Company (as defined below) shall become effective 

during the Term, the Term shall automatically be deemed to end on the later of(i) the End Date (as 

defined in Section 2) or (ii) the second anniversary of the effective date of such Change in Control. 

(b) A " Change in Control " shall be deemed to have occurred when: 

(i) any person is or becomes the "beneficial owner" (as defined in Rule l3d-3 of the 

Exchange Act), directly or indirectly, of securities of the Company 
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representing 35% or more ofthe combined voting power of the Company's then­
outstanding securities; or 

(ii) during any 24-month period, individuals who, as of the beghming of such 
period, constitute the Board (the" Incumbent Directors") cease for any reason to constitute 
a majority of the Board; provided that any new director subsequent to the beginning of such 
period (other than a director whose initial assumption of office is in connection with an 
actual or threatened election contest, including, but not limited to, a consent solicitation, 
relating to the election of directors of the Company) whose appointment or election by the 
Board or nomination for election by the Company's shareholders was approved or 
recommended by a vote of at least a majority of the Incumbent Directors shall be an 
Incumbent Director; or 

(iii) there is consummated a merger or consolidation of the Company, other than 
(A) a merger or consolidation which would result in the voting securities of the Company 
outstanding immediately prior to such merger or consolidation continuing to represent 
(either by remaining outstanding or by being converted into voting securities of the 
surviving entity or any parent thereof), in combination with the ownership of any trustee or 
other fiduciary holding securities under an employee benefit plan of the Company or any 
subsidiary, at least 50% of the combined voting power of the securities of the Company or 
such surviving entity or any parent thereof outstanding immediately after such merger or 
consolidation, or (B) a merger or consolidation effected to implement a recapitalization of 
the Company (or similar transaction) in which no person is or becomes the beneficial 
owner, directly or indirectly, of securities ofthe Company (not including in the securities 
beneficially owned by such person any securities acquired directly from the Company or its 
affiliates other than in connection with the securities acquired directly from the Company 
or its affiliates other than in connection with the acquisition by the Company or its affiliates 
of a business) representing 50% or more of the combined voting power of the Company's 
then outstanding securities; or 

(iv) the shareholders of the Company approve a plan of complete liquidation or 
dissolution of the Company or there is consummated an agreement for the sale or 
disposition by the Company of all or substantially all of the Company's assets, other than a 
sale or disposition by the Company of all or substantially all ofthe Company's assets to an 
entity, at least 50% of the combined voting power of the voting securities of which are 
owned by shareholders of the Company in substantially the same proportions as their 
ownership of the Company immediately prior to such sale. 

8. SECTION 4999 EXCISE TAX LIMITATION . 

(a) In the event that it shall be determined that (X) any amount or benefit paid, 
distributed or otherwise provided to the Executive by the Company Group, whether pursuant to this 
Agreement or otherwise (collectively, the" Covered Payments"), would be subject to the excise tax 
imposed by Section 4999 of the Code (the" Excise Tax"), and (Y) the reduction of the amounts 
payable to the Executive under this Agreement or with respect to stock options and equity awards to 
the maximum amount that could be paid to the Executive without 
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giving rise to the Excise Tax (the " Safe Harbor Cap ") would provide the Executive 

with a greater after-tax amount than if such amounts were not reduced, then, subject to 

the further limitations set forth herein, the Covered Payments shall be reduced (but not 

below zero) to the Safe Harbor Cap. The reductions, if applicable, shall be made to the 

extent necessary in the following order: (i) the acceleration of vesting of stock options 

and other equity awards with an exercise price that exceeds the then fair market value 

of the stock subject to the award; (ii) the payments under Section 6( c )(i)( 1 )(A) hereof; 

(iii) the payments under Section 6(c)(i)(l)(B) hereof; (iv) the continuation of benefits 

under Section 6( c )(i)(2) hereof; and (v) the acceleration of vesting of all other stock 

options and equity awards. For purposes of reducing the Covered Payments to the Safe 

Harbor Cap, only amounts payable under this Agreement and with respect to stock 

options and equity awards (and no other Covered Payments) shall be reduced. If the 

reduction would not result in a greater after-tax result to the Executive, no amounts 

payable under this Agreement or with respect to stock options and equity awards shall 

be reduced pursuant to this provision. 

(b) A nationally recognized firm of independent accountants, selected by the Company 

after consultation with the Executive, shall perform the foregoing calculations. The Company shall 

bear all expenses with respect to the determinations by such accounting firm required to be made 

hereunder. Such accounting firm shall apply the provisions of this Section 8 in a reasonable manner 

and in good faith in accordance with then prevailing practices in the interpretation and application of 

Section 4999 ofthe Code. For purposes of applying the provisions of this Section 8, the Company 

shall be entitled to rely on the written advice of legal counsel or such accounting firm as to whether 

one or more Covered Payments constitute "parachute payments" under Section 4999 of the Code. 

(c) The accounting firm engaged to make the determinations hereunder shall provide its 

calculations, together with detailed supporting documentation, to the Company and the Executive 

within 30 calendar days after the date that such accounting firm has been engaged to make such 

determinations or such other time as requested by the Company or the Executive. If payments are 

reduced to the Safe Harbor Cap or the accounting firm determines that no Excise Tax is payable by the 

Executive without a reduction in Covered Payments, it shall furnish the Company and the Executive 

with an opinion to such effect, that the Executive is not required to report any Excise Tax on the 

Executive's federal income tax return, and that the failure to report the Excise Tax, if any, on the 

Executive's applicable federal income tax return will not result in the imposition of a negligence or 

similar penalty. Any good faith determinations of the accounting firm made hereunder shall be final, 

binding, and conclusive upon the Company and the Executive. 

9. PROTECTION OF THE COMPANY GROUP'S INTERESTS. 

(a) No Competing Employment. For so long as the Executive is employed by the 

Company, and (i) during a period of two years after his employment with the Company has been 

terminated by reason of termination without Cause or resignation for Good Reason in which the 

Applicable Multiple is two, or (ii) during a period of one year after his employment with the Company 

Group has been terminated in all other circumstances (such period of employment and applicable post­

employment period hereinafter referred to as the " Restricted Period "), the Executive shall not, 

without the prior written consent ofthe Board, directly or indirectly, own an interest in, manage, 

operate, join, control, lend money or render financial or 
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other assistance to or participate in or be connected with, as an officer, employee, 

partner, stockholder, consultant or otherwise, any individual, partnership, firm, 

corporation or other business organization or entity that competes with the business of 

the Company Group by providing any goods or services provided or under development 

by the Company Group at the effective date of the Executive's termination of 

employment (the" Business ");provided, however, that this Section 9(a) shall not 

proscribe the Executive's ownership, either directly or indirectly, of less than one 

percent of any class of securities which are regularly traded on a national securities 

exchange or interdealer quotation system. 

(b) No Interference . During the Restricted Period, the Executive shall not, directly or 

indirectly, whether for his own account or for the account of any other individual, partnership, firm, 

corporation or other business organization (other than the Company Group), (i) solicit, or endeavor to 

entice away from the Company Group, or otherwise interfere with the relationship of the Company 

Group with, any person or entity who is, or was within the then most recent 12 month period, 

(A) employed by, or otherwise engaged to perform services for, the Company Group, or (B) a 

customer or client of the Company Group, (ii) assist or encourage any other person in carrying out, 

directly or indirectly, any activity that would be prohibited by the provisions of this Section 9{b) if 

such activity were carried out by the Executive, and, in particular, the Executive agrees that he will 

not, directly or indirectly, induce any employee of the Company Group to carry out any such activity, 

or (iii) otherwise interfere with the business of the Company Group. 

(c) Non-Disparagement. For so long as the Executive is employed by the Company 

Group, and at all times thereafter, the Executive shall not intentionally make any public statement, or 

publicly release any information, that disparages or defames the Company Group, or any of its officers 

and directors, and shall not intentionally cause or encourage any other person to make any such 

statement or publicly release any such information. 

(d) Confidentiality . The Executive understands and acknowledges that, in the course 

ofhis employment, he has had and will continue to have access to and will learn confidential 

information regarding the Company Group that concerns the technological innovations, operations and 

methodologies of the Company Group, including, without limitation, business plans, financial 

information, protocols, proposals, manuals, procedures and guidelines, computer source codes, 

programs, software, know-how and specifications, inventions, copyrights, trade secrets, market 

information, Developments (as hereinafter defined), data and customer information (collectively," 

Proprietary Information"). The Executive recognizes that the use or disclosure of Proprietary 

Information could cause the Company Group substantial loss and damages, which could not be readily 

calculated, and for which no remedy at law would be adequate. Accordingly, the Executive agrees 

that for so long as he is employed by the Company Group, and at all times thereafter, he shall keep 

confidential and shall not, directly or indirectly, disclose any such Proprietary Information to any third 

party, except as required to fulfill his duties in connection with his positions within the Company 

Group, and shall not misuse, misappropriate or exploit such Proprietary Information in any way. The 

restrictions contained herein shall not apply to any information that the Executive can demonstrate 

(i) was already available to the public at the time of disclosure, or subsequently became available to 

the public, otherwise than by breach of this Agreement or (ii) was the subject of a court order to 

disclose. 
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" Developments " shall mean all data, discoveries, findings, reports, designs, 

inventions, improvements, methods, practices, techniques, developments, programs, concepts and 

ideas, whether or not patentable, and works of authorship relating to the present or planned activities, 

or the products and services of the Company Group. 

(e) Exclusive Property. The Executive confirms that all Proprietary Information is and 

shall remain the exclusive property of the Company Group. All business records, papers and 

documents kept or made by him relating to the business of the Company Group shall be and remain 

the property of the Company. Upon the termination ofthe Executive's employment with the 

Company or upon the request of the Company at any time, he shall promptly deliver to the Company 

Group, and shall not, without the consent of the Company, retain copies of any written materials not 

previously made available to the public, or records and documents made by the Executive or coming 

into his possession concerning the business or affairs of the Company Group; provided , however , that 

subsequent to any such termination, the Company shall provide the Executive with copies (the cost of 

which shall be borne by the Executive) of any documents that are requested by the Executive and that 

he has determined in good faith are (i) required to establish a defense to a claim that the Executive has 

not complied with his duties hereunder or (ii) necessary to the Executive in order to comply with 

applicabl~ law. 

(f) Assignment of Developments . During the Executive's employment, all 

Developments that are at any time made, reduced to practice, conceived or suggested by him, whether 

acting alone or in conjunction with others, shall be the sole and absolute property of the Company 

Group, free of any reserved or other rights of any kind on his part, and the Executive hereby 

irrevocably assigns, conveys and transfers any and all right, title and interest that he may have in such 

Developments to the Company Group. If such Developments were made, reduced to practice, 

conceived or suggested by the Executive during or as a result of his employment relationship with the 

Company, the Executive shall promptly make full disclosure of any such Developments to the 

Company and, at the Company Group's cost and expense, do all acts and things (including, among 

others, the execution and delivery under oath of patent and copyright applications and instruments of 

assignment) deemed by the Company to be necessary or desirable at any time in order to effect the full 

assignment to the Company Group of his right, title and interest, if any, to such Developments. The 

Executive acknowledges and agrees that any invention, concept, design or discovery that concretely 

relates to or is associated with the Executive's work for the Company Group that is described in a 

patent application or is disclosed to a third party, directly or indirectly, by the Executive during the 

Restricted Period shall be the property of and owned by the Company Group, and such disclosure by 

patent application (except by way of a patent application filed by any member of the Company 

Group) or otherwise shall constitute a breach ofthis Section 9. 

(g) Injunctive Relief. Without intending to limit the remedies available to the 

Company Group, the Executive acknowledges that a breach of any of the covenants contained in this 

Section 9 may result in material irreparable injury to the Company Group or any of its members for 

which there is no adequate remedy at law, that it will not be possible to measure damages for such 

injuries precisely and that, in the event of such a breach or threat thereof, the Company shall be 

entitled to obtain a temporary restraining order and/or a preliminary or permanent injunction 

restraining the Executive from engaging in activities prohibited by this 
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Section 9 or such other relief as may be required to specifically enforce any of the 

covenants in this Section 9, without the Company being required to show any actual 

damage or to post an injunction bond. 

(h) Enforceability. Should any of the time periods or the geographic area set forth in 

this Section 9 be held to be unreasonable by any court of competent subject matter jurisdiction, the 

parties hereto agree to petition such court to reduce the time period or geographic area to the 

maximum time period or geographic area, as applicable, permitted by governing law. 

(i) Periods Following the Term. Subject to the provisions of Sections 9(a) and (b), 

the provisions of this Section 9 shall continue in effect in accordance with the provisions hereof 

following the expiration of the Term, including, without limitation, during any period that the 

Executive remains an employee-at-will of the Company. 

G) Reciprocity of Obligations. Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this 

Agreement, in the event the Company is obligated to pay the Severance Amount under Section 6( c) of 

this Agreement, the Executive's obligations under Section 9(a) of this Agreement shall be conditioned 

upon payment of the Severance Amount in the manner contemplated by Section 6( c); provided , 

however, that, without limiting any other remedies available to the Company, in the event ofthe 

Executive's breach of Section 9(a), (b), (c) or (d) ofthis Agreement, the Company shall cease to have 

any obligation as ofthe date of such breach to make any payments under Section 6(c) ofthis 

Agreement; provided further, that the Executive's obligations under Section 9(a) shall apply if the 

Company does not pay the Severance Amount to the Executive as a result of the failure of the 

Executive to deliver the release contemplated by Section 6( c )(iii) or the failure of such release to 

become effective in accordance with its terms as a result of the Executive having exercised any right 

of rescission or revocation applicable to such release. The party alleging a breach described in this 

Section 90) shall provide prompt written notice of such breach to the other party hereto, and the party 

receiving such notice shall have I 0 days from the date of delivery of such notice (as determined in 

accordance with Section 11 hereof) to cure such breach to the reasonable satisfaction of the party 

delivering such notice. The party delivering the notice shall not be released of its obligations 

hereunder unless the I 0-day cure period shall have expired without the alleged breach having been 

cured in the manner described in the previous sentence. 

10. AMENDMENTS. The provisions of this Agreement may not be amended, supplemented, 

waived or changed orally, but only by a writing signed by the party as to whom enforcement of any 

such amendment, supplement, waiver or modification is sought and making specific reference to this 

Agreement. Notwithstanding the preceding sentence, the Company may, without the Executive's 

consent, amend any provision of this Agreement to the extent it deems such action necessary or 

advisable to avoid the imposition on any person of additional taxes, penalties or interest under 

Section 409A of the Code, and any such amendment shall not be a basis for a resignation by the 

Executive for Good Reason; proyided , howeyer , that any such amendment or modification shall, to 

the maximum extent the Company, reasonably and in good faith determines to be possible, retain the 

economic and tax benefits to the Executive hereunder while not materially increasing the cost to the 

Company Group of providing such benefits to the 
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Executive. Any determinations of the Company pursuant to this Section I 0 shall be final, 
conclusive and binding on all persons. 

11. NOTICE. All notices, requests, consents and other communications required or permitted 
under this Agreement shall be in writing (including electronic transmission) and shall be (as elected by 
the person giving such notice) hand delivered by messenger or courier service, electronically 
transmitted, or mailed (airmail if international) by registered or certified mail (postage prepaid), return 
receipt requested, addressed to: 

If to the Executive: 
To the address of the Executive as reflected on the books and records ofthe 
Company 

If to the Company: 
SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION 
8051 Congress Avenue 
Boca Raton, Florida 33487-1307 
Attn: President 

With a copy to: 
Chadbourne & Parke LLP 
1301 Avenue of the Americas 
New York, New York 10019 
Attn: Marjorie M. Glover 

or to such other address as any party may designate by notice complying with the provisions of this 
Section 11. Each such notice shall be deemed delivered (a) on the date delivered if by personal 
delivery; (b) on the date of transmission with confirmed answer back if by electronic transmission; and 
(c) on the date upon which the return receipt is signed or delivery is refused or the notice is designated 
by the postal authorities as not deliverable, as the case may be, if mailed. 

12. ASSIGNMENTS. No party shall assign his or its rights and/or obligations under this 
Agreement without the prior written consent of each other party to this Agreement. The Company will 
require a successor to all or substantially all of the business or assets of the Company to assume 
expressly and to agree to perform this Agreement in the same manner and to the same extent that the 
Company would be required to perform this Agreement if no such succession had taken place. 

13. COUNTERPARTS. This Agreement may be executed in one or more counterparts, each of 
which shall be deemed an original, but all of which taken together shall constitute one and the same 
instrument. Confirmation of execution by electronic transmission of a facsimile signature page shall 
be binding upon any party so confirming. 

14. ARBITRATION. Any controversy or claim arising out of or relating to this contract shall 
be determined by arbitration in accordance with the then-existing Commercial 
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Rules of the American Arbitration Association. The place of arbitration shall be Palm Beach 

County, Florida. There shall be one arbitrator, to be selected jointly by the Company and the 

Executive; provided, however, if the Company and the Executive cannot agree, the arbitrator 

shall be appointed by the American Arbitration Association. The Company shall initially pay 

the fees of the arbitrator, provided that the prevailing party shall be entitled to recover 

reasonable attorneys' fees, sales and use taxes, costs (including the arbitrator's fees) and all 

expenses even if not taxable as court costs, incurred in the arbitration proceeding or any legal 

proceeding to enforce any award granted thereunder, in addition to any other relief to which 

such party or parties may be entitled. The parties hereby agree to waive their right to have any 

dispute between them resolved in a court oflaw by a judge or jury; provided, however, that 

this Section 14 will not prevent the Company Group from seeking equitable or injunctive relief 

(or any other provisional remedy) from any court having jurisdiction over the parties and the 

subject matter hereof relating to a breach or violation or threatened breach or violation of the 

Executive's obligations under Section 9 hereof; provided further that this Section 14 will not 

prevent either party from enforcing any arbitration award granted hereunder in any court 

having jurisdiction over the parties. 

15. PAYMENT OF AMOUNTS AND BENEFITS. Notwithstanding any other provision of 

this Agreement to the contrary, payment of any amount or benefits under this Agreement may be paid, 

distributed or otherwise provided to the Executive by a member of the Company Group. 

16. SEVERABILITY. If any provision of this Agreement or any other agreement entered into 

pursuant hereto is contrary to, prohibited by or deemed invalid under applicable law or regulation, 

such provision shall be inapplicable and deemed omitted to the extent so contrary, prohibited or 

invalid, but the remainder hereof shall not be invalidated thereby and shall be given full force and 

effect so far as possible. If any provision of this Agreement may be construed in two or more ways, 

one of which would render the provision invalid or otherwise voidable or unenforceable and another of 

which would render the provision valid and enforceable, such provision shall have the meaning which 

renders it valid and enforceable. 

17. ENTIRE AGREEMENT. This Agreement represents the entire understanding and 

agreement between the parties with respect to the subject matter hereof, and supersedes all other 

negotiations, understandings and representations (if any) made by and between such parties, including 

the Current Agreement, except for the Company's Executive Compensation Recoupment Policy and 

any and all Acknowledgements and Agreements to such policy executed by the Executive; provided 

further , however , that nothing in this Agreement shall be construed to modify any existing equity 

award granted to the Executive by the Company prior to the Effective Date. 

18. GOVERNING LAW. This Agreement and all transactions contemplated by this 

Agreement shall be governed by, and construed and enforced in accordance with, the laws ofthe State 

of Florida applicable to contracts executed and performed entirely in such state. 
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IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Agreement as of the date and 
year first above written. 

SBA COMMUNICATIONS CORPORATION 

By: /s/ Jeffrey A. Stoops 
Jeffrey A. Stoops 
President and Chief Executive Officer 

/s/ Brendan T. Cavanagh 

Brendan T. Cavanagh 



Name 
SBA Telecommunications, LLC 

SBA Senior Finance, LLC 

SBA Towers IX, LLC 

SBA Holdings, LLC 

SBA Guarantor, LLC 

SBA Monarch Towers I, LLC 

SBA Monarch Towers III, LLC 

SBA Properties, LLC 

SBA Sites, LCC 

SBA Structures, LCC 

SBA Infrastructure, LLC 

SBA 2012 TC Assets, LLC 

SBA Towers IV, LLC 

SBA Towers V, LLC 

SBA Towers VI, LLC 

SBA Towers VII, LLC 

SBA GC Towers, LLC 

SBA Senior Finance II, LLC 

Central America Equityholder, LLC 

SBA Torres Panama, S.A. 

SBA Towers, LLC 

SBA Towers II, LLC 

SBA Towers III, LLC 

SBA Towers VIII, LLC 

TV6 Holdings, LLC 

SBA TRS Holdco, LLC 

Brazil Shareholder I, LLC 

SBA Holdings e Participacoes L IDA 

SBA Torres Brasil L TDA 

Subsidiaries of SBA Communications Corporation 

Relationship 
I 00% owned by SBA Communications Corporation 

100% owned by SBA Telecommunications, LLC 

100% owned by SBA Telecommunications, LLC 

100% owned by SBA Senior Finance, LLC 

I 00% owned by SBA Holdings, LLC 

100% owned by SBA Guarantor, LLC 

100% owned by SBA Guarantor, LLC 

100% owned by SBA Guarantor, LLC 

100% owned by SBA Guarantor, LLC 

100% owned by SBA Guarantor, LLC 

100% owned by SBA Guarantor, LLC 

100% owned by SBA Guarantor, LLC 

100% owned by SBA Guarantor, LLC 

100% owned by SBA Guarantor, LLC 

100% owned by SBA Guarantor, LLC 

100% owned by SBA Guarantor, LLC 

100% owned by SBA GC Holdings, LLC 

I 00% owned by SBA Senior Finance, LLC. 

100% owned by SBA Senior Finance II, LLC 

100% owned by Panama Shareholder, LLC 

I 00% owned by SBA Senior Finance II, LLC 

100% owned by SBA Towers, LLC 

I 00% owned by SBA Senior Finance II, LLC 

100% owned by SBA Senior Finance II, LLC 

100% owned by SBA Senior Finance II, LLC 

100% owned by SBA Senior Finance II, LLC 

100% owned by SBA Senior Finance II, LLC 

99% owned by Brazil Shareholder I, LLC; 
I% owned by Brazil Shareholder II, LLC 

100% owned by SBA Holdings e Participacoes LTDA 
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Jurisdiction 
Florida 

Florida 

Florida 

Delaware 

Delaware 

Delaware 

Delaware 

Delaware 

Delaware 

Delaware 

Delaware 

Delaware 

Delaware 

Delaware 

Delaware 

Delaware 

Delaware 

Florida 

Florida 

Panama 

Florida 

Florida 

Florida 

Florida 

Florida 

Florida 

Florida 

Brazil 

Brazil 

As ofDecember 31, 2015, SBA Communications Corporation owned, directly or indirectly, 8 2 additional subsidiaries, 54 of 
which are incorporated in U.S. jurisdictions and 28 of which are organized in foreign jurisdictions. These subsidiaries, 



in the aggregate as a single subsidiary, would not constitute a "Significant Subsidiary" as defmed in Rule 405 under the Securities Act 
as ofDecember 31,2015. 



Exhibit 23.1 

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM 

We consent to the incorporation by reference in the following Registration Statements: 

1. Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-41306) 

2. Registration Statement (Form S-4 No. 333-147473) 

3. Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-166969) pertaining to 2010 Performance and Equity Incentive Plan 

4. Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-155289) pertaining to 2008 Employee Stock Purchase Plan 

5. Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-69236) pertaining to 2001 Equity Participation Plan 

6. Registration Statement (Form S-8 No. 333-139006) pertaining to 2001 Equity Participation Plan, as Amended and 
Restated on May 16, 2002 

7. Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-202477) 

of our reports dated February 2 6, 201 6 with respect to the consolidated fmancial statements ofSBA Communications 
Corporation and Subsidiaries and the effectiveness of internal control over fmancial reporting ofSBA Communications 
Corporation and Subsidiaries, included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 201 5. 

Boca Raton, Florida 
February 2 6, 201 6 

Is/ Ernst & Young LLP 

Certified Public Accountants 



Exhibit 31.1 

CERTIFICATION 

I, Jeffrey A. Stoops, Chief Executive Officer, certifY that: 
I. I have reviewed this annual report on Form I 0-K of SBA Communications Corporation; 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 

material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements 
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the fmancial statements, and other fmancial information included in this report, fairly 
present in all material respects the fmancial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, 
and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant's other certifYing officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls 
and procedures (as defmed in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over fmancial 
reporting (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 

designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period 
in which this report is being prepared; 

b. Designed such internal control over fmancial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial 
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of fmancial statements for external purposes, in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles; 

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this 
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the 
period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred 
during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an 
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's 
internal control over fmancial reporting; and 

5. The registrant's other certifYing officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal 
control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of 
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 
a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over 

financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, 
summarize and report fmancial information; and 

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant 
role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting. 

Date: February 2 6, 201 6 

By: Is/ Jeffrey A. Stoops 

Name: Jeffrey A. Stoops 

........ !iti~: ........ G.hi~;:fg~~;:gJJt.!Y.~;:Qf.f.I~~;:r .. 



Exhibit 31.2 

CERTIFICATION 

I, Brendan T. Cavanagh, Chief Financial Officer, certify that: 

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K ofSBA Communications Corporation; 
2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a 

material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements 
were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this report; 

3. Based on my knowledge, the fmancial statements, and other fmancial information included in this report, fairly 
present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, 
and for, the periods presented in this report; 

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls 
and procedures (as defmed in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) and internal control over fmancial 
reporting (as defmed in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have: 
a. Designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be 

designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its 
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period 
in which this report is being prepared; 

b. Designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial 
reporting to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of 
financial reporting and the preparation of financial statements for external purposes, in accordance with 
generally accepted accounting principles; 

c. Evaluated the effectiveness ofthe registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this 
report our conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the 
period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and 

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred 
during the registrant's most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an 
annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant's 
internal control over fmancial reporting; and 

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal 
control over financial reporting, to the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of the registrant's board of 
directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions): 

a. All significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over 
financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, 
summarize and report fmancial information; and 

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant 
role in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting. 

Date: February 2 6, 201 6 

By: lsi Brendan T. Cavanagh 

Name: Brendan T. Cavanagh 

Title: <;:hit:ffiJI~r,:i.!!!Qffi£t:L 



Exhibit 32.1 

Certification Required by 18 U.S. C. Section 1350 

(as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002) 

In connection with the Annual Report of SBA Communications Corporation (the "Company"), on Form 1 0-K for the 
period ended December 31, 201 5, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof(the "Report"), I, 
Jeffrey A. Stoops, Chief Executive Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S. C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant 
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act, that to the best of my knowledge: 

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended, and 

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the fmancial condition and results of 
operations of the Company. 

Date: February 2 6, 201 6 

Is/ Jeffrey A. Stoops 
Jeffrey A. Stoops 
Chief Executive Officer 



Exhibit 32.2 

Certification Required by 18 U.S.C. Section 1350 

(as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of2002) 

In connection with the Annual Report ofSBA Communications Corporation (the "Company"), on Form 10-K for the 
period ended December 31,201 5, as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof(the "Report"), I, 
Brendan T. Cavanagh, Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify, pursuant to 18 U.S. C. Section 1350, as adopted 
pursuant to Section 906 ofthe Sarbanes-Oxley Act, that to the best of my knowledge: 

1. The Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as 
amended, and 

2. The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the fmancial condition and results of 
operations ofthe Company. 

Date : February 2 6 , 20 1 6 

Is/ Brendan T. Cavanagh 
Brendan T. Cavanagh 
Chief Financial Officer 




